HIGHER COLEMAN THEORY

GEORGE BOXER AND VINCENT PILLONI

ABSTRACT. We develop local cohomology techniques to study the finite slope part of the coherent cohomology of Shimura varieties. The local cohomology groups we consider are a generalization of overconvergent modular forms, and they are defined by using a stratification on the Shimura variety obtained from the Bruhat stratification on a flag variety via the Hodge-Tate period map. We construct a spectral sequence from the local cohomologies to the classical cohomology and use it to obtain classicality and vanishing results. We also develop a theory of *p*-adic families and construct eigenvarieties. As an application, we prove some new properties of Galois representations arising from certain non-regular algebraic cuspidal automorphic representations.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
1.1.	Setup	2
1.2.	Overconvergent cohomologies	6
1.3.	Slope bounds and classicality	8
1.4.	Locally analytic cohomology, interpolation, and the eigenvariety	11
1.5.	A toy model: the cohomology of flag varieties and the Cousin complex	
	of Kempf	15
2.	Cohomological preliminaries	17
2.1.	Cohomology with support in a closed subspace	17
2.2.	Cup products	19
2.3.	The spectral sequence of a filtered topological space	20
2.4.	The category of projective Banach modules	20
2.5.	The cohomology of Banach sheaves	23
2.6.	Integral structures on Banach sheaves	29
2.7.	Duality for analytic adic spaces	30
3.	Flag variety	31
3.1.	Bruhat decomposition	31
3.2.	Interlude: the cohomology of the flag variety	33
3.3.	Analytic geometry	36
3.4.	Dynamics	43
3.5.	Dynamics of correspondences	44
4.	Shimura varieties	47
4.1.	Automorphic vector bundles and their cohomology	48
4.2.	Action of the Hecke algebra	51
4.3.	Jacquet Modules	61
4.4.	The Hodge-Tate period morphism	63
4.5.	The truncated Hodge-Tate period map	85
4.6.	Reductions of the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an}	87

G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

 $\mathbf{2}$

5. Overconvergent cohomologies and the spectral sequence	96	
5.1. The finite slope part	96	
5.2. Correspondences and cohomology with support	99	
5.3. A formal analytic continuation result	101	
5.4. Overconvergent cohomologies	104	
5.5. The spectral sequence associated with the Bruhat stratification	110	
5.6. Cohomological vanishing	112	
5.7. Duality	114	
5.8. Interior cohomology	117	
5.9. Lower bounds on slopes	118	
5.10. Comparisons with slope bounds on classical cohomology	121	
5.11. Slopes and small slope conditions	126	
5.12. Small slopes, classicality, and vanishing	131	
5.13. De Rham and rigid cohomology	133	
5.14. Explicit formulas in the symplectic case	136	
6. <i>p</i> -adic families of overconvergent cohomology	138	
6.1. Relative spectral theory and slope decompositions	138	
6.2. Locally analytic inductions and the locally analytic BGG resolution	143	
6.3. <i>p</i> -adic families of sheaves	149	
6.4. Locally analytic overconvergent cohomology	152	
6.5. Two spectral sequences	156	
6.6. Cohomological vanishing	157	
6.7. Cup products and Serre duality	160	
6.8. Slope estimates and control theorem	162	
6.9. Eigenvarieties	163	
6.10. Improved slope bounds for interior cohomology and applications	167	
6.11. Application: construction of Galois representations and local-global		
compatibility p	168	
References		

1. INTRODUCTION

In the 90's, Coleman proved his classicality theorem for overconvergent p-adic modular forms [Col96] and developed the theory of p-adic families of finite slope overconvergent modular forms [Col97]. Subsequently, Coleman and Mazur constructed the eigencurve [CM98]. Since then, these works have been generalized to a wide class of Shimura varieties.

These Coleman theories concern classical and overconvergent modular forms, or zeroth cohomology of automorphic vector bundles on Shimura varieties. Recently we have come to expect [Pil20], [BCGP18], [LPSZ19], [BP20] that there should be some analogous "higher Coleman theories" concerning the higher coherent cohomology of Shimura varieties. The goal of this paper is to develop such theories for a rather general class of Shimura varieties.

1.1. Setup. Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum of abelian type, so by definition G/\mathbb{Q} is a reductive group and X is a complex analytic space with an action of $G(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying a list of axioms ([Del79]). There are two opposite parabolic subgroups of G attached to (G, X), called P_{μ} and P_{μ}^{std} , with common Levi M_{μ} . The space X

embeds $G(\mathbb{R})$ -equivariantly as an open subspace of $FL^{std}_{G,\mu}(\mathbb{C}) = G/P^{std}_{\mu}(\mathbb{C})$. This is the Borel embedding.

For any neat compact open subgroup $K \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we let $S_K(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K$ be the corresponding Shimura variety over \mathbb{C} . This is a finite disjoint union of arithmetic quotients of X.

Any representation of P_{μ}^{std} defines a *G*-equivariant vector bundle over $FL_{G,\mu}^{std}$. Let $Z_s \subseteq G$ be the maximal torus of the center of *G* which splits over \mathbb{R} but contains no \mathbb{Q} -split subtorus. We let $M_{\mu}^c = M_{\mu}/Z_s$. By pull back to *X* and descent to $S_K(\mathbb{C})$, we obtain a functor from the category of representations of M_{μ}^c to the category of vector bundles on $S_K(\mathbb{C})$, called (totally decomposed) automorphic vector bundles. We make a choice of Borel subgroup *B* contained in P_{μ} , let *T* be a maximal torus contained in this Borel, and let $T^c = T/Z_s$. We label irreducible representations of M_{μ}^c by their highest weight in $X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. For any weight $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ we let \mathcal{V}_{κ} be the corresponding vector bundle over $S_K(\mathbb{C})$.

The Shimura variety $S_K(\mathbb{C})$ has a structure of an algebraic variety S_K defined over a number field E, called the reflex field. For a combinatorial choice Σ of cone decomposition, there are projective compactifications $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ whose (reduced) boundary $D_{K,\Sigma} = S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \setminus S_K$ is a Cartier divisor. The vector bundles \mathcal{V}_{κ} admit models over S_K and canonical extensions $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}$ to $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ ([Mil90], [Har90a]). We also have $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})$, the so called sub-canonical extension (its sections are holomorphic cusp forms).

This paper is devoted to the study of the coherent cohomology of weight κ : $\mathrm{H}^{i}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}), \mathrm{H}^{i}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}))$ as well as the interior cohomology:

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}) = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^{i}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma})).$$

They are independent of the cone decomposition Σ and we denote them simply by $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa)$, $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa,cusp)$, and $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K,\kappa)$.

We now fix a rational prime p and pass to the p-adic theory. We assume throughout this paper that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is quasi-split (this assumption is necessary to have finite slope families over all of weight space). We fix a finite extension F of \mathbb{Q}_p over which $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ splits, and we assume that we have chosen $T \subseteq B \subseteq P_\mu$ so that T and B are defined over \mathbb{Q}_p and P_μ is defined over F. We now pass to analytic geometry and let $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}/\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ be the adic Shimura variety. We assume for the rest of the introduction that $K = K^p K_p$ where $K_p \subset G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ is a certain congruence subgroup (denoted $K_{p,1,0}$ in 3.5.1) possessing an Iwahori factorization

$$K_p = (\overline{U}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap K_p) \cdot T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \cdot (U(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap K_p)$$

where U and \overline{U} denote the unipotent radicals of B and the opposite Borel. When $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is unramified, K_p will be an Iwahori subgroup.

Our study of the *p*-adic properties of coherent cohomology is based on the Hodge-Tate period map introduced by Scholze [Sch15] and refined in [CS17] and [DLLZ19]. More specifically we will use the existence of a diagram



G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

where $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \backslash G$ is the adic space associated to the Hodge-Tate flag space $FL_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \backslash G$. Here we only view $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ as a topological space, and the "truncated" Hodge-Tate period map π_{HT,K_p} as a continuous map. The map π_{HT} is equivariant for the right actions of the group $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, while the map π_{HT,K_p} is equivariant for the action of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_p = F[K_p \backslash G(\mathbb{Q}_p)/K_p]$ by correspondences. It also extends to a map on the toroidal compactification π_{HT,K_p}^{tor} : $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$. The basic idea in this paper is to use π_{HT,K_p}^{tor} to define certain support conditions for coherent cohomology on the Shimura variety, and to study the dynamical properties of certain Hecke operators at p.

We introduce some further notation. For a choice of + or - which we denote from now on by \pm , we consider the monoids

$$T^{\pm} = \{ t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \mid v(\alpha(t)) \ge 0, \forall \alpha \in \Phi^{\pm} \}$$

where Φ^+ denotes the positive roots of G with respect to $T \subseteq B$, and also the associated commutative subalgebras of the Iwahori Hecke algebra

$$\mathcal{H}_p^{\pm} = \operatorname{span}\{[K_p t K_p] \mid t \in T^{\pm}\} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_p.$$

These should be thought of as the algebra of " U_p -type" Hecke operators. The reason we consider both the + and - algebras is in order to study duality (we note that $[K_p t K_p]$ and $[K_p t^{-1} K_p]$ are transposes as correspondences), but the reader might assume that all ±'s are just + on first reading.

We let W be the (absolute) Weyl group of G and $W_M \subseteq W$ the Weyl group of M_{μ} . We write $\ell : W \to \mathbb{Z}$ for the length function and we write $w_0 \in W$ and $w_{0,M} \in W_M$ for the longest elements. In this paper a crucial role will be played by the set ${}^M W \subseteq W$ of minimal length coset representatives for $W_M \setminus W$. It has a unique longest element $w_0^M = w_{0,M} w_0$ of length $d = \dim S_K = \dim FL_{G,\mu}$. We define $\ell_{\pm} : {}^M W \to [0, d]$ by $\ell_+ = \ell$ and $\ell_-(w) = d - \ell(w)$.

The set ${}^{M}W$ will index the "higher Coleman theories" constructed in this paper. We recall how it arises naturally in the study of coherent cohomology, both from the archimedean and *p*-adic points of view.

The coherent cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa)$ for $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$ can be computed in terms of automorphic forms on G ([Har90a], [Su18]). Cuspidal automorphic representations $\pi = \pi_{\infty} \otimes \pi_{f}$ contribute to coherent cohomology according to the archimedean component π_{∞} . The (essentially) tempered π_{∞} which contribute to coherent cohomology have been completely classified: according to work of Blasius-Harris-Ramakrishnan, Mirkovich, Schmid, and Williams, they are exactly the so called non-degenerate limits of discrete series (see [Har90a], theorems 3.4 and 3.5). According to Harish-Chandra, for each element of ^{M}W there is a corresponding family of (limits of) discrete series representations, parameterized by the infinitesimal character (more accurately, this would be true if $G(\mathbb{R})$ were semisimple and simply connected).

We recall how the limits of discrete series contribute to coherent cohomology. Beginning with a (dominant) "C-algebraic" infinitesimal character $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T^c)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$ with $\nu \in X^*(T^c)$, then for a choice of $w \in {}^M W$, if $\kappa_w = -w_{0,M}w(\nu + \rho) - \rho$ is M_{μ} -dominant, then there is a (limit of) discrete series with infinitesimal character $\nu + \rho$ contributing to coherent cohomology in weight κ_w and degree $\ell(w)$. We recall some features of this description:

HIGHER COLEMAN THEORY

- The case of w = 1 corresponds to the family of holomorphic (limits of) discrete series. They contribute to degree zero coherent cohomology.
- When $\nu + \rho$ is regular, κ_w is automatically M_{μ} -dominant, and the corresponding representations of $G(\mathbb{R})$ are discrete series. Moreover a $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ with $\kappa + \rho$ regular will be of the form κ_w for a unique ν and $w \in {}^M W$, and so cusp forms which are tempered at ∞ contribute to cohomology in weight κ in only a single degree.
- When $\nu + \rho$ is not regular, there will be some subset of ${}^{M}W$ (possibly empty) for which κ_w is M_{μ} -dominant (we emphasize in particular that this set may be nonempty but not contain 1, and this is a major motivation for studying higher coherent cohomology of Shimura varieties). In this case the corresponding representations of $G(\mathbb{R})$ are limits of discrete series. Beginning with a $\kappa \in X^*(T)^+$ with $\kappa + \rho$ irregular, we will have $\kappa = \kappa_w$ for multiple $w \in {}^{M}W$ (with a range of lengths), and so the cohomology in weight κ will have contributions from cuspidal automorphic representations tempered at ∞ in a range of degrees.

We note that in this paper, our study of coherent cohomology is purely geometric, and makes no use of the theory of automorphic forms or the results recalled above (except in the application to local-global compatibility for irregular automorphic representations in section 6.11). Nonetheless, it is useful to keep in mind, for interpreting the results that follow.

Now we pass to *p*-adic geometry, beginning with the Hodge-Tate flag space $FL_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \backslash G$. The set ^{*M*}*W* indexes the Schubert stratification of $FL_{G,\mu}$:

$$FL_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \backslash G = \prod_{w \in WM} P_{\mu} \backslash P_{\mu} w B$$

Passing to a more dynamical point of view, the set of fixed points for the action of T on $FL_{G,\mu}$ is exactly

$$\operatorname{Fix}_T(FL_{G,\mu}) = \{P_{\mu}w \mid w \in {}^MW\}$$

as indeed there is one T fixed point in each Schubert cell. A closely related fact is that the set of points of $\operatorname{FL}_{G,\mu}(\mathbb{C}_p)/K_p$ fixed by all of the " U_p -type" Hecke correspondences $[K_p t K_p]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$ is

$$\{P_{\mu}wK_p \mid w \in {}^MW\}.$$

(Here we say that a point $xK_p \in FL_{G,\mu}(\mathbb{C}_p)/K_p$ is fixed by $[K_p tK_p]$ means that $x \in xK_p tK_p$.)

According to Scholze-Weinstein [SW13], $FL_{G,\mu}(\mathbb{C}_p)/K_p$ should be thought of as the set of *p*-divisible groups "with *G*-structure" over \mathcal{O}_{C_p} , equipped with a K_p level structure (on the generic fiber). In particular, the points $P_{\mu}wK_p$ for $w \in {}^{M}W$ correspond to certain very special such *p*-divisible groups, which are fixed points for the action of the " U_p -type" Hecke correspondences. We can now pass to the Shimura variety via the Hodge-Tate period map. According to Caraiani-Scholze [CS17], the fibers of π_{HT} are perfectoid Igusa varieties. In this paper we will consider the "Igusa varieties" $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(P_{\mu}wK_p) \subset \mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ at finite level. We view them as some kind of fixed subspaces for the " U_p -type" Hecke correspondences. We emphasize that in contrast to the situation at infinite level, they are not Zariski closed, and we do not try to give them any geometric structure (in fact, we will only consider neighborhoods of them, constructed using the Hodge-Tate period map). We give two illustrative examples:

Example 1.1.1. If $(G, X) = (\operatorname{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g^{\pm})$ is the Siegel Shimura datum and K_p is Iwahori, then the corresponding Shimura varieties are moduli spaces of polarized abelian varieties of dimension g. The polarized p-divisible groups with Iwahori level structures $(\mathcal{G}, \lambda, \{H_i\}_{0 \le i \le 2g})$ corresponding to the elements of MW are all ordinary (i.e. $\mathcal{G} = \mu_{p\infty}^g \times (\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)^g)$ and the element $w \in {}^MW$ measures the relative position of the canonical subgroup $H_{can} = \mu_p^g$ with the symplectic flag

$$0 = H_0 \subset H_1 \subset \cdots \subset H_{2q} = \mathcal{G}[p]$$

giving the Iwahori level structure (alternatively, the 2^g elements of ${}^M W$ correspond to the 2^g possibilities that H_i/H_{i-1} for $i = 1, \ldots, g$ is either multiplicative or étale). Passing to the Shimura variety, the "Igusa varieties" $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{-1}(P_\mu w K_p)$ are simply the (closures of the) corresponding components of the (quasi-compact, open) ordinary locus.

Example 1.1.2. If $(G, X) = (\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2, (\mathcal{H}_1^{\pm})^{[F:\mathbb{Q}]})$ is a Hilbert Shimura datum for F a totally real field in which p remains prime (for simplicity), then the corresponding Shimura varieties are (coarse) moduli spaces of abelian varieties of dimension $[F:\mathbb{Q}]$ with an action of \mathcal{O}_F . In this case, $^MW = W = \{1, w\}^{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C}_p)}$. For $I \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}(F, \mathbb{C}_p)$ we write $w_I \in W$ for the element which is 1 in the factors corresponding to the elements of I. Then the p-divisible group with \mathcal{O}_F -action and Iwahori level structure corresponding to w_I is $(\operatorname{LT}_I \times \operatorname{LT}_{I^c}, \operatorname{LT}_{I^c}[p])$ where $I^c = \operatorname{Hom}(F, \mathbb{C}_p) \setminus I$, and $\operatorname{LT}_I/\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}$ is the unique p-divisible group with \mathcal{O}_F -action of height $[F:\mathbb{Q}]$ and such that $\operatorname{Lie}_{LT_I} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in I} \mathbb{C}_p(\tau)$ as $F \otimes \mathbb{C}_p$ modules, where $\mathbb{C}_p(\tau)$ denotes the $F \otimes \mathbb{C}_p$ module on which F acts via τ . The isogeny corresponding to quotienting by $\operatorname{LT}_I[p]$ witnesses these p-divisible groups as fixed points for the " U_p type" Hecke correspondences. In particular, in contrast to the previous example, only $1 = w_{\operatorname{Hom}(F,\mathbb{C}_p)$ and $w_0 = w_{\emptyset}$ correspond to ordinary p-divisible groups.

1.2. **Overconvergent cohomologies.** The first aim of this paper is the construction, for all $w \in {}^{M}W$, weights $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$, and choices \pm of + or -, of some finite slope, overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$. These spaces carry actions of the algebras \mathcal{H}^{\pm}_{p} for which the " U_{p} -type" operators $[K_{p}tK_{p}]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$ act invertibly (hence "finite slope") as well as actions of the prime to p Hecke operators.

We explain the rough idea of the construction: we start with the complex $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma})$ of cohomology with support, where $\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}\subset\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}$ is a suitably chosen, locally closed neighborhood of the "Igusa variety" $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{-1}(w\cdot K_p)$. The support conditions are chosen in order to have an action of the Hecke operators $[K_ptK_p]$ for $t\in T^{\pm}$, and so that furthermore sufficiently regular Hecke operators act compactly. Then we use the spectral theory of compact operators to take the finite slope part, i.e. pass to the part where the Hecke operators $[K_ptK_p]$ for $t\in T^{\pm}$ act invertibly. The space $\mathrm{H}^0_1(K^p,\kappa)^{+,fs}$ is nothing but the usual space of finite slope overconvergent modular forms of weight κ .

The following theorem summarizes the basic results about the finite slope overconvergent cohomologies. **Theorem 1.2.1.** (1) (Spectral sequence to classical cohomology) There is a \mathcal{H}_p^{\pm} -equivariant spectral sequence

$$\mathbf{E}_1^{p,q} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell_{\pm}(w) = p} \mathbf{H}_w^{p+q}(K^p, \kappa)^{\pm, fs} \Rightarrow \mathbf{H}^{p+q}(K, \kappa)^{\pm, fs}$$

and similarly for cuspidal cohomology.

- (2) (Analytic continuation) The finite slope, overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$, together with their Hecke action, can be computed on arbitrarily small neighborhoods of the "Igusa variety" $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{-1}(w \cdot K_p) \subseteq \mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. (See sections 5.3 and 5.4 for a precise statement.)
- (3) (Duality) There is a perfect pairing

$$\langle,\rangle: \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa^{\vee})^{\mp,fs} \to F$$

such that for all $t \in T^{\pm}$, the Hecke operators $[K_p t K_p]$ on the left and $[K_p t^{-1} K_p]$ on the right are adjoint. Moreover, these pairings are compatible, via the spectral sequence of part (1), with the classical Serre duality pairings

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa,cusp)\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}(K,\kappa^{\vee})\to F.$$

(Here $\kappa^{\vee} := -2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa$ where $2\rho_{nc} \in X^{\star}(T)$ is the sum of the positive roots of G which are not roots of M_{μ} . The canonical bundle of $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ is $\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})$, and the dual of $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,\Sigma}$ is $\mathcal{V}_{-w_{0,M}\kappa,\Sigma}$.)

(4) (Vanishing) We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs} &= 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i < \ell_{\pm}(w), \\ \mathbf{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs} &= 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i > \ell_{\pm}(w), \end{aligned}$$

and so in particular the interior cohomology $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ vanishes except when $i = \ell_{\pm}(w)$.

The spectral sequence is simply the finite slope part of the spectral sequence of a filtration on $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ defined using π_{HT} and the Bruhat stratification of the flag variety. We note that if K_p is Iwahori, then the " U_p -type" operators $[K_p t K_p]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$ are already invertible in the Iwahori Hecke algebra \mathcal{H}_p , and hence the classical cohomology at Iwahori level is already "finite slope", i.e. $\mathrm{H}^i(K,\kappa)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{H}^i(K,\kappa)$. The "analytic continuation" result follows from a dynamical study of the Hecke operators an their interactions with the support conditions. The vanishing theorem is ultimately deduced from the affineness of the Hodge-Tate period map.

If the Shimura variety is compact, then the vanishing theorem implies that the overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{\star}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ are concentrated in the single degree $\ell_{\pm}(w)$, and so the spectral sequence takes the particularly simple form of a single complex

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}_{Id/w_{0}^{M}}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs} \to \cdots \to \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell_{\pm}(w)=i} \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs} \to \cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{w_{0}^{M}/Id}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$$

whose cohomology is the classical cohomology $H^i(K, \kappa)$. We call this the Cousin complex of the Shimura variety, in analogy with the work of Kempf [Kem78] on the cohomology of the flag variety.

1.3. Slope bounds and classicality. The key input for proving the classicality theorem is a lower bound for the slopes (i.e. *p*-adic valuations of eigenvalues) of the Hecke operators acting on finite slope, overconvergent cohomology. More precisely we prove the following (see theorems 5.9.6 and 6.10.1).

Theorem 1.3.1 (Slope bounds). For any $t \in T^{\pm}$ and any eigenvalue λ of $[K_p t K_p]$ acting on $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i_w(K^p, \kappa)^{\pm, fs}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} v(\lambda) &\geq v((w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho)(t)) & in \ the + \ case \\ v(\lambda) &\geq v((w^{-1}(\kappa+\rho)-\rho)(t)) & in \ the - \ case \end{aligned}$$

Here $\rho \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is half the sum of the positive roots of G and, given an algebraic character $\mu \in X^*(T)$, we may view it as a character $\mu : T(F) \to F^{\times}$, so that it makes sense to evaluate it on $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and take the valuation. We remark that an eigenclass is "ordinary" if the inequalities of the theorem are in fact equalities.

Actually we expect (conjecture 5.9.2) that the same bound holds for the full overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$, but we were only able to prove a slightly weaker bound (theorem 5.9.6). The improved bound on interior cohomology above is proved by a bootstrapping trick using *p*-adic interpolation.

From the slope bound we can immediately deduce a classicality theorem in regular weight. The idea is that if we fix κ , the lower bounds vary with $w \in {}^{M}W$, and so there will be a certain range of "small slopes" which can only occur for a single w. Then by passing to the small slope part of the spectral sequence we will obtain an isomorphism between the small slope parts of the w overconvergent and classical cohomologies.

Theorem 1.3.2 (Classicality theorem). Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ be a weight such that $\kappa + \rho$ is *G*-regular. Let w_+ (resp. w_-) be the unique $w \in {}^M W$ such that $-w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho)$ (resp. $w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho)$) is *G*-dominant.

Then we have a quasi-isomorphism:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w+}(K^p,\kappa)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} = \mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$$

and similarly for cuspidal cohomology. Here the superscript is the "strongly small slope part", i.e. the part where the eigenvalues of the Hecke operators $[K_p t K_p]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$ satisfy certain upper bounds (see section 5.11 for the precise definition).

If the Shimura variety is compact, then "strongly small slope" can be replaced by the weaker "small slope" condition \pm , $ss^{M}(\kappa)$ (again see section 5.11). Even if the Shimura variety is not compact it is still true that a small slope overconvergent cusp form (i.e. an element of $H_{1}^{0}(K^{p}, \kappa, cusp)^{+,ss^{M}(\kappa)})$ is classical.

Remark 1.3.3. Many cases of this theorem for the degree 0 cohomology of PEL Shimura varieties were already proven, see for example [Col96], [Kas06], [Pil11], [BPS16], [TX16], [Bij17].

Remark 1.3.4. Even in cases of degree 0 cohomology where classicality theorems were already known, this theorem often improves on the slope bound. For example in the Siegel case, with the usual labelling of weights $\kappa = (k_1, \dots, k_g)$ with $k_1 \geq \dots \geq k_g$, and for the usual "minuscule" Hecke operator U_p , the theorem states that any finite slope overconvergent cusp form of weight κ and U_p -slope $< k_g - g$ is classical. The bound previously proven in [Pil11] and [BPS16] was $< k_g - \frac{g(g+1)}{2}$.

Holomorphic discrete series contribute to the H^0 in weights with $k_g > g$, while holomorphic limits of discrete series contribute when $k_g = g$. Thus we cannot expect any "numerical" classicality results when $k_g = g$, while the theorem is nonvacuous for all $k_g > g$.

Remark 1.3.5. We conjecture that the theorem should hold with "small slope" instead of "strongly small slope" for all Shimura varieties. This would follow from the conjectural improved slope bound 5.9.2. Moreover we believe that the "small slope" condition is optimal. We remark that an "ordinary" cohomology class is small slope in all weights, but it may only be strongly small slope under an additional regularity condition.

Remark 1.3.6. We cannot expect to have any "numerical" classicality criteria when $\kappa + \rho$ is not *G*-regular. In this case, there are multiple $w \in {}^{M}W$ for which $-w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho)$ (or $w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho)$) are *G*-dominant, and the lower bound on the slopes are the same for these w. Thus we can impose some small slope condition to kill the contributions of the remaining $w \in {}^{M}W$ to the spectral sequence, but there will still be further cancellation among those that remain.

Example 1.3.7. We explicate all the results so far in the case of the modular curve, where everything was already done in [BP20]. Then $^{M}W = W = \{1, w\}$ has only two elements, and the spectral sequence reduces to a four term exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(K,k) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}_{1}(K^{p},k)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^{1}_{w}(K^{p},k)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(K,k) \to 0$$

relating the the classical coherent cohomology of the modular line bundle ω^k , $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, to the two overconvergent cohomologies, and moreover $H_1^0(K, k)^{+, fs}$ is nothing but the usual space of finite slope overconvergent modular forms of weight k.

Then the slope bound says that the "unnormalized U_p operator" U_p^{naive} has slopes ≥ 1 on $\mathrm{H}^0_1(K,k)^{+,fs}$, and $\geq k$ on $\mathrm{H}^1_w(K,k)^{+,fs}$. Motivated by this we renormalize the U_p operator by setting $U_p = p^{-\min(1,k)}U_p^{naive}$, and then from the four term exact sequence above and the slope bounds, we immediately deduce Coleman's classicality theorem

$$H_1^0(K^p,k)^{< k-1} = H^0(K,k)^{< k-1}$$

in weights $k \geq 2$, as well as its "H¹-analog"

$$H^1_w(K^p,k)^{<1-k} = H^1(K,k)^{<1-k}$$

in weights $k \leq 0$. (Here the superscripts $< \star$ mean we take the slope $< \star$ part for the normalized U_p operator.)

Combining the slope bounds with the vanishing theorem for overconvergent cohomology, we obtain vanishing theorems for the small slope part of classical cohomology. For any $\kappa \in X_*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$, there is a range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)] \subseteq [0,d]$ where cuspidal automorphic representations which are (limits of) discrete series at ∞ contribute. We recall a combinatorial description of this range: let $C(\kappa)^+ =$ $\{w \in W, -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{Q}}\}$ and then let $\ell_{\min}(\kappa) = \min_{w \in C(\kappa)^+} \ell(w),$ $\ell_{\max}(\kappa) = \max_{w \in C(\kappa)^+} \ell(w)$. We note that when $\kappa + \rho$ is regular, then $C(\kappa)^+ =$ $\{w_+\}$ where w_+ is as in theorem 1.3.2 above, and so $\ell_{\min}(\kappa) = \ell_{\max}(\kappa) = \ell(w_+)$ and hence the range is reduced to a single degree.

Then we have the following vanishing theorem for the small slope part of classical cohomology (theorems 5.12.20 and 6.10.2).

Theorem 1.3.8 (Vanishing for classical cohomology). For any $\kappa \in X_{\star}(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$,

- (1) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K,\kappa)^{ss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)],$ (2) $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa, cusp)^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[0, \ell_{\max}(\kappa)],$
- (3) $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa)^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa),d]$.

Again we conjecture that strongly small slope can be replaced by small slope in the second and third points, and this would follow from conjecture 5.9.2. We also prove a similar result at deeper levels at p, and give a more representation theoretic statement (see definition 5.12.17).

Remark 1.3.9. This result should be compared to vanishing theorems in [Lan16] or [BHR94] where there is no small slope condition but instead a regularity condition on the weight κ .

Using Faltings's dual BGG spectral sequence, we can also deduce vanishing theorems for de Rham and hence Betti cohomology. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$ and let W_{ν} be the corresponding irreducible representation of G and W_{ν}^{\vee} its contragredient. We can attach to it a local system \mathcal{W}_{ν}^{\vee} on $S_K(\mathbb{C})$. We have the Betti cohomology groups $\mathrm{H}^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$, $\mathrm{H}^*_c(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ and the interior cohomology $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{\star}(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}) = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}_c^{\star}(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}) \to \mathrm{H}^{\star}(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})).$ We have the following (Theorems 5.12.20 and 6.10.2):

Theorem 1.3.10 (Vanishing of Betti cohomology). For any $\nu \in X_{\star}(T^c)^+$,

- (1) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{ss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the middle degree d,
- (2) $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{c}(K, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu})^{sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the range [0, d],
- (3) $\operatorname{H}^{i}(K, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\iota})^{sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the range [d, 2d].

Remark 1.3.11. The conditions $ss_b(\nu)$ and $sss_b(\nu)$ are the union of all conditions $ss^M(\kappa)$ and $sss^M(\kappa)$ respectively where $\kappa \in X_{\star}(T^c)^{M,+}$ runs through the set $\{-ww_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho, w \in {}^MW\}.$

In [CS17] and [CS19], Caraiani and Scholze proved a similar concentration result for the Betti cohomology of unitary Shimura varieties under a genericity condition for the action of the spherical Hecke algebra at a prime number ℓ . Their result is much more powerful because it also applies to the cohomology with coefficients in a p-torsion local system for a prime $p \neq \ell$. In this section we have seen three kinds of conditions that can be used to kill cohomology outside of the expected range of degrees: small slope at p, genericity at some prime ℓ , and tempered at ∞ . We give the simplest example of a cohomology class outside of the expected degree, and explain how all of these conditions fail.

Example 1.3.12. Consider a compact Shimura curve S_K associated to a quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} split at ∞ and p. Consider the constant function $1 \in \mathrm{H}^0(S_K, \mathscr{O}_{S_K})$, which comes from the trivial automorphic representation. The degree 0 cohomology is the "wrong" degree in this weight, in the sense that the interesting cohomology of $\mathcal{O}_{S_{\kappa}} = \mathcal{V}_0$ sits in degree 1. We observe that the cohomology class 1 is:

- (1) Non tempered at ∞ , since $\operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{R})) = \infty$.
- (2) Not small slope at p, because the U_p eigenvalue of the trivial representation is p, and v(p) = 1. The small slope condition in weight 0 is having U_p eigenvalue of slope < 1.

(3) Not generic at any prime ℓ , because the semi-simple conjugacy class attached to the trivial representation at ℓ via the local Langlands correspondence is diag $(\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}, \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}})$.

1.4. Locally analytic cohomology, interpolation, and the eigenvariety. Our next results concern the *p*-adic interpolation of the overconvergent cohomologies over weight space, and the construction of the eigenvariety. In the classical work [CM98] (revisited in [AIS14] and [Pil13]), the eigencurve was constructed by interpolating the Hecke action on the spaces of overconvergent modular forms $H_1^0(K^p, k)^{+,fs}$ in the weight k. This approach of interpolating overconvergent modular forms was generalized to Siegel varieties in [AIP15] (see also [CHJ17], [Bra16], [Her19], [Bra20], [BHW20] for further generalizations). In another direction, *p*-adic interpolation of the Betti cohomologies $H^i(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ was considered (and in this setting, one considers general arithmetic quotients of locally symmetric space, not only Shimura varieties). See for example [AS08], [Urb11], [Han17], [Eme06]. We also mention the case of algebraic modular forms where the group $G(\mathbb{R})$ is compact modulo center, which has been studied intensively, and for which there is no distinction between Betti and coherent cohomology (see for example [Buz07], [Che04], [Loe11]).

In this paper, we construct eigenvarieties by interpolating the local cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$. For the case of overconvergent modular forms $\mathrm{H}^{0}_{1}(K^{p},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$, we recover certain of the constructions recalled above. In this case, the improvement is that we are not assuming that the group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}$ is unramified or that there is a nonempty ordinary locus.

Let $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}_p[[T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)]]$ be the Iwasawa algebra and let $\mathcal{W} = \operatorname{Spa}(\Lambda, \Lambda) \times_{\operatorname{Spa}(\mathbb{Z}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p)})$ Spa $(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p)$ be the weight space of continuous characters of $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. In order to construct families, we must first replace the finite slope, overconvergent cohomologies $\operatorname{H}^i_w(K^p, \kappa)^{\pm, fs}$, which are defined for algebraic weights $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{+, M_{\mu}}$, with some finite slope, locally analytic overconvergent cohomologies $\operatorname{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p, \nu)^{\pm, fs}$, which are defined for any *p*-adic weight $\nu : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{C}_p^{\times}$.

To define these cohomologies, we use the same support conditions, but we replace the automorphic vector bundles \mathcal{V}_{κ} with certain Banach sheaves \mathcal{V}_{ν}^{an} and \mathcal{D}_{ν}^{an} . These Banach sheaves are defined on neighborhoods of $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(w \cdot K_p)$, using a reduction of the M_{μ}^c -torsor which is used to define the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{κ} . This reduction is defined using the Hodge-Tate period map (see section 4.6). Locally, the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{ν}^{an} (resp. \mathcal{D}_{ν}^{an}) are modeled on a locally analytic induction (resp. locally analytic distributions) of a certain profinite subgroup of $M_{\mu}(F)$ (actually with a fixed "radius of analyticity" which we suppress from the notation, as it will not matter when we pass to the finite slope part of cohomology). We define $\mathrm{H}_{w,an}^{i}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,fs}$ using \mathcal{V}_{ν}^{an} and $\mathrm{H}_{w,an}^{i}(K^{p},\nu)^{-,fs}$ using \mathcal{D}_{ν}^{an} . We must consider both of the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{ν}^{an} and \mathcal{D}_{ν}^{an} in order to have a duality theory, and we note that here we break the symmetry between the + and – theories.

The finite slope, locally analytic overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu)^{\pm,fs}$ carry a Hecke action of the monoid T^{\pm} (see section 6.3.9 for the definition), where one should think of the action of $t \in T^{\pm}$ as something like the " U_{p} -type" Iwahori Hecke operator $[K_{p}tK_{p}]$, except that one does not actually get an action of \mathcal{H}^{\pm}_{p} , as the "diamond operators" $t \in T(\mathbb{Z}_{p})$ do not act trivially: in fact they act by $\nu(t)^{\pm}$. The finite slope, locally analytic overconvergent cohomologies enjoy similar properties to parts (2),(3),(4) of theorem 1.2.1 (see section 6.7 for duality and theorems 6.6.1 and 6.7.3 for vanishing).

We now explain the relation between the two cohomologies. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ be an algebraic weight. We may associate a *p*-adic weight $\nu: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to F^{\times}$, as follows: we first consider $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)-\rho \in X^*(T^c)$, take the associated character $T(F) \to F^{\times}$, and define ν to be its restriction to $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. We emphasize that when *G* does not split over \mathbb{Q}_p , neither κ nor *w* need be defined over \mathbb{Q}_p , and the (absolute) Weyl group *W* need not act on $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ nor on \mathcal{W} .

From the construction we have maps of sheaves in a neighborhood of $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{-1}(w \cdot K_p)$

$$\mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}_{\nu}^{an} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{D}_{\nu}^{an} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{V}_{\kappa^{\vee}}$$

which are locally modeled on the inclusion of an algebraic induction into a locally analytic induction and its dual. Passing to cohomology with supports, we obtain maps

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,fs}(-\nu_{alg}) \\ & \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu)^{-,fs}(\nu_{alg}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa^{\vee})^{-,fs} \end{split}$$

where we have twisted the Hecke action of T^{\pm} on the analytic cohomology in order to make these maps Hecke equivariant (the twist of $(-\nu_{alg})$ means that we multiply the action of $t \in T^+$ by $\nu_{alg}(t)^{-1}$. Note that with this twist, $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ acts trivially.) Then we can state our second classicality theorem (see corollary 6.8.4).

Theorem 1.4.1 (Classicality at the level of the sheaf). The two maps above become isomorphisms after passing to the +, $sss_{M,w}(\kappa)$ part in the + case and the -, $sss_{M,w}(\kappa^{\vee})$ part in the - case. If the Shimura variety is compact, the same statement is true with weaker conditions +, $ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$ and -, $ss_{M,w}(\kappa^{\vee})$ (again see section 5.11 for the precise definitions of these small slope conditions).

Remark 1.4.2. We try to clarify the switch from κ to ν , and why it is really ν and not κ that is the natural weight parameter on the eigenvariety. The situation will become much clearer if we start by fixing a *G*-dominant $\nu_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)^+$. Then associated to each $w \in {}^M W$ we can consider $\kappa_w = -w_{0,M}w(\nu_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$. Combining the two classicality theorems we have an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w an}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,sss_{w}(\nu_{alg})} = \mathrm{H}^{i}(K,\kappa_{w})^{+,sss_{w}(\nu_{alg})}$$

where the small slope condition +, $sss_w(\nu_{alg})$ is simply the combination of +, $sss^M(\kappa_w)$ and +, $sss_{M,w}(\kappa_w)$ (if the Shimura variety is compact, we can use the condition $ss(\nu_{alg})$, which is independent of w and is the usual small slope condition in the algebraic modular form setting).

Now a stable *L*-packet where the archimedean components are discrete series with infinitesimal character $\nu_{alg} + \rho$ should give the same contribution to the cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{\ell(w)}(K, \kappa_w)$ for $w \in {}^{M}W$. If the contributions to the $\mathrm{H}^{\ell(w)}(K, \kappa_w)^{+,sss_w(\nu_{alg})}$ are nonempty, then we will see eigenclasses with the same system of Hecke eigenvalues in all of the $\mathrm{H}^{\ell(w)}_{w,an}(K^p, \nu)^{+,fs}$. These eigenclasses should all correspond to the same point of the eigenvariety, and thus we should use ν , which is nothing but a ρ shift of the dominant representative of the infinitesimal character, rather than the κ_w , which vary with $w \in {}^{M}W$.

12

We finally turn to results about the eigenvariety $\pi: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{W}$. The eigenvariety comes with a map $T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ (compatible with the map $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)]] \xrightarrow{\pi^*} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$) and a map $\mathcal{H}^S \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ where \mathcal{H}^S is the spherical Hecke algebra away from the finite set of primes S which contains p and all primes ℓ where K_ℓ is not hyperspecial. Points of the eigenvariety are pairs (λ_p, λ^S) where λ_p is a character of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, and λ^S is a system of eigenvalues for the prime to S spherical Hecke algebra. The projection to \mathcal{W} is given by $\lambda_p \mapsto \nu = \lambda_p|_{T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)}$. When ν is associated to an algebraic weight $\nu_{alg} \in X^*(T)$, we let $\lambda_p^{sm} = \lambda_p \nu_{alg}^{-1}$ be the smooth part of λ_p (it is trivial on $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$). We have the following theorem on the existence and properties of the eigenvariety (Theorems 6.9.3 and 6.9.6):

Theorem 1.4.3. The eigenvariety $\pi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{W}$ is locally quasi-finite and partially proper. It carries coherent sheaves

$$\mathbf{H}_{w,an}^{k}(K^{p},\nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}, \qquad \mathbf{H}_{w,an}^{k}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}$$

for all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and they satisfy the following properties:

- (1) (Any classical, finite slope eigenclass gives a point of the eigenvalues ($\lambda_p^{sm}, \lambda^S$) for any $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ and any system of Hecke eigenvalues ($\lambda_p^{sm}, \lambda^S$) occurring in $\mathrm{H}^i(K, \kappa)^{+,fs}$ there is a $w = w_M w^M \in W$ with $w_M \in W_M, w^M \in {}^M W$, so that if $\nu : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to F^{\times}$ is associated with $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) \rho$, then ($\lambda_p^{sm}\nu_{alg}, \lambda^S$) is a point of the eigenvalues \mathcal{E} which lies in the support of $\mathrm{H}^k_{w^M,an}(K^p, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}_{\mathcal{E}}$ for some k. The analogous result hold for the cuspidal and cohomologies.
- (2) (Small slope points of the eigenvariety in regular, locally algebraic weights are classical) Conversely if $\nu_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)^+$ is a G-dominant weight and (λ_p, λ^S) is a point of \mathcal{E} in weight ν and in the support of $\mathrm{H}^k_{w,an}(K^p, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ for some $w \in {}^{M}W$, and if λ_p^{sm} satisfies $+, sss_w(\nu)$ then $(\lambda_p^{sm}, \lambda^S)$ occurs in $\mathrm{H}^i(K, \kappa)^{+,fs}$ for $\kappa = -w_{0,M}w(\nu_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$ and some *i*. The analogous result hold for the cuspidal and - cohomologies.
- (3) (Serre duality interpolates over the eigenvariety) We have pairings:

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs} \otimes \mathrm{H}^{d-k}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\mp,fs} \to \pi^{-1}\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}.$$

and these pairings are compatible with Serre duality under the classicality theorem.

(4) (Interior cohomology classes deform over the weight space) Any interior cohomology eigenclass $c \in \overline{\mathrm{H}}^{*}(K,\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ defines a point on a component of the eigenvariety of dimension equal to the dimension of the weight space.

Remark 1.4.4. It is plausible that the eigenvariety \mathcal{E} coincides with an eigenvariety constructed via Betti cohomology interpolation, as in [Han17]. One can also believe that there is a *p*-adic Eichler-Shimura theory relating both constructions. See [AIS15], as well as some forthcoming work of Juan Esteban Rodriguez.

Remark 1.4.5. We can define certain $\pi^{-1} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}$ -torsion free sheaves $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}$ over the eigenvariety. This sheaves interpolate the various modules of the interior Cousin complex (which can be used to compute the interior cohomology). For all

 $w \in {}^{M}W$, we let $\mathcal{E}_{w}^{!}$ be the support of $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}$, which is a union of irreducible components of the eigenvariety of dimension equal to dim \mathcal{W} . Any interior cohomology class lifts to a point on $\cup_{w \in {}^{M}W} \mathcal{E}_{w}^{!}$.

Remark 1.4.6. For GSp_4/L with L a totally real field, variants or special cases of this theory are considered in [Pil20], [BCGP18], [LPSZ19].

Remark 1.4.7. The point (4) of the theorem is an advantage of the method we use to construct the eigenvarieties. Such a result was only available in a limited number of cases (e.g. Shimura sets and automorphic forms contributing to cuspidal coherent H^0).

Finally, using point (4) we can give a new construction of Galois representations associated to certain automorphic representations realizing in the coherent cohomology of Shimura varieties, but not in the Betti cohomology. This construction is via p-adic interpolation, and yields new results on local-global compatibility at p. In [FP19], section 9, we defined a certain class of cuspidal automorphic representations for the group GL_n/L where L is a totally real or CM number field. These are called weakly regular, odd, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representations. Informally, the weak regularity condition means that we allow the weights of the infinitesimal character to repeat at most twice.

Theorem 1.4.8. Let π be a weakly regular, odd, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representation of GL_n/L with $\pi^c = \pi^{\vee} \otimes \chi$ and infinitesimal character $\lambda = ((\lambda_{1,\tau}, \ldots, \lambda_{n,\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(L,\mathbb{C})})$ with $\lambda_{1,\tau} \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_{n,\tau}$. Then for each isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \simeq \mathbb{C}$ there is a continuous Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,\iota}: G_L \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ such that:

- (1) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}^c \simeq \rho^{\vee} \otimes \epsilon_p^{1-n} \otimes \chi_{\iota}$ where χ_{ι} is the p-adic realization of χ . (2) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is unramified at all finite places $v \nmid p$ for which π_v is unramified and one has

$$\iota WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_v}})^{F-ss} \simeq \operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-n}{2}}).$$

- (3) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ has generalized $\iota^{-1} \circ \tau$ -Hodge-Tate weights $(-\lambda_{n,\tau} + \frac{n-1}{2}, \cdots, -\lambda_{1,\tau} + \frac{n-1}{2})$ $\frac{n-1}{2}$).
- (4) Let $v \mid p$ be a place of L and assume that π_v is a regular principal series. Then $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_n}}$ is potentially crystalline and

$$\iota WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_v}})^{F-ss} \simeq \operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-n}{2}}).$$

Here the hypothesis that π_v is a regular principal series in part (4) is a "pdistinguished" condition, which in particular implies that $\operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-n}{2}})$ is a sum of n distinct characters, so that we can prove that $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|G_{L_v}$ is potentially crystalline by finding its periods one at a time.

When π is regular rather than just weakly regular and odd, then a stronger form of the theorem holds according to results of Bellaiche, Caraiani, Chenevier, Clozel, Harris, Kottwitz, Labesse, Shin, Taylor, etc. (see [CH13], [BLGGT14]) including purity and local-global compatibility at all places. The above theorem is deduced from these results by p-adic interpolation. Moreover even in the irregular case, the Galois representations in the theorem have already been constructed by different methods in [PS16] (and in special cases in [Box15], [GK19]). The novelty in the above theorem is the results towards local global compatibility at p in points (3) and (4).

The theorem is proved by first descending π to a cuspidal automorphic representation on a quasi-split unitary group over L, which then contributes to the interior coherent cohomology of the corresponding Shimura variety. Then we apply point (4) of theorem 1.4.3 to get a point on the eigenvariety which is a limit of regular weight classical points, and conclude using results of Kisin [Kis03] on the interpolation of crystalline periods in analytic families, as in the work of Jorza and Mok [Jor12], [Mok14].

Remark 1.4.9. As explained, our proof of this theorem makes use of the results of [Mok15] to descend certain automorphic representations to quasi-split unitary groups, and is therefore conditional on the results announced in [Art13].

1.5. A toy model: the cohomology of flag varieties and the Cousin complex of Kempf. There is a strong analogy between the coherent cohomology of Shimura varieties, and the much simpler coherent cohomology of flag varieties. In [Kem78], Kempf introduced a local cohomology method for computing the coherent cohomology of flag varieties, which may be viewed as a "toy model" for the methods of this paper. We briefly review this computation and some of the analogies (see section 3.2 for more details).

For this section of the introduction, which is independent of the rest of the paper, we let G be a split reductive group over a field F and let $T \subset B \subset G$ be a Borel and maximal torus. Let $FL = B \setminus G$ be the flag variety for G and write $\pi : G \to FL$ for the projection. Let d be the dimension of FL. Let W be the Weyl group of G with length function ℓ , and let $w_0 \in W$ be the longest element. For any weight $\kappa \in X^*(T)$, we associate a G-equivariant line bundle \mathcal{L}_{κ} over FL, whose sections on an open $U \hookrightarrow FL$ are

$$\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}(U) = \{ f : \pi^{-1}(U) \to \mathbb{A}^1 \mid f(bg) = (w_0 \kappa)(b) f(g), \quad \forall b \in B, g \in \pi^{-1}(U) \}.$$

The right action of G on FL induces a left action on the cohomology groups $\mathrm{H}^{i}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$. If κ is dominant, then $\mathrm{H}^{0}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ contains a highest weight representation of weight κ .

The classical Borel-Weil-Bott theorem describes the cohomology of the sheaves \mathcal{L}_{κ} over FL when the characteristic of F is 0:

Theorem 1.5.1 ([Jan03], 5.5, corollary). Assume that char(F) = 0. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ then:

- (1) If there exists no $w \in W$ such that $w(\kappa + \rho) \rho$ is dominant (i.e. $\kappa + \rho$ is irregular) then $\mathrm{H}^{i}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) = 0$ for all *i*.
- (2) If there exists $w \in W$ such that $w(\kappa + \rho) \rho$ is dominant, then there is a unique such w, and $\mathrm{H}^{i}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) = 0$ if $\ell(w) \neq i$, while $\mathrm{H}^{\ell(w)}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ is the highest weight $w(\kappa + \rho) \rho$ representation.

Following section 12 of [Kem78], one can study the cohomology of the sheaves \mathcal{L}_{κ} over FL with the help of the Bruhat stratification $FL = \bigcup_{w \in W} B \setminus BwB$. Given $w \in W$, let $C_w = B \setminus BwB$, and let $U_w \subseteq FL$ be an open so that $C_w \subseteq U_w$ is closed (for example one can take $U_w = B \setminus Bw_0 Bw_0^{-1}w$). Then one can introduce the local cohomology groups:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(\kappa) := \mathrm{H}^{i}_{C_{w}}(U_{w}, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}).$$

Unlike the cohomology of the full flag variety, these local cohomologies do not carry an action of G. However they do still carry an action of B, as well as of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G.

Then we have the following results:

- (Vanishing) The local cohomologies $H_w^i(\kappa)$ vanish unless $i = d \ell(w)$.
- (Cousin complex) For each weight $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ there is a Grothendieck-Cousin complex

$$\mathbf{H}_{w_0}^0(\kappa) \to \bigoplus_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-1} \mathbf{H}_w^1(\kappa) \to \dots \to \bigoplus_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-i} \mathbf{H}_w^i(\kappa) \to \dots \to \mathbf{H}_1^d(\kappa)$$

computing the cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{\star}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$. This complex arises as the E_1 page of the spectral sequence of the following filtration of FL associated to the Bruhat stratification:

$$Z^i = \bigcup_{w \in W, \ell(w) \le d-i} C_w$$

We also remark that this complex is closely related to the BGG resolution. For example, if the characteristic of F is zero κ is dominant, then this complex is exactly the dual of the BGG resolution of the irreducible representation of highest weight $-w_0\kappa$.

• (Weight bounds) The analog of the Hecke action of \mathcal{H}_p^{\pm} on the finite slope, overconvergent cohomologies is the action of the torus T on the local cohomologies $\mathrm{H}_w^i(\kappa)$ (there is no analog of taking the "finite slope part", as we already have the action of a group). Then the analog of the slope bound is the following "weight bound": any weight $\lambda \in X^*(T)$ occurring in $H_w^{d-\ell(w)}$ satisfies

$$\lambda \le w^{-1} w_0(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$$

where we write $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ if $\lambda' - \lambda = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta} c_{\alpha} \alpha$ with $c_{\alpha} \geq 0$ where Δ denotes the simple roots of G associated to $T \subseteq B$. Actually this weight bound is an immediate consequence of a much better result, which we lack an analog of in the Shimura variety setting: the character of T acting on $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(\kappa)$ equals that of the Verma module of highest weight $w^{-1}w_{0}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$.

• ("Classicality" and vanishing for the "big weight" part) In analogy with passing to the small slope part in the Shimura variety setting, we can try to impose a "big weight" condition in order to kill most (ideally all but one) of the terms in the Cousin complex.

We make some combinatorial definitions: let $C(\kappa) = \{w \in W \mid w^{-1}w_0(\kappa + \rho) \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}\}$ be the subset of W for which the weight bound is as big as possible. We say that a weight $\lambda \in X^*(T)^+$ is a big weight (depending on κ) if $\lambda \not\leq w^{-1}w_0(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$. The point of this definition is exactly that by the weight bound, $H^{d-\ell(w)}_w(\kappa)$ will not contain any big weights unless $w \in C(\kappa)$. Then from this and the Cousin complex we have the following immediate consequences, which can be viewed as a weak form of the Borel-Weil-Bott theorem (as well as toy models for theorems 1.3.2, 1.3.8): $-H^i(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw} = 0$ unless $i \in [\min_{w \in C(\kappa)} d - \ell(w), \max_{w \in C(\kappa)} d - \ell(w)]$.

- If $\kappa + \rho$ is regular, so that $C(\kappa) = \{w\}$ consists of a single element, then we have the following "classicality theorem":

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(\kappa)^{bw} = \mathrm{H}^{i}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw}$$

16

and both sides vanish when $i \neq d - \ell(w)$. Although these results are not as strong as the Borel-Weil-Bott theorem, we emphasize that we have not assumed that $\operatorname{char}(F) = 0$. Moreover, in characteristic zero it is not too hard to deduce the full Borel-Weil-Bott theorem using some basic properties of the BGG category \mathcal{O} (see section 3.2).

• (Interpolation) We assume F has characteristic 0. Although the line bundles \mathcal{L}_{κ} and their cohomologies only exist for integral weights $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T)$, the local cohomologies $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(X,\kappa)$, together with their \mathfrak{g} action can be defined for all $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T)^{+} \otimes F = \mathfrak{t}^{\vee}$, where \mathfrak{t} is the Lie algebra of T. The families of \mathfrak{g} -modules obtained in this way are called twisted Verma modules (see [AL03]).

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank D. Loeffler and S. Zerbes for asking about the possibility to generalize the results of [Pil20] to more general situations and for many discussions about this paper. A first generalization was found in our joint work with C. Skinner [LPSZ19]. We further thank D. Loeffler for his careful reading of a first draft of the manuscript, and his many useful comments which in particular lead us to prove theorem 5.7.2 and theorem 5.7.3 which where stated as conjectures in the draft. It is also a pleasure to thank F. Calegari and T. Gee, some of the ideas were discovered while working on [BCGP18]. We also thank F. Andreatta, A. Iovita, J. Rodrigues and J.E. Rodriguez for many interesting exchanges in Lyon. We thank A. Caraiani and the London number theory group for their interest in our work (and their patience), as well as the Montréal number theory group for giving us the opportunity to give lectures on this topic. We finally acknowledge the financial support of the ERC-2018-COG-818856-HiCoShiVa.

2. Cohomological preliminaries

2.1. Cohomology with support in a closed subspace. We recall the notion and the basic properties of the cohomology of an abelian sheaf on a topological space, with support in a closed subspace. A reference for this material is [Gro05], chapter I. Let X be a topological space. We let Ab_X be the category of abelian sheaves over X. If X is a point, Ab_X is simply Ab the category of abelian groups. We let $\mathcal{D}(Ab_X)$ be the derived category of Ab_X . Let $i : Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed subspace. For an object \mathscr{F} of Ab_X , we let $\Gamma_Z(X, \mathscr{F})$ be the subgroup of $\mathrm{H}^0(X, \mathscr{F})$ of sections whose support is included in Z. We let $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X, -) : \mathcal{D}(Ab_X) \to \mathcal{D}(Ab)$ be the right derived functor of $\Gamma_Z(X, -)$ (see [Sta13], Tag 079V, in particular for the unbounded version). Let $U = X \setminus Z$ and let \mathscr{F} be an object of $\mathcal{D}(Ab_X)$. We have an exact triangle in $\mathcal{D}(Ab)$ ([Gro05], I, corollaire 2.9):

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(U,\mathscr{F}) \stackrel{+1}{\to}$$

We have the classical pushforward functor $i_{\star}: Ab_Z \to Ab_X$ and it admits a right adjoint $i^!: Ab_X \to Ab_Z$ which can be described as follows: Let $W \subseteq Z$ be an open subset. Let $W' \subseteq X$ be an open subset of X such that $W = W' \cap Z$. For any object \mathscr{F} of Ab_X , we have $i^!\mathscr{F}(W) = \Gamma_W(W', \mathscr{F}|_{W'})$. It follows that $\Gamma_Z(X, \mathscr{F}) =$ $\mathrm{H}^0(X, i_{\star}i^!\mathscr{F})$. The functor $i^!$ has a right derived functor $\mathrm{R}i^!: \mathcal{D}(Ab_X) \to \mathcal{D}(Ab_Z)$. Moreover $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X, \mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma(X, i_{\star}\mathrm{R}i^!\mathscr{F})$.

Some properties of the cohomology with support are:

G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

- (1) (corestriction)[[Gro05], I, Proposition 1.8] If $Z \subseteq Z' \subseteq X$ are closed subsets, there is a corestriction map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z'}(X,\mathscr{F})$.
- (2) (pull-back) If we have a continuous map $f: X \to X'$, closed subsets $Z \subset X$, $Z' \subset X'$ satisfying $f^{-1}(Z') \subseteq Z$, and a sheaf \mathscr{F} on X', then there is a map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z'}(X',\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X, f^{-1}\mathscr{F}).$
- (3) (Change of ambient space)[[Gro05], I, Proposition 2.2] If we have $Z \subset U \subset X$ for some open U of X, then the pull back map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(U,\mathscr{F})$ is a quasi-isomorphism.

The above properties imply easily the following lemma:

Lemma 2.1.1. Let $Z_1, Z_2 \subseteq X$ be two disjoint closed subsets. Then the natural map given by pushforward:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1}(X,\mathscr{F}) \oplus \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_2}(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1 \cup Z_2}(X,\mathscr{F})$$

is a quasi-isomorphism.

Proof. For $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we let $i_i : Z_i \hookrightarrow X$. We finally let $i : Z_1 \cup Z_2 \hookrightarrow X$. The lemma follows from the claim that for any $\mathscr{F} \in Ob(Ab_X)$, the natural map $(i_1)_{\star}i_1^! \mathscr{F} \oplus (i_2)_{\star}i_2^! \mathscr{F} \to i_{\star}i^! \mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism of sheaves. This is a local computation. Since $X = Z_1^c \cup Z_2^c$ and the claim holds true over any open subset of Z_1^c or Z_2^c , we are done.

We now discuss the construction of the trace map in the context of schemes or adic spaces and finite locally free morphisms ([Hub96], Sect. 1.4.4).

Lemma 2.1.2. Consider a commutative diagram of topological spaces:



with X and X' schemes (resp. adic spaces), f a finite locally free morphism of schemes (resp. adic spaces), $Z' \to X'$ and $Z \to X$ closed subspaces. Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf of $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules. Then there is a map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_Z(X, f^*\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z'}(X', \mathscr{F})$.

Proof. We first recall that the category of sheaves of \mathscr{O}_T -modules on a ringed space (T, \mathscr{O}_T) has enough injectives ([Sta13], Tag 01DH). It follows that it is enough to construct a functorial map $\Gamma_Z(X, f^*\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_{Z'}(X', \mathscr{F})$ for sheaves \mathscr{F} of \mathscr{O}_X -modules. If we let $Z'' = f^{-1}(Z')$, then we have a map $\Gamma_Z(X, f^*\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_{f^{-1}(Z')}(X, f^*\mathscr{F})$. Therefore, it suffices to consider the case where $Z = f^{-1}(Z')$. We have a trace map $\operatorname{Tr} : f_*\mathscr{O}_X \to \mathscr{O}_{X'}$. Moreover, the natural morphism $f_*\mathscr{O}_X \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}}$. $\mathscr{F} \to f_*f^*\mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism. We therefore have a trace map $\operatorname{Tr} : f_*f^*\mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$. Let us complete the above diagram into:



where $U' = X' \setminus Z'$ and $U = X \setminus Z$. We have a commutative diagram:

18



We deduce that the trace map $\Gamma(X, f^*\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma(X', \mathscr{F})$ induces a trace map $\Gamma_Z(X, f^*\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_{Z'}(X', \mathscr{F}).$

2.2. Cup products. Let (X, \mathscr{O}_X) be a ringed space. Let $K = \Gamma(X, \mathscr{O}_X)$.

Proposition 2.2.1. Let $Z_1, Z_2 \subseteq X$ be two closed subsets. Let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be two flat sheaves of \mathscr{O}_X -modules. There is a natural map, functorial in \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} , as well as the support Z_1 and Z_2 :

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1}(X,\mathscr{F})\otimes^L_K\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_2}(X,\mathscr{G})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1\cap Z_2}(X,\mathscr{F}\otimes^L_{\mathscr{O}_X}\mathscr{G}).$$

Proof. Let $Z_3 = Z_1 \cap Z_2$. For $1 \leq j \leq 3$, we let $i_j : Z_i \hookrightarrow X$ be the inclusion. For \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} sheaves of \mathscr{O}_X -modules we have a map $(i_1)_{\star}i_1^! \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} (i_2)_{\star}i_2^! \mathscr{G} \to (i_3)_{\star}i_3^! (\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G})$. We claim that there is a map in the derived category:

$$(i_1)_{\star} \mathrm{R}i_1^! \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}}^L (i_2)_{\star} \mathrm{R}i_2^! \mathscr{G} \to (i_3)_{\star} \mathrm{R}i_3^! (\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G}).$$

Indeed, taking the Godement resolution ([Sta13], Tag 0FKR) gives quasi-isomorphisms $\mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}^{\bullet}$ and $\mathscr{G} \to \mathscr{G}^{\bullet}$ where \mathscr{F}^{\bullet} and \mathscr{G}^{\bullet} are bounded below complexes of flasque sheaves of \mathscr{O}_X -modules and for all $x \in X$, the maps $\mathscr{F}_x \to \mathscr{F}_x^{\bullet}$ and $\mathscr{G}_x \to \mathscr{G}_x^{\bullet}$ are homotopy equivalences in the category of $\mathscr{O}_{X,x}$ -modules. In particular, \mathscr{F}^{\bullet} and \mathscr{G}^{\bullet} are flat (by [Sta13], Lemma 06YB and the property that \mathscr{F}_x and \mathscr{G}_x are flat \mathscr{O}_X -modules). Since \mathscr{F}^{\bullet} and \mathscr{G}^{\bullet} are K-flat, the map $\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G} \to \operatorname{Tot}(\mathscr{F}^{\bullet} \otimes \mathscr{G}^{\bullet})$ is a quasi-isomorphism. We see that $(i_1)_* \operatorname{Ri}_1^! \mathscr{F}$ is computed by $(i_1)_* i_1^! \mathscr{F}^{\bullet}$ and $(i_2)_* \operatorname{Ri}_2^! \mathscr{G}$ is computed by $(i_2)_* i_2^! \mathscr{G}^{\bullet}$. Taking K-flat resolutions $A^{\bullet} \to (i_1)_* i_1^! \mathscr{F}^{\bullet}$ and $B^{\bullet} \to (i_2)_* i_2^! \mathscr{G}^{\bullet}$, we see that $\operatorname{Tot}(A^{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} B^{\bullet})$ computes

$$(i_1)_{\star} \mathrm{R}i_1^! \mathscr{F} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}}^L (i_2)_{\star} \mathrm{R}i_2^! \mathscr{G}$$

and there is a composite map

$$\operatorname{Tot}(A^{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} B^{\bullet}) \to \operatorname{Tot}((i_{1})_{\star} i_{1}^{!} \mathscr{F}^{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} (i_{2})_{\star} i_{2}^{!} \mathscr{G}^{\bullet})$$
$$\to (i_{3})_{\star} i_{3}^{!} (\operatorname{Tot}(\mathscr{F}^{\bullet} \otimes \mathscr{G}^{\bullet})).$$

Taking a K-injective resolution $\operatorname{Tot}(\mathscr{F}^{\bullet}\otimes\mathscr{G}^{\bullet}) \to C^{\bullet}$ we finally find that $(i_3)_{\star}i_3^!(C^{\bullet})$ computes $(i_3)_{\star}\operatorname{Ri}_3^!(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{G})$ and we have a morphism

$$(i_3)_{\star}i_3^!(\operatorname{Tot}(\mathscr{F}^{\bullet}\otimes\mathscr{G}^{\bullet}))\to (i_3)_{\star}i_3^!(C^{\bullet}).$$

There is also a usual cup-product map by [Sta13], Tag 0FPJ:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(X,(i_1)_{\star}\mathrm{R}i_1^!\mathscr{F})\otimes_K^L\mathrm{R}\Gamma(X,(i_2)_{\star}\mathrm{R}i_2^!\mathscr{G})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma(X,(i_1)_{\star}\mathrm{R}i_1^!\mathscr{F}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X}^L(i_2)_{\star}\mathrm{R}i_2^!\mathscr{G}).$$

Combining the two maps gives the map of the proposition.

2.3. The spectral sequence of a filtered topological space. Let X be a topological space, \mathscr{F} a sheaf of abelian groups, and let $W \subseteq Z$ be two closed subspaces of X. We can define $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z/W}(X,\mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z\setminus W}(X\setminus W,\mathscr{F})$. If $Z \subseteq Z'$ and $W \subseteq W'$ we have a map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z/W}(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z'/W'}(X,\mathscr{F})$.

If we have $Z_3 \subseteq Z_2 \subseteq Z_1$, then there is an exact triangle ([Kem78], lemma 7.6): $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_2/Z_3}(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1/Z_3}(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_1/Z_2}(X,\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{+1}$

Assume that there is a filtration by closed subsets $X = Z_0 \supseteq Z_1 \supseteq \cdots Z_r = \emptyset$. Then there is a spectral sequence of filtered topological space ([Har66], p. 227):

$$E_1^{pq} = \mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}(X,\mathscr{F}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(X,\mathscr{F})$$

which we can visualize as follows:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\$$

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}_{Z_{1}/Z_{2}}(X, \mathscr{F})$$

The differential $d_1^{p,q}: \mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}(X,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{H}^{p+q+1}_{Z_{p+1}/Z_{p+2}}(X,\mathscr{F})$ is the boundary map in the long exact sequence associated with the triangle:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_{p+1}/Z_{p+2}}(X,\mathcal{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_p/Z_{p+2}}(X,\mathcal{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}(X,\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{+1}.$$

2.4. The category of projective Banach modules. In this work we will consider cohomologies that will be naturally represented by complexes of Banach modules (or projective, inductive limits of such complexes). We therefore recall the basics of this theory. Our discussion follows [Urb11], section 2. Let (A, A^+) be a complete Tate algebra over a non-archimedean field (F, \mathcal{O}_F) . We let $\varpi \in \mathcal{O}_F$ be a pseudo-uniformizer.

2.4.1. Modules. We let $\mathbf{Mod}(A)$ be the abelian category of A-modules, $\mathcal{C}(A)$ be the category of complexes of A-modules, $\mathcal{K}(A)$ its homotopy category and $\mathcal{D}(A)$ the derived category. We let $\mathcal{K}^{perf}(A)$ be the homotopy category of the category of bounded complexes of finite projective A-modules. These are called perfect complex. The category $\mathcal{K}^{perf}(A)$ is a full subcategory of the category $\mathcal{D}(A)$.

2.4.2. Banach modules. A Banach A-module M is a topological A-module whose topology can be described as follows: Let A_0 be an open and bounded subring of A. Then M contains an open and bounded sub A_0 -module M_0 which is ϖ adically complete and separated (and $M = M_0[\frac{1}{\varpi}]$). We let **Ban**(A) be the category whose objects are Banach A-modules, and whose morphisms are continuous A-linear morphisms. This is a quasi-abelian category in the sense of [Sch99], def. 1.1.3. This means that **Ban**(A) is an additive category with kernels and cokernels, strict epimorphisms are stable under pullback and strict monomorphisms are stable under pushout. Recall that strict morphisms f are those for which the natural morphism $\operatorname{coim}(f) \to \operatorname{im}(f)$ is an isomorphism in **Ban**(A).

2.4.3. The derived category. We let $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ be the category of complexes of Banach modules, and $\mathcal{K}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ be its homotopy category. A complex M^{\bullet} in $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ is strictly exact if each differential $d_i : M_i \to M_{i+1}$ is strict and the morphism $\mathrm{Im}(d_i) \to \ker(d_{i+1})$ is an isomorphism. A morphism $f : M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$ in $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ is a strict quasi-isomorphism if its cone is strictly exact. It is a general property of quasi-abelian categories that if a morphism is strictly exact, so is any other morphism in the same homotopy class. One can consider the derived category $\mathcal{D}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ obtained by inverting in $\mathcal{K}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ the strict quasi-isomorphisms ([Sch99], def. 1.2.16, [Urb11], sect. 2.1.3). In the case of the category $\mathbf{Ban}(A)$ we have the following lemma which helps recognize strict quasi-isomorphisms:

Lemma 2.4.4. Let M^{\bullet} be a complex in C(Ban(A)). Then M^{\bullet} is exact as a complex of A-modules if and only if it is strictly exact. A morphism $f: M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$ in C(Ban(A)) is a quasi-isomorphism of complexes in Mod(A) if and only if it is a strict quasi-isomorphism.

Proof. It follows from the open mapping theorem that any epimorphism in **Ban**(A) is open and therefore strict. The first claim follows. The second claim is deduced by considering the cone of f.

Because of this lemma, strict quasi-isomorphisms will simply be called quasi-isomorphisms.

2.4.5. Projectives. Let I be a set. Denote by A(I) the submodule of A^{I} of sequences of elements of A indexed by I converging to 0 according to the filter in I of the complement of the finite subsets of I. This module can also be described as follows. Let A_0 be an open and bounded subring of A. Let $A_0(I)$ be the ϖ -adic completion of the free A_0 -module with basis I. Then $A(I) = A_0(I)[\frac{1}{\varpi}]$. We see that A(I) is a Banach A-module. A Banach A-module M is orthonormalizable if there exists a set I and an isomorphism $M \simeq A(I)$. A Banach A-module is called projective if it is a direct factor of an orthonormalizable Banach A-module. We let $\mathcal{C}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ be the category of bounded complexes of projective Banach A-module. There is a natural functor $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)) \rightarrow \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ and it is fully faithful ([Sch99], prop. 1.3.22, [Urb11], lem. 2.1.8). In particular we deduce the following lemma which will be used in this work:

Lemma 2.4.6. Let $f: M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$ be a quasi-isomorphism in $\mathcal{C}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$. Then f admits and inverse $g: N^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$ up to homotopy.

Recall that finite type A-modules are canonically Banach A-modules. Therefore we can view $\mathcal{K}^{perf}(A)$ as a full subcategory of $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$.

2.4.7. Limits of Banach spaces. We let $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{Ban}(A))$ be the category of countable projective systems of $\operatorname{Ban}(A)$. Its objects are contravariant functors $\mathbb{N} \to \operatorname{Ban}(A)$. An object of this category will be denoted " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K_i$ with $K_i \in Ob(\operatorname{Ban}(A))$. We let $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{Ban}(A))$ be the category of countable inductive systems of $\operatorname{Ban}(A)$. Its objects are covariant functors $\mathbb{N} \to \operatorname{Ban}(A)$. An object of this category will be denoted " $\operatorname{coint}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K_i$ with $K_i \in Ob(\operatorname{Ban}(A))$. We have a limit functor functor $\mathbb{N} \to \operatorname{Ban}(A)$. We have a limit functor $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{Kan}(A) \to \operatorname{Mod}(A)$, and a colimit functor $\operatorname{colim} : \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)) \to$ $\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}(A)$. Of course, these functors completely forget the topology. We could consider instead limit and colimit functors in the category of locally convex A-modules instead, but this turns out to be unnecessary to us. We extend lim and colim to functors between the category of complexes: $\lim : \mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Ban}}(A))) \to \mathcal{C}(A)$ and $\operatorname{colim} : \mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Ban}}(A))) \to \mathcal{C}(A)$.

We let $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$ be the category whose objects are projective systems of complexes $\{K_i \in Ob(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ and the K_i 's have non-zero cohomology in a uniformly bounded range of degrees. We denote an object of this category by " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ " K_i (we are not evaluating the limit). Let " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ " $K_i \in$ $Ob(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$. Then there exists an object (unique up to a non unique isomorphism) $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K_i \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ by [Sta13], Tag 08TB. And similarly, for any morphism " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ " $K_i \to$ " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ " $K'_i \in \operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$, there is a morphism $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K'_i$. If " $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K_i \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ can be represented by an object in $\mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$, then $\lim_{i \in \mathbb{N}} K_i$ is obtained by taking the degreewise projective limit.

We also let $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))$ be the category whose objects are inductive systems of complexes $\{K_i \in Ob(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(A))\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ and the K_i 's have non-zero cohomology in a uniformly bounded range of degrees. We denote an object of this category by "colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$}" K_i (we are not evaluating the limit either).

Let "colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$}" $K_i \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$. Then there exists an object (unique up to a non unique isomorphism) colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$} $K_i \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ by [Sta13], Tag 0A5K. And similarly, for any morphism "colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$}" $K_i \to$ "colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$}" $K'_i \in \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$, there is a morphism colim $K_i \to \operatorname{colim} K'_i$. If "colim_{$i \in \mathbb{N}$}" $K_i \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ can be represented by an object in $\mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$, then colim K_i is obtained by taking the degreewise inductive limit.

2.4.8. Compact operators. Recall that a morphism $T : M \to N$ in **Ban**(A) is called compact if it is a limit of finite rank operators (for the supremum norm of operators, or equivalently the strong topology on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ban}(A)}(M, N)$). A morphism $T : M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$ in $\mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Ban}(A))$ is called compact if it is compact in each degree.

Definition 2.4.9. A morphism $T : M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$ in $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$ is compact if it has a compact representative in $\mathcal{C}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$.

We need to extend these definitions to the case of objects in $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$ or $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$. Let T: " \lim_{i} " $M_{i}^{\bullet} \to$ " \lim_{i} " N_{i}^{\bullet} be a morphism in $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$. We say that T is compact if there exists a compact operator $T': M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet} \in \mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$, and a commutative diagram:



Lemma 2.4.10. Let " $\lim_{i} M_{i}^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ and let T be a compact endomorphism of " $\lim_{i} M_{i}^{\bullet}$. Then T induces canonically a compact endomorphism T_{i} of M_{i}^{\bullet} for i large enough and there are factorization diagrams:



Proof. By definition, the map " $\lim_i "M_i^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$ factors into " $\lim_i "M_i^{\bullet} \to M_i^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$ for some *i* large enough. The map $N^{\bullet} \to$ " $\lim_i "M_i^{\bullet}$ is given by a collection of compatible maps $N^{\bullet} \to M_i^{\bullet}$. The lemma follows.

Let T: "colim_{*i*}" $M_i^{\bullet} \to$ "colim_{*i*}" N_i^{\bullet} be a morphism in $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$. We say that T is compact if there exists a compact operator $T': M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet} \in \mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))$, and a commutative diagram:



Lemma 2.4.11. Let "colim_i" $M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ and let T be a compact endomorphism of "colim_i" M_i^{\bullet} . Then T induces canonically a compact endomorphism T_i of M_i^{\bullet} for i large enough and there are factorization diagrams:



Proof. By definition, the map $N^{\bullet} \to$ "colim_{*i*}" M_i^{\bullet} factors into $N^{\bullet} \to M_i^{\bullet} \to$ "colim_{*i*}" M_i^{\bullet} for some *i* large enough. The map "colim_{*i*}" $M_i^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$ is given by a collection of compatible maps $M_i^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$. The lemma follows.

Definition 2.4.12. Let $T : N^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet}$ be a map in $\mathcal{D}(A)$. We say that T is compact if it can be represented by a compact map in $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))$ or $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))$.

Definition 2.4.13. Let $M^{\bullet} \in Ob(\mathcal{D}(A))$ and let $T \in End_{\mathcal{D}(A)}(M^{\bullet})$. We say that T is potent compact if for some $n \geq 0$, T^n is compact.

2.5. The cohomology of Banach sheaves. In this section we explain how we can obtain complexes of Banach modules from the cohomology of rigid analytic varieties. We use the theory of adic spaces described in [Hub96] and [Hub94] for example.

2.5.1. Sheaves of Banach modules over adic spaces. In this section we recall some material from [AIP15], appendix A. Let F be a non archimedean field with ring of integers \mathcal{O}_F . Let $\varpi \in F$ be a topologically nilpotent unit.

We recall that there is a good theory of coherent sheaves on finite type adic spaces over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$: If $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$ is affinoid and \mathscr{F} is a coherent sheaf on \mathcal{X} , then $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}) = 0$ for $i \neq 0, M = \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}})$ is an A-module of finite type and the canonical map $M \otimes_{A} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}} \to \mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism ([Hub94], thm. 2.5). Moreover, M is canonically a Banach A-module ([Hub94], lem. 2.4). It follows that a coherent sheaf \mathscr{F} over a finite type adic space \mathcal{X} is a sheaf of topological $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules. In this paper we will have to manipulate topological sheaves which are not coherent.

Definition 2.5.2. Let \mathcal{X} be a finite type adic space over $\text{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. A sheaf \mathscr{F} of topological $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules is called a Banach sheaf if:

- (1) For any quasi-compact open $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$, $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U})$ is a Banach $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathcal{U})$ -module,
- (2) There is an affinoid covering $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_i \mathcal{U}_i$, such that for any affinoid $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathcal{U}_i$, the continuous restriction map $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U}_i) \to \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{V})$ induces a topological isomorphism: $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathcal{V}) \hat{\otimes}_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathcal{U}_i)} \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U}_i) \to \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{V})$,

A Banach sheaf \mathscr{F} is called locally projective if there is a covering as in (2) such that $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ is a projective Banach $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ -module.

Any coherent sheaf on \mathcal{X} is therefore a Banach sheaf and a coherent sheaf is a locally projective Banach sheaf if and only if it is locally free. Banach sheaves over \mathcal{X} form a full subcategory of the category of topological $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules. We introduce compact morphisms in this context.

Definition 2.5.3. Let \mathcal{X} be an adic space of finite type over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. Let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be two locally projective Banach sheaves. Let $\phi : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{G}$ be a continuous morphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules. We say that the map ϕ is compact if there is a covering $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_i \mathcal{U}_i$ satisfying the point (2) of definition 2.5.2 for both \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} , such that the map $\phi : \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U}_i) \to \mathscr{G}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ is a compact map of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ -modules.

Remark 2.5.4. Note that if \mathscr{G} is coherent, any morphism to \mathscr{G} is compact.

2.5.5. Cohomological properties of Banach sheaves. We warn the reader that Banach sheaves which are not coherent sheaves are pathological in general. In particular it is not true that on an affinoid \mathcal{X} , a Banach sheaf has trivial higher cohomology groups, nor is it true that a Banach sheaf is the sheaf associated with its global sections. Here is nevertheless a simple situation where this holds. Let $\mathcal{X} = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ be an affinoid and let M be a projective Banach A-module. Let $\mathscr{F} = M \hat{\otimes}_A \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ be the pre-sheaf whose value on an affinoid open $\mathcal{U} = \text{Spa}(B, B^+)$ of \mathcal{X} is $M \hat{\otimes}_A B$.

Lemma 2.5.6. The pre-sheaf \mathscr{F} is a sheaf and $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

Proof. We reduce to the case that M is orthonormalizable, and everything follows from the known properties of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$.

We now introduce a certain class of Banach sheaves that have better cohomological properties, following [AIP15], appendix A. These are Banach sheaves admitting formal models which can be controlled in a certain sense. We thus begin by discussing formal Banach sheaves over formal schemes.

Definition 2.5.7. Let $\mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ be a finite type formal scheme over $\operatorname{Spf}(\mathcal{O}_F)$. A sheaf \mathfrak{F} of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -modules is called a formal Banach sheaf if \mathfrak{F} is flat as an \mathcal{O}_F -module, $\mathscr{F}_n := \mathfrak{F}/\varpi^n$ is a quasi-coherent sheaf, and $\mathfrak{F} = \lim_n \mathscr{F}_n$.

A formal Banach sheaf is called *flat* if \mathscr{F}_n is a flat $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/\varpi^n$ -module for all n. It is called *locally projective* if \mathscr{F}_n is a locally projective $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/\varpi^n$ -module for all n. A formal Banach sheaf is called *small* if there exists a coherent sheaf \mathscr{G} over \mathfrak{X} with the property that \mathscr{F}_1 is the inductive limit of coherent sub sheaves $\mathscr{F}_1 = \operatorname{colim}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \mathscr{F}_{1,j}$ and $\mathscr{F}_{1,j/\mathcal{F}_{1,j-1}}$ is a direct summand of \mathscr{G} for all $j \geq 0$.

The relevance of the smallness assumption is given by the following theorem:

Theorem 2.5.8. Let $\mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ be a finite type formal scheme and let \mathfrak{F} be a small formal Banach sheaf. Assume that \mathfrak{X} has an ample invertible sheaf, and that the generic fiber \mathcal{X} of \mathfrak{X} is affinoid. Then $\operatorname{H}^i(\mathfrak{X},\mathfrak{F}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F = 0$ for all i > 0.

Proof. This is [AIP15], theorem A.1.2.2. In the reference, the formal scheme \mathfrak{X} is assumed to be normal and quasi-projective, but the only property needed in the proof is the existence of an ample sheaf on \mathfrak{X} .

Let $\mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ be a finite type formal scheme, and let $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ be the generic fiber of \mathfrak{X} . Thus $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}^+) = \lim_{\mathfrak{X}'} (\mathfrak{X}', \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ where the limit runs over all admissible blow-ups of \mathfrak{X} . Let \mathfrak{F} be a Banach sheaf over \mathfrak{X} . For any admissible blow-up $f: \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$, we let $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'} = \lim_n f^* \mathscr{F}_n$. We let $\mathscr{F} = \lim_{\mathfrak{X}'} \mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}[1/\varpi]$. This is a sheaf over \mathcal{X} that we call the generic fiber of \mathfrak{F} .

Theorem 2.5.9. Let $\mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ be a finite type formal scheme, with generic fiber \mathcal{X} . We have the following properties:

- There is a "generic fiber" functor going from the category of flat formal Banach sheaves over X to the category of Banach sheaves over X, described by the procedure F → F.
- (2) If $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ is a quasi-compact open subset and $\mathfrak{U}' \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}'$ is a formal model for the map $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$, $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{U}) = \mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}(\mathfrak{U}')[1/\varpi]$.
- (3) The property (2) of definition 2.5.2 holds over the generic fiber of any affine covering of X.
- (4) The generic fiber functor sends locally projective formal Banach sheaves to locally projective Banach sheaves.
- (5) Let \mathscr{F} be a Banach sheaf arising from a flat small formal Banach sheaf. Then for any affinoid open subset $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ we have $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

Proof. The first three points are [AIP15], proposition A.2.2.3. For the fourth point, let \mathfrak{U} be an open affine of \mathfrak{X} . Let $M_n = \mathrm{H}^0(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}_n)$, $A_n = \mathrm{H}^0(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/\varpi^n)$, $M = \lim_n M_n$, and $A = \lim_n A_n$. We claim that M is a direct factor of the completion of a free A-module. Let us pick a surjection $A_1^I \to M_1$ and for any n, we can lift it successively to surjections $A_n^I \to M_n$. We need to prove that we can find a compatible system of sections $s_n : M_n \to A_n^I$. It suffices to show that the map $\mathrm{Hom}_A(M_n, A_n^I) \to \mathrm{Hom}_A(M_{n-1}, A_{n-1}^I)$ is surjective. This follows from the short exact sequence $0 \to \mathrm{Hom}_{A_n}(M_n, A_1^I) \to \mathrm{Hom}_{A_n}(M_n, A_n^I) \to \mathrm{Hom}_{A_n}(M_n, A_{n-1}^I) \to 0$.

For the last point, let \mathfrak{X} be a formal model of \mathcal{X} and \mathfrak{F} be a small flat formal Banach sheaf over \mathfrak{X} . Let \mathfrak{U} be an affine formal model of \mathcal{U} . Let $\cup_i \mathcal{U}_i = \mathcal{U}$ be a finite affinoid cover of \mathcal{U} . Let \mathfrak{U}' be an admissible blow-up of \mathfrak{U} with the property that $\cup_i \mathcal{U}_i = \mathcal{U}$ is the generic fiber of a covering of \mathfrak{U}' and there is a map $\mathfrak{U}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ inducing the map $\mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}$. Note that \mathfrak{U}' has an ample invertible sheaf, since it is a blow-up of an affine formal scheme. We can apply theorem 2.5.8 to $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{U}'}$, the pull-back to \mathfrak{U}' of \mathfrak{F} , which is still small by flatness. This shows that the Čech cohomology of \mathcal{U} with respect to the covering $\cup_i \mathcal{U}_i$ vanishes. Since this holds for any finite cover, and \mathcal{U} is quasi-compact, we deduce that $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) = 0$.

Definition 2.5.10. Let \mathcal{X} be a finite type adic space over $\text{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. A Banach sheaf \mathscr{F} is called a small, locally projective Banach sheaf if it arises as the generic fiber of a small, locally projective formal Banach sheaf.

Remark 2.5.11. A locally free coherent sheaf over \mathcal{X} is a small, locally projective Banach sheaf by the flattening techniques of [RG71].

Remark 2.5.12. We don't know if, for $\mathcal{X} = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ affinoid and \mathscr{F} a small, locally projective Banach sheaf on \mathcal{X} , it is true that $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{X})$ is a projective Banach A-module and the map $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{X})\hat{\otimes}_A \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}} \to \mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism.

2.5.13. Acyclicity of quasi-Stein spaces. In our arguments, it will often be useful to consider not only affinoid covers of adic spaces, but also some quasi-Stein covers.

Definition 2.5.14 ([Kie67], def. 2.3). We say that an adic space $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ is quasi-Stein if $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} \mathcal{X}_i$ is a countable increasing union of finite type affinoid adic spaces $\mathcal{X}_i \to \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}_{i+1}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}_i}$ has dense image.

Example 2.5.15. Here are some examples of quasi-Stein adic spaces:

- An affinoid space, like the unit ball $\mathbb{B}(0,1)$.
- A Stein space like the open unit ball: $\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1) = \bigcup_{n} \mathbb{B}(0, |p^{\frac{1}{n}}|).$
- A "mixed" situation like $\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1) \times_{\operatorname{Spa}(F,\mathcal{O}_{F})} \mathbb{B}(0,1)$.

We also recall the following classical acyclicity result:

Theorem 2.5.16 ([Kie67], Satz 2.4). Let \mathcal{X} be a quasi-Stein adic space and let \mathscr{F} be a coherent sheaf over \mathcal{X} . Then $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

We also have:

Proposition 2.5.17. Let $\mathcal{X} = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ be an affinoid finite type adic space, let M be a projective Banach A-module, and let $\mathscr{F} = M \hat{\otimes}_A \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$. Let $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ be a quasi-Stein open subset. Then $H^i(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

Proof. We reduce to the case where M is orthonormalizable, and therefore to the case of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ where we can apply theorem 2.5.16.

2.5.18. Cohomology complexes. We now illustrate how one can obtain complexes of Banach modules. We denote by $\mathcal{D}(F)$ the derived category of the category of Fvector spaces. We also let **Ban**(F) be the category of Banach F-vector spaces. For an adic space \mathcal{X} over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$, and a sheaf \mathscr{F} of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -module, the cohomology groups $\operatorname{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathscr{F})$ are objects of the category $\mathcal{D}(F)$. Nevertheless, they often carry more structure and can be represented by objects of the category $\mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))$ of complexes of Banach modules. We formalize this in this section.

Remark 2.5.19. Our approach is rather elementary and we content ourselves with statements saying that a given cohomology can be represented by certain complexes of topological F-vector spaces. This is enough for our purposes. We simply point out in this remark a more conceptual approach yielding stronger results. Let \mathscr{F} be a coherent sheaf over an adic space \mathscr{X} of finite type over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathscr{O}_F)$. Since \mathscr{F} carries a canonical topology, we can view \mathscr{F} as sheaf of locally convex F-vector

spaces over \mathcal{X} . Let \mathbf{Loc}_F be the category of locally convex F-vector spaces. This is a quasi-abelian category with enough injectives ([Pro00]). One can therefore derive the functor $\mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F})$ in this category and view $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F})$ as an object of $\mathcal{D}(\mathbf{Loc}_F)$.

Lemma 2.5.20. Let \mathcal{X} be a separated finite type adic space over $\text{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. Let \mathscr{F} be a locally projective Banach sheaf over \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a quasi-compact open subset. Let $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a closed subset, with quasi-compact complement. Then one can represent $\text{RF}_{\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F})$ by an object of $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\text{Ban}(F))$.

Proof. We have an exact triangle $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}\setminus(\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\pm 1}$ and therefore, we are reduced to prove the claim for $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}\setminus(\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F})$. Finally, it suffices to prove that for a quasi-compact open $\mathcal{U}\subseteq\mathcal{X}, \,\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\in Ob(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$. We can compute the cohomology by considering an \mathscr{F} -acyclic affinoid covering of \mathcal{U} for \mathscr{F} , and the associated Čech complex by [Hub94], thm. 2.5. Then each of the terms of the Čech complex carries a canonical structure of Banach F-algebra.

Lemma 2.5.21. Let \mathcal{X} be a separated finite type adic space over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. Let \mathscr{F} be a locally projective Banach sheaf over \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be an open subset which is a finite union of quasi-Stein spaces. Let $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a closed subset, whose complement is a finite union of quasi-Stein spaces. Then one can represent $\operatorname{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$ by an object of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$.

Proof. As in the proof of lemma 2.5.20, we are reduced to showing that for an open $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ which is a finite union of quasi-Stein spaces, $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \in Ob(\mathcal{C}(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))))$. We let $\mathcal{U} = \bigcup_k \mathcal{V}_k$ be a finite covering of \mathcal{U} by \mathscr{F} -acyclic quasi-Stein spaces \mathcal{V}_k . We let $\mathcal{V}_k = \bigcup_{i \ge 0} \mathcal{V}_{k,i}$ where $\mathcal{V}_{k,i}$ is affinoid. We let $\mathcal{U}_i = \bigcup_k \mathcal{V}_{k,i}$. We let $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) =$ "lim" $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}_i,\mathscr{F})$.

2.5.22. Compact morphisms in the cohomology of adic spaces. We give some examples of compact morphisms arising from maps between the cohomology of adic spaces. First, let us fix a standard notation. Let T be a topological space and let S

be a subset of T. Then we denote by \overline{S} the closure of S in T and by $\overset{\circ}{S}$ the interior of S in T.

Lemma 2.5.23. Let $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ be a proper adic space and let \mathscr{F} be a locally free sheaf of finite rank over \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{U}' \subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be quasi-compact open subsets. Assume that $\overline{\mathcal{U}'} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$. Then the map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$$

is compact.

Proof. We claim that there exists a formal model $\mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ of \mathcal{X} , and two opens \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{U}' of \mathfrak{X} with generic fibers \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{U}' , such that $\overline{\mathfrak{U}'} \subseteq \mathfrak{U}$. Remark that $\overline{\mathfrak{U}'} \to \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}_F$ is proper because \mathcal{X} was assumed to be proper ([L90], Th. 3.1). We deduce that \mathcal{U}' is relatively compact in \mathcal{U} ([L90], lem. 2.5). We prove the claim. Recall that the ringed space $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}^+)$ is the inverse limit of the ringed spaces $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$ where \mathfrak{X} runs over all the formal models of \mathcal{X} . For a cofinal subset of \mathfrak{X} , we have opens $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mathfrak{U}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ of \mathfrak{X} with generic fiber \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{U}' . We let $\overline{\mathcal{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the generic fiber of $\overline{\mathfrak{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Then $\overline{\mathcal{U}'} = \cap_{\mathfrak{X}} \overline{\mathcal{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. The topological space \mathcal{X} equipped with G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

the constructible topology is compact (in fact this is a profinite set). We have that $(\mathcal{U})^c = \bigcup_{\mathfrak{X}} (\overline{\mathcal{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}})^c \cap (\mathcal{U})^c$. Since $(\mathcal{U})^c$ is compact, we deduce that there is a model \mathfrak{X} such that $\overline{\mathcal{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$, and therefore $\overline{\mathfrak{U}'}_{\mathfrak{X}} \subseteq \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. This finishes the proof of the claim.

Let $\mathcal{U}' = \bigcup_{i \in I} \mathcal{U}'_i$ be a finite affinoid cover of \mathcal{U}' . By [L90], thm. 5.1, for each i, there exists an affinoid $\mathcal{U}'_i \subseteq \mathcal{U}_i \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ such that \mathcal{U}'_i is relatively compact in \mathcal{U}_i (equivalently $\overline{\mathcal{U}'_i} \subseteq \mathcal{U}_i$). Let $\mathcal{U}'' = \bigcup_{i \in I} \mathcal{U}_i$. We claim that the map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$$

is compact. This will prove that the map of the lemma is compact because it factors over a compact map. These last cohomologies can be represented by the Čech complex with respect to $\cup_i \mathcal{U}_i$ and $\cup_i \mathcal{U}'_i$. We now prove that the maps $\mathscr{F}(\cap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}_i) \to \mathscr{F}(\cap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}'_i)$ are compact. We reproduce the argument of [KL05], prop. 2.4.1. We have just seen that we can find a formal model $\mathfrak{V}' \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{V} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ (with maps being Zariski open immersions) for the maps $\bigcap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}'_i \to \bigcap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}_i \to \mathcal{X}$ with the property that the map $\mathfrak{V}' \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{V}$ factors into $\mathfrak{V}' \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{V}' \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{V}$. We also let \mathfrak{F} be a flat coherent sheaf over \mathfrak{X} with generic fiber \mathscr{F} . Let $\mathfrak{F}_n = \mathfrak{F}/\varpi^n$. We have that $\mathscr{F}(\bigcap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}_i) = \mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{V})[\frac{1}{\varpi}]$, and the image of $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{V})$ in $\mathscr{F}(\bigcap_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}_i)$ is an open and bounded submodule. This also applies to the ' situation. We claim that the image of $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{V})$ in $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{O}_{J\subseteq I}\mathcal{U}'_i)$ is compact. The image of $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{V})$ in $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{V})/\varpi^n$ is contained (inside $\mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}'))$ in the image of $\mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V})$. But the map $\mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}) \to \mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}')$ factors over $\mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}) \to \mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}')$. The \mathcal{O}_F -module $\mathfrak{F}_n(\mathfrak{V}')$ is finite since \mathfrak{V}' is proper.

Lemma 2.5.24. Let $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ be a proper adic space and let \mathscr{F} be a locally free sheaf of finite rank over \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{U}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ be two quasi-compact open, and $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}'$ be two closed subspaces, with quasi-compact complements. Assume that $\overline{\mathcal{U}}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \overset{\circ}{\mathcal{Z}'}$. Then the map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$$

is compact.

Proof. It suffices to see that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U} \setminus (\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}' \setminus (\mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}'),\mathscr{F})$ are compact. This follows from the fact that $\overline{\mathcal{U}}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{U}' \setminus (\mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}')} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{U}}' \setminus (\stackrel{\circ}{\mathcal{Z}'} \cap \overline{\mathcal{U}}') \subseteq \mathcal{U} \setminus (\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U})$ and the previous lemma. \Box

We now give a stronger form of the lemma.

Lemma 2.5.25. Assume that \mathcal{X} is proper. Let $\mathcal{U}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ be two open subsets which are finite unions of quasi-Stein spaces, and $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}'$ be two closed subspaces, whose complements are finite unions of quasi-Stein spaces. Assume that there exists a quasi-compact open \mathcal{U}'' such that $\mathcal{U}' \cap \mathcal{Z}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}''$ with $\overline{\mathcal{U}''} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$, as well as two closed subset $\mathcal{Z}'' \subseteq \mathcal{Z}'''$ with quasi-compact complement, such that $\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}'', \mathcal{Z}'' \subseteq \hat{\mathcal{Z}'''}$ and $\mathcal{Z}''' \subset \mathcal{Z}'$. Then the map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$$

is compact.

28

Proof. We can write $\mathcal{U} = \bigcup_n \mathcal{U}_n$ with \mathcal{U}_n quasi-compact. Since $\overline{\mathcal{U}}'' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and \mathcal{X} equipped with the constructible topology is compact, we deduce that $\overline{\mathcal{U}}'' \subseteq \mathcal{U}_n$ for n large enough. The map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}''\cap\mathcal{U}_n}(\mathcal{U}_n,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}''\cap\mathcal{U}''}(\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F})$ is compact by lemma 2.5.24. There is a restriction-corestriction map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}''\cap\mathcal{U}_n}(\mathcal{U}_n,\mathscr{F})$.

We also have a restriction-corestriction map

 $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}''\cap\mathcal{U}''}(\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}'\cap\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F}).$

On the other hand, $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}'\cap\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F})$. All together, we deduce that the map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$$

factors through the compact map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}''\cap\mathcal{U}_n}(\mathcal{U}_n,\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'''\cap\mathcal{U}''}(\mathcal{U}'',\mathscr{F})$ and is compact. \Box

We finally conclude this section with a last lemma where we deal with Banach sheaves which are not necessarily coherent.

Lemma 2.5.26. Let $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}', \mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z}'$ be as in lemma 2.5.25. Let \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{G} be two locally projective Banach sheaves and let $\phi : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{G}$ be a compact morphism. The morphism

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{G})$$

is compact.

Proof. Easy and left to the reader.

2.6. Integral structures on Banach sheaves. We now consider integral structures on Banach sheaves, but this time more in the spirit of analytic geometry. We let \mathcal{X} be a separated adic space locally of finite type over $\text{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. We let \mathscr{F} be a locally projective Banach sheaf over \mathcal{X} . We can view \mathscr{F} as a sheaf on the étale site of \mathcal{X} by [BG98].

Definition 2.6.1. An integral structure on \mathscr{F} is a sheaf \mathscr{F}^+ of $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules on the étale site of X, such that:

- (1) $\mathscr{F}^+ \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F} \text{ and } \mathscr{F}^+ \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F = \mathscr{F},$
- (2) There is an étale cover $\coprod U_i \to \mathcal{X}$ by affinoid spaces such that $\mathscr{F}^+(U_i)$ is the completion of a free $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}(U_i)$ -module, and the canonical map $\mathscr{F}^+(U_i)\hat{\otimes}_{\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}(U_i)}\mathscr{O}^+_{U_i} \to \mathscr{F}^+|_{U_i}$ is an isomorphism.

Remark 2.6.2. A stronger property would be to ask that the étale cover $\coprod U_i \to \mathcal{X}$ is in fact an analytic cover. In our applications, this stronger property will not be satisfied. Indeed, we will produce sheaves arising from torsors under various groups, and these torsors are usually only trivial locally for the étale topology. However, we will not consider the étale cohomology $\mathrm{H}^i_{et}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}^+)$, but only the analytic cohomology $\mathrm{H}^i_{an}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}^+)$.

Lemma 2.6.3. In the situation of definition 2.6.1, assume moreover that \mathcal{X} is reduced. Let $U \to \mathcal{X}$ be an étale map. Then $\mathscr{F}^+(U)$ is an open and bounded submodule of $\mathscr{F}(U)$.

Proof. Let I be a finite set and let $\coprod_{i \in I} U_i \to U$ be an étale cover such each U_i is affinoid and $\mathscr{F}^+|_{U_i}$ is the completion of a free sheaf of $\mathscr{O}^+_{U_i}$ -modules. By the sheaf property we have an exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathscr{F}(U) \to \prod_i \mathscr{F}(U_i) \to \prod_{i,j} \mathscr{F}(U_i \times_U U_j)$$

and $\mathscr{F}(U)$ is a closed Banach subspace of $\prod_i \mathscr{F}(U_i)$. Since $\prod_i \mathscr{F}^+(U_i)$ is open and bounded in $\prod_i \mathscr{F}(U_i)$ (using that $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}(U_i)$ is bounded by the reducedness hypothesis), $\mathscr{F}^+(U) = \prod_i \mathscr{F}^+(U_i) \cap \mathscr{F}(U)$ is open and bounded in $\mathscr{F}^+(U)$. \Box

We now will elaborate on a result of Bartenwerfer which we first recall.

Theorem 2.6.4 ([Bar78]). Let \mathcal{X} be an affinoid smooth adic space over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. There exists $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $\operatorname{H}_{an}^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}^{+})$ is annihilated by p^{N} for all i > 0.

Proof. Bartenwerfer's result is stated for Čech cohomology. By [Pil20] prop. 3.1.1, this implies the claim for cohomology.

Lemma 2.6.5. Let \mathcal{X} be an affinoid smooth adic space over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. Let \mathscr{F} be a locally projective Banach sheaf which is assumed to be associated to its global sections (i.e. satisfies point (2) in definition 2.5.2). Let \mathscr{F}^+ be an integral structure on \mathscr{F} . There exists $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that for all i > 0 the cohomology groups $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{an}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}^+)$ are annihilated by p^N .

Proof. Let $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$. By assumption, $\mathscr{F} = M \hat{\otimes}_A \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ is associated to a projective Banach A-module M. Let I be a set such that $A(I) = M \oplus N$. Let $M^+ = A^+(I) \cap M$ and $N^+ = A^+(I) \cap N$. The injective map $M^+ \oplus N^+ \to A^+(I)$ has cokernel of bounded torsion. Moreover, if we let M_+ be the image of $A^+(I)$ in M under the projection orthogonal to N, then $M^+ \hookrightarrow M_+$ has cokernel of bounded torsion. We deduce that there exists an integer N such that the multiplication $p^N : M^+ \to M^+$ factors through: $M^+ \to A^+(I) \to M^+$ (where the first map is the inclusion, the second map is the orthogonal projection with respect to N composed with multiplication by p^N and followed by the inclusion $p^N M_+ \subseteq M^+$). It follows from theorem 2.6.4 that $H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}} \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} A^+(I) \cap \mathscr{F}$ equal to the image of the sheaf associated to the presheaf $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}} \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} M^+$ (in other words, it is the subsheaf of \mathscr{F} of sections which can locally be written as tensors in $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}} \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} M^+$).

We see that multiplication by $p^N : \mathscr{M}^+ \to \mathscr{M}^+$ factors through $\mathscr{M}^+ \to \mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}} \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} A^+(I) \to \mathscr{M}^+$. We deduce that $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{M}^+)$ is of bounded torsion for all i > 0. After rescaling, we may assume that $M^+ \subseteq \mathscr{F}^+(\mathcal{X})$, with cokernel of bounded torsion by lemma 2.6.3. We therefore get a morphism: $\mathscr{M}^+ \to \mathscr{F}^+$. We claim that this morphism has cokernel of bounded torsion. Let $\bigcup_{i \in I} U_i \to \mathcal{X}$ be an affinoid étale covering with the property that $\mathscr{F}^+|_{U_i}$ is associated with its global sections. We may assume that the set I is finite. It suffices to show that $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}(U_i) \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} M^+ \to \mathscr{F}^+(U_i)$ has cokernel of bounded torsion. This follows since the image of $\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{X}}(U_i) \hat{\otimes}_{A^+} M^+$ is open. We finally deduce that $\mathrm{H}^i_{an}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F}^+)$ is of bounded torsion for all i > 0.

2.7. Duality for analytic adic spaces. In this section we fix \mathcal{X} a proper smooth adic space over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ of pure dimension d. Let $\Omega^d_{\mathcal{X}/F}$ be the canonical sheaf, equal to $\Lambda^d \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}/F}$. Let $\iota : \mathcal{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ be a closed subset, equal to the closure of

a quasi-compact open subset \mathcal{U} of \mathcal{X} . One can consider the cohomology group $\mathrm{H}^{d}_{\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^{d}_{\mathcal{X}/F})$.

Theorem 2.7.1 ([GK00], [Bey97]). (1) There is a trace map $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{Z}} : \operatorname{H}^d_{\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^d_{\mathcal{X}/F}) \to F$.

(2) If $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}'$, there is a factorization

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{Z}}: \operatorname{H}^{d}_{\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^{d}_{\mathcal{X}/K}) \to \operatorname{H}^{d}_{\mathcal{Z}'}(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^{d}_{\mathcal{X}/F}) \stackrel{\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{Z}'}}{\to} F.$$

(3) For any coherent sheaf \mathscr{F} defined on a neighborhood of \mathscr{Z} the map $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathscr{Z}}$ induces a pairing:

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{\iota^{-1}\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}}^{i}(\iota^{-1}\mathscr{F},\iota^{-1}\Omega^{d}_{\mathcal{X}/F})\times\operatorname{H}_{\mathcal{Z}}^{d-i}(\mathcal{X},\mathscr{F})\to F$$

- (4) When $\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{X}$ the cohomology groups are finite dimensional F-vector spaces, and the pairing is perfect.
- (5) When U is affinoid and ℱ is a locally free sheaf, Ext⁰_{ι-1_{O_X}(ι⁻¹ℱ, ι⁻¹Ω^d_{X/F}) is a compact inductive limit of F-Banach spaces, H^d_Z(X,ℱ) is a compact projective limit of F-Banach spaces, and the pairing is a topological duality between locally convex topological F-vector spaces spaces identifying each space with the strong dual of the other. Moreover, Extⁱ_{ι-1_{O_X}(ι⁻¹ℱ, ι⁻¹Ω^d_{X/F}) and H^{d-i}_Z(X,ℱ) vanish for i ≠ 0.}}

Remark 2.7.2. We give some translations to the language of [GK00]. Let \mathcal{U}^{\dagger} be the dagger space attached to $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$. Let \mathscr{F} be a coherent sheaf defined on a neighborhood of \mathcal{Z} in \mathcal{X} . Then $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{U}^{\dagger}, \mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{Z}, \iota^{-1}\mathscr{F})$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{U}^{\dagger}, \mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{F})$.

3. FLAG VARIETY

3.1. Bruhat decomposition. Let F be a non-archimedean local field of mixed characteristic with residue field k of characteristic p and discrete valuation v normalized so that v(p) = 1. Let $G \to \mathcal{O}_F$ be a split reductive group with maximal torus T contained in a Borel B with unipotent radical U. Let $B \subseteq P$ be a parabolic with Levi $M \subseteq P$ containing T.

Remark 3.1.1. In our application to Shimura varieties, the unipotent radical of P will be abelian. Nevertheless, this assumption is not relevant for the moment.

We let Φ be the set of roots, Δ and Φ^+ the subsets of simple and positive roots corresponding to our choice of B, and $\Phi^- = -\Phi^+$. We let Φ_M^+ be the subset of positive roots which lie in the Lie algebra of M and $\Phi^{+,M} = \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi_M^+$. We let $\Phi_M^- = -\Phi_M^+$ and $\Phi^{-,M} = -\Phi^{+,M}$.

We let W be the Weyl group of G. We denote by $\ell : W \to \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ the length function. We denote by w_0 the longest element of W. For each $w \in W$, we choose a representative in N(T) that we still denote w. The group W acts on the left on the cocharacter group $X_*(T)$ and on the character group $X^*(T)$ on the left as well via the formula $w\kappa(t) = \kappa(w^{-1}tw)$ for $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ and $w \in W$. Let W_M be the Weyl group of M. The quotient $W_M \setminus W$ has a set of coset representatives of minimal length (the Kostant representatives) called ${}^M W$. This is the subset of Wof elements w that satisfy $\Phi_M^+ \subseteq w\Phi^+$.

Let $FL = P \setminus G \to \text{Spec } \mathcal{O}_F$ be the flag variety associated with P. We let $d = \# \Phi^{+,M}$ be the (relative) dimension of FL. The group G acts on the right on FL.

For any $w \in {}^{M}W$, we let $C_w = P \setminus PwB$ be the Bruhat cell corresponding to w. We have the decomposition into B-orbits $FL = \coprod_{w \in {}^{M}W} C_w$. We can also consider the opposite Bruhat cell: $C^w = P \setminus Pw\overline{B}$ for the opposite Borel \overline{B} .

We let X_w be the Schubert variety equal to the Zariski closure of C_w in FL. We also let X^w be the opposite Schubert variety, equal to the Zariski closure of C^w in FL. There is a partial order \leq on ^MW for which $X_w = \bigcup_{w' < w} C_{w'}$ and $X^w =$ $\cup_{w'>w} C^{w'}$. For the length function $\ell: {}^{M}W \to [0, \dim FL]$, we have $\ell(w) = \dim C_w$ (here dimensions are relative dimensions over Spec \mathcal{O}_F). We also define $Y_w = \bigcup_{w' \ge w} C_w$ for all $w \in {}^M W$. This is an open subscheme of

FL containing C_w .

Lemma 3.1.2. We have an inclusion $X^w \hookrightarrow Y_w$.

Proof. By [BL03], I, lemma 1, we know that $X^w \cap X_v \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow v \geq w$. We deduce that $X^w \cap C_v \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow v \ge w$, so that $X^w \subseteq \bigcup_{v \ge w} C_v$. \square

The following lemma gives a description of the Bruhat cells. For all $\alpha \in \Phi$, we let U_{α} be the one parameter subgroup corresponding to α .

Lemma 3.1.3. The product map (for any ordering of the factors)

$$\prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^{+}} U_{\alpha} \to C_{w}$$
$$(x_{\alpha}) \mapsto w \prod_{\alpha} x_{\alpha}$$

is an isomorphism of schemes.

Proof. We need to prove that the map $\prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap \Phi^+} U_{\alpha} \to (B \cap w^{-1}Pw) \setminus B$ is an isomorphism. This follows easily from the following facts:

$$\begin{split} \bullet \ & B = T \times \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} U_\alpha \ (\text{in any order}), \\ \bullet \ & \Phi^+ = (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+ \coprod (w^{-1}\Phi^+) \cap \Phi^+ \coprod (w^{-1}\Phi_M^-) \cap \Phi^+, \\ \bullet \ & B \cap w^{-1}Pw = T \times \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^+) \cap \Phi^+ \coprod (w^{-1}\Phi_M^-) \cap \Phi^+ U_\alpha. \end{split}$$

We also introduce the translated open cell $U_w := C_{w_0} \cdot w_0^{-1} w$, so that by the lemma we have an isomorphism (for any ordering of the roots):

$$\prod_{\substack{\in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}}} U_{\alpha} \rightarrow U_{w}$$
$$(x_{\alpha}) \mapsto w \prod_{\alpha} x_{\alpha}.$$

We see that U_w contains the Bruhat cell C_w as a closed subset.

 α

3.2. Interlude: the cohomology of the flag variety. In this section, which is independent of the rest of the paper, we discuss the coherent cohomology of the flag variety following [Kem78], section 12. We assume here that P = B is a Borel subgroup. We consider the stratification $Z_0 = FL \supseteq Z_1 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq Z_d \supseteq Z_{d+1} = \emptyset$ where $d = \dim FL$ and $Z_i = \bigcup_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-i} X_w$. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$. We associate to κ a *G*-equivariant line bundle \mathcal{L}_{κ} on *FL* as follows: if $\pi : G \to FL$ is the projection map, then for any open $U \hookrightarrow FL$,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}(U) = \{ f : \pi^{-1}(U) \to \mathbb{A}^1 \mid f(bu) = (w_0 \kappa)(b) f(u), \ \forall (b, u) \in B \times \pi^{-1}(U) \}.$$

We consider the spectral sequence associated to the filtration (section 2.3)

$$E_1^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}^{p+q}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}).$$

The abutment of this spectral sequence carries an action of G. The terms on the left do not carry an action of G, but then do carry an action of B, as well as the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} (see [Kem78], lemma 12.8), and the spectral sequence is equivariant for these actions.

In order to study this spectral sequence, we need the following basic result:

Lemma 3.2.1. Let $m \ge n$. Let $\mathbb{A}^m = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F[x_1, \cdots, x_m]$ and $\mathbb{A}^n = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F[x_1, \cdots, x_n]$. Let $\mathbb{A}^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}^m$ be the closed immersion given by $x_{n+1} = \cdots = x_m = 0$. We have $\operatorname{H}^i_{\mathbb{A}^n}(\mathbb{A}^m) = 0$ if $i \ne m - n$, and

$$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbb{A}^n}^{m-n}(\mathbb{A}^m) = \bigoplus_{k_1, \cdots, k_n \ge 0, \ k_{n+1}, \cdots, k_m < 0} \mathcal{O}_F \cdot \prod_{i=1}^m x_i^{k_i}$$

Proof. One can use a Koszul complex. See [Gro05], exposé II, proposition 5. \Box

Let $\rho = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} \alpha$. We define the dotted action of W on $X^*(T)$ by $w \cdot \kappa = w(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$. We also denote $\mathrm{H}^*_w(FL, \mathcal{L}_\kappa) = \mathrm{H}^*_{C_w}(U_w, \mathcal{L}_\kappa)$.

Lemma 3.2.2. We have a decomposition

$$\mathrm{H}_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}^{p+q}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) = \bigoplus_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-p} \mathrm{H}_w^{p+q}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$$

and these groups vanish when $q \neq 0$. Moreover, T acts on $\operatorname{H}^{d-\ell(w)}_{w}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ with character:

$$\frac{\lfloor (w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa \rfloor}{\prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^-} ([1] - [\alpha])}$$

Here the character is viewed as a function $X^*(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$ and for $\lambda \in X^*(T)$, we write $[\lambda]$ for the function which is 1 on λ and 0 otherwise. The multiplication is convolution. We note that this says that the character of $\mathrm{H}^{d-\ell(w)}_w(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ is the same as that of the Verma module with highest weight $(w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa$.

Proof. Since $Z_p \setminus Z_{p+1} = \coprod_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-p} C_w$ and U_w is a neighborhood of C_w in FL, we deduce from lemma 2.1.1 that

$$\mathrm{H}_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}^{p+q}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) = \bigoplus_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-p} \mathrm{H}_{C_w}^{p+q}(U_w,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}).$$

By lemma 3.1.3, after choosing an ordering of the roots, we have $U_w \simeq \mathbb{A}^d$ with coordinates x_α for $\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^-$, and $C_w \simeq \mathbb{A}^{\ell(w)}$ with coordinates x_α for $\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^- \cap \Phi^+$. Moreover the inclusion $C_w \subseteq U_w$ is given by the vanishing of x_α

for $\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^- \cap \Phi^-$. The torus T acts on U_w and C_w , and the action on the coordinates is given by $t \cdot x_\alpha = (-\alpha)(t)x_\alpha$.

Over U_w , the line bundle \mathcal{L}_{κ} has a non-vanishing section s given by the function $bw_0 u w_0^{-1} w \mapsto (w_0 \kappa)(b)$ on $\pi^{-1}(U_w) = B w_0 U w_0^{-1} w$. We compute that the action of T on s is given by $t \cdot s = (w^{-1} w_0 \kappa)(t) s$.

We now deduce from lemma 3.2.1 that $\operatorname{H}^{p+q}_{C_w}(U_w, \mathcal{L}_\kappa)$ is concentrated in degree p, and the cohomology is isomorphic to the free \mathcal{O}_F -module:

$$\bigoplus_{k_{\alpha} \geq 0 \ \forall \alpha \in w^{-1} \Phi^{-} \cap \Phi^{+}, k_{\alpha} < 0 \ \forall \alpha \in w^{-1} \Phi^{-} \cap \Phi^{-}} \mathcal{O}_{F} \cdot \prod x_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}} s$$

from which we can read off the character of the T-action:

$$\operatorname{ch}(\operatorname{H}^{p}_{C_{w}}(U_{w},\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})) = \sum_{\substack{k_{\alpha} \geq 0 \ \forall \alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{+} \cap \Phi^{-}, k_{\alpha} > 0 \ \forall \alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-} \cap \Phi^{-}}} [w^{-1}w_{0}\kappa + \sum_{\substack{k_{\alpha} \geq 0 \ \forall \alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-} \cap \Phi^{-}}} \alpha] \frac{1}{\prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^{-}} [1] - [\alpha]}$$

Finally we note

$$(w^{-1}w_0)\cdot\kappa = w^{-1}w_0(\kappa+\rho) - \rho = w^{-1}w_0\kappa - w^{-1}\rho - \rho = w^{-1}w_0\kappa + \sum_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^- \cap \Phi^-} \alpha.$$

It follows from the lemma that the complex $E_1^{\bullet,0}$ from the spectral sequence (the Grothendieck-Cousin complex):

$$Cous(\kappa): 0 \to \mathrm{H}^{0}_{Z_{0}/Z_{1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \to \cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{Z_{d}/Z_{d+1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \to 0$$

computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$. Each group decomposes

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}_{Z_{p}/Z_{p+1}}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) = \bigoplus_{w \in W, \ell(w) = d-p} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{w}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$$

and we have established a precise formula for the weights of T on each module.

There is a partial order on $X^{\star}(T)$ where $\lambda \geq 0$ if and only if λ is a sum of positive roots. Lemma 3.2.2 tells us that the weights occurring in $\mathrm{H}^{d-\ell(w)}_{w}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ are exactly those which are $\leq (w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa$. In particular certain "big weights" will occur in as few of the terms of the Cousin complex as possible. We begin with the following lemma:

Lemma 3.2.3. Let $\nu \in X^*(T)$ be such that $\nu + \rho$ is dominant. Then the following conditions on a weight $\lambda \in X^*(T)$ are equivalent:

(1) $\lambda \leq w \cdot \nu$ for all $w \in W$ with $w \cdot \nu \neq \nu$.

(2) $\lambda \not\leq s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta$ with $s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu \neq \nu$.

Moreover if we additionally assume that $\lambda \leq \nu$ then we have the further equivalent condition:

 $(3) \ \lambda = \nu - \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta} n_{\alpha} \alpha \text{ with } n_{\alpha} < \langle \alpha^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1 \text{ for all } \alpha \in \Delta \text{ with } \langle \alpha^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1 > 0.$

Proof. Clearly the first condition implies the second. For the converse, writing w as a reduced product of simple reflections, there must be at least one factor s_{α} with $s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu \neq \nu$. Then $w \geq s_{\alpha}$, and so $w \cdot \nu \leq s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ (see lemma 5.11.4) and hence $\lambda \not\leq s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ implies $\lambda \not\leq w \cdot \nu$.

The equivalence of the second and third points follows from the formula $s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu = \nu - (\langle \alpha^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1)\alpha$.

We say that a weight λ satisfying the conditions of the proposition has big weight (with respect to ν) and for a *T*-module *M* which is a direct sum of its weight spaces we denote by $M^{bw(\nu)}$ the direct sum of its weight spaces corresponding to big weights. We note that if $\nu + \rho$ is regular the last condition may be expressed as $\lambda > \nu - \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta} \langle (\alpha^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1) \alpha$.

The set $X^{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}^{+} - \rho$ is a fundamental domain for the dotted action of W on $X^{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and so there is a unique $\nu \in X^{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}^{+} - \rho$ with $\nu \in W \cdot \kappa$. We let $C(\kappa) = \{w \in W \mid (w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa = \nu\}$. This set is a right torsor under $W_{\nu} = \{w \in W \mid w \cdot \nu = \nu\}$, and hence it is always nonempty and consists of a single element if and only if $\kappa + \rho$ is regular. For example, if κ is dominant, $C(\kappa) = \{w_0\}$.

Proposition 3.2.4. The cohomology complex $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw(\nu)}$ is a perfect complex of \mathcal{O}_{F} -modules of amplitude $[\min_{w \in C(\kappa)} (d - \ell(w)), \max_{w \in C(\kappa)} (d - \ell(w))].$

Proof. We will show that for $w \in W \setminus C(\kappa)$, the big weight part of the term in the Grothendieck-Cousin complex corresponding to w vanishes. Indeed, by lemma 3.2.2, all the weights of $\mathrm{H}^{d-\ell(w)}_w(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ are $\leq (w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa$, but $(w^{-1}w_0) \cdot \kappa \neq w' \cdot \nu \neq \nu$ and so $\mathrm{H}^{d-\ell(w)}_w(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw(\nu)} = 0$.

Remark 3.2.5. In particular when $\kappa + \rho$ is regular so that $C(\kappa) = \{w\}$ consists of a single element, we have that $\mathrm{H}^{\star}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw(\nu)} = \mathrm{H}^{\star}_{w}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})^{bw(\nu)}$. We view this statement as a sort of analog of Coleman's classicality theorem, where the algebraic local cohomology groups H^{\star}_{w} play the role of the overconvergent cohomology groups introduced in this paper, and the big weight condition plays the role of the small slope condition.

We emphasize that the vanishing of Proposition 3.2.4 is characteristic independent. Of course in characteristic zero, the classical Borel-Weil-Bott theorem gives a precise description of $H^*(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$. For the sake of completeness, we explain how the Borel-Weil-Bott theorem may be deduced from the computation of $H^*(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa})$ via the Cousin complex and basic properties of the BGG category \mathcal{O} .

Theorem 3.2.6 ([Jan03], 5.5, corollary). Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$.

- (1) If there exists no $w \in W$ such that $w \cdot \kappa$ is dominant then $H^i(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes F = 0$ for all *i*.
- (2) If there exists $w \in W$ such that $w \cdot \kappa$ is dominant, then there is a unique such w, and $\operatorname{H}^{i}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes F = 0$ if $\ell(w) \neq i$, while $\operatorname{H}^{\ell(w)}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes F$ is a highest weight $w \cdot \kappa$ representation.

Proof. It suffices to prove the theorem after tensoring with \overline{F} , an algebraic closure of F. For simplicity, we slightly change our notation and we assume that F is algebraically closed for this proof. There is a famous sub-category of the category of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules, called the category \mathcal{O} . See [Hum08], chapter 1 for the definition and properties of the category \mathcal{O} . We recall a number of basic results concerning the category \mathcal{O} that will be used in the argument. The category \mathcal{O} is abelian, Artinian and Noetherian. The simple objects are indexed by weights $\lambda \in X^*(T) \otimes F$ and denoted by L_{λ} . If the module L_{λ} is finite dimensional then $\lambda \in X^*(T)^+$ is dominant, and moreover L_{λ} arises from the highest weight λ representation of G. For all $\lambda \in X^*(T) \otimes F$ we also denote by $M_{\lambda} = \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}) \otimes_{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{b})} F(\lambda)$ the Verma module of weight λ . The simple module L_{λ} is the unique simple quotient of M_{λ} . The Grothendieck group of \mathcal{O} , denoted by $K(\mathcal{O})$, is the free module on the $[L_{\lambda}]$. We denote by $M \mapsto [M]$ the semi-simplification map from \mathcal{O} to $K(\mathcal{O})$. In $K(\mathcal{O})$ we have $[M_{\lambda}] = \bigoplus_{w \cdot \lambda \leq \lambda} a(w \cdot \lambda, \lambda)[L_{w \cdot \lambda}]$ with $a(\lambda, \lambda) = 1$. Since any element $M \in \mathcal{O}$ has diagonalizable t-action, we can associate to M its formal character chM which is an element of the group \mathcal{X} of functions $X^*(T) \otimes F \to \mathbb{Z}$. The character is additive on short exact sequence and we get a map $K(\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{X}$, $[M] \mapsto ch[M]$. Moreover, this last map is a group injection. We denote by $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{O}}$ its image. Finally, any $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ module with diagonalizable t-action, and whose formal character belongs to $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{O}}$ is an object of \mathcal{O} .

It follows from lemma 3.2.2 that $\operatorname{ch}(\operatorname{H}^{p}_{Z_{p}/Z_{p+1}}(FL,\mathcal{L}_{\kappa})\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{F}}F) = \bigoplus_{w,\ell(w)=p}\operatorname{ch}(M_{w\cdot\kappa}).$ The Grothendieck-Cousin complex

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{0}_{Z_{0}/Z_{1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes F \to \cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{Z_{d}/Z_{d+1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes F \to 0$$

carries an action $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ by [Kem78], lemma 12.8, and is therefore a complex in the category \mathcal{O} . At this stage, we see that if none of the elements in the set $\{w \cdot \kappa\}$ is dominant, then none of the $\mathrm{H}^p_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F$ contains a finite dimensional subquotient. Otherwise there is a unique w such that $w \cdot \kappa$ is dominant. We see that for $p = \ell(w)$, $[\mathrm{H}^p_{Z_p/Z_{p+1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F]$ has a unique finite dimensional constituent (with multiplicity one) equal to $[L_{w \cdot \kappa}]$. On the other hand $[\mathrm{H}^i_{Z_i/Z_{i+1}}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F]$ has no finite dimensional constituent for $i \neq \ell(w)$. The cohomology groups $\mathrm{H}^i(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F$ are finite dimensional because FL is proper. If none of the elements in the set $\{w \cdot \kappa\}$ is dominant, the cohomology is therefore trivial. If there is a unique w such that $w \cdot \kappa$ is dominant, we see that $\mathrm{H}^i(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F = 0$ if $i \neq \ell(w)$, and $\mathrm{H}^{\ell(w)}(FL, \mathcal{L}_{\kappa}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F = L_{w \cdot \kappa}$.

3.3. Analytic geometry. If $S \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F$ is a finite type morphism of schemes, we let $\mathcal{S} = S \times_{\operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F} \operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ be the associated analytic adic space and $S_k = S \times_{\operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F} \operatorname{Spec} k$ be the special fiber. One can also consider \mathcal{S}^{an} , the analytification of the scheme $S \times_{\operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F} \operatorname{Spec} F$, and there is a map $\mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{S}^{an}$ which is an isomorphism when S is proper (see [Hub94], section 4). There is a continuous specialization map $\operatorname{sp}_S : \mathcal{S} \to S_k$ and the preimage of a subset $U \subset S_k$ is denoted by $\operatorname{sp}_S^{-1}(U)$. If U is a locally closed subset of S_k , we let $]U[_{\mathcal{S}}$ be the interior of $\operatorname{sp}^{-1}(U)$. This is an adic space, called the tube of U (see [Ber91]). The difference between $\operatorname{sp}_S^{-1}(U)$ and $]U[_{\mathcal{S}}$ consists only of certain higher rank points. The tube $]U[_{\mathcal{S}}$ is the adic space associated to a "classical" rigid space, while $\operatorname{sp}_S^{-1}(U)$ is not in general.

3.3.1. The Iwahori decomposition. Let \mathcal{G} be the quasi-compact adic space associated to G and let $\mathrm{Iw} =]B_k[_{\mathcal{G}}$ be the Iwahori subgroup of \mathcal{G} .

For any root $\alpha \in \Phi$, we have an algebraic root space $U_{\alpha} \to \text{Spec } \mathcal{O}_F$. We let \mathcal{U}_{α} be the corresponding quasi-compact adic space (isomorphic to a unit ball) and we let $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^o =]\{1\}[\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}$ be the tube of the identity element (isomorphic to an increasing union of balls of radii r < 1). We also let $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{an}$ be the analytification of U_{α} (isomorphic to the affine line).

The following result gives a strong form of the Iwahori decomposition.
Proposition 3.3.2. Let $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$ be an enumeration of the roots in Φ . The product map

$$\mathcal{T} \times \prod \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \to \mathrm{Iw}$$

is an isomorphism of analytic adic spaces, where $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} = \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}$ if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^+$ and $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} = \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^o$ if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^-$.

Remark 3.3.3. The existence of a product decomposition $\mathcal{T}(K) \times \prod \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}(K) \to \operatorname{Iw}(K)$ for K a discretely valued field is a consequence of Bruhat-Tits theory [Tit79], sect. 3.1.1.

Proof. We let \mathfrak{Iw} be the formal group scheme obtained by completing the group G along the closed subscheme B_k . For each root α , we let $\mathfrak{U}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Spf}(\mathcal{O}_F\langle T \rangle)$ be the formal completion of U_{α} along its special fiber, and we let $\mathfrak{U}_{\alpha}^o = \operatorname{Spf}(\mathcal{O}_F[[T]])$ be the formal completion of \mathfrak{U}_{α} at the identity. We also let \mathfrak{T} be the formal completion of T along its special fiber.

We consider the map of formal schemes: $\mathfrak{T} \times \prod \mathfrak{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \to \mathfrak{Iw}$ which yields the map of the proposition after passing to the generic fiber. We will show that this map of formal schemes is an isomorphism. Passing to underlying reduced schemes, we obtain the isomorphism $T_k \times \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} U_{\alpha,k} \to B_k$. Hence it suffices to show that it is formally étale.

We claim that this map is formally étale. Since it is an isomorphism on the associated reduced schemes because $T_k \times \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} U_{\alpha,k} \to B_k$ is an isomorphism, we deduce that the map is an isomorphism. The associated map on the generic fiber (which is the map of the lemma) is an isomorphism. We are left to prove that the map is formally étale. Let k' be a finite field extension of k. Let $(t, u_{\alpha_i}) \in \mathfrak{T} \times \prod \mathfrak{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}(k')$. Note that $u_{\alpha_i} = 1$ if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^-$. The map on Zariski tangent spaces is given by:

$$(t(1+\epsilon T), u_{\alpha_i}(1+\epsilon U_{\alpha_i})_{1\le i\le n}) \mapsto t(1+\epsilon T)\prod_i u_{\alpha_i}(1+\epsilon U_{\alpha_i})$$

where $(T, (U_{\alpha_i})_{1 \le i \le n}) \in \operatorname{Lie}(T_k) \otimes_k k' \oplus_i \operatorname{Lie}(U_{\alpha_i}) \otimes_k k'$, and there is an equality:

$$t(1+\epsilon T)\prod_{i} u_{\alpha_{i}}(1+\epsilon U_{\alpha_{i}}) = t\prod_{i} u_{\alpha_{i}}(1+\epsilon \operatorname{Ad}((\prod_{i} u_{\alpha_{i}})^{-1})(T) + \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} \operatorname{Ad}((\prod_{k=i}^{n} u_{\alpha_{k}})^{-1})U_{\alpha_{i-1}})$$

Therefore, if we identify the tangent space of $\mathfrak{T} \times \prod \mathfrak{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$ at (t, u_{α_i}) and the tangent space of \mathfrak{Iw} at $t \prod u_{\alpha_i}$ with

$$\operatorname{Lie}(G_k) \otimes k' = \operatorname{Lie}(T_k) \otimes_k k' \oplus_i \operatorname{Lie}(U_{\alpha_i}) \otimes_k k',$$

the map on tangent spaces is given by the endomorphism:

$$(T, (U_{\alpha_i})_{1 \le i \le n}) \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}((\prod_i u_{\alpha_k})^{-1})(T) + \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} \operatorname{Ad}((\prod_{k=i}^n u_{\alpha_k})^{-1})(U_{\alpha_{i-1}}).$$

Observe that $(\prod_{k=i}^{n} u_{\alpha_k})^{-1} \in U(k')$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. By Chevalley's commutativity relations ([Ste16], chapter 6), we know that for any $u \in U(k')$, any $\alpha \in \Phi \cup \{0\}$ and any $v \in \text{Lie}(G_k)_{\alpha} \otimes k'$, Ad(u).v = v + w where $w \in \bigoplus_{\alpha' > \alpha} \text{Lie}(G_k)_{\alpha'} \otimes k'$. A simple inductive argument proves that the map on tangent spaces is an isomorphism.

3.3.4. Tubes of Bruhat cells. For any $w \in {}^{M}W$, we now consider the tube of the Bruhat cell $]C_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w$ Iw, as well as the tubes $]X_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$ and $]Y_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$. It follows from lemma 3.1.2 that $\mathcal{X}^{w} \hookrightarrow]Y_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$.

We can now give a very precise description of the tubes of Bruhat cells.

Corollary 3.3.5. For any $w \in {}^{M}W$, and for any ordering of the roots in Φ , we have an isomorphism of analytic spaces:

$$\prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \times \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{o} \to]C_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$$
$$(u_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}} \mapsto w \prod_{\alpha} u_{\alpha}$$

where the product $\prod_{\alpha} u_{\alpha}$ is taken according to our fixed ordering.

Proof. This follows easily from proposition 3.3.2.

3.3.6. Analytic subspaces of \mathcal{U}_w^{an} . We now consider \mathcal{U}_w^{an} , the analytification of U_w . This open subset of \mathcal{FL} contains $]C_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$, and we have an isomorphism of analytic spaces (for any ordering of the roots):

$$\prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})} \mathcal{U}^{an}_{\alpha} \to \mathcal{U}^{an}_{w}$$
$$(u_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}} \mapsto w \prod_{\alpha} u_{\alpha}$$

We now introduce certain quasi-Stein subspaces of \mathcal{U}_w^{an} as well as some partial closures of them. In order to do this we introduce a little bit of language.

If T is a topological space and $S \subseteq T$ is a subset, we let as usual \overline{S} be the closure of S in T. We will use repeatedly the property that in a spectral space, the closure of a pro-constructible set is the set of all its specializations (see [Sch17], lemma 2.4).

Let \mathcal{X} be an adic space. Using the Yoneda lemma, we identify \mathcal{X} with a functor on complete Huber pairs (A, A^+) . Let T be a subset of \mathcal{X} . In general T is not an adic space but using the Yoneda point of view, we can attach to T a subfunctor of \mathcal{X} : we let $T((A, A^+))$ be the subset of $\mathcal{X}((A, A^+))$ of morphisms $\operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+) \to \mathcal{X}$ whose image factors through T. We observe that this functor is completely determined by its value on fields (K, K^+) . In general, we say that a subfunctor F of \mathcal{X} is a subset of \mathcal{X} if it is the functor attached to a subset of \mathcal{X} .

Example 3.3.7. Let $\mathbb{B}(0,1)$ and $\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1)$ be respectively the quasi-compact unit ball and the open unit ball of radius 1 over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_{F})$. These are open subsets of the affine line $(\mathbb{A}^{1})^{an}$. For any (F, \mathcal{O}_{F}) -complete Huber pair (A, A^{+}) , we have $(\mathbb{A}^{1})^{an}((A, A^{+})) = A$, $\mathbb{B}(0,1)((A, A^{+})) = A^{+}$, $\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1)((A, A^{+})) = \{a \in A^{+}, \exists n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}, a^{n} \in pA^{+}\}$. The closed subset $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(0,1)$ is the union of $\mathbb{B}(0,1)$ together with a rank two point whose maximal generalization is the Gauss point and which points towards infinity. This is still an adic space equal to $\operatorname{Spa}(F\langle X \rangle, \mathcal{O}_{F} + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}}X + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}}X^{2} + \cdots)$. We have $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(0,1)((A, A^{+})) = \{a \in A, \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}, pa^{n} \in A^{+}\}$. The closed subset $\overline{\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1)}$ is the union of $\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1)$ together with a rank two point whose maximal generalization is the Gauss point and which points towards the center of the disc. This is not adic space. We have $\overline{\mathbb{B}^{o}(0,1)}((K, K^{+})) = K^{++} = \{a \in K, |a| < 1\}$.

38

We identify each \mathcal{U}_{α} with the unit ball of center 0 and coordinate u_{α} with its additive group law (the coordinate u_{α} is well defined up to multiplication by a unit). For all $m \in \mathbb{Q} \cup \{-\infty\}$ and all $\alpha \in \Phi$, we let $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,m} = \{|.| \in \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{an}, |u_{\alpha}| \leq |p^{m}|\}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,m}^{o} = \bigcup_{m'>m} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha,m'}$. For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q} \cup \{-\infty\}$, we let $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}$ be the image of

$$w\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}}\mathcal{U}^{o}_{\alpha,m}\times\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}}\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,n}\to\mathcal{U}^{an}_{w},$$

For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}$, we let $]C_{w,k}[\overline{m},n]$ be the image of

$$w\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}}\overline{\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,m}^{o}}\times\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}}\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,n}\to\mathcal{U}_{w}^{an},$$

we let $]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{n}}]$ be the image of

$$w\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}}\mathcal{U}^{o}_{\alpha,m}\times\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}}\overline{\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,n}}\to\mathcal{U}^{an}_{w}$$

and we let $]C_{w,k}[\overline{m},\overline{n}]$ be the image of

$$w\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}}\overline{\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,m}^{o}}\times\prod_{\alpha\in(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}}\overline{\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,n}}\to\mathcal{U}_{w}^{an}.$$

Clearly, $]C_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,0},]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}\subseteq]C_{w,k}[$ if $m, n \ge 0$, and moreover then we have $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}=]C_{w,k}[_{m,0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,n},]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},n}=]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,n}$ and $]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{n}}=]C_{w,k}[_{m,0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n}}.$

Remark 3.3.8. In the formulas defining the sets $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}]$ and their partial closures, the image is taken in the sheaf theoretic sense. If the spaces at hand are adic spaces, this is also the images of the corresponding morphisms of adic spaces.

Remark 3.3.9. In the above formulas, we make the product for any ordering of the roots in $(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+$ or $(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^-$. See [Ste16], lemma 17 for a justification that the order doesn't matter. We also point out that in our applications to Shimura varieties the unipotent radical of P is abelian so that the root groups U_{α} for $\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}$ commute with each other.

3.3.10. Orbits of Cells. We can give a more group theoretic description of certain of the above sets. We introduce some subgroups of \mathcal{G} .

For $m \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ we let $\mathcal{G}_{B,m}$ (resp. $\mathcal{G}_{U,m}, \mathcal{G}_{\overline{B},m}, \mathcal{G}_{\overline{U},m}$) for the affinoid subgroup of \mathcal{G} of elements reducing to B (resp. $U, \overline{B}, \overline{U}$) mod p^m . We also define $\mathcal{G}_{B,m}^{\circ} = \bigcup_{m' > m} \mathcal{G}_{B,m'}, \mathcal{G}_{U,m}^{\circ} = \bigcup_{m' > m} \mathcal{G}_{U,m'}.$

Then for all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ we let $\mathcal{G}_{m,n} = \mathcal{G}_{B,m}^{\circ} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\overline{B},n}$. In particular we note that $\mathcal{G}_{0,0} =$ Iw. We also let $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 = \mathcal{G}_{U,m}^{\circ} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\overline{U},n}$.

We would also like to introduce some "partial closures" of these groups. In general these won't be adic spaces, but simply certain subsets of \mathcal{G}^{an} . For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ we let $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n} = \overline{\mathcal{G}_{B,m}^{\circ}} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\overline{B},n}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}^{1} = \overline{\mathcal{G}_{U,m}^{\circ}} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\overline{U},n}$, where the closures are taken inside \mathcal{G} . We note that $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0} = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(B_k)$, the closure of Iw in \mathcal{G} . For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$, we let $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^{1}$ be set of all specializations of $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{1}$ respectively in \mathcal{G}^{an} . For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ with n > 0 we also observe that $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}} = \mathcal{G}_{B,m}^{\circ} \cap \overline{\mathcal{G}_{\overline{B},n}}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},\overline{n}}^{1} = \mathcal{G}_{U,m}^{\circ} \cap \overline{\mathcal{G}_{\overline{U},n}}$ where the closures are taken inside \mathcal{G} .

Lemma 3.3.11. The subsets $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}$, $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}^1$ and $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^1$ of \mathcal{G}^{an} are subgroups (in the sense that their functor of points is a subgroup of \mathcal{G}^{an}).

Proof. It is clear that $\mathcal{G}_{B,m}$, $\mathcal{G}_{U,m}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{B},n}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{U},n}$ are groups. Therefore, the $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}$ are groups. We deduce that the $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}$ are groups. Indeed, $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}((K,K^+)) = \mathcal{G}_{m,n}(K,K^0)$ for any field (where K^0 is the ring of power bounded elements in K). We also check that $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},0}$ are groups. Indeed, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},0}((K,K^+)) = \{g \in G(K^+), g \mod p^m K^{++} \in B(K^+/p^m K^{++})\}$. We finally deduce that $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}$ is a subgroup. \Box

Note that the groups $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}$, and $\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}$ all have the same rank 1 points. Moreover they all have Iwahori decompositions:

Proposition 3.3.12. Let $w \in W$. Then for $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ and for \mathcal{G}' one of $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{\star}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},\overline{n}}^{\star}$, $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},\overline{n}}^{\star}$ with $\star \in \{\emptyset, 1\}$ the product map

$$\mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{G}' \times \prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi^+} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi^-} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \to \mathcal{G}'$$

is an isomorphism, where if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^+$ then $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$ is $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i,n}$ (resp. $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\alpha_i,n}$) if $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{\star}, \mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}^{\star}$ (resp. $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^{\star}$) while if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^-$ then $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$ is $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i,m}^o$ (resp. $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\alpha_i,m}^o$) if $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{\star}, \mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^{\star}$. (resp. $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}^{\star}$.)

Proof. We first give the argument for $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0}$. Since $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0} = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(B_k)$, and $B_k \hookrightarrow w^{-1}\overline{B_k}B_kw$, it follows that $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{T} \times \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^-} \mathcal{U}_\alpha \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^+} \mathcal{U}_\alpha = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(w^{-1}\overline{B_k}B_kw)$. We now let $g \in \mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0}(K,K^+)$ for a field K and valuation ring $K^+ \subseteq K$. Let K^{++} be the maximal ideal of K^+ . By definition, $g \in G(K^+)$ and its image \overline{g} in $G(K^+/K^{++})$ lies in B. Let $g = t \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^+} u_\alpha \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}} u_\alpha$. We have $\overline{g} = \overline{t} \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^+} \overline{u_\alpha} \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}} \overline{u_\alpha}$ and we find that $\overline{u_\alpha} = 1$ if $\alpha \in \Phi^-$ by unicity of the decomposition. The case of $\mathcal{G}_{0,0}$ has already been treated in proposition 3.3.2. The case of $\mathcal{G}_{0,\overline{0}}$ follows. The general case is left to the reader.

Remark 3.3.13. For the group $\mathcal{G}_{0,0} = Iw$, the decomposition holds for any ordering of the roots $\alpha \in \Phi$ by proposition 3.3.2. We don't know if this property holds for $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{0},0}$ for example.

Corollary 3.3.14. We have that for all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$, $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{m,n} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{1}$, $]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},n} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{\overline{m},n}^{1} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^{1} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{m,\overline{n}}^{1}$.

Proof. We only prove the identity $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n} = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}_{m,n}$, the other identities are proved similarly. By proposition 3.3.12, we have that

$$\mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P} w \mathcal{G}_{m,n} = w.w^{-1} \mathcal{P} w \cap \mathcal{G}_{m,n} \setminus \mathcal{G}_{m,n}$$

$$= w.\prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi_M^-} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi^+} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \setminus \prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi^+} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i} \prod_{\alpha_i \in w^{-1} \Phi^-} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$$

$$= w\prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1} \Phi^{-,M}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$$

where if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^+$ then $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$ is $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i,n}$ and if $\alpha_i \in \Phi^-$ then $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i}^{\star_i}$ is $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i,m}^o$. \Box

Lemma 3.3.15. For all $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, the groups $\mathcal{G}^1_{m+k,k}$, $\mathcal{G}^1_{\overline{m+k},k}$ and $\mathcal{G}^1_{m+k,\overline{k}}$ are normalized by $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}$.

Proof. The case k = 0 is trivial. We assume that $k \ge 1$. We can find a closed embedding $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_r$ and a Borel B_{GL_r} of GL_r with the property that $B = G \cap$

 B_{GL_n} . Indeed, first consider a faithful representation of G into GL_r , then consider the action of B on the flag variety of Borels of GL_r . This action of a solvable group on a proper scheme must have a fixed point B_{GL_r} , and then $B \subseteq G \cap B_{GL_r}$. But then we must have $B = G \cap B_{GL_r}$ as the later is a solvable subgroup of Gcontaining B. Therefore, the problem is reduced to the case of the group GL_r . We now consider certain sub-algebras of the algebra of $r \times r$ matrices \mathcal{M}_r^{an} . For all $s \in \mathbb{Q}$, we let $\mathbb{B}(0, s)$ the (quasi-compact) ball of center 0 and radius s, and $\mathbb{B}^o(0, s) = \bigcup_{s' < s} \mathbb{B}(0, s')$ be the "open" ball of radius s (which is a Stein space). For any $m \geq 0$, we let:

$$\begin{split} \text{Lie}_{m,0}(S,S^+) &= \\ \{(a_{i,j}) \in \mathcal{M}_r^{an}(S,S^+), \ a_{i,j} \in \mathbb{B}^o(0,|p^m|)(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \geq j, a_{i,j} \in \mathbb{B}(0,1)(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \leq j \}, \\ \text{Lie}_{\overline{m},0}(S,S^+) &= \\ \{(a_{i,j}) \in \mathcal{M}_r^{an}(S,S^+), a_{i,j} \in \overline{\mathbb{B}^o(0,|p^m|)}(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \geq j, a_{i,j} \in \mathbb{B}(0,1)(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \leq j \}, \\ \text{Lie}_{\overline{m},\overline{0}}(S,S^+) &= \\ \end{split}$$

 $\{(a_{i,j}) \in \mathcal{M}_r^{an}(S,S^+), a_{i,j} \in \mathbb{B}^o(0, |p^m|)(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \geq j a_{i,j} \in \overline{\mathbb{B}(0,1)}(S,S^+) \text{ if } i \leq j \}.$ We claim that these algebras are stable under the adjoint action of $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}$. Since $\operatorname{Lie}_{m,0}$ is the Lie algebra of $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}^1$, and $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}$ normalizes $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}^1$, this case follows easily. The other cases are elementary to check by hand. A typical element of $\mathcal{G}_{m+k,k}^1$ (resp. $\mathcal{G}_{m+k,k}^1$, resp. $\mathcal{G}_{m+k,\overline{k}}^1$) writes $(1+p^kg)$ where $g \in \operatorname{Lie}_{m,0}$ (resp. $\operatorname{Lie}_{\overline{m},0}$, resp. $\operatorname{Lie}_{\overline{m,0}}$). For $h \in \mathcal{G}_{m,0}$, we have $h(1+p^kg)h^{-1} = 1+p^k\operatorname{Ad}(h).g$. \Box

Lemma 3.3.16. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$. Let $m \geq 0$, and let $K_p \subset \mathcal{G}_{m,0}$ be a profinite subgroup. For all $k \geq 0$, the sets

$$]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}K_p,]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+k},k}K_p \text{ and }]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,\overline{k}}K_p]$$

are a finite disjoint union of translates of the form

 $]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h,]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+k},k}h, and respectively]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,\overline{k}}h \text{ for } h \in K_p.$

Proof. We prove the first statement, the others are identical. For $h \in K_p$ we have $]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}w\mathcal{G}^1_{m+k,k}h = \mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}wh\mathcal{G}^1_{m+k,k}h$ by Lemma 3.3.15. This proves that if for $h, h' \in K_p$, $]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h \cap]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h' \neq \emptyset$, then $]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h =]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}h'$. Therefore, $]C_{w,k}[_{m+k,k}K_p$ is a disjoint union of translates. This disjoint union is finite because $\mathcal{G}_{m+k,k} \cap K_p$ is of finite index in K_p .

We now consider certain intersections.

Lemma 3.3.17. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$. Let $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and let K_p be a subgroup of $\mathcal{G}_{m,0}$. Then we have:

$$\begin{aligned} &]C_{w,k}[m, 0K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[0, nK_p =]C_{w,k}[m, nK_p, \\ &]C_{w,k}[m, \overline{0}K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[0, \overline{n}K_p =]C_{w,k}[m, \overline{n}K_p, \\ &]C_{w,k}[\overline{m}, 0K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[\overline{0}, nK_p =]C_{w,k}[\overline{m}, nK_p. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We only check the first statement as the others are identical. As $K_p \subset \mathcal{G}_{m,0}$, $]C_{w,k}[_{m,0}K_p =]C_{w,k}[_{m,0}$. Let $x \in]C_{w,k}[_{m,0}K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,n}K_p$. Then, there exists $h \in K_p$, $xh \in]C_{w,k}[_{m,0} \cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,n} =]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}$. The reverse inclusion is trivial. \Box

3.3.18. Intersections and unions of cells. We prove a few more results concerning the intersections and unions of various subsets of \mathcal{FL} we have introduced so far.

Lemma 3.3.19. For any integer r, we have:

$$\mathcal{FL} =] \cup_{w,\ell(w) \ge r} C_{w,k}[\coprod \overline{] \cup_{w,\ell(w) \le r-1} C_{w,k}}[$$
$$= \overline{] \cup_{w,\ell(w) \ge r} C_{w,k}[\coprod] \cup_{w,\ell(w) \le r-1} C_{w,k}[}$$

Proof. The first equality is obtained by applying sp^{-1} to the decomposition of the special fiber:

$$FL_k = \bigcup_{w,\ell(w) \ge r} C_{w,k} \coprod \bigcup_{w,\ell(w) \le r-1} C_{w,k}$$

For the second equality, first observe that both $\overline{]} \cup_{w,\ell(w) \geq r} \overline{C_{w,k}}[$ and $] \cup_{w,\ell(w) \leq r-1} C_{w,k}[$ are stable under specialization and generalization. Since the disjoint union contains all rank one points of \mathcal{FL} , it contains all of them. Since the intersection contains no rank one points, it is empty. \Box

Lemma 3.3.20. Let $w, w' \in {}^{M}W$. Assume that $\ell(w) \leq \ell(w')$ and $w \neq w'$. Then:

- (1) $\overline{]X_{w,k}[} \cap \underline{]Y_{w',k}[} = \emptyset,$
- (2) $]X_{w,k}[\cap]\overline{Y_{w',k}[} = \emptyset.$

Proof. We prove the first point. Note that $\overline{|X_{w,k}|} = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(X_{w,k})$ and $|Y_{w',k}| = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(Y_{w',k})$. Thus the first point follows from the fact that $X_{w,k} \cap Y_{w',k} = \emptyset$. We prove the second point. Since $|Y_{w',k}|$ is quasi-compact open, $\overline{|Y_{w',k}|}$ is the set of all its specializations. Therefore, both $\overline{|Y_{w',k}|}$ and $|X_{w,k}|$ are stable under generalization. But they have no common rank one point, again as $X_{w,k} \cap Y_{w',k} = \emptyset$.

Lemma 3.3.21. (1) For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}$, we have $\overline{]C_{w,k}[m,n]} =]C_{w,k}[\overline{m},\overline{n} \subseteq \mathcal{U}_w^{an},$ (2) We have $]C_{w,k}[_{0,-\infty} \subseteq]X_{w,k}[$.

- (3) We have $]C_{w,k}[-\infty,0\subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$.
- (4) We have $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[\cap]}X_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}\subseteq \overline{]C_{w,k}[}.$
- (5) We have $|Y_{w,k}| \cap \overline{|X_{w,k}|} = |C_{w,k}|_{\overline{0},0} \subseteq \overline{|C_{w,k}|}.$

Proof. We begin with the first point. Let $Z = FL \setminus U_w$, a closed subscheme. We let \mathcal{Z} be the associated analytic space which is proper. We have $\mathcal{FL} = \mathcal{U}_w^{an} \coprod \mathcal{Z}$. Since \mathcal{Z} is proper, we deduce that \mathcal{U}_w^{an} is stable under specializations. Let us consider $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}$. We claim that $]\overline{C_{w,k}}[_{m,n} \subseteq \mathcal{U}_w^{an}$. To prove this, we can first find a quasi-compact open \mathcal{U} such that $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n} \subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{U}_w^{an}$ and we see that $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ is the set of all its specializations and is therefore included in \mathcal{U}_w^{an} . Now it is clear that $]\overline{C_{w,k}}[_{m,n} =]C_{w,k}[_{m,n} =]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{n}}$.

We now prove the second point. We observe that $w \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M} \cap \Phi^{+}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{an} = \mathcal{C}_{w}^{an} \subseteq \mathcal{X}_{w} \subseteq]X_{w,k}[$ and since $]X_{w,k}[$ is invariant under multiplication by the Iwahori subgroup,

$$w \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+} \mathcal{U}^{an}_{\alpha} \times \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^-} \mathcal{U}^o_{\alpha} \subseteq]X_{w,k}[.$$

We check the third point. We observe that $w \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M} \cap \Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{an} = \mathcal{C}^{w,an} \subseteq \mathcal{X}^{w} \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$ and again the conclusion follows because $]Y_{w,k}[$ is invariant under multiplication by the Iwahori subgroup.

We prove the fourth point. Since $]Y_{w,k}[$ is quasi-compact, it is constructible, and therefore $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}$ is the set of all specializations of $]Y_{w,k}[$ in \mathcal{FL} . Let $x \in \overline{]Y_{w,k}[} \cap]X_{w,k}[$ and let y be the maximal generalization of x in \mathcal{FL} . Then $y \in Y_{w,k}[\cap]X_{w,k}[=$ $]C_{w,k}[$. The subset of $\overline{]C_{w,k}[}$ consisting of points whose maximal generalization is in $]C_{w,k}[$ is exactly $w \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^{+}} \overline{\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}} \times \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{o}.$ This proves that $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[} \cap]X_{w,k}[$ is included in that set. The converse inclusion follows easily from the second and third points. We prove the last point. Since $\overline{|X_{w,k}|} = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(X_{w,k})$ and $]Y_{w,k}[= \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(Y_{w,k}))$, we deduce that $]Y_{w,k}[\cap \overline{]X_{w,k}[} = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(C_{w,k}) \subseteq \overline{]C_{w,k}[}$ has exactly the announced description.

nma 3.3.22. (1) We have $]X_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}} \coprod \cup_{w' < w}]X_{w',k}[.$ (2) We have $]Y_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0} \coprod \cup_{w' > w}]Y_{w',k}[.$ Lemma 3.3.22.

- (3) We have $\overline{]X_{w,k}[} =]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0}} \cap \coprod \cup_{w' < w}]\overline{X_{w',k}[}$.
- (4) We have $\overline{|Y_{w,k}|} = |C_{w,k}|_{0,\overline{0}} [\bigcup_{w'>w} \overline{|Y_{w',k}|}.$

Proof. We prove the first point and the direct inclusion. We first observe that since $X_{w',k}$ is closed, $|X_{w',k}|$ is a finite union of Stein spaces. Therefore $X_{w',k}$ is stable under specialization. Let $x \in]X_{w,k}[$. If its maximal generalization is in $]X_{w',k}[$ for some w' < w, then actually $x \in]X_{w',k}[$. Otherwise, $x \in]C_{w,k}[\cap]X_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}]$ by lemma 3.3.21. The converse inclusion follows from the same lemma. The union is disjoint by lemma 3.3.20. We prove the second point. We note that $|Y_{w,k}| =$ $\operatorname{sp}^{-1}(Y_{w,k})$ and therefore,

$$]Y_{w,k}[= \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(C_{w,k}) \cap]Y_{w,k}[\bigcup \cup_{w'>w}]Y_{w',k}[.$$

By lemma 3.3.21 sp⁻¹ $(C_{w,k}) \cap]Y_{w,k}[\subset]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0}]$. The reverse inclusion follows also from the lemma. The union is disjoint by lemma 3.3.20. We prove the third point. We have $X_{w,k} = C_{w,k} \coprod \bigcup_{w' < w} X_{w',k}$. Taking sp⁻¹ gives the identity. We prove the last point. All three spaces $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}$, $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}=\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}\cap \overline{]X_{w,k}[}$ and $\cup_{w'>w}\overline{]Y_{w',k}[}$ are stable under specialization and generalization. It suffices therefore to prove the identity on rank one points, and it is clear.

3.4. Dynamics. Let $v: F \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ be the p-adic valuation normalized by v(p) = 1. We consider certain sub-semigroups of T(F). We let $T^+(F) = \{t \in T^+(F) \in T^+(F)\}$ $\begin{array}{l} T(F), v(\alpha(t)) \geq 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{++}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) > 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \\ T^-(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) \leq 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) = \{t \in T(F), v(\alpha(t)) < 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \Phi^+ \}, \ T^{--}(F) \in \Phi^+ \} \}$ 0, $\forall \alpha \in \Phi^+$ }.

nma 3.4.1. (1) If $t \in T^+(F)$, $]X_{w,k}[.t \subseteq]X_{w,k}[$ for all $w \in {}^M W$. (2) If $t \in T^-(F)$, $]Y_{w,k}[.t \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$ for all $w \in {}^M W$. Lemma 3.4.1.

Proof. By [Hub93], corollary 4.2, we reduce to check the inclusions on rank 1 points. For the first point, it suffices therefore to prove that $]C_{w,k}[t \subseteq]X_{w,k}[$. Let $wbu \in$ $]C_{w,k}[$ with $b \in \mathcal{B}$ and $u \in \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}^{o}_{\alpha}$. We find that $wbut = wt^{-1}btt^{-1}ut$. Now, $\mathrm{Ad}(t^{-1})u \in \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}^{o}_{\alpha}$, while $\mathrm{Ad}(t^{-1})b \in \mathcal{B}^{an}$. In particular $w\mathrm{Ad}(t^{-1})b \in \mathcal{X}_{w} \subseteq$ $]X_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$. Therefore $w \operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1}) b \operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1}) u \in]X_{w,k}[$. For the second point, it suffices to prove that $]C_{w,k}[.t \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[.$ Let $wub \in]C_{w,k}[$ with $b \in \mathcal{B}$ and $u \in \overline{\mathcal{U}}^o$. We find that $wubt = wt^{-1}utt^{-1}bt$. Now, $\operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1})b \in \mathcal{B}$, while $\operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1})u \in \overline{\mathcal{B}}^{an}$. In particular, $w \operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1}) u \in \mathcal{X}^w \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}.$ Therefore $w \operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1}) u \operatorname{Ad}(t^{-1}) b \in]Y_{w,k}[.$

For $t \in T^{++}(F)$, we define $\min(t) = \min_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} v(\alpha(t))$ and $\max(t) = \max_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} v(\alpha(t))$. For $t \in T^{--}(F)$, we let $\min(t) = \min_{\alpha \in \Phi^{-}} v(\alpha(t))$ and $\max(t) = \max_{\alpha \in \Phi^{-}} v(\alpha(t))$.

We note that $\min(t) > 0$ and that $\min(t) = \min(t^{-1})$ and $\max(t) = \max(t^{-1})$ for $t \in T^{++}(F)$.

Lemma 3.4.2. (1) Let $t \in T^{++}(F)$. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$, $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}$, we have $|C_{w,k}[_{m+\max(t),n-\min(t)} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m+\min(t),n-\max(t)}]$ $|C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+\max(t)},n-\min(t)} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},n}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+\min(t)},n-\max(t)},]C_{w,k}[_{m+\max(t),\overline{n-\min(t)}} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{n}}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m+\min(t),\overline{n-\max(t)}}.$ (2) Let $t \in T^{--}(F)$. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}$, we have $|C_{w,k}[_{m-\min(t),n+\max(t)} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m-\max(t),n+\min(t)}]$ $|C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m-\min(t)},n+\max(t)} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},n}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m-\max(t)},n+\min(t)},]C_{w,k}[_{m-\min(t),\overline{n+\max(t)}} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},\overline{n}}.t \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m-\max(t),\overline{n+\min(t)}}.$

Proof. Easy and left to the reader.

3.5. Dynamics of correspondences.

3.5.1. Certain compact open subgroups. We now assume that the group $G_F = G \times_{\text{Spec } \mathcal{O}_F} \text{Spec } F$ is defined and quasi-split over \mathbb{Q}_p . Therefore, we have a reductive group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ with Borel $B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ and moreover the group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ splits over the extension F of \mathbb{Q}_p . We have a reductive model G of G_F over Spec \mathcal{O}_F . The Borel $B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ base changes to a Borel B_F of G_F which extends to a Borel B of G. Similarly, we have a maximal torus $T_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \subseteq B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ of $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$, and its base change T_F extends to a maximal (split) torus of G. We will often drop the subscripts \mathbb{Q}_p or F when the context is clear.

Remark 3.5.2. Starting from the next section, we will consider a Shimura datum (G, X), where G is a reductive group over \mathbb{Q} . The group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ that we consider here will be the base change to \mathbb{Q}_p of the group G which is part of the Shimura datum. We apologize for this slightly inconsistent notation.

We let $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ be the maximal compact subgroup of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Note that $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = T(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. We have an exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{O}_F^{\times} \to F^{\times} \xrightarrow{v} \mathbb{Q}$ and tensoring with $X_{\star}(T)$ and taking Galois invariants, we obtain the sequence: $0 \to T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \xrightarrow{v} X_{\star}(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ where T^d stands for the maximal split torus inside T and $X_{\star}(T^d)$ for its cocharacter group. The image of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ in $X_{\star}(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ is easily seen to be a \mathbb{Z} -lattice.

We let $T^+ = T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap T^+(F)$, $T^{++} = T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap T^{++}(F)$, $T^- = T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap T^-(F)$, and $T^{--} = T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap T^{--}(F)$. These are semigroups in $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and one proves easily that they generate $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ (since there are regular elements in the maximal split torus T^d).

We will now consider certain compact open subgroups of $G(\mathcal{O}_F)$. For all $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we let $\tilde{K}_{p,m} \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ be the preimage of $B(\mathcal{O}_F/p^m)$ under the map $G(\mathcal{O}_F) \to G(\mathcal{O}_F/p^m)$. We observe that $\tilde{K}_{p,0} = G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $\tilde{K}_{p,1}$ is the Iwahori subgroup of $G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ with respect to the Borel $B(\mathcal{O}_F)$. For $b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ we let $\tilde{K}_{p,b,b} \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ be the preimage of $U(\mathcal{O}_F/p^b)$ under the map $G(\mathcal{O}_F) \to G(\mathcal{O}_F/p^b)$. Finally for $m \geq b \geq 0$ we let $\tilde{K}_{p,m,b} = \tilde{K}_{p,m} \cap \tilde{K}_{p,b,b}$. In other words $\tilde{K}_{p,m,b}$ is the subgroup of $G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ of elements whose reduction mod p^m lies in B, and whose reduction mod p^b lies in U. We note that we have $\tilde{K}_{p,m,b} \subset \mathcal{G}_{m-1,0}$.

For $m \ge b \ge 0$ and m > 0, the groups $\tilde{K}_{p,m,b}$ have an Iwahori decomposition, in the sense that the product map

$$\tilde{U}_m \times \tilde{T}_b \times U(\mathcal{O}_F) \to K_{p,m,b}$$

is a bijection, where $\tilde{T}_b = \ker(T(\mathcal{O}_F) \to T(\mathcal{O}_F/p^b))$ and $\overline{\tilde{U}}_m = \ker(\overline{U}(\mathcal{O}_F) \to \overline{U}(\mathcal{O}_F/p^m))$.

We now let $K_{p,m,b} = G(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap K_{p,m,b}$. This is a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. For $m \geq b \geq 0$ and $m \geq 0$, the groups $K_{p,m,b}$, have an Iwahori decomposition, in

For $m \ge b \ge 0$ and m > 0, the groups $K_{p,m,b}$ have an Iwahori decomposition, in the sense that the product map

$$\overline{U}_m \times T_b \times U(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to K_{p,m,b}$$

is a bijection, where $T_b = \tilde{T}_b \cap T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and $\overline{U}_m = \overline{\tilde{U}}_m \cap \overline{U}(\mathbb{Q}_p), U(\mathbb{Z}_p) = U(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap U(\mathbb{Q}_p).$

Remark 3.5.3. We note that the groups $K_{p,m,b}$ depend (even up to conjugation in general), on the choice of the reductive model G over \mathcal{O}_F .

Remark 3.5.4. If the group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is unramified, then we can choose a reductive model $G_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ of $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ with Borel and maximal torus $B_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ and $T_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$. In this case, if we take $G_{\mathcal{O}_F} = G_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \times_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{O}_F$, then we have that $K_{p,m}$ is the preimage of $B(\mathbb{Z}_p/p^m)$ under $G(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to G(\mathbb{Z}_p/p^m)$, and $K_{p,b,b}$ is the preimage of $U(\mathbb{Z}_p/p^b)$ under $G(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to G(\mathbb{Z}_p/p^b)$. In particular, $K_{p,1,0}$ is an Iwahori subgroup, and $K_{p,1,1}$ is a pro-p Iwahori subgroup.

In the ramified case, there is still a notion of an Iwahori subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ defined using Bruhat-Tits theory. However, our subgroup $K_{p,1,0}$ will usually not be an Iwahori subgroup. In the general case, we found it convenient to work with the groups $K_{p,m,b}$ constructed as above, and it makes no difference for the purposes of this paper whether $K_{p,1,0}$ is an Iwahori.

3.5.5. Change of group. In this paragraph we make a short digression that will be useful when we deal with abelian type Shimura varieties. Assume that we have an epimorphism of reductive groups $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \to G'_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ with central kernel. This implies that G and G' have the same adjoint group G^{ad} . We assume that these group split over F and we fix models over \mathcal{O}_F , that we denote G and G' together with a map $G \to G'$ over Spec \mathcal{O}_F , extending the map $G_F \to G'_F$. We also assume that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ and $G'_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ are quasi-split and pick Borels B and B' defined over \mathbb{Q}_p such that $B \to B'$. We can therefore define compact open subgroups $K_{p,m,b} \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and $K'_{p,m,b} \subseteq G'(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ as in section 3.5.1.

Lemma 3.5.6. The groups $K_{p,m,b}$ and $K'_{p,m,b}$ have the same image in $G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$.

Proof. This follows from the Iwahori decomposition of these groups. Since $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \to G'_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is an epimorphism with central kernel, the induced map on root groups are isomorphisms.

3.5.7. Hecke algebras. We let $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}$ be the Hecke algebras $\mathbb{Z}[K_{p,m,b} \setminus G(\mathbb{Q}_p)/K_{p,m,b}]$. We denote by $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^+$ the sub-algebra generated by the double cosets $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ with $t \in T^+$ and by $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{++}$ the ideal generated by $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ with $t \in T^{++}$. We define similarly $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^-$ and $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{--}$. **Lemma 3.5.8.** For all $m \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0, the map $t \mapsto [K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ induces isomorphisms $\mathbb{Z}[T^+/T_b] \to \mathcal{H}^+_{p,m,b}$ and $\mathbb{Z}[T^-/T_b] \to \mathcal{H}^-_{p,m,b}$.

Proof. This is [Cas], lem. 4.1.5. (Alternatively it can be deduced from lemma 4.2.13 below.) \Box

3.5.9. Action of correspondences on the flag variety. Let $K_p \subseteq G_0(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ be a compact open subgroup.

We consider the quotient space \mathcal{FL}/K_p . This space carries an action by correspondences of double cosets K_pgK_p for $g \in G_0(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Namely, given $xK_p \in \mathcal{FL}/K_p$, we let $xK_p.K_pgK_p = \{x\tilde{u}gK_p, u \in K_p/(gK_pg^{-1} \cap K_p), \tilde{u} \in K_p \text{ lifts } u\}.$

We now consider a compact open $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$ for $m' \ge b \ge 0$ and m' > 0.

Lemma 3.5.10. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$.

- (1) Let $t \in T^+$. The sequence $\{]X_{w,k}[.(K_p t K_p)^m\}_{m\geq 0}$ is nested.
- (2) Let $t \in T^-$. The sequence $\{]Y_{w,k}[.(K_ptK_p)^n\}_{n\geq 0}$ is nested.
- (3) Let $t \in T^{++}$ and $m \ge 0$. We have

$$C_{w,k}|_{m\max(t),\overline{-m\min(t)}}.K_p \subseteq$$

$$]X_{w,k}[.(K_ptK_p)^m \subseteq] C_{w,k}[_{m\min(t),\overline{-m\max(t)}}.K_p \bigcup \cup_{w' < w}]X_{w',k}[.$$

(4) Let $t \in T^{--}$ and $n \ge 0$. We have

$$]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{-n\min(t)},n\max(t)}.K_p \subseteq$$

$$]Y_{w,k}[.(K_ptK_p)^n \subseteq] C_{w,k}[\underline{-n\max(t)}, n\min(t), K_p \bigcup \cup_{w'>w}]Y_{w',k}[.$$

(5) Let $t \in T^{++}$. For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $]X_{w,k}[.(K_p t K_p)^m \cap \overline{]Y_{w,k}[}.(K_p t^{-1} K_p)^n \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{m\min(t),\overline{0}} K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n\min(t)}} K_p.$ (6) Let $t \in T^{--}$. For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $\overline{]X_{w,k}[}.(K_p t^{-1} K_p)^m \cap]Y_{w,k}[.(K_p t K_p)^n \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m\min(t)},0} K_p \cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},n\min(t)} K_p.$ (7) Let $t \in T^{--}$. For all $n \geq d$, $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}.(K_p t K_p)^n \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$.

Proof. We observe that $]X_{w,k}[.(K_ptK_p)^m =]X_{w,k}[t^mK_p \text{ and }]Y_{w,k}[.(K_ptK_p)^m =]Y_{w,k}[t^mK_p, using the very definition of the action, and also noting that <math>(K_ptK_p)^m = K_pt^mK_p$ by lemma 3.5.8. Therefore, the first and second points follow from lemma 3.4.1.

We note that $]X_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}\bigcup \cup_{w' < w}]X_{w',k}[$ and $]Y_{w,k}[=]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0}\bigcup \cup_{w' > w}]Y_{w',k}[$ by lemma 3.3.22. The third and fourth point follow from this, the first two points, and lemma 3.4.2.

We know that $]X_{w,k}[\cap]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}$ by lemma 3.3.21. Moreover, $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}\cap]X_{w',k}[=$ \emptyset if $w' \neq w$ and $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}\cap]Y_{w',k}[=\emptyset$ if $w' \neq w$ (because $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}},]X_{w',k}[$ and $]Y_{w,k}[$ are all stable under generalization and they have no common rank one point). Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} X_{w,k}[.(K_{p}tK_{p})^{m} \cap \overline{]Y_{w,k}}[.(K_{p}t^{-1}K_{p})^{n} \subseteq \\]C_{w,k}[_{m\min(t),-m\max(t)}K_{p}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{-m\max(t^{-1}),n\min(t^{-1})}.K_{p} \subseteq \\]C_{w,k}[_{m\min(t),\overline{0}}K_{p}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n}\min(t)}K_{p}. \end{aligned}$$

The proof of the sixth point is similar. We pass to the last point. By taking closures, we find that $\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}.(K_ptK_p) \subseteq]C_{w,k}[\underline{-\max(t)},\underline{\min(t)}.K_p \bigcup \cup_{w'>w}]Y_{w',k}[$. Since $]C_{w,k}[\underline{-\max(t)},\underline{\min(t)}.K_p \subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$, we deduce that for any $x \in \overline{]Y_{w,k}[}$, and any $y \in x.K_ptK_p$, then either $y \in]Y_{w,k}[$ or $y \in \overline{]Y_{w',k}[}$ for some w' > w. We conclude by induction on $d - \ell(w)$.

4. Shimura varieties

Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum. Thus X is a $G(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of homomorphism $h : \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}\mathbb{G}_m \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying a list of familiar axioms ([Del79], section 2.1):

- (1) For all $h \in X$, the Hodge structure on $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ has weight (1, -1), (0, 0) and (-1, 1).
- (2) The involution $\operatorname{Ad}(h(i))$ is a Cartan involution on $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{ad}$.
- (3) The group G^{ad} has no simple \mathbb{Q} -factor whose real points are compact.

Remark 4.0.1. The condition (3) is mostly irrelevant for this paper. This axiom is used in order to apply the strong approximation theorem, which is important for the description of connected components of Shimura varieties, and therefore the theory of canonical models over the reflex field. This is important for certain rationality questions, but will not play much of a role in this paper. Groups Gwhose real points are compact modulo the center give Shimura sets. Automorphic forms on these groups are called algebraic automorphic forms, and all our results are well known for Shimura sets: all the vanishing theorems are trivial, whereas the theory of overconvergent modular forms has been extensively developed in this setting ([Buz07], [Che04], [Loe11]). We keep this third axiom for convenience, as it is used in many references, but believe all our results hold without this assumption, with minor modifications of the proofs.

Via base change to \mathbb{C} , we have $(\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}\mathbb{G}_m)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m$ (given by $z \mapsto (z, \bar{z})$) and via projection to the first factor, X induces a conjugacy class of cocharacters $\mathbb{G}_m \to G_{\mathbb{C}}$. We fix one such cocharacter μ . Associated to μ we have two opposite parabolic subgroups $P_{\mu}^{std} = \{g \in G_{\mathbb{C}}, \lim_{t\to\infty} \operatorname{Ad}(\mu(t))g \text{ exists}\}$ and $P_{\mu} = \{g \in G_{\mathbb{C}}, \lim_{t\to 0} \operatorname{Ad}(\mu(t))g \text{ exists}\}$. We also let M_{μ} be the Levi quotient of P_{μ} and P_{μ}^{std} . We let $FL_{G,\mu}^{std} = G_{\mathbb{C}}/P_{\mu}^{std}$ and $FL_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \setminus G_{\mathbb{C}}$ be the Flag varieties. Let E be the reflex field, which is the field of definition of the conjugacy class of μ . The two flag varieties are defined over Spec E.

Let $K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a neat compact open subgroup, and let $S_K \to \text{Spec } E$ be the canonical model of the corresponding Shimura variety [Mil90]. We have $S_K(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K$. In the rest of this paper, all the compact open subgroups $K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ are assumed to be neat, so we do not always repeat this assumption.

The most fundamental Shimura data are the Siegel data $(\text{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g)$ for all $g \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, where \mathcal{H}_g is the Siegel (upper and lower) half space of matrices $M \in M_g(\mathbb{C})$ such that ${}^tM = M$ and Im(M) is definite. The corresponding Shimura varieties parametrize abelian varieties of dimension g, with a polarization and level structure prescribed by K. A Shimura datum (G, X) is of Hodge type if it admits an embedding in a Siegel datum. All PEL Shimura data are of Hodge type.

Shimura datum (G, X) is of abelian type if there exists a datum (G_1, X_1) of Hodge type and a central isogeny $G_1^{der} \to G^{der}$ which induces an isomorphism of connected Shimura data $(G^{ad}, X^+) = (G_1^{ad}, X_1^+)$ where X^+ is a connected component of X(and similarly X_1^+ is a connected component of X_1).

Example 4.0.2. Let L be a totally real number field. The datum $(\text{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}} \text{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g^{[L:\mathbb{Q}]})$ is of abelian type. We call it a symplectic datum. In the case g = 1, the corresponding Shimura varieties are the Hilbert modular varieties.

We let $S_K^{\star} \to \operatorname{Spec} E$ be the minimal compactification of S_K . Depending on the auxiliary choice of a projective cone decomposition Σ , we let $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \operatorname{Spec} E$ be the toroidal compactification of S_K corresponding to Σ . The (reduced) boundary $D_{K,\Sigma} = S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \setminus S_K$ is a Cartier divisor. The cone decompositions Σ are partially ordered by inclusion, and any two cone decompositions admit a common refinement. The cone decompositions Σ which are such that $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \operatorname{Spec} E$ is smooth and projective are cofinal among all cone decompositions, and we usually choose them this way. We refer to [Pin90] for the construction of these compactifications.

4.1. Automorphic vector bundles and their cohomology.

4.1.1. Automorphic vector bundles. We choose a field extension F of E which splits G and we work over F in this section. In most of this paper, F will be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , but this is not necessary for the moment. We can choose μ so that it is defined over F, and choose a maximal split torus T with $\mu(\mathbb{G}_m) \subseteq T \subseteq M_{\mu}$.

We let $Z_s(G)$ be the largest subtorus of the center Z(G) which is \mathbb{R} -split but contains no \mathbb{Q} -split subtorus. We let $G^c = G/Z_s(G)$, and define M^c_{μ} , T^c , P^c_{μ} , and $P^{c,std}_{\mu}$ similarly.

Remark 4.1.2. In the Hodge type case, $Z_s(G) = \{1\}$. For the symplectic datum $(\operatorname{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g^{[L:\mathbb{Q}]}), Z_s(G)$ is the kernel of the norm $\operatorname{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m \to \mathbb{G}_m$.

Let $\operatorname{Rep}(M^c_{\mu})$ be the category of finite dimensional algebraic representations of the reductive group M^c_{μ} on *F*-vector spaces.

By [Mil90], thm. 5.1 and [Har89], thm. 4.2 we have a right M^c_{μ} -torsor M_{dR} over $S^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}$, and it corresponds to a functor:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \operatorname{Rep}(M^c_{\mu}) & \to & VB(S^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}) \\ V & \mapsto & \mathcal{V}_{K,\Sigma} \end{array}$$

where $VB(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor})$ is the category of locally free sheaves of finite rank over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. This functor is compatible in a natural way with change of level K and of cone decompositions Σ . The locally free sheaves in the essential image of this functor are called (totally decomposed) automorphic vector bundles. They carry an equivariant action of $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

Remark 4.1.3. We recall the description of $M_{dR} \times_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} S_K(\mathbb{C})$ as a complex analytic space. First, we have the Borel embedding $\beta : X \hookrightarrow FL_{G,\mu}^{std}(\mathbb{C}) = G^c(\mathbb{C})/P_{\mu}^{c,std}(\mathbb{C})$ which sends $h \in X$ to the parabolic stabilizing the Hodge filtration. The Borel embedding is equivariant for the left action of $G(\mathbb{R})$. We have the canonical map $G^c(\mathbb{C}) \to FL_{G,\mu}^{std}(\mathbb{C})$. This map is a right $P_{\mu}^{c,std}(\mathbb{C})$ -torsor and is $G(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant for the left action. Similarly, the canonical map $G^c(\mathbb{C})/U_{P_{\mu}^{c,std}}(\mathbb{C}) \to FL_{G,\mu}^{std}(\mathbb{C})$ is a right $M^c_{\mu}(\mathbb{C})$ -torsor (where $U_{P^{c,std}_{\mu}}$ is the unipotent radical of $P^{c,std}_{\mu}$). Then we have:

$$M_{dR} \times_{S_{K\Sigma}^{tor}} S_K(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash \beta^{-1}(G^c(\mathbb{C})/U_{P_u^{c,std}}(\mathbb{C})) \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K.$$

Remark 4.1.4. We give a description of M_{dR} for the Siegel Shimura datum $(\operatorname{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g)$. Let us first work over S_K . Let ω_A be the conormal sheaf of the universal abelian scheme $A \to S_K$ along its unit section and let $\operatorname{Lie}(A)$ be its dual. The torsor M_{dR} parametrizes trivializations $\psi_1 \oplus \psi_2 : \mathscr{O}_{S_K}^g \oplus \mathscr{O}_{S_K}^g \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \oplus \omega_{A^t}$, such that under the isomorphism $\operatorname{Lie}(A)^{\vee} = \omega_{A^t}$ given by the polarization, we have $\psi_1 = c(\psi_2^{-1})^t$ for a unit $c \in \mathscr{O}_{S_K}^{\times}$. The extension of M_{dR} over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ has a similar description. Indeed, A can be extended to a semi-abelian scheme A_{Σ} over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$, and we can let M_{dR} be the torsor of trivializations of $\operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \oplus \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^t}$, compatible, up to a unit, with the polarization.

We now make the construction of automorphic vector bundles explicit, and label them using weights. We begin by making a choice of positive roots of T: we first choose a set of compact positive roots Φ_c^+ which lie in \mathfrak{m}_{μ} the Lie algebra of M_{μ} . We then choose the non-compact positive roots Φ_{nc}^+ to lie in $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p}_{\mu}^{std}$ where \mathfrak{p}_{μ}^{std} is the Lie algebra of P_{μ}^{std} . We let $\Phi^+ = \Phi_c^+ \coprod \Phi_{nc}^+$.

Remark 4.1.5. This choice implies that the Borel corresponding to Φ^+ is included in P_{μ} , or equivalently that the cocharacter μ of the Shimura datum is dominant. In section 3 we fixed a parabolic P of G containing a Borel B. In the applications to Shimura varieties, P will be P_{μ} . Therefore our convention is also compatible with the choice made in section 3.

We let $X^*(T)^{M_{\mu},+}$ be the cone of characters of T which are dominant for Φ_c^+ . We label irreducible representations of M_{μ} by their highest weight $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M_{\mu},+}$. An explicit construction of the highest weight κ representation V_{κ} is as follows. Let $w_{0,M}$ be the longest element of the Weyl group of M_{μ} . For any $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M_{\mu},+}$ we consider the space V_{κ} of functions $f: M_{\mu} \to \mathbb{A}^1$ such that $f(mb) = (w_{0,M}\kappa)(b^{-1})f(m)$ for all $m \in M_{\mu}$ and $b \in B \cap M_{\mu}$. The action of M_{μ} on itself via left translation induces a left action on V_{κ} , i.e. $(m' \cdot f)(m) = f(m'^{-1}m)$. The irreducible representations of M_{μ}^c are the irreducible representations of M_{μ} labelled by dominant characters κ of T^c . We let $X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ be the cone of these characters.

We denote by $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}$ the locally free sheaf associated to the irreducible representation of highest weight κ of M^c_{μ} . Concretely, we consider the right torsor $g: M_{dR} \to S^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}$ and we let $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}$ be the subsheaf of $g_*\mathscr{O}_{M_{dR}}$ of sections f(m) such that $f(mb) = (w_{0,M}\kappa)(b^{-1})f(m)$ for all $b \in B \cap M_{\mu}$. We will often abbreviate $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}$ to \mathcal{V}_{κ} .

We also introduce the cuspidal subsheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})$ of sections vanishing on the boundary divisor $D_{K,\Sigma} \hookrightarrow S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. Again, we often abbreviate this sheaf to $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)$.

4.1.6. The cohomology of automorphic vector bundles. We let $\pi_{K,\Sigma} : S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \to S_K^*$ be the projection from the toroidal to the minimal compactification.

Theorem 4.1.7. We have $\mathbb{R}^{i}(\pi_{K,\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-nD_{K,\Sigma}) = 0$ for all i > 0 and all $n \geq 1$.

Proof. In the PEL case (and for n = 1), this is [Lan17], thm. 8.6. We give an argument which follows closely [AIP15] and which is also similar to *loc. cit.* Let $x \in S_K^*$. We write $\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x$ for the formal completion of $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ along $\pi_{K,\Sigma}^{-1}(x)$. By the theorem on formal functions ([Sta13], Tag 02O7) it suffices to prove that $\mathrm{H}^i(\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-nD_{K,\Sigma})) = 0$ for all i > 0 and $n \ge 1$.

We may now use the description of $\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x$ in terms of the local charts, following the notations of [MP19]. The argument is mostly about torus embedding, so we do not need to explain in detail the structure of the toroidal compactification, but just recall what is strictly necessary. Suppose that x belongs to a boundary component indexed by a cusp label representative Φ . There is a tower of spaces:

$$\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \xrightarrow{g} \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$$

where $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi})$ is a torsor under a torus $\mathbf{E}_{K}(\Phi)$. There is a locally free sheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K}$ over $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi})$. There is a twisted torus embedding $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$ which depends on the choice of Σ . There is an arithmetic group $\Delta_{K}(\Phi)$ acting on $X^{*}(\mathbf{E}_{K}(\Phi))$ and on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \hookrightarrow$ $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. Let $\overline{g} : \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi})$. The arithmetic group also acts on $\overline{g}^{*}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K}$. We have a $\Delta_{K}(\Phi)$ -invariant closed subscheme $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. There is a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \to$ S_{K}^{*} whose image contains x. There is a series of morphisms:

$$\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}).$$

We let $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_x$ be the closed subspace equal to the inverse image of x. The main result on the description of toroidal compactifications states that:

$$\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \setminus \left(\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_\Phi}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_\Phi}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_x}\right)$$

Moreover, the sheaf $\overline{g}^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K}$ on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$ descends to

$$\Delta_{K}(\Phi) \setminus \left(\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{x}}\right)$$

and identifies with $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}|_{\widetilde{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{x}}$. We let D be the boundary divisor $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \setminus S_{K}$. Under the isomorphism above, it corresponds to the divisor $D_0 = \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \setminus \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi})$.

There is a divisor D' on $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ which has exactly the same support as D and such that $\mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}(-D')$ is ample relatively to the minimal compactification. It corresponds to a divisor D'_0 on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$.

We will prove the following statement: for any $C\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq0},$ there exists $s\geq C$ and a finite morphism

$$\psi:\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x\to\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x$$

such that $\psi^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma} = \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}$ and $\mathscr{O}(-nD) \to \psi_* \mathscr{O}(-sD')$ is a split injection. This implies the theorem, as we deduce that for all $i \ge 0$, $\mathrm{H}^i(\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-nD))$ is a direct factor of $\mathrm{H}^i(\widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^x, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-sD'))$. Taking C large enough, this last group vanishes for i > 0.

We now prove the claim about the existence of ψ . Our proof follows [AIP15], p. 679. We will construct everything on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. For any integer ℓ , the multiplication by ℓ -map on the torus $\mathbf{E}_{K}(\Phi)$ induces a finite morphism
$$\begin{split} \psi_{\ell} : \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) &\to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \text{ which is } \Delta_{K}(\Phi) \text{ equivariant and} \\ \text{for which } \psi_{\ell}^{\star} \overline{g}^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K} &= \overline{g}^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K}. \text{ The morphisms } \psi_{\ell} \text{ induces a finite morphism} \\ \widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{\star} &\to \widehat{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{\star}. \text{ We have } D'_{0} &= \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma(\Phi)(1)} a_{\rho} D_{\rho} \text{ where } \Sigma(\Phi)(1) \text{ is the set of one} \\ \text{dimensional faces in } \Sigma(\Phi) \text{ and } D_{0} &= \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma(\Phi)(1)} D_{\rho}. \text{ Since } D'_{0} \text{ is } \Delta_{K}(\Phi) \text{-equivariant} \\ \text{and } \Sigma(\Phi)(1)/\Delta_{K}(\Phi) \text{ is finite, we deduce that for any } s \geq 1, \text{ there exists } \ell \text{ such that} \\ 0 < sa_{\rho} \leq \ell. \text{ It follows that the round-down of the } \mathbb{Q}\text{-divisor } -\ell^{-1}D'_{0} \text{ is } -D_{0}. \text{ We} \\ \text{deduce from [CLS11], lem. 9.3.4 that } \mathcal{O}(-D_{0}) \hookrightarrow (\psi_{\ell})_{\star} \mathcal{O}(-sD'_{0}) \text{ is a split injection.} \\ \text{Pulling back this morphism by } \psi_{n}, \text{ we deduce that } \mathcal{O}(-nD_{0}) \hookrightarrow (\psi_{\ell})_{\star} \mathcal{O}(-snD'_{0}) \\ \text{ is a split injection.} \\ \Box$$

We let $\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'}: S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \to S_{K',\Sigma'}^{tor}$ be the map associated to a change of level (for $K \subseteq K'$) and cone decomposition.

Theorem 4.1.8. We have $R^i(\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_*\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma} = 0$ and $R^i(\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_*\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}) = 0$ for all i > 0. Moreover if $K \subseteq K'$ is normal then we have

$$((\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma})^{K'/K} = \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K',\Sigma'}$$

and

$$((\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}))^{K'/K} = \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K',\Sigma'}(-D_{K',\Sigma'})$$

Proof. This is easily extracted from [Har90b], section 2 (look in particular at proposition 2.4 and proposition 2.6 and their proofs). In the PEL case, this is explicitly [Lan17], prop. 7.5. \Box

In particular from the case that K = K' we deduce that the cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}))$ do not depend on Σ .

We also recall that the maps $\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'}$ have fundamental classes in the sense of [FP19] section 2.3. Namely we have maps $\mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'}^{!} \mathscr{O}_{S_{K',\Sigma'}^{tor}}$ and $\mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}(-D_{K,\Sigma}) \to \pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma}^{!} \mathscr{O}_{S_{K',\Sigma'}^{tor}}(-D_{K',\Sigma'})$ or equivalently, by adjunction, trace maps $\mathrm{R}(\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star} \mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} = (\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star} \mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \mathscr{O}_{S_{K',\Sigma'}^{tor}}$ and $\mathrm{R}(\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star} (\mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}(-D_{K,\Sigma})) =$ $(\pi_{K,K',\Sigma,\Sigma'})_{\star} (\mathscr{O}_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}(-D_{K,\Sigma})) \to \mathscr{O}_{S_{K',\Sigma'}^{tor}}(-D_{K',\Sigma'})$, both of which extend the trace map for the finite étale morphism $\pi_{K,K'}: S_K \to S_{K'}$.

4.2. Action of the Hecke algebra.

4.2.1. Action of Hecke correspondences on cohomology. Let $K_1, K_2 \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be open compact subgroups, and let $g \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. To this data we associate a Hecke correspondence



where p_1 is the forgetful map corresponding to the inclusion $K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1} \subseteq K_1$, and p_2 is the composition of the action map $[g] : S_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1}} \to S_{g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2}$ and the forgetful map corresponding to the inclusion $g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2 \subseteq K_2$.

For any weight $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ we have a cohomological correspondence $(p_1)_*p_2^*\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2} \to \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1}$. This is obtained by combining the trace map $\operatorname{tr}_{p_1} : (p_1)_*\mathcal{O}_{S_{K_1}\cap g_{K_2g^{-1}}} \to \mathcal{O}_{S_{K_1}}$ for the finite étale map p_1 with the isomorphism $p_2^*\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2} \simeq p_1^*\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1}$, which

is itself composed of the isomorphism $p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1} \simeq \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1}}$ and the similar isomorphism for the forgetful map $S_{g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2} \to S_{K_2}$, as well as the action map $[g]^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2} \simeq \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1}}$.

One readily verifies that the cohomological correspondence $((S_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1}}, p_1, p_2), (p_1)_* p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa, K_2} \to \mathcal{V}_{\kappa, K_1})$ only depends on the double coset K_1gK_2 , up to canonical isomorphism.

Now for suitable choices of cone decomposition we have a diagram



and we claim that our cohomological correspondence on the interior extends to a cohomological correspondence $\mathbf{R}(p_1)_* p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma'} = (p_1)_* p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma'} \to \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1,\Sigma''}$ as well as a cuspidal version $\mathbf{R}(p_1)_* p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma'} (-D_{K_2,\Sigma'}) = (p_1)_* p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma'} (-D_{K_2,\Sigma'}) \to \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1,\Sigma''} (-D_{K_1,\Sigma})$. We have already discussed the extensions of the trace map in the previous section. As for the action map, it also induces an isomorphism of canonical extensions $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma} \to p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1,\Sigma}$ as well as a morphism of subsheaves $p_2^* (\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_2,\Sigma} (-D_{K_2,\Sigma'})) \to (p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1,\Sigma}) (-D_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1},\Sigma''})$.

Finally these cohomological correspondences induces maps on cohomology in the usual way, namely we denote by $[K_1gK_2]$ the composition

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K_{2},\Sigma'}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2},\Sigma'}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K_{1}\cap gK_{2}g^{-1},\Sigma''}^{tor},p_{2}^{*}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2},\Sigma'}) =$$
$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K_{1},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathrm{R}(p_{1})_{*}p_{2}^{*}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2},\Sigma'}) \to \Gamma(S_{K_{1},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{1},\Sigma})$$

where the first map is p_2^* and the last map uses the cohomological correspondence. We have a similar definition for cuspidal cohomology.

4.2.2. Composition of Hecke correspondences. Let us briefly explain the point of this section. We have defined an action of individual Hecke operators on coherent cohomology, and we would like to show that this actually gives an action of the Hecke algebra. The standard proof (see [Har90b, Prop. 2.6]) is to pass to a limit over all K to obtain a representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$, and then use the purely group theoretic fact that Hecke algebras act on its invariants. However in this paper we will also study coherent cohomology with support conditions which are not $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ invariant, and so we no longer expect an action of the full Hecke algebra, but only of certain Hecke operators which preserve the support conditions in a suitable sense. We would still like to know that these Hecke operators compose according to relations in the abstract Hecke algebra.

For this reason we develop a different approach to composition of Hecke operators, by directly studying the geometric composition of Hecke correspondences. This material is presumably well known but we lack a reference (see [FC90, VII §3] for a closely related discussion.)

We recall the formalism of double coset multiplication. Fix a Haar measure on $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ and let $C_c^{\infty}(G(\mathbb{A}_f), \mathbb{R})$ be the Hecke algebra with its convolution product. For $K_1, K_2 \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ we consider the free group $\mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_2]$ and we write the basis elements as $[K_1gK_2]$. We have an embedding $i_{K_1,K_2} : \mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_2] \to C_c^{\infty}(G(\mathbb{A}_f), \mathbb{R})$ which sends $[K_1gK_2]$ to $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{vol}(K_1)\operatorname{vol}(K_2)}} \mathbf{1}_{K_1gK_2}$, where $\mathbf{1}_{K_1gK_2}$ denotes the characteristic function of the double coset K_1gK_2 . For $K_1, K_2, K_3 \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ open compact, there is a product map

$$\mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_2] \times \mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_2] \to \mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_3]$$

which can be defined by

$$i_{K_1,K_3}([K_1gK_2][K_2hK_3]) = i_{K_1,K_2}([K_1gK_2]) \star i_{K_2,K_3}([K_2hK_3])$$

To see that the right hand side is in the image of i_{K_1,K_3} note that

$$(\mathbf{1}_{K_1gK_2} \star \mathbf{1}_{K_2hK_3})(x) = \operatorname{vol}(K_1gK_2 \cap xK_3h^{-1}K_2)$$

is an integer multiple of $vol(K_2)$. We also note that this definition is independent of the choice of Haar measure.

It follows from the definition that double coset multiplication is associative and satisfies

$$([K_1gK_2][K_2hK_3])^t = [K_2hK_3]^t [K_1gK_2]^t$$

where the transpose map $(-)^t : \mathbb{Z}[K_1 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_2] \to \mathbb{Z}[K_2 \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K_1]$ is defined by $[K_1gK_2]^t = [K_2g^{-1}K_1]$. This corresponds to transposes of Hecke correspondences.

We now give a formula for double coset multiplication which is closely related to geometric composition of Hecke correspondences.

Proposition 4.2.3. Let $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in K_2$ be a set of representatives for the double cosets $(K_2 \cap g^{-1}K_1g) \setminus K_2/(K_2 \cap hK_3h^{-1})$. Then we have

$$[K_1gK_2][K_2hK_3] = \sum_{i=1}^n c(k_i)[K_1gk_ihK_3]$$

where $c(k_i) = [g^{-1}K_1g \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1} : g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2 \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1}]$

Proof. We first note that for $x, y \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ we have $\mathbf{1}_{K_1x} \star \mathbf{1}_{yK_3} = \operatorname{vol}(x^{-1}K_1x \cap yK_3y^{-1})\mathbf{1}_{K_1xyK_3}$. Decomposing K_1gK_2 into right K_1 cosets and K_2hK_3 into left K_3 cosets we have

$$\mathbf{1}_{K_1gK_2} \star \mathbf{1}_{K_2hK_3} = \sum_{\substack{x \in K_1 \setminus K_1gK_2 \\ y \in K_2hK_3/K_3}} \operatorname{vol}(x^{-1}K_1x \cap yK_3y^{-1})\mathbf{1}_{K_1xyK_3}$$

Now note that the terms of this sum are constant in K_2 orbits, for the action $k \cdot (K_1 x, y K_3) = (K_1 x k^{-1}, k y K_3)$. We have a bijection

$$(K_2 \cap g^{-1}K_1g) \setminus K_2/(K_2 \cap hK_3h^{-1}) \to K_2 \setminus ((K_1 \setminus K_1gK_2) \times (K_2hK_3/K_3))$$

sending the double coset of k to the orbit of (K_1g, khK_3) . Moreover the stabilizer of this orbit is $K_2 \cap g^{-1}K_1g \cap (kh)K_3(kh)^{-1}$. It follows that

$$\mathbf{1}_{K_1gK_2} \star \mathbf{1}_{K_2hK_3} = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{vol}(K_2)\operatorname{vol}(g^{-1}K_1g \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1})}{\operatorname{vol}(K_2 \cap g^{-1}K_1g \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1})} \mathbf{1}_{K_1gk_ihK_3}.$$

which translated back into double coset multiplication gives the proposition. \Box

Suppose we have $K_1, K_2, K_3 \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ open compact subgroups and $g, h \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. We have a diagram of correspondences



where the middle diamond is cartesian. We denote $s_1 = p_1 r_1$, $s_2 = q_2 r_2$.

It is not true in general that the correspondence (C, s_1, s_2) is isomorphic to a disjoint union of Hecke correspondences. However this is almost the case in a way we now explain.

We first construct another correspondence (C', s'_1, s'_2) between S_{K_1} and S_{K_3} . Let k_1, \ldots, k_n be as in proposition 4.2.3. Now let $C' = \coprod_i S_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1} \cap (gk_ih)K_3(gk_ih)^{-1}}$, let $s'_1 : C' \to S_{K_1}$ be the forgetful map on each component, and let $s'_2 : C' \to S_{K_3}$ be the action map $[gk_ih]$ followed by the forgetful map. Then we note that while the components of C' are not necessarily Hecke correspondences themselves, we nonetheless have commutative diagrams



where the vertical arrow and rightward arrows are forgetful maps and the leftward arrows are the action maps for $[gk_ih]$ followed by forgetful maps. In particular the bottom correspondence is exactly the Hecke correspondence corresponding to the double coset $K_1gk_ihK_3$.

Proposition 4.2.4. There is an isomorphism of correspondences $(C, s_1, s_2) \simeq (C', s'_1, s'_2)$.

We will use the following group theoretic lemma.

Lemma 4.2.5. Let K be a group and $H_1, H_2 \subseteq K$ subgroups. Let X be a right K-torsor. Then there is a bijection

$$\prod_{H_1gH_2 \in H_1 \setminus K/H_2} X/gH_1g^{-1} \cap H_2 \quad \to \quad X/H_1 \times X/H_2$$
$$x(gH_1g^{-1} \cap H_2) \quad \mapsto \quad (xgH_1, xH_2)$$

Proof of proposition 4.2.4. We recall that a point of the Shimura variety S_K over a connected locally Noetherian base is some data which is independent of K (an isogeny class of abelian varieties with Hodge tensors) to which one associates a right $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -torsor, and a K level structure is just a K orbit in this $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -torsor. Moreover for any $K' \subset K$ the forgetful map $S_{K'} \to S_K$ at the level of points sends the K'-orbit to the K-orbit generated by it, and the action map $[g]: S_K \to S_{g^{-1}Kg}$ is given by right multiplication by g.

With this observation the proof of the proposition proceeds formally. We can consider a slightly expanded diagram.



Here all three quadrilaterals are Cartesian. We can compute C'' using lemma 4.2.5. Indeed giving a point of C'' lying over a point of S_{K_2} is the same as giving a pair of an $H_1 = K_2 \cap hK_3h^{-1}$ and $H_2 = g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2$ orbit inside a $K = K_2$ -torsor X. We deduce from lemma 4.2.5 an isomorphism

$$C'' \simeq \prod_{i=1}^{n} S_{g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2 \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1}}$$

where on each factor, the map to $S_{g^{-1}K_1g\cap K_2}$ is the forgetful map, while the map to $S_{K_2\cap hK_3h^{-1}}$ is the action map $[k_i]$ followed by the forgetful map. Then the isomorphism $C \simeq C'$ is obtained as the composition

$$C \xrightarrow{[g]} C'' \to \prod_{i=1}^n S_{g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2 \cap (k_ih)K_3(k_ih)^{-1}} \xrightarrow{[g]^{-1}} C'.$$

Moreover from the descriptions of the maps out of C'' above one immediately deduces the compatibility between s_1, s'_1 and s_2, s'_2 .

The following proposition is readily deduced from [Har90b, Prop. 2.6], but we give an alternative proof which will also work for cohomology with support.

Proposition 4.2.6. We have $[K_1gK_2] \circ [K_2hK_3] = [K_1gK_2][K_2hK_3]$ as maps

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K_3,\Sigma''}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_3,\Sigma''})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K_1,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_1,\Sigma}).$$

Proof. We can choose toroidal compactifications of all the Shimura varieties occurring in this section: S_{K_i} , i = 1, 2, 3, $S_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1}}$, $S_{K_2 \cap hK_3h^{-1}}$, $S_{K_1 \cap (gk_ih)K_3(gk_ih)^{-1}}$, $S_{K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1} \cap (gk_ih)K_3(gk_ih)^{-1}}$ so that all the diagrams appearing above extend to the compactifications (we will not be particularly consistent or careful with our labelling of the various cone decompositions in this argument, and they will be denoted by Σ_* where * is an index). In particular we obtain a compactification C^{tor} of the correspondence C which is isomorphic to a disjoint union of toroidal compactifications of Shimura varieties. Moreover using this description, we can construct cohomological correspondences over C^{tor} as in section 4.2.1 using the action maps for gk_ih . We first claim that this cohomological correspondence acts on cohomology by the linear combination of Hecke operators on the right hand side of the formula in proposition 4.2.3.

Consider a commutative diagram



We claim that the following diagram commutes (where the vertical map is induced by the adjunction $\mathrm{Id} \Rightarrow c_*c^*$, the other maps are given by the cohomological correspondence, and $c(k_i)$ is the generic degree of the generically finite flat map c):



These are maps of locally free sheaves by theorem 4.1.8, and the commutativity of the diagram follows from its commutativity away from the boundary which is clear.

Hence to prove the proposition, we need to see that the action of the cohomological correspondence C^{tor} is equal to $[K_1gK_2] \circ [K_2hK_3]$.

Consider the diamond from the proof of proposition 4.2.4



which is cartesian away from the boundary. We would like to know that



,

commutes, and similarly for cuspidal cohomology. Note that here what we write as $(p')^*$ is really the composition

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S^{tor}_{K_{2}\cap hK_{3}h^{-1},\Sigma_{a}},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2}\cap hK_{3}h^{-1},\Sigma_{a}})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma(C''^{tor},(p')^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2}\cap hK_{3}h^{-1},\Sigma_{a}})\to$$

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(C''^{tor}, (q')^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa, q^{-1}K_1q\cap K_2, \Sigma_b})$$

where the first map is literally $(p')^*$ and the second map is described on each component of C''^{tor} as the action map $[k_i]$ (see the description of p',q' given in the proof of Proposition 4.2.4.)

We claim that the following diagram commutes:

$$\mathbf{R}(q')_{\star}(p')^{\star}q^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2}\cap hK_{3}h^{-1},\Sigma_{a}} = \mathbf{R}(q')_{\star}(q')^{\star}p^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K_{2}\cap hK_{3}h^{-1},\Sigma_{a}} \xrightarrow{p^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,g^{-1}K_{1}g\cap K_{2},\Sigma_{b}}} p^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,g^{-1}K_{1}g\cap K_{2},\Sigma_{b}}$$

 $p^{\wedge} \mathrm{K} q_{\star} q^{\wedge} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa K_2 \cap h K_3 h^{-1}, \Sigma_a}$

This is a diagram of locally free sheaves by theorem 4.1.8, and therefore the commutativity can be checked away from the boundary, where this is clear. \Box

Remark 4.2.7. We remark that for $K' \subseteq K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ open compact subgroups, the Hecke operator [K'1K] and [K1K'] are the pullback and trace for the forgetful map $S_{K',\Sigma'} \to S_{K,\Sigma}$. Moreover if $g \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ then $[Kg(g^{-1}Kg)]$ is simply the action map $[g]^*$. Finally for $K_1, K_2 \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ open compact subgroups and $g \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we have a factorization

$$[K_1gK_2] = [K_11(K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1})][(K_1 \cap gK_2g^{-1})g(g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2)][(g^{-1}K_1g \cap K_2)1K_2]$$

of $[K_1gK_2]$ into a pullback map, an action map, and a trace, which is essentially the definition of $[K_1gK_2]$.

4.2.8. Serre duality. The dualizing sheaf of $S_{K,\Sigma}$ is $\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})$ where ρ_{nc} is half the sum of the non-compact positive roots. Indeed, recall our choice of non-compact positive roots being in $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p}_{\mu}^{std}$ and that $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p}_{\mu}^{std}$ is the tangent space at the identity of $FL_{G,\mu}^{std}$ and then apply [Har90b], proposition 2.2.6.

The Serre dual of the automorphic sheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}$ is therefore $\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma})$ where $w_{0,M}$ is the longest element of the Weyl group of M_{μ} . Serre duality is:

Proposition 4.2.9. There is a Serre duality isomorphism

 $D_F(\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}))[-d] \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M_{\mu}}\kappa,K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}))$

where $D_F(-) = \operatorname{RHom}_F(-, F)$ is the dualizing functor for F-vector spaces and d is the dimension of S_K . Moreover this isomorphism, is compatible with the Hecke action in the sense the action of [KgK] on the left matches the action of $[KgK]^t = [Kg^{-1}K]$ on the right.

Proof. For the existence of the duality pairing we refer to [Har66]. We simply prove the formula for the adjoint. We denote by

$$D_{K'}(-) = \underline{\mathrm{RHom}}(-, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}, K', \Sigma'''}(-D_{K', \Sigma'''}))$$

the dualizing functor on $S_{K',\Sigma''}^{tor}$ for any compact open K' (and cone decomposition Σ'''). Let f = [KgK] be a characteristic function to which we associate a Hecke correspondence $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \xrightarrow{p_1} S_{K\cap gKg^{-1},\Sigma''}^{tor} \xrightarrow{p_2} S_{K,\Sigma'}^{tor}$. The action of f on the cohomology arises from a cohomological correspondence (see section 4.2.1):

$$f: p_2^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma} \xrightarrow{f_{\kappa}} p_1^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma} \xrightarrow{Id \otimes \operatorname{tr}_{p_1}} p_1^! \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}.$$

We find (since duality switches * and !) that

$$D_{K\cap gKg^{-1}}(f): p_1^{\star}D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{Id\otimes \operatorname{tr}_{p_1}} p_1^!D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \to p_2^!D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}).$$

Remark that

$$p_1^! D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) = p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}^{\vee} \otimes p_1^! \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}) p_2^! D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma'}) = p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma'}^{\vee} \otimes p_2^! \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K,\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma'})$$

We have a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathrm{Id}: p_1^! \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},\Sigma}(-D_{K,\Sigma}) = p_2^! \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K,\Sigma'}(-D_{K,\Sigma'}),$$

as both sheaves identify with the canonical sheaf of $S_{K\cap gKg^{-1},\Sigma''}^{tor}$. The map $p_1^!D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \to p_2^!D_K(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma})$ therefore writes $f_{\kappa}^{\vee} \otimes \text{Id}$. Let $f^t = [Kg^{-1}K]$. We observe that $f_{\kappa}^{\vee} = (f^t)_{-w_{0,M}\kappa}$ by definition (this identity boils down to $A^t = ((A^{-1})^{-1})^t$ for a matrix in GL_n). We now claim that we have a commutative diagram:

$$p_{1}^{\star}D_{K}(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}\otimes\operatorname{tr}_{p_{1}}} p_{1}^{!}D_{K}(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{f_{\kappa}^{\vee}\otimes\operatorname{Id}} p_{2}^{!}D_{K}(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}\otimes\operatorname{tr}_{p_{1}}} p_{1}^{\star}D_{K}(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{f_{-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc}}} p_{2}^{\star}D_{K}(\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K,\Sigma})$$

This implies that $D_{K \cap gKg^{-1}}(f) = f^t$. The commutativity of the diagram now boils down to the commutativity of:

It is sufficient to prove the commutativity outside of the boundary. For any level K, the identification of the canonical sheaf of S_K with $\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K}$ is functorial in the tower of Shimura varieties. Therefore, for the action map $[g] : S_{K \cap gKg^{-1}} \rightarrow S_{K \cap g^{-1}Kg}$, we find that the map $[g]^*\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K \cap g^{-1}Kg} \rightarrow \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K \cap gKg^{-1}}$ is the canonical isomorphism between canonical sheaves. We finally deduce that the map $(f^t)_{-2\rho_{nc},K} \rightarrow p_2^*\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K}$ decomposes as:

$$p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K} \to \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K\cap gKg^{-1}} \to g^* \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K\cap g^{-1}Kg} \to p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc},K}$$

where the first map is induced by tr_{p_1} , the second map is the canonical isomorphism, and the last map is induced by $g^*(\operatorname{tr}_{p'_2})^{-1}$ where $p'_2: S_{K \cap g^{-1}Kg} \to S_K$. This is telling us that the diagram commutes. \Box

Remark 4.2.10. One proves more generally that the adjoint of an Hecke operator $[K_1gK_2]$ for two (not necessarily equal) compact open subgroup K_1 and K_2 is $[K_1gK_2]^t = [K_2g^{-1}K_1]$. Details are left to the reader.

4.2.11. The finite slope part of classical cohomology. We now assume that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is quasi-split. We assume that $K = K^p \times K_p$ where $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$ for $m \ge b \ge 0, m > 0$ is one of the subgroups with an Iwahori decomposition introduced in section 3.5.1. We recall that for a choice of + or - we have commutative sub-algebras $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ of $\mathbb{Z}[K_{p,m,b} \setminus G(\mathbb{Q}_p)/K_{p,m,b}]$. The subalgebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ is generated by the double cosets $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ with $t \in T^{\pm}$. We have isomorphisms $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm} = \mathbb{Z}[T^{\pm}/T_b]$. We also have the ideals $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm\pm}$ generated by the double cosets $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ with

 $t \in T^{\pm\pm}$. The anti-involution of $\mathbb{Z}[K_{p,m,b} \setminus G(\mathbb{Q}_p)/K_{p,m,b}]$ defined by inversion exchanges $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^+$ with $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^-$ and $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{++}$ with $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{--}$.

We let

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{\pm,fs} =$$
$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}[T^{\pm}/T_{b}]}^{L} \mathbb{Q}[T(\mathbb{Q}_{p})/T_{b}]$$

be the finite slope direct factor of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma})$ for the operators in $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$. We have a similar definition for cuspidal cohomology. We note that the monoids T^{\pm} have the property that for any $t \in T^{\pm\pm}$ and $s \in T^{\pm}$ there is an $s' \in T^{\pm}$ and an n > 0 such that $ss' = t^n$. It follows that the finite slope part can also be described as the finite slope part fo the single operator $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ for any $t \in T^{\pm\pm}$.

We note that the Serre duality pairing of Proposition 4.2.9 restricts to a duality

 $D_F(\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{\pm,fs})[-d] \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}(-D)^{\mp,fs})$ on finite slope parts.

Remark 4.2.12. Assume that the group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is unramified. Then, as explained in remark 3.5.4 we can arrange so that the compact $K_{p,1,0}$ is an Iwahori, and the compact $K_{p,1,1}$ is a pro-p Iwahori. Let $K_p = K_{p,1,1}$ or $K_{p,1,0}$. All the Hecke operators $[K_p t K_p]$ for $t \in T^+$ or $t \in T^-$ are already invertible in $\mathbb{Q}[K_p \setminus G(\mathbb{Q}_p)/K_p]$ (see [Vig05, Cor. 1]) and so

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})$$

and similarly for cuspidal cohomology.

Next we recall how the finite slope part behaves under certain changes of level. We first recall some classical relations in these Hecke algebras.

Lemma 4.2.13. Let $K_1, K_2, K_3 \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ be open compact subgroups with Iwahori decompositions $K_i = K_i^- K_i^0 K_i^+$. Let $t_1, t_2 \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Suppose that $t_1^{-1} K_1^- t_1 \cap t_2 K_3^- t_2^{-1} \subseteq K_2^- \subseteq t_1^{-1} K_1^- t_1$, $t_1^{-1} K_1^+ t_1 \cap t_2 K_3^+ t_2^{-1} K_2^+ \subseteq t_2 K_3^+ t_3$ and $K_1^0 \cap K_3^0 \subseteq K_2^0 \subseteq K_1^0 K_3^0$. Then $[K_1 t_1 K_2][K_2 t_2 K_3] = [K_1 t_1 t_2 K_3]$

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of proposition 4.2.3 upon noting that our hypotheses imply $K_2 = (K_2 \cap t_1^{-1}K_1t_1)(K_2 \cap t_2K_3t_2^{-1})$ and $t_1^{-1}K_1t_1 \cap t_2K_3t_2^{-1} \subseteq K_2$.

Lemma 4.2.14. Let $m' \ge b' \ge 0$ and $m \ge b \ge 0$ satisfy $m' \ge m > 0$ and $b' \ge b$.

(1) For all $t \in T^+$ we have

 $[K_{p,m',b'}tK_{p,m',b'}][K_{p,m',b'}1K_{p,m,b}] = [K_{p,m',b'}1K_{p,m,b}][K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}].$

(2) For all $t \in T^-$ we have

 $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}][K_{p,m,b}1K_{p,m',b'}] = [K_{p,m,b}1K_{p,m',b'}][K_{p,m',b'}tK_{p,m',b'}].$

(3) For all $t \in T^{++}$ with $\min(t) \ge 1$ (see 3.4) we have factorizations:

$$[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}] = [K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m+1,b}][K_{p,m+1,b}1K_{p,m,b}]$$

and

$$[K_{p,m+1,b}tK_{p,m+1,b}] = [K_{p,m+1,b}1K_{p,m,b}][K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m+1,b}].$$

(4) For all $t \in T^{--}$ with $\min(t) \ge 1$ we have factorizations:

$$[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}] = [K_{p,m,b}1K_{p,m+1,b}][K_{p,m+1,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$$

and

$$[K_{p,m+1,b}tK_{p,m+1,b}] = [K_{p,m+1,b}tK_{p,m,b}][K_{p,m,b}1K_{p,m+1,b}].$$

Proof. We note that the second and fourth points are just the transposes of the first and third. The first and third points are immediate consequences of lemma 4.2.13.

Here are the consequences on cohomology:

Corollary 4.2.15. Let $m' \ge b' \ge 0$ and $m \ge b \ge 0$ satisfy $m' \ge m > 0$ and $b' \ge b$. (1) For all $t \in T^+$, the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[K_{p,m',b'},tK_{p,m',b'},\Sigma]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[K_{p,m',b'},tK_{p,m,b}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[K_{p,m',b'},tK_{p,m',b'}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[K_{p,m',b'},tK_{p,m',b'}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b'},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[t_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}) \xrightarrow{[t_{p},m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]} \operatorname{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m$$

Corollary 4.2.16. (1) For all $m' \ge m \ge b$ with m > 0, the pullback map $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma})^{+,fs})^{+,fs}$

and the trace map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma})^{-,fs}\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{-,fs}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms, compatible with the action of $\mathbb{Q}[T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T_b]$, and the same statements are true for cuspidal cohomology. Moreover these isomorphisms are compatible with Serre duality.

(2) For all $m \ge b' \ge b$ with m > 0, the pullback map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{+,fs} \to (\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b'},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b'},\Sigma})^{+,fs})^{T_{b}/T_{b'}}$$

and the trace map

$$(\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b'},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b'},\Sigma})^{-,fs})^{T_{b}/T_{b'}} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{-,fs})^{-,fs}$$
are quasi-isomorphisms compatible with the action of $\mathbb{O}[T(\mathbb{O})/T_{t}]$ and

are quasi-isomorphisms, compatible with the action of $\mathbb{Q}[T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T_b]$, and the same statements are true for cuspidal cohomology. Moreover these isomorphisms are compatible with Serre duality.

Proof. Immediate from corollary 4.2.15 and theorem 4.1.8.

Now let $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. For all $m \geq b \geq$ cond(χ) with m > 0, the spaces $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{+,fs}[\chi]$ are canonically isomorphic. We denote this space by $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$. We define in the same way $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{-,fs}$, and the cuspidal versions $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{+,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{-,fs}$

These are the classical finite slope cohomologies, for the tame level K^p , M_{μ} -dominant algebraic weight κ , and nebentypus χ . They satisfy a Serre duality:

$$D_F(\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs})[-d] \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M_{\mu}}\kappa,\chi^{-1},cusp)^{\mp,fs}.$$

Remark 4.2.17. We explain some constraints on the possible nebentypus χ for which we have non trivial cohomology in the case that the subgroup $Z_s(G)$ of the center Z(G) of G is non-trivial (a case that may only occur for non Hodge type Shimura datum). For simplicity we put Z = Z(G) and $Z_s = Z_s(G)$. Recall that $S_K(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/K$. Passing to the limit over K, we find that $S(\mathbb{C}) = \lim_K S_K(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/\overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q})$ where $\overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q})$ is the closure of $Z(\mathbb{Q})$ in $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ (see [Del79], sect. 2.19). Let $K' \subseteq K$ be two compact open subgroups, with K' normal in K. The map $S_{K'}(\mathbb{C}) \to S_K(\mathbb{C})$ is a covering with Galois group $K/(K'.\overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q}) \cap K)$. If K is neat, $\overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q}) \cap K$ is a subgroup of $\overline{Z_s(\mathbb{Q})}$. In the case that $Z_s = \{1\}$, we deduce that $S_{K'}(\mathbb{C}) \to S_K(\mathbb{C})$ is a Galois covering with group K/K'. In general, it follows that the action of $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ on $\mathrm{Rr}(S_{K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^pK_{p,m,b},\Sigma})^{+,fs}$ factors through an action of $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)/Z'(K^p)$, where $Z'(K^p) = \mathrm{Im}((\overline{Z_s(\mathbb{Q})} \cap K^pK_{p,m,0}) \to T(\mathbb{Z}_p))$. We deduce that when $Z_s \neq 1$, if χ does not factor through $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)/Z'(K^p)$, then $\mathrm{Rr}(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm,fs} = 0$ for all κ . To avoid this situation, we will often impose that χ factors through a character of $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

4.3. Jacquet Modules. In this section we translate the finite slope condition into more representation theoretic terms. We keep assuming that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is quasi-split with Borel *B*. We let *U* be the unipotent radical of *B*. Let π be a smooth admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ with coefficient in a field of characteristic 0. We let $\pi(U) \subseteq$ π be the submodule generated by the elements $n \cdot v - v$ for $n \in U(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and $v \in \pi$. We let $\pi_U = \pi/\pi(U)$ be the Jacquet module of π (with respect to *U*). This is a smooth admissible representation of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ by [Cas], thm. 3.3.1. Moreover, the functor $\pi \mapsto \pi_U$ is an exact functor by [Cas], prop. 3.3.2. We can define similarly the Jacquet module $\pi_{\overline{U}}$ with respect to \overline{U} . Note that conjugation by the longest element w_0 of the Weyl group realizes an isomorphism from π_U to $\pi_{\overline{U}}$. Let $\psi: T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a continuous character. We let $\iota_B^G(\psi) = \{f : G(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathbb{C}, \text{ smooth}, f(bg) = \}$ $\psi(b)f(g)$, equipped with the left action induced by right translation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ on itself. We define similarly $\iota_{\overline{B}}^{G}(\psi)$.

The adjunction formula of [Cas], thm. 3.2.4 states that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G(\mathbb{Q}_n)}(\pi, \iota_B^G(\psi)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{T(\mathbb{Q}_n)}(\pi_U, \psi)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G(\mathbb{Q}_p)}(\pi, \iota_{\overline{B}}^G(\psi)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{T(\mathbb{Q}_p)}(\pi_{\overline{U}}, \psi).$$

Let $K = K_{p,m,b}$. The algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm} = \mathbb{Z}[T^{\pm}/T_b]$ (by lemma 3.5.8) acts on $\pi^{K_{p,m,b}}$, and we can define $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},\pm,fs} \subseteq \pi^{K_{p,m,b}}$ as the sub-vector space where the operators $[K_{p,m,b}tK_{p,m,b}]$ for $t \in T^{\pm}$ act invertibly.

Proposition 4.3.1. The natural map $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},+,fs} \to \pi_U^{T_b}$ is an isomorphism which is T^+/T_b equivariant, and the natural map $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},-,f_s} \to \pi_{\overline{tt}}^{T_b}$ is an isomorphism which is T^-/T_b equivariant.

Proof. See [Cas], Lemma 4.1.1 and proposition 4.1.4.

Proposition 4.3.2. For a smooth irreducible representation π of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, the following properties are equivalent:

- (1) There exists $m \ge b \ge 0$ such that $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},+,fs} \ne 0$.
- (2) There exists $m \ge b \ge 0$ such that $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},-,fs} \ne 0$,
- (3) There exists a character ψ of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ such that $\pi \hookrightarrow \iota_B^G \psi$, (4) There exists a character ψ' of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ such that $\pi \hookrightarrow \iota_B^G \psi'$.

Proof. The points (1) and (2) are equivalent because the non-vanishing of $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},\pm,fs}$ is equivalent to the non-vanishing of $\pi_U^{T_b}$ and $\pi_U^{T_b}$ respectively by proposition 4.3.1. But conjugation by w_0 realizes an isomorphism between these spaces. Similarly (3) is equivalent to (4). If we assume (3), the adjunction formula shows that $\pi_U \neq 0$, hence there exists b such that $\pi_U^{T_b} \neq 0$ and $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},+,f_s} \neq 0$ for any $m \geq b$ by proposition 4.3.1. Conversely, if $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},+,f_s} \neq 0$, then $\pi_U^{T_b} \neq 0$ and by adjunction, there is a non zero map: $\pi \to \iota_B^G \psi$ for a character ψ . Since π is irreducible, this map is injective.

If one of the equivalent properties of the proposition is satisfied, we say that an irreducible smooth representation π is a *finite slope* representation.

Let π be an admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. By adjunction, we have a morphism $\pi \to \iota_B^G \pi_U$ and we let π^{fs} be the image of this morphism. We call π^{fs} the finite slope part of π .

Proposition 4.3.3. The following properties are satisfied:

- (1) The $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -representations π^{fs} is a direct summand of π .
- (2) Any irreducible factor of π^{fs} is a finite slope representation.
- (3) Any irreducible factor of π which is a finite slope representation lies in π^{fs} .
- (4) π^{fs} is the sub-representation of π generated by the $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},\pm,fs}$ for all $m \geq 1$ $b \ge 0.$

Proof. By the Bernstein decomposition of the category of smooth representations ([Ren10], VI.7.2) we find that $\pi = \pi' \oplus \pi''$ where π' satisfies the properties (1), (2) and (3) of the representation π^{fs} of the proposition. We have that $\pi''_U = 0$ because the Jacquet functor is exact and π'' has no finite slope irreducible subquotient. We deduce that $\pi_U = \pi'_U$. Moreover the morphism $\pi \to \iota_B^G \pi_U$ factors into $\pi' \to \iota_B^G \pi_U$ and it follows again from the exactness of the Jacquet functor that the map $\pi' \to \iota_B^G \pi_U$ is injective. Therefore $\pi' = \pi^{fs}$. Let π''' be the subrepresentation of π generated by $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},\pm,fs}$ for all $m \geq b \geq 0$. We see that $\pi''' \subseteq \pi^{fs}$. But it follows from proposition 4.3.1 that $\pi''_U = \pi^{fs}_U$. Therefore π^{fs}/π''' has trivial Jacquet module, hence contains no finite slope sub-quotient and has to be trivial.

Let us denote by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa) &= \operatorname{colim}_{K_{p}}\mathbf{H}^{i}(S^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}),\\ \mathbf{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp) &= \operatorname{colim}_{K_{p}}\mathbf{H}^{i}(S^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa,K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}(-D_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}))\end{aligned}$$

and

 $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa) = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa)).$

These are smooth admissible $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -representations. We can consider their finite slope parts $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa)^{fs}$, $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,cusp)^{fs}$ and $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p,\kappa)^{fs}$. These are direct summands of $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa)$, $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,cusp)$ and $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p,\kappa)$ respectively, and are generated respectively as $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -representations by the vector spaces $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$, $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs})$ for all characters $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$.

4.4. The Hodge-Tate period morphism. In this section we recall a number of results concerning the Hodge-Tate period morphism and infinite level Shimura varieties. We now assume (unless explicitly mentioned) that F is a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p such that we have an embedding $E \hookrightarrow F$ and such that G splits over F. In this paper, the rationality questions with respect to E are not very important. We will frequently allow ourselves to enlarge F if necessary. Let $\mathcal{S}_K^{an} = (S_K \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$, $\mathcal{S}_K^* = (S_K^* \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$, $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} = (S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$, $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = (FL_{G,\mu} \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$ (see section 3.3 for the meaning of the superscript an). The first of these spaces is not quasi-compact if the Shimura variety is not proper, the other three spaces are quasi-compact. We will also consider the groups $\mathcal{G}^{an} = (G \times \text{Spec } \mathbb{Q}_p)^{an}$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} = (P_{\mu} \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$, $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an} = (M_{\mu} \times \text{Spec } F)^{an}$.

4.4.1. *Inverse limit of adic spaces.* We start by a definition following [SW13], sect. 2.4. Our definition is slightly more restrictive but fits in our setting.

Definition 4.4.2. Let $\{\mathcal{X}_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a cofiltered inverse system of locally of finite type adic spaces over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$, with finite transition maps. Let \mathcal{X} be a perfectoid space with compatible maps $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}_i$.

We say that $\mathcal{X} \sim \lim_{i \in I} \mathcal{X}_i$ if:

- (1) The maps $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}_i$ induces an homeomorphism of topological spaces $|\mathcal{X}| = \lim_i |\mathcal{X}_i|$.
- (2) There is a covering of \mathcal{X} by open affinoids $U = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ such that U is the preimage of an affinoid $U_i = \text{Spa}(A_i, A_i^+) \subseteq \mathcal{X}_i$ for a cofinal subset of I and the map $\text{colim}_i A_i \to A$ has dense image.

If $\mathcal{X} \sim \lim_{i \in I} \mathcal{X}_i$, then the diamond $\lim_i \mathcal{X}_i^{\Diamond}$ is representable by the perfectoid space \mathcal{X} by [SW13], prop. 2.4.5. In particular, \mathcal{X} is unique up to a unique isomorphism.

In the notation of point (2), we see that A^0 is a ring of definition of A (because A is uniform) and A^0 is the completion of $\operatorname{colim}_i A_i^0$ with respect to the *p*-adic topology.

Definition 4.4.3. Let $\{\mathcal{X}_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a cofiltered inverse system of locally of finite type adic spaces over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ with finite transition maps. Let \mathcal{X} be a perfectoid space and assume that $\mathcal{X} \sim \lim_i \mathcal{X}_i$. We say that an open affinoid subset $U \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ is good if it satisfies the second property of definition 4.4.2. We say that an open affinoid $U_i \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}_i$ is pregood if the open subset $\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathcal{X}_i} \mathcal{U}_i$ of \mathcal{X} is good.

Remark 4.4.4. We remark that a rational subset of a good open affinoid is also good by [Sch13b], proposition 2.22.

Remark 4.4.5. It is conjectured in [Sch13b], conjecture 2.24 and proposition 2.26 that any open affinoid in \mathcal{X}_i is pregood.

We end this paragraph with two useful lemmas.

Lemma 4.4.6. Let $\{\mathcal{X}_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a cofiltered inverse system of locally of finite type adic spaces over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ with finite transition maps. For each i let Π_i be the set of connected components of \mathcal{X}_i which we assume to be finite. Let $\Pi = \lim_i \Pi_i$. For any $e \in \Pi$ we get a cofiltered inverse system $\{\mathcal{X}_{i,e}\}$. If there is a perfectoid space \mathcal{X} such that $\mathcal{X} \sim \lim_i \mathcal{X}_i$ then for all $e \in \Pi$, there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{X}_e \sim \lim_i \mathcal{X}_{i,e}$.

Proof. We reduce to the affine case. Let $\mathcal{X}_i = \operatorname{Spa}(A_i, A_i^+)$. For each $e \in \Pi_i$, we have $\mathcal{X}_{i,e} = \operatorname{Spa}(A_{i,e}, A_{i,e}^+)$ and $A_i = \prod_{e \in \Pi_i} A_{i,e}$. We may assume that all rings A_i are reduced (by taking the reduction). In particular A_i^0 is open and bounded. This does not affect the \sim -limit because perfectoid spaces are reduced. We may also assume that all maps $A_i \to A_j$ are injective for $i, j \in I$ and $j \mapsto i$ (replacing A_i by its image in A_j).

We assume that there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+) \sim \lim_i \mathcal{X}_i$. Then A^0 is the *p*-adic completion of $\operatorname{colim}_i A_i^0$ and A^0 is a perfectoid \mathcal{O}_F -algebra: there is $\varpi \in A^0$ with $\varpi^p \mid p$ and the Frobenius morphism $\phi : A^0/\varpi^p \to A^0/\varpi^p$ is surjective. Moreover, $A = A^0[1/p]$ and A^+ is the closure of $\operatorname{colim} A_i^+$ in A. By approximation, we may assume that $\varpi \in A_i^0$ and by projection we get an element $\varpi \in A_{i,e}$.

We need to see that the map ϕ : $\operatorname{colim}_i A^0_{i,e} / \varpi^p \to \operatorname{colim}_i A^0_{i,e} / \varpi^p$ is surjective. Let $x_{i,e} \in A_{i,e} / \varpi^p$. Since A^0 is perfected, we see that there exists $j \mapsto i$ and $y_{j,e} \in A_{j,e} / \varpi^p$ such that $y^p_{j,e} = x_{i,e}$.

Lemma 4.4.7. Let $\{\mathcal{X}_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a cofiltered inverse system of locally of finite type separated adic spaces over a perfectoid field $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ with finite transition maps. Let G be a finite group acting on the inverse system via $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ -morphisms. Let \mathcal{X} be a perfectoid space such that $\mathcal{X} \sim \lim_i \mathcal{X}_i$. Assume that for some index i, we have a G-invariant covering of \mathcal{X}_i by pregood affinoids. Then the categorical quotient $\mathcal{Y}_i = \mathcal{X}_i/G$ is representable by an adic space for a cofinal subset of I, the categorial quotient $\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{X}/G$ is representable by a perfectoid space, and $\mathcal{Y} \sim \lim_i \mathcal{Y}_i$.

Proof. The quotient \mathcal{X}_i/G exist by [Han19], thm. 1.3. We may reduce to the affine case with $\mathcal{X} = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ and $\mathcal{X}_i = \text{Spa}(A_i, A_i^+)$. By [Han19], thm 1.4, A^G

is perfected. It is clear that $\operatorname{colim} A_i^G$ is dense in A^G since we have a projector $A \to A^G$, $a \mapsto \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{a \in G} g.a$.

4.4.8. Siegel Shimura varieties. We assume in this paragraph that (G, X) is the Siegel Shimura datum $(GSp_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g)$. Let $K = K^p K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup. The reflex field is \mathbb{Q} and the Shimura variety S_K is a moduli space of abelian varieties A, with a level structure and polarization (prescribed by K).

The Shimura variety S_K carries a right pro-étale $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -torsor. Namely, equip \mathbb{Q}_p^{2g} with the standard symplectic form and consider the torsor of isomorphisms $\mathbb{Q}_p^{2g} \to \mathrm{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p)$, respecting the symplectic forms up to a similitude factor, where A is the universal abelian scheme (defined up to isogeny) and $\mathrm{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p) = V_p(A)$ is the rational Tate module of A. After choosing a geometric point $\overline{x} \to S_K$, this torsor corresponds to a representation of the algebraic fundamental group $\pi_1(S_K, \overline{x}) \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. The image of this morphism lies in the compact open subgroup $K_p \subset G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and the corresponding K_p -torsor is realized geometrically by the tower of Shimura varieties $\lim_{K'_p \subseteq K_p} S_{K^p K'_p}$. By pullback to the adic space \mathcal{S}_K^{an} , we get a pro-étale $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$. If $K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, this torsor has a $G(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ -reduction of group structure that we denote by $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}$.

The (relative) Hodge-Tate filtration is the exact sequence of pro-étale sheaves over \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an} :

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}} \to \operatorname{H}_{1}(A, \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}} \to \omega_{A^{t}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}} \to 0$$

The groups \mathcal{P}_{μ}^{an} , \mathcal{G}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} are naturally sheaves over the étale site of \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an} . We extend them to sheaves on the pro-étale site of \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an} as follows: if H is any of these groups, and if $U \to \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}$ is an object of the pro-étale site, we let

$$H(U) = H(\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}^{an}_{\mathcal{K}}}(U), \hat{\mathscr{O}}^+_{\mathcal{S}^{an}_{\mathcal{K}}}(U)).$$

Remark 4.4.9. There is also an extension to the pro-étale site of \mathcal{P}^{an}_{μ} , \mathcal{G}^{an} and \mathcal{M}^{an}_{μ} where one takes sections with values in the uncompleted structure sheaf, but we will not need to consider this extension.

The Hodge-Tate filtration gives a \mathcal{P}^{an}_{μ} -reduction of structure group \mathcal{P}^{an}_{HT} of the \mathcal{G}^{an} -torsor $\mathcal{G}^{an}_{pet,p} \times^{\mathcal{G}^{an}}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \mathcal{G}^{an}$. Namely, we consider trivializations of $\mathrm{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{S_K}$ which respect the filtration. This is a right \mathcal{P}^{an}_{μ} -torsor.

We can consider the pushout $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \times \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an} := \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}$. This pro-étale torsor actually identifies canonically with (the pull back to the pro-étale site of) the analytic torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} , which is the analytification of M_{dR} (see section 4.1.1).

The pro-étale K_p -torsor $\lim_{K'_p \subseteq K_p} S_{K^p K'_p}$ over S_K extends to a pro-Kummer étale K_p -torsor $\lim_{K'_p \subseteq K_p} S_{K^p K'_p, \Sigma}^{tor}$ over $S_{K, \Sigma}^{tor}$. We can pull it back to the analytic space $\mathcal{S}_{K, \Sigma}^{tor}$ (see [DLLZ19] for the definition of the pro-Kummer étale site). By pushout along $K_p \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, we get a pro-Kummer étale $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -torsor over $\mathcal{S}_{K, \Sigma}^{tor}$ extending $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$, which we also denote by $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$. If $K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ we also have the pro-Kummer étale $G(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ -torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}$ over $\mathcal{S}_{K, \Sigma}^{tor}$.

Let A_{Σ} be the semi-abelian scheme over $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. The Hodge-Tate exact sequence extends to a sequence over the pro-Kummer étale site

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \operatorname{H}_{1}(A_{\Sigma}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^{t}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}} \to 0$$

Therefore, the torsors \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} extend over $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$, and as usual, we continue to use the same notation for the extensions. Moreover, again by construction, the torsors \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} are canonically identified.

4.4.10. Perfectoid Siegel Shimura varieties. By [Sch15], thm. III.3.17 there is a perfectoid space $S_{K^p}^{\star} \sim \lim_{K_p} S_{K^p K_p}^{\star}$.

By [Sch15], we have a $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. Moreover, there exists an affinoid covering $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = \bigcup_i V_i$ such that for each $i, \pi_{HT}^{-1}(V_i)$ is a good affinoid perfectoid open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star}$ (see definition 4.4.3).

The construction of the map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is delicate at the boundary, but over the complement of the boundary $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an} \sim \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{an}$ it has a simple description which is given below.

By [PS16], thm. 0.4, for any cone decomposition Σ , there is also a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \sim \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ (it is important that the cone decomposition does not depend on K_p for the limit to be perfectoid) and we have a map $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star}$ of perfectoid spaces induced by the maps at finite level K_p .

The torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$ becomes trivial over $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ and we therefore get a Hodge-Tate period map $\pi_{HT}^{tor}: \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. Let us explain very concretely how this map is defined. Let $\operatorname{Spa}(R, R^{+})$ be a perfectoid affinoid open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$. We can evaluate the sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \operatorname{H}_{1}(A_{\Sigma}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \to \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^{t}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}} \hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K}^{an}} \to 0$$

on (R, R^+) (viewed as an object of the pro-Kummer-étale site of $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$) and use the trivialization $\mathbb{Q}_p^{2g} \simeq \mathrm{H}_1(A_{\Sigma}, \mathbb{Q}_p)$ to get an exact sequence:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes R \to R^{2g} \to \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^{t}} \otimes R \to 0$$

After localizing, we may even assume that $\operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes R$ and $\omega_{A_{\Sigma}^{t}} \otimes R$ are free R-modules. Now let $0 \to R^{g} \to R^{2g} \to R^{g} \to 0$ be the (polarized) chain with automorphism group $P_{\mu}(R)$. We have that $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}(R, R^{+}) =$

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{symp}}(0 \to R^g \to R^{2g} \to R^g \to 0, 0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes R \to R^{2g} \to \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^t} \otimes R \to 0)$$

and $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}(R, R^+) \subseteq \operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{symp}}(R^{2g}) = \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}(R)$. This is a right $P_{\mu}(R)$ -torsor and there is an element $x \in G(R)$ such that $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}(R, R^+) = xP_{\mu}(R)$. The automorphism group of $0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A_{\Sigma}) \otimes R \to R^{2g} \to \omega_{A_{\Sigma}^t} \otimes R \to 0$ is $xP_{\mu}(R)x^{-1}$. Finally we let $\pi_{HT}^{tor}(\operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+)) = x^{-1} \in FL_{G,\mu}(R)$.

Remark 4.4.11. We are forced to use x^{-1} above because $FL_{G,\mu} = P_{\mu} \backslash G$. Note that taking the quotient by the left action of P_{μ} is natural because right translation on Gdefines a right G-action of $FL_{G,\mu}$ and the map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^* \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is equivariant for the right $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -action. We chose to define \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} as a right \mathcal{P}_{μ}^{an} -torsor, because we want to identify the torsors \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} . But in the classical theory, M_{dR} is a right torsor. It means that in our convention, the torsor \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} is pulled back via π_{HT}^{tor} from the torsor $\mathcal{G}^{an} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}, x \mapsto x^{-1}$. The maps π_{HT}^{tor} and π_{HT} coincide by construction on the open subset $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an}$. We deduce that we have a commutative diagram:



The key properties of this diagram that we will use are:

- The pull back of the torsor $\mathcal{G}^{an}/U_{\mathcal{P}^{an}_{\mu}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ via π^{tor}_{HT} is \mathcal{M}^{an}_{HT} and this is canonically identified with the pull back via $\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K^p,\Sigma} \to \mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K^pK_n,\Sigma}$ of \mathcal{M}^{an}_{dR} .
- The map π_{HT} is affine.

4.4.12. Formal models of perfectoid Siegel Shimura varieties. We need to consider formal models of the perfectoid Siegel Shimura varieties in order to be able to use the vanishing result below (theorem 4.4.23). We first recall a number of statements from [PS16]. Let $K = K^p K_p$. For $K_p = \text{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, we have natural models over Spec \mathbb{Z}_p for $S_{K^p K_p}$, $S_{K^p K_p}^*$, and $S_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ that we denote $\mathbf{S}_{K^p K_p}$, $\mathbf{S}_{K^p K_p}^*$, and $\mathbf{S}_{K^p K_p}^{tor}$, $\mathbf{S}_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$. We can also consider the corresponding *p*-adic formal schemes $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}$ (it is defined up to prime-to-*p* isogeny by our choice of level structure). By the construction of the minimal compactification, the line bundle det ω_A on $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p}^{t,p}$, and whose pullback to $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ agrees with the extension defined by the semi-abelian scheme A.

Now let $K_p \subseteq \mathrm{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ be an open subgroup. We can define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}, \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$, and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ as the normalizations of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p\mathrm{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p)}, \mathfrak{S}_{K^p\mathrm{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p)}^{\star}$, and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p\mathrm{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p),\Sigma}^{tor}$ in $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}, \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$, and $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ respectively.

Let us denote by $K_{p,n} = \{M \in \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p), M = 1 \mod p^n\}$. This is the principal level p^n subgroup. Consider the module \mathbb{Z}^{2g} with canonical basis e_1, \cdots, e_{2g} , equipped with the standard symplectic form \langle , \rangle given by $\langle e_i, e_{2g-i+1} \rangle = 1$ for $1 \leq i \leq g$, and $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle = 0$ if $i + j \neq 2g + 1$. Over $\mathcal{S}_{K^p K_{p,n}}$ we have a symplectic isomorphism $(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to A[p^n]$ (up to a similitude factor), and it extends to a morphism of group schemes over $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_{p,n}}, (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to A[p^n]$. We have the Hodge-Tate morphism $\operatorname{HT}_n : A[p^n] \to \omega_{A^t}/p^n$. Using the prime-to-p polarization, we can identify ω_{A^t} and ω_A . We therefore have sections $\operatorname{HT}_n(e_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_{p,n}}, \omega_A/p^n)$. We also have a map $\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n : \Lambda^g(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \det \omega_A/p^n$. Let $r = \binom{g}{2g}$. Let f_1, \cdots, f_r be a basis of $\Lambda^g \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ obtained by taking exterior products of e_1, \cdots, e_{2g} . We get sections $\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n(f_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_{p,n}}, \det \omega_A/p^n)$.

By [PS16], proposition 1.7 and corollary 1.7, the sections $\operatorname{HT}_n(e_i)$ extend to sections $\operatorname{HT}_n(e_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n},\Sigma}^{tor}, \omega_A/p^n)$ and the sections $\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n(f_i)$ extend to sections $\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n(f_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}, \det \omega_A/p^n)$.

It follows that over $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}$ we have a morphism $\Lambda^g \mathrm{HT}_n : \Lambda^g (\mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \det \omega_A/p^n$. These morphisms satisfy the natural compatibilities as n varies. The cokernel of this morphism is killed by $p^{\frac{g}{p-1}}$ (resp. 4^g if p=2) by [Far10], theorem

7. We let det $\omega_A^{mod,n}$ be the subsheaf of det ω_A which is the inverse image of

$$\operatorname{Im}(\Lambda^{g}\operatorname{HT}_{n}(\Lambda^{g}(\mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z})^{2g})\otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K_{p,p}}^{\star}K_{p}}\to \det \omega_{A}/p^{n})$$

in det ω_A . We have $p^{\frac{g}{p-1}} \det \omega_A \subseteq \det \omega_A^{mod,n} \subseteq \det \omega_A$ (resp. $4^g \det \omega_A \subseteq \det \omega_A^{mod,n} \subseteq \det \omega_A$ if p = 2).

Let $f: \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n+1}}^{\star} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n}}^{\star}$ be the projection. We clearly have a map $\det \omega_{A}^{mod,n+1} \to \operatorname{Im}(f^{\star} \det \omega_{A}^{mod,n} \to \det \omega_{A})$. This map is an isomorphism if $n \geq \frac{g}{p-1}$ (resp. $n \geq 2g$ if p = 2). We now assume that n is larger than $n_0 = \frac{g}{p-1}$ (resp. $n_0 = 2g$ if p = 2). We simply denote $\det \omega_{A}^{mod,n}$ by $\det \omega_{A}^{mod}$, this is a subsheaf of $\det \omega_{A}$. The sheaf $\det \omega_{A}^{mod}$ is not locally free. We can perform a blow up to make it locally free. Let us start with a definition:

Definition 4.4.13. Let \mathfrak{X} be a *p*-adic formal scheme, locally of finite type over Spf \mathbb{Z}_p , and let \mathcal{I} be a coherent sheaf of ideals such that $p \in \sqrt{\mathcal{I}}$. We let $\operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathfrak{X})$ be the *p*-adic formal scheme obtained by taking the admissible blow-up of \mathfrak{X} at \mathcal{I} . We let $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathfrak{X})$ be the normalization of $\operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathfrak{X})$, this is the normalized blow-up.

Remark 4.4.14. The normalization of a formal scheme is well defined in our context by [Con99], coro. 1.2.3.

Let \mathcal{I}_n be the sheaf of ideals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}}$ given by $\mathcal{I}_n = \{a \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}}, a \det \omega_A \subseteq \det \omega_A^{mod}\}$. We let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star,mod} = \mathrm{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_n}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star})$. Over $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star,mod}$, the sheaf det ω_A^{mod} is locally free and moreover the map

$$\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n : \Lambda^g (\mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \det \omega_A/p^n$$

induces a surjective map

$$\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}'_n : \Lambda^g (\mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \det \omega_A^{mod}/p^{n-\frac{g}{p-1}}$$

(resp. $\Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}'_n : \Lambda^g(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \det \omega_A^{mod}/p^{n-2g}$ if p = 2).

Lemma 4.4.15. Let $n \ge n_0$. We have a commutative diagram

$$\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n+1}}^{\star,mod} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n+1}}^{\star} \\ \downarrow^{h} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{f} \\ \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n}}^{\star,mod} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,n}}^{\star}$$

where the vertical maps are finite. Moreover, $h^* \det \omega_A^{mod} = \det \omega_A^{mod}$ and $h^* \Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}'_n(f_i) = \Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}'_{n+1}(f_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}^{*,mod}_{K^p K_{p,n+1}}, \det \omega_A^{mod}/p^{n-\frac{g}{p-1}})$ (resp. $\in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}^{*,mod}_{K^p K_{p,n+1}}, \det \omega_A^{mod}/p^{n-2g})$ if p = 2).

Proof. We first observe that $\operatorname{Im}(f^*\mathcal{I}_n \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^*}) = \mathcal{I}_{n+1}$. It follows that we have maps $\operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_n} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^* \times_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star,mod}} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^* \to \operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_{n+1}} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^{\star} \to \operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_n} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^{\star} \to \operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_n} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}$. The map $\operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_{n+1}} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^{\star} \to \operatorname{BL}_{\mathcal{I}_n} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}$ is therefore finite, and so is the map $h : \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^{\star,mod} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star,mod}$. We have a surjective map $h^* \det \omega_A^{mod} \to \det \omega_A^{mod}$ of invertible sheaves. This map is therefore an isomorphism. The last compatibility follows from the property that $f^* \Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_n(f_i) = \Lambda^g \operatorname{HT}_{n+1}(f_i) \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n+1}}^{\star}, \det \omega_A/p^n)$.

We can similarly define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod}$ for any open $K_p \subseteq K_{p,n_0}$. The ideal \mathcal{I}_{n_0} pulls back to an ideal \mathcal{I}_{K_p} of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ and we let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod} = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star})$. If $K_p = K_{p,n}$ for $n \geq n_0$, we recover the previous definition.

We finally let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} = \lim_n \mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_{p,n}}^{\star,mod}$ where the inverse limit is taken in the category of *p*-adic formal schemes. This inverse limit exists because the transition morphisms are affine. In the limit we have a map $\Lambda^g \text{HT} : \Lambda^g \mathbb{Z}_p^{2g} \to \det \omega_A^{mod}$ whose linearization is surjective. It follows that we have a morphism $\pi_{HT} : \mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} \to \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$. Let X_1, \dots, X_r be the homogeneous coordinates on \mathbb{P}^{r-1} . For all $1 \leq i \leq r$, let \mathfrak{U}_i be the formal open subscheme defined by the condition $X_i \neq 0$. Let \mathcal{U}_i be its generic fiber.

Proposition 4.4.16. (1) The formal scheme $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod}$ is integral perfectoid and its generic fiber is the perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star}$.

- (2) The Hodge-Tate map factors through a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} \to \mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu}$ and it induces the Hodge-Tate period map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ of section 4.4.10 on the generic fiber.
- (3) For all $1 \leq i \leq r$, we have that $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ is a good open affinoid subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^*$.

Proof. See [PS16], thm 1.18. This relies on the main theorems of [Sch15]. \Box

Remark 4.4.17. For *n* large enough, the open subsets $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ come from open subsets $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i)_{K_{p,n}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star}$. One can define ([Sch15], p. 72) a formal model $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{\star-HT}$ by gluing the formal schemes Spf $\mathrm{H}^0(\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i)_{K_{p,n}}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,n}}}^{+})$. We will not use this formal model.

We can perform similar constructions with the toroidal compactification at level $K_p \subseteq K_{p,n_0}$. Namely, the ideal \mathcal{I}_{K_p} pulls back to an ideal \mathcal{J}_{K_p} of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$. We denote by $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod} = \mathrm{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor})$. We have natural morphisms $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod}$.

Remark 4.4.18. The space $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ is not exactly the space considered in [PS16]. Namely, in that reference, we considered further blow ups in order to make the sheaf denoted ω_A^{mod} in *loc. cit.* (the subsheaf of ω_A generated by the image of the Hodge-Tate period map) locally free.

We let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod} = \lim_n \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{p,n},\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ where the inverse limit is taken in the category of *p*-adic formal schemes. This inverse limit exists because the transition morphisms are affine.

Proposition 4.4.19. The formal scheme $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ is integral perfectoid and its generic fiber is $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$.

Proof. This follows from almost verbatim from [PS16], section A.12, taking into account remark 4.4.18. $\hfill \square$

We now let $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ be a quasi-compact open subset. Our goal is to define formal models for $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ and $(\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$.

We first need a formal model for \mathcal{U} . By [L90], thm. 1.6, there exists an ideal \mathcal{I} of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu}}$ and an open subscheme \mathfrak{U} of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu})$ such that the generic fiber of \mathfrak{U} is \mathcal{U} .

We can define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$ which is a formal model for $(\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \to \pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ as follows. The ideal \mathcal{I} pulls back to ideals \mathcal{I}_1 and \mathcal{I}_2 of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod}$ respectively. We now wish to consider the normalized blow up of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod}$ at \mathcal{I}_1 and \mathcal{I}_2 respectively. We actually show that the ideals come from finite level, perform the normalized blow-up at a finite level, and then pass to the limit.

Lemma 4.4.20. The ideal \mathcal{I}_1 and \mathcal{I}_2 are pull backs of ideals \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} and \mathcal{I}_{2,K_p} of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_n,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_n,n}^{\star,mod}$ for K_p small enough.

Proof. It suffices to prove the claim for \mathcal{I}_2 . We need to prove that \mathcal{I}_2 is locally generated by $K_{p,n}$ -invariant sections for n large enough. First observe that the ideal \mathcal{I} contains p^s for some integer s. Over each standard affine \mathfrak{U}_i , we have $\mathcal{I}(\mathfrak{U}_i) = (s_{1,i}, \cdots, s_{k,i})$. We can find sections $s'_{1,i}, \cdots, s'_{k,i} \in \mathrm{H}^0(\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i), \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{KP}^*}^+)$ such that $s'_{j,i} = s_{j,i} \mod p^s$, and $s'_{j,i}$ comes from some finite level $K_{p,n}$ by proposition 4.4.16, (3). Thus, the $s'_{j,i}$ and p^s generate \mathcal{I}_2 over the image of $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_i)$ in $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{n,n}}^*$. \Box

We can therefore consider

$$\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p}}}(\mathfrak{S}^{tor,mod}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})$$

and

$$\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{2,K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_n}^{\star,mod})$$

for K_p small enough.

We let $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_1}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}) = \lim_{K_p} \operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod})$ and $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_2}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{\star,mod}) = \lim_{K_p} \operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{2,K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{\star,mod})$ (the limits are taken in the category of *p*-adic formal schemes).

We have maps

$$\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_1}(\mathfrak{S}^{tor,mod}_{K^p,\Sigma}) \to \operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_2}(\mathfrak{S}^{\star,mod}_{K^p}) \to \operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu}).$$

We let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$ be the preimages of \mathfrak{U} . These open formal subschemes come from open formal subschemes $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod})$ and $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{2,K_p}}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod})$ for large enough K_p (the equations defining \mathfrak{U} are defined at finite level).

The following theorem shows that the spaces $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$, $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\Omega}^{tor,mod}$ admit the usual description at the boundary in terms of certain formal charts. The case of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ is available in the literature. The other cases are deduced from the case of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$, by tracing down what happens with the various normalized blow ups at the level of formal charts. This is possible because the Hodge-Tate period map behaves nicely for degenerations of abelian varieties, since the Hodge-Tate period morphism for étale and multiplicative *p*-divisible group is trivial.

- **Theorem 4.4.21.** (1) Let $K = K^p K_p$ with $K_p \subseteq \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. We have a decomposition $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p, \Sigma}^{tor} = \coprod_{\Phi} Z_K(\Phi)$ into locally closed formal subschemes, indexed by certain cusp label representatives Φ .
 - (2) The formal completion $\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{\widehat{tor}}$ admits the following canonical description:

• There is a tower of p-adic formal schemes:

 $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$

where $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi})$ is a torsor under a torus $\mathbf{E}_{K}(\Phi)$, and $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$ is an integral model of a lower dimensional Siegel variety.

In the situation that K is the principal level N congruence subgroup, $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$ carries a full level N structure, and $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \rightarrow$ $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$ is an abelian scheme torsor. It parametrizes semiabelian schemes $0 \rightarrow T \rightarrow \mathcal{G} \rightarrow A \rightarrow 0$ (together with certain level structure) where A is the universal abelian scheme over $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$ and T is a split torus of rank g – dim A.

- There is a twisted torus embedding S_{K_Φ}(Q_Φ, D_Φ) → S_{K_Φ}(Q_Φ, D_Φ, Σ(Φ)) depending on Σ.
- There is an arithmetic group $\Delta_K(\Phi)$ acting on $X^*(\mathbf{E}_K(\Phi))$ and on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- We have a $\Delta_K(\Phi)$ -invariant closed subscheme $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- There is a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \to \mathfrak{S}_{K}^{\star}$.
- There is a series of morphisms:

 $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}).$

- We have a canonical isomorphism $Z_K(\Phi) = \Delta_K(\Phi) \setminus \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- We have a canonical isomorphism $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{Z_K(\Phi)} \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \backslash (\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}).$
- (3) For small enough K_p :
 - The ideal \mathcal{J}_{K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{Z_K(\Phi)}$ is the pull back of an ideal $\mathcal{J}_{K_p,\Phi}$ of $\mathbf{S}_{K_\Phi}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$.
 - Let $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{p},\Phi}} \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$ and $Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi) = \Delta_{K}(\Phi) \setminus \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. We have a decomposition $\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor,mod} = \prod_{\Phi} Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi)$.
 - Let $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) = \operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{P},\Phi}}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}))$. We have a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}}^{\star,mod}$.
 - Let $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{p}, \Phi}} \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. We have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)} \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \backslash \big(\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}}(\widehat{Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}}, \Sigma(\Phi))^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \big).$$

- (4) For all small enough K_p :
 - The ideal \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)}$ is the pull back of an ideal $\mathcal{I}_{1,K_p,\Phi}$ of $\mathbf{S}_{K_\Phi}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$.
 - We have a decomposition $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod} = \coprod_{\Phi} Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)_{\mathfrak{U}}$ where $Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)_{\mathfrak{U}}$ is an open subset of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_1,K_p}(Z_K^{mod}(\Phi))$.
 - There is an open subset $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}))$ such that we have a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})_{\mathfrak{U}} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K_{P}K_{n},\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$.

G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

• There exists an open subset $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)))$ and an open subset $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)))$ such that we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi)_{\mathfrak{U}}} \simeq \Delta_{K}(\Phi) \backslash (\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}})$$

Remark 4.4.22. The main observation needed to prove this theorem is the property that the ideals \mathcal{J}_{K_p} and \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} come from ideals $\mathcal{J}_{K_p,\Phi}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{1,K_p,\Phi}$ on each formal chart (first item in (3) and (4)). This is reminiscent of the concept of well positioned subset or subscheme of [LS18], def. 2.2.1.

Proof. The first two items follow from [Lan17], [MP19] or [PS16] (for principal level structures). The point (3), follows from [PS16], section A.12. It remains to check the point (4). The key property is that the ideal \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)}$ is the pull back of an ideal \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}$

is the pull back of an ideal $\mathcal{I}_{1,K_p,\Phi}$ of $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$. The rest follows easily. We argue as follows. Let Φ be a cusp label at some finite level K^pK_p . For all n large enough such that $K_{p,n} \subseteq K_p$, we let $\{\Phi_n\}_n$ be a compatible sequence of cusp label of level $K^pK_{p,n}$ mapping to Φ . We let $Z_{K^p}^{mod}(\Phi_{\infty}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} Z_{K^pK_{p,n}}^{mod}(\Phi_n)$. We can consider the completion of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ at $Z_{K^p}^{mod}(\Phi_{\infty})$. Then we have a map

 $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}_{K^p}^{tor}(\Phi_{\infty})} \to \mathbf{S}_{K^p_{\Phi_{\infty}}}^{mod} (G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \text{ where } \mathbf{S}_{K^p_{\Phi_{\infty}}}^{mod} (G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \text{ is a perfectoid} formal scheme attached to a Siegel Shimura datum of lower dimension. Moreover, we have a factorization of the Hodge-Tate period map as follows (compare with [CS19], coro. 4.2.2):$

$$\begin{array}{c}
\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor,mod}} \xrightarrow{Z_{K^{p}}^{mod}(\Phi_{\infty})} \xrightarrow{\pi_{HT}^{tor}} \mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu} \\
\downarrow & & \uparrow \\
\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi_{\infty}}^{mod}}^{mod} \left(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}\right) \xrightarrow{\pi_{HT}} \mathfrak{FL}_{G_{\Phi,h},\mu_{G_{\Phi,h}}}
\end{array}$$

The sheaf of ideals \mathcal{I} of \mathfrak{FL} restricts to a sheaf of ideals \mathcal{I}_{Φ} of $\mathfrak{FL}_{G_{\Phi,h},\mu_{G_{\Phi,h}}}$. We deduce that at infinite level, the sheaf \mathcal{I}_1 restricted to $\widehat{\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}^{\mathcal{I}_{K^p}^{mod}(\Phi_{\infty})}$ is the pull back of a sheaf of ideals $\mathcal{I}_{1,\Phi}$ on $\mathbf{S}_{K^p_{\Phi_{\infty}}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$. We can then prove that $\mathcal{I}_{1,\Phi}$

Theorem 4.4.23. Consider the map $\pi : \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$. Then we have that $\mathrm{R}^i \pi_\star \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}}(-nD) = 0$ for all i > 0 and $n \ge 1$.

comes from finite level K_p as in lemma 4.4.20.

Proof. The proof of theorem 4.1.7 transposes verbatim, given theorem 4.4.21. \Box

4.4.24. The Hodge type case. We fix an embedding $(G, X) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g^{\pm})$ of a Hodge type Shimura datum into a Siegel Shimura datum. Let V be a 2g-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{Q} , equipped with a symplectic pairing so that $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_{2g} \hookrightarrow$ $\operatorname{GL}(V)$. We can view $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(V)$ as the group stabilizing a finite number of tensors $\{s_{\alpha}\} \in V^{\otimes}$ (where $V^{\otimes} = \bigoplus_{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} V^{\otimes m} \otimes (V^{\vee})^{\otimes n}$). The group GSp_{2g} will
be denoted by \tilde{G} in this section. All the objects corresponding to this group will carry a \sim .

Over $S_{K^pK_p}$ we have a pro-étale K_p -torsor represented by the tower of Shimura varieties $\lim_{K'_p \subseteq K_p} S_{K^pK'_p}$. By pushout along the map $K_p \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ we get a $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -torsor.

One can give a more "modular" description of this torsor using the closed embedding $S_K \hookrightarrow \tilde{S}_{\tilde{K}}$, where $\tilde{S}_{\tilde{K}}$ is a Siegel Shimura variety (over E) and the embedding is the one induced by $(G, X) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{GSp}_{2g}, \mathcal{H}_g^{\pm})$ for a suitable compact open subgroup \tilde{K} . The tensors $\{s_{\alpha}\}$ can be used to produce sections $\{s_{\alpha,p} \in \operatorname{H}^0(S_K, \operatorname{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p)^{\otimes})\}$. More precisely, one first produces tensors $\{s_{\alpha,B} \in \operatorname{H}^0(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \operatorname{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p)^{\otimes})\}$ using the complex uniformization of $S_K(\mathbb{C})$. They give tensors $\{s_{\alpha,p} \in \operatorname{H}^0(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \operatorname{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p)^{\otimes})\}$. Lemma 2.3.2 of [CS17] proves that these tensors are defined over E. Therefore, we can consider the torsor of isomorphisms $V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p \to \operatorname{H}_1(A, \mathbb{Q}_p)$, preserving all the tensors $s_{\alpha,p}$.

There is also the M_{μ} -torsor M_{dR} over S_K . We recall its description. The tensors $\{s_{\alpha}\}$ can be used to produce sections $\{s_{\alpha,dR} \in \mathrm{H}^0(S_K, \mathrm{H}_{1,dR}(A)^{\otimes})\}$. One first define the P_{μ}^{std} -torsor P_{dR} , to be the the torsor of isomorphisms $V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathscr{O}_{S_K} \to \mathrm{H}_{1,dR}(A)$ matching the filtration on V corresponding to P_{μ}^{std} with the Hodge filtration, and preserving the tensors $s_{\alpha,dR}$. By pushout along $P_{\mu}^{std} \to M_{\mu}$, we have $M_{dR} = P_{dR} \times_{\mu}^{P_{\mu}^{std}} M_{\mu}$.

Remark 4.4.25. The closed immersion $S_K \hookrightarrow \tilde{S}_{\tilde{K}}$ extends to a closed immersion $M_{dR} \hookrightarrow \tilde{M}_{dR}$ where \tilde{M}_{dR} is the $M_{\tilde{\mu}}$ - "de Rham" torsor over $\tilde{S}_{\tilde{K}}$.

By pull back to the analytic space \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an} we get a pro-étale $G(\mathbb{Q}_{p})$ -torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$, as well as a \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} -torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} .

In section 2.3 of [CS17] the authors define two other pro-étale torsors over \mathcal{S}_{K}^{an} : \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} , under the groups \mathcal{P}_{μ}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} . These definitions extend those given in the Siegel case (see section 4.4.8) and use the tensors $s_{\alpha,p}$. Moreover, $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \times^{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}} \mathcal{G}^{an} = \mathcal{G}_{et,p}^{an} \times^{\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}_p)} \mathcal{G}^{an}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} = \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \times^{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}} \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an}$. By [CS17], prop. 2.3.9, there is a canonical identification of torsors \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}

4.4.26. Perfectoid Hodge type Shimura varieties. By [Sch15], there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an} \sim \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{K^p K_p}^{an}$. Since the torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$ becomes trivial over $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an}$, we obtain a Hodge-Tate period map ([CS17], thm 2.1.3): $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ which is $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant.

A key property is that the pull back of the \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} - torsor $\mathcal{G}^{an}/U_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ via π_{HT} is \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} and this is canonically identified with the pull back via $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{an}$ of \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} .

Moreover, the relation with the Siegel datum is expressed by the following diagram, where the horizontal maps are closed immersions:



4.4.27. Compactifications in the Hodge case. For any compact open $K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we have the minimal compactification \mathcal{S}_K^* and there is a finite surjective map $\mathcal{S}_K^* \to \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}}^*$ where $\mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}}^*$ is defined before [Sch15], thm. IV. 1.1. This is the schematic image of the morphism $\mathcal{S}_K^* \to \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\overline{K}}^*$ where $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\overline{K}}^*$ is the minimal compactification of the Shimura variety for \tilde{G} , and \tilde{K} is a small enough compact open subgroup of $\tilde{G}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that $\tilde{K} \cap G(\mathbb{A}_f) = K$. By [Sch15], thm. IV. 1.1 there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}^p}^* \sim$ $\lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}^p \overline{K}_p}^*$ and there is a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}^p}^* \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. Strictly speaking the map constructed in [Sch15], took values in $\mathcal{FL}_{\tilde{G},\tilde{\mu}}$. Since $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{FL}_{\tilde{G},\tilde{\mu}}$ is Zariski closed and the map is known to factors through $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ over the Zariski dense open subset $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{an}$ by [CS17], thm 2.1.3, we deduce that we have a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K}^p}^* \to$ $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$.

Since the tower $\{\mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}K_p}^{\star}\}_{K_p}$ carries a $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -action, the space $\mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}}^{\star}$ inherits a $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -action, and the map π_{HT} is $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant. Moreover, the map π_{HT} is affinoid in the sense that there exists an affinoid covering $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = \bigcup_i V_i$ such each $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(V_i)$ is a good affinoid perfectoid open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}}^{\star}$ (see definition 4.4.3).

We also know that there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} = \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,\Diamond}$ (this last inverse limit is taken in the category of diamonds) by [BS19], thm. 1.16. We therefore have a $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant map $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}}^{\star}$. It is not known whether $\mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \sim \lim \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ in general.

Remark 4.4.28. We did not prove that there is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \sim \lim \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ for any cone decomposition Σ . It seems likely that one could reproduce the argument of [PS16] in the Hodge case, using the explicit description of the boundary of the integral toroidal compactifications given in [MP19].

For a perfect cone decomposition Σ , we have a series of maps $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}}^{\star}$ and we therefore get a map $\pi_{HT}^{tor}: \mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. The relation to the Siegel Shimura varieties is given by the following diagram

The relation to the Siegel Shimura varieties is given by the following diagram where all horizontal maps are closed immersions:



Using the map π_{HT}^{tor} we can define a canonical extension of the torsors \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} to $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$, by simply by pulling back the universal \mathcal{P}_{μ}^{an} -torsor over $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ and pushing out along the map $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an}$. There is also the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} over $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ which is pulled back from the map $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$. The following proposition is corollary 5.2 of [EH19].

Proposition 4.4.29 ([EH19]). The torsors \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} and $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ are canonically isomorphic.

Proof. Let us denote by \tilde{M} the restriction to $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ of the torsor $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{dR}^{an} = \tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{HT}^{an}$ defined over the Siegel perfectoid Shimura variety $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\tilde{K}^{p},\tilde{\Sigma}}$. By construction, \tilde{M} is a \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} -torsor. The two torsors \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} and \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} are \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} -reductions of this torsor. They coincide over $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}}^{an}$ by [CS17], prop. 2.3.9. But \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} (resp. \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an}) is equal to the Zariski closure of $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}|_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}}^{an}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an}|_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}}^{an}}$) in \tilde{M} . Therefore, these torsors have to coincide everywhere.

Remark 4.4.30. The isomorphism of torsors is Hecke equivariant.

4.4.31. Integral models in the Hodge case. We need to consider formal models. This section is entirely parallel to section 4.4.12. Let $K = K^p K_p$ with $K = \tilde{K} \cap G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Suppose that $\tilde{K}_p \subseteq \tilde{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. We can define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p}, \mathfrak{S}^{\star}_{K^p K_p}$, and $\mathfrak{S}^{tor}_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}$ as the normalizations of $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{S}}^{\star}_{\tilde{K}}$, and $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}^{tor}_{\tilde{K},\tilde{\Sigma}}$ in $\mathcal{S}_{K^p K_p}, \mathcal{S}^{\star}_{K^p K_p}$, and $\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K^p K_p,\Sigma}$ respectively.

Similarly, for K_p small enough, we define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod}$, $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ as the normalizations of $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K}}^{\star,mod}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K},\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ in $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ and $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ respectively. Alternatively, these can also be constructed as normalized blow ups of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ for the ideals \mathcal{I}_{K_p} and \mathcal{J}_{K_p} which are the pull back of the ideals $\mathcal{I}_{\tilde{K}_p}$ and $\mathcal{J}_{\tilde{K}_p}$ from $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K}}^{\star}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K},\Sigma}^{tor}$.

We let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} = \lim_{K_p} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod}$, where the inverse limit is taken in the category of p-adic formal schemes. This inverse limit exists because the transition morphisms are affine. In the limit we have a map $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K}_p}^{\star,mod}$ and therefore a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} \to \mathfrak{FL}_{\tilde{G},\tilde{\mu}}$.

Proposition 4.4.32. The Hodge-Tate map factors through a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod} \to \mathfrak{F}_{G,\mu}^{\star}$.

Proof. One first checks that the space $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{mod}$ (the complement of the boundary in $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod}$) is integral perfectoid and its generic fiber is the quasi-compact open perfectoid Shimura variety \mathcal{S}_{K^p} . This follows from the Siegel case, using that $\mathcal{S}_{K^p} \hookrightarrow \tilde{S}_{\tilde{K}^p}$ is a Zariski closed immersion. Therefore the factorization of the period morphism through $\mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu}$ holds over the Zariski dense subspace $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{mod}$, and thus everywhere.

Remark 4.4.33. We do not know if $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p}^{\star,mod}$ is integral perfectoid.

We let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod} = \lim_{K_p} \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ where the inverse limit is taken in the category of *p*-adic formal schemes. This inverse limit exists because the transition morphisms are affine.

Proposition 4.4.34. Assume that Σ is perfect. The formal scheme $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ is integral perfectoid and its generic fiber is $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$.

Proof. This follows from the Siegel case.

Remark 4.4.35. We do not know if $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ is integral perfectoid for all Σ .

We now let $\mathcal{U} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ be a quasi-compact open subset. It is induced by a quasi-compact open subset $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ of $\mathcal{FL}_{\tilde{G},\tilde{\mu}}$. Our goal is to define formal models for $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ and $(\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$.

There exists an ideal $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}$ of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{FL}_{\tilde{G},\tilde{\mu}}}$ and an open subscheme $\tilde{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\tilde{\mathcal{I}}}(\mathfrak{FL}_{\tilde{G},\mu_{\tilde{G}}})$ such that the generic fiber of $\tilde{\mathfrak{U}}$ is $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$.

For K_p small enough, we define $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$, $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$ as the normalizations of $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K},\tilde{\mathfrak{U}}}^{\star,mod}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K},\tilde{\Sigma},\tilde{\mathfrak{U}}}^{tor,mod}$ in $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ and $(\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ respectively. Alternatively, these can also be constructed as suitable opens in normalized blow ups of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star,mod}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}$ at the ideals \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} and \mathcal{I}_{2,K_p} which are the pull back of the ideals $\mathcal{I}_{1,\tilde{K}_p}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{2,\tilde{K}_p}$ from $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K}}^{\star,mod}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{S}}_{\tilde{K},\tilde{\Sigma}}^{tor,mod}$.

- **Theorem 4.4.36.** (1) Let $K = K^p K_p$ with $K_p \subseteq \tilde{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. We have a decomposition $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p, \Sigma}^{tor} = \coprod_{\Phi} Z_K(\Phi)$ into locally closed formal subschemes, indexed by certain cusp label representatives Φ .
 - (2) The formal completion $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}}^{Z_{K}(\Phi)}$ admits the following canonical description:
 - There is a tower of p-adic formal schemes:

$$\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$$

where $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi})$ is a torsor under a torus $\mathbf{E}_{K}(\Phi)$, and $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$ is an integral model of a lower dimensional Shimura variety.

- There is a twisted torus embedding S_{K_Φ}(Q_Φ, D_Φ) → S_{K_Φ}(Q_Φ, D_Φ, Σ(Φ)) depending on Σ.
- There is an arithmetic group $\Delta_K(\Phi)$ acting on $X^*(\mathbf{E}_K(\Phi))$ and on $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- We have a $\Delta_K(\Phi)$ -invariant closed subscheme $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- There is a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \to \mathfrak{S}_{K}^{\star}$.
- There is a series of morphisms:

$$\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(\overline{Q}_{\Phi}, \overline{D}_{\Phi}) \to \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}).$$

- We have a canonical isomorphism $Z_K(\Phi) = \Delta_K(\Phi) \setminus \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)).$
- We have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{Z_K(\Phi)} \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \backslash \big(\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))} \big).$$

- (3) For small enough K_p :
 - The ideal \mathcal{J}_{K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}^{Z_K(\Phi)}$ is the pull back of an ideal $\mathcal{J}_{K_p,\Phi}$ of $\mathbf{S}_{K_\Phi}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})$.
 - Let $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{p},\Phi}} \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$ and $Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi) = \Delta_{K}(\Phi) \setminus \mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. We have a decomposition $\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor,mod} = \prod_{\Phi} Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi)$.

- Let $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}))$. We have a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}) \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}}^{\star, mod}$.
- Let $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)) = \text{NBL}_{\mathcal{J}_{K_{p},\Phi}} \mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))$. We have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{ior,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)} \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \backslash (\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}^{\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))}).$$

- (4) For all small enough K_p ,
 - The ideal \mathcal{I}_{1,K_p} restricted to $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)}$ is the pull back of an
 - The tacut L_{1,K_p}, for the condition = K, L ideal I_{1,K_p,Φ} of S^{mod}_{KΦ}(G_{Φ,h}, D_{Φ,h}).
 We have a decomposition S^{tor,mod}_{K^pK_p,Σ,𝔅} = ∐_Φ Z^{mod}_K(Φ)_𝔅 where Z^{mod}_K(Φ)_𝔅
 - is an open subset of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p}}}(Z_{K}^{mod}(\Phi))$. There is an open subset $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h}))$ such that we have a finite morphism $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(G_{\Phi,h}, D_{\Phi,h})_{\mathfrak{U}} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$.
 - There exists an open subset $\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p}},\Phi}(\mathbf{S}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)))$ and an open subset $\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}$ of $\operatorname{NBL}_{\mathcal{I}_{1,K_{p},\Phi}}(\mathbf{Z}_{K_{\Phi}}^{mod}(Q_{\Phi}, D_{\Phi}, \Sigma(\Phi)))$ such that we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{S}_{K,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}}^{Z_K^{mod}(\Phi)_{\mathfrak{U}}} \simeq \Delta_K(\Phi) \backslash (\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{K_\Phi}^{mod}(Q_\Phi, D_\Phi, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}}^{Z_K^{mod}(Q_\Phi, D_\Phi, \Sigma(\Phi))_{\mathfrak{U}}})$$

Proof. The first two items follow from [MP19]. The point (3) and the point (4) follow from the analogous statement in theorem 4.4.21.

Theorem 4.4.37. Consider the map $\pi : \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$. Then we have that $\mathrm{R}^i \pi_\star \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}}(-nD) = 0$ for all i > 0 and $n \ge 1$.

Proof. The proof of theorem 4.1.7 transposes verbatim, given theorem 4.4.36.

4.4.38. General Shimura varieties. We now extend part of the preceding to general Shimura varieties. For the moment, let (G, X) be an arbitrary Shimura datum and let $K = K^p K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup. We consider the compactified Shimura variety $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. For any algebraic representation W of G^c , we have a local system on the pro-kummer-étale site \mathcal{W}_p as well as a filtered vector bundle with integrable log-connection \mathcal{W}_{dR} . We need some period sheaves relative to $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ (see [Sch13a], sect. 6 and [DLLZ19], sect. 2): \mathbb{B}_{dR}^+ , \mathbb{B}_{dR} , $\mathscr{O}\mathbb{B}_{dR,log}^+$ and $\mathscr{O}\mathbb{B}_{dR,log}$. The following property is a consequence of [DLLZ19], thm. 5.3.1. The local system \mathcal{W}_p and the filtered vector bundle with integrable log-connection \mathcal{W}_{dR} are associated ([Sch13a], def 7.5) in the sense that there is a canonical isomorphism compatible with filtrations, connection and Hecke action:

$$\mathcal{W}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathscr{O}\mathbb{B}_{dR,log} = \mathcal{W}_{dR} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}}} \mathscr{O}\mathbb{B}_{dR,log}$$

Remark 4.4.39. This identity is a consequence of the comparison theorems for (semi)-abelian varieties in the Siegel case. In the Hodge case and outside of the boundary, it is proved in [CS17] section 2.2 and 2.3, as a consequence of the comparison theorems for abelian varieties, together with results on Hodge tensors under comparison isomorphisms due to [Bla94].

Using this canonical isomorphism, we define the Hodge-Tate filtration on $\mathcal{W}_p \otimes \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}$ as follows. Let $\mathbb{M} = \mathcal{W}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbb{B}^+_{dR,log}$ and $\mathbb{M}_0 = (\mathcal{W}_{dR} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{L^{2r}}}} \mathscr{O} \mathbb{B}^+_{dR,log})^{\nabla=0}$.

These are two \mathbb{B}_{dR}^+ -local systems and are lattices inside $\mathbb{M} \otimes_{\mathbb{B}_{dR}^+} \mathbb{B}_{dR} = \mathbb{M}_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{B}_{dR}^+} \mathbb{B}_{dR}$. \mathbb{B}_{dR} . There are therefore two filtrations on this \mathbb{B}_{dR} -local system Fil^{*i*} \mathbb{M} and Fil^{*i*} \mathbb{M}_0 . One defines an ascending filtration by:

$$\mathrm{Fil}_{-j}\mathcal{W}_p\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K,\Sigma}}=(\mathbb{M}\cap\mathrm{Fil}^{j}\mathbb{M}^0)/(\mathrm{Fil}^{1}\mathbb{M}\cap\mathrm{Fil}^{j}\mathbb{M}^0).$$

and we have the relation

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{j}\mathcal{W}_{p}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}=\operatorname{Gr}^{j}\mathcal{W}_{dR}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}}\hat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}$$

This construction is functorial with respect to the Hecke action and compatible with the Tannakian formalism. One can therefore derive consequences at the level of torsors. Over $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$, we have a pro-kummer-étale $G^{c}(\mathbb{Q}_{p})$ -torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an}$ as well as a principal $\mathcal{G}^{c,an}$ -torsor \mathcal{G}_{dR}^{an} (defined over the étale site). The torsor \mathcal{G}_{dR}^{an} has a reduction of structure group to a $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{std,c,an}$ -torsor (corresponding to the filtration on W_{dR}) that we denote by \mathcal{P}_{dR}^{an} , and we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} = \mathcal{P}_{dR}^{an} imes \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{std,c,an} \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{c,an}$$

On the other hand, the torsor $\mathcal{G}_{pet,p}^{an} \times^{G^c(\mathbb{Q}_p)} \mathcal{G}^{c,an}$ has a reduction of structure group to a $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{c,an}$ -torsor (corresponding to the filtration on $W_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}}$) that we denote by \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} , and we define

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} = \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \times^{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{c,an}} \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{c,an}$$

We have the identification of torsors on the pro-étale site $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} = \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an}$, compatible with the Hecke action. This implies that \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} is already defined on the étale site.

We can consider the inverse limit in the category of diamonds $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor,\Diamond} = \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor,\Diamond}$. To summarize the situation, we have the following theorem, which is really a

consequence of [DLLZ19], thm. 5.3.1. **Theorem 4.4.40** The torsor G^{an} is trivial over $S^{tor,\diamondsuit}_{-}$ and we therefore obtain

a morphism:

$$t_{me} = t_{me} \wedge t_{me}$$

$$\pi_{HT}^{tor}: \mathcal{S}_{K^p, \Sigma}^{tor, \Diamond} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G, \mu}.$$

Moreover, the pull back of the torsor $\mathcal{G}^{c,an}/U_{\mathcal{P}^{an}_{\mu}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ via $\pi^{tor}_{HT}: \mathcal{S}^{tor,\Diamond}_{K^{p},\Sigma} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is \mathcal{M}^{an}_{HT} , and this is also the pull back of \mathcal{M}^{an}_{dR} via the map $\mathcal{S}^{tor,\Diamond}_{K^{p},\Sigma} \to \mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}$.

We have thus extended the picture to the case of general Shimura varieties at the expense of working with diamonds. This is unfortunately not enough information for our purposes. In particular, we need to address the question of affineness of the Hodge-Tate period map. For this reason, we restrict to abelian type Shimura data and work out the connection between abelian and Hodge type Shimura varieties in the next section.

4.4.1. Abelian type Shimura varieties. We now consider an abelian type Shimura datum (G, X). This means that there is a Hodge type Shimura datum (G_1, X_1) such that there is a central isogeny $G_1^{der} \to G^{der}$ inducing an isomorphism of the associated connected Shimura data (G^{ad}, X^+) and (G_1^{ad}, X_1^+) (see [Mil05], definition 4.4).

We recall a nice way to connect the Shimura data (G, X) and (G_1, X_1) from [Lov17], section 4.6. Let E be the composite of the reflex fields of both Shimura data. One can construct a diagram of Shimura data

where $B_1 \to G_1$ and $B \to G$ induce isomorphisms $B_1^{der} \simeq G_1^{der}$ and $B^{der} \simeq G^{der}$, and the map $B_1 \to B$ is a central isogeny.

Actually $B_1 = G_1 \times_{G_1^{ab}} \operatorname{Res}_{E/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$ for a suitable map $\operatorname{Res}_{E/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m \to G_1^{ab}$ induced by the cocharacter μ_{G_1} . We let $T = \operatorname{Res}_{E/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$.

Since we are going to deal with several Shimura varieties at the same time in this section, we change our notation, and denote by $S(G, X)_K$ the Shimura variety attached to a datum (G, X) and compact open K. We will similarly write $M_{dR}(G, X)$ rather than M_{dR} , etc. We also adopt the standard notation that for H/\mathbb{Q} a reductive group, $H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ is the intersection of $H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})$ with the identity component of $H^{ad}(\mathbb{R})$, while $H(\mathbb{Q})_+$ is the preimage of $H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ under $H(\mathbb{Q}) \to H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})$.

Let us first recall some classical results. We choose connected components $X_{B_1}^+$, X_B^+ , X_1^+ and X^+ compatibly with our morphisms of Shimura data. This allows us to identify the set of geometric connected component of a Shimura variety $S(H, X_H)_K$ with $H(\mathbb{Q})_+ \setminus H(\mathbb{A}_f)/K$. We let $S^0(H, X_H)_K$ be the connected component corresponding to the class of 1 (we allow ourselves to extend the base field). We have $S^0(H, X_H)_K(\mathbb{C}) = \Gamma_K \setminus X_H^+$ where $\Gamma_K = H(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K$. We adopt the same notation of adding a supscript 0 for the connected components of minimal and toroidal compactifications.

We recall a functoriality between Shimura data and compactifications. Let $g: (H, X_H) \to (S, X_S)$ be a morphism of Shimura data. We assume that g induces an isomorphism $H^{ad} = S^{ad}$. Let $K' \subseteq H(\mathbb{A}_f)$ and $K \subset S(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be compact open subgroups such that $g(K') \subseteq K$. Let Σ be a cone decomposition for S.

Proposition 4.4.42. The following point are satisfied.

- (1) The morphism $S(H, X_H)_{K'} \to S(S, X_S)_K$ is finite étale.
- (2) The cone decomposition Σ for S induces a cone decomposition for H and the morphism $S^{tor}(H, X_H)_{K',\Sigma} \to S^{tor}(S, X_S)_{K,\Sigma}$ is finite.
- (3) If g(K') is normal inside K, the morphism S⁰(H, X_H)_{K'} → S⁰(S, X_S)_K is Galois with finite group Δ(K, K'). The action of Δ(K, K') extends to an action on S^{tor,0}(H, X_H)_{K',Σ}, and S^{tor,0}(S, X_S)_{K,Σ} is the quotient of S^{tor,0}(H, X_H)_{K'} by the action of Δ(K, K').

Proof. For the first point we reduce to check this on connected components over the complex numbers. We have $X_H^+ = X_S^+ = X^+$. We have $S^0(H, X_H)_{K'} = X^+/\Gamma_{K'}$ and $S^0(S, X_S)_K = X^+/\Gamma_K$. The images of Γ_K and Γ'_K in $H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$, denoted respectively Γ_K^{ad} and $\Gamma_{K'}^{ad}$, are arithmetic subgroups by [Mil05], prop. 3.2. We deduce that $\Gamma_{K'}^{ad}$ has finite index in Γ_K^{ad} . We next claim that Σ also induces a cone decomposition for H. By our assumption, the map $P \mapsto g^{-1}(P)$ induces a bijection between the rational parabolics of S and H and this is basically all we need. See [Har89], sect. 2.5. The finiteness of the map follows from the description of the

local charts. For the last point, the group $\Delta(K, K')$ is $\Gamma_K^{ad}/\Gamma_{K'}^{ad}$. By normality, the action of $\Delta(K, K')$ extends and the last point follows.

We also recall a construction of fiber products of torsors. Let S be a scheme and let H_1, H_2, H_3 be three group schemes with morphisms $H_1 \to H_2$ and $H_3 \to H_2$. We assume that we have H_i -torsors P_i over S and isomorphisms $\theta_1 : P_{H_1} \times^{H_1} H_2 \simeq P_{H_2}$ and $\theta_3 : P_{H_3} \times^{H_3} H_2 \simeq P_{H_2}$. Then one can form $P_{H_1 \times H_2} H_3 = P_{H_1} \times_{P_{H_2}} P_{H_1}$ which is an $H_1 \times_{H_2} H_3$ torsor.

Theorem 4.4.43. The following points are satisfied:

- (1) The towers of connected components of the Shimura varieties $\lim_{K \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)} S^0(B_1, X_{B_1})_K$ and $\lim_{K \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)} S^0(G_1, X_1)_K$ are canonically isomorphic. The same holds for the minimal and toroidal compactifications.
- (2) Let $K^p \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$ be compact open. There exists a compact open subgroup $(K^p)' \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$ such that we have a finite étale Galois morphism:

$$\lim_{K'_p \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)} S^0(G_1, X_1)_{(K^p)'K'_p} \to \lim_{K_p \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)} S^0(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^pK_p}.$$

(3) Let $K \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup and Σ be a cone decomposition for G_1 . There are compact open subgroups $K_1 \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$, $K_2 \subseteq T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, $K_3 \subseteq G_1^{ab}(\mathbb{A}_f)$,

Denote by $\pi_3: S^{tor}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K,\Sigma} \to S(G_1^{ab}, X_{G_1^{ab}})_{K_3}$. The torsor $M_{dR}(B_1, X_{B_1})$ over $S^{tor}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^pK_n,\Sigma}$ is canonically isomorphic to the fiber product

$$\pi_1^* M_{dR}(G_1, X_1) \times_{\pi_3^* M_{dR}(G_1^{ab}, X_G^{ab})} \pi_2^* M_{dR}(T, X_T)$$

- (4) Let $g: B_1 \to G$. Let $K \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be neat open compact. There exists a compact open subgroup $K' \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that $g(K') \subseteq K$ and the morphism $S^0(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K'} \to S^0(G, X)_K$ is finite étale and Galois with group $\Delta(K, K')$.
- (5) Let Σ be a cone decomposition for G. The torsor $M_{dR}(G, X)$ over $S^{tor,0}(G, X)_{K,\Sigma}$ is the quotient by $\Delta(K, K')$ of the torsor

$$M_{dR}(B_1, X_1) \times^{M^c_{\mu_{B_1}}} M^c_{\mu_G}$$

over $S^{tor,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K',\Sigma}$.

(6) Let $K^p \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$. There exists a compact open subgroup $(K')^p \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$ such that $g((K')^p) \subseteq K^p$ and the morphism

$$\lim_{K'_{p} \subseteq B_{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p})} S^{0}(B_{1}, X_{B_{1}})_{(K')^{p}K'_{p}} \to \lim_{K_{p} \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_{p})} S^{0}(G, X)_{K^{p}K_{p}}$$

is finite étale and Galois.

Proof. We recall that for a reductive group H defined over \mathbb{Q} , the topologies on $H^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ defined by the images of congruence subgroups of $H(\mathbb{Q})_+$ and $H^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$ are the same. This implies that the connected components of the tower of Shimura

varieties is determined by the connected Shimura datum. By construction, the datum (G_1^{der}, X_1^+) and $(B_1^{der}, X_{B_1}^+)$ are the same.

We now check the second point. Let us fix a decreasing sequence of compact open subgroups $K_{p,n} \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ with $\bigcap_n K_{p,n} = \{1\}$ and $K_{p,n}$ normal inside $K_{p,1}$. Let $K_{p,n}^{ad}$ be the image of $K_{p,n}$ in $B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Let $\Gamma_n = B_1(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K^p K_{p,n}$ and let Γ_n^{ad} the image of Γ_n in $B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$.

By the first point, there exists a compact open subgroup $(K^p)'K'_{p,1} \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that $\Gamma'_1 = G_1(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap (K^p)'K'_{p,1}$ has the property that its image in $B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ is a finite index normal subgroup of Γ_1^{ad} . Actually, we may also choose Γ'_1 such that $\Gamma'_1 \subseteq G_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$ (this follows from the fact that G_1 is of Hodge type, hence $G_1^{ab}(\mathbb{Q})$ is discrete in $G_1^{ab}(\mathbb{A}_f)$).

We may also assume that the map $G_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \to B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ induces an isomorphism from Γ'_1 to its image (indeed, the kernel of this map is finite). Let us denote by $\Gamma'_n = \Gamma_n^{ad} \cap \Gamma'_1$. Let $\Delta_n = \Gamma_n^{ad} / \Gamma'_n$. Clearly $\Delta_n \to \Delta_{n-1}$ is injective and therefore $\Delta = \lim_n \Delta_n$ is a finite group.

Since the map $G_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ is a local homeomorphism, there is for nlarge enough a subgroup $K_{p,n}^{der} \subseteq G_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ which maps isomorphically to $K_{p,n}^{ad}$, the image of $K_{p,n}$ in $B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. We deduce that $\Gamma'_n = \Gamma'_1 \cap K_{p,n}^{der}$. Finally, we can find a decreasing sequence of compact open subgroups $\{K'_{p,n} \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)\}$ such that $\bigcap_n K'_{p,n} = \{1\}$ and $K'_{p,n} \cap G_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p) = K_{p,n}^{der}$. We deduce that $\lim_{K'_{p,n}} S^0(G_1, X_{B_1})_{(K^p)'K'_{p,n}} \to$ $\lim_{K_{p,n}} S^0(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^pK_{p,n}}$ is finite étale with group Δ . For the third point, using the various functorialities of Shimura varieties (see for instance [Lov17], lemma 3.1.6), we see that we have a map of torsors

$$M_{dR}(B_1, X_{B_1}) \to \pi_1^{\star} M_{dR}(G_1, X_1) \times_{\pi_3^{\star} M_{dR}(G_1^{ab}, X_{G_1^{ab}})} \pi_2^{\star} M_{dR}(T, X_T).$$

and a map of torsors is an isomorphism. We check the fourth point. We can find a normal compact open subgroup $K' \subseteq g^{-1}(K)$ and we apply proposition 4.4.42. The fifth point follows again from the functorialities between Shimura varieties. We now check the last point. Let us fix a decreasing sequence of compact open subgroups $\{K_{p,n} \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p)\}$ with $\bigcap_n K_{p,n} = \{1\}$ and $K_{p,n}$ is normal inside $K_{p,1}$. Let us define $\Gamma_n = G(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K^p K_{p,n}$. Let us fix a compact open subgroup $(K')^p K'_{p,1} \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$ with $g((K')^p K'_{p,1}) \subseteq K^p K_{p,n}$. Let $K'_{p,n} = g^{-1}(K_{p,n}) \cap K'_{p,1}$. Let $K_{p,n}^{der} = K'_{p,n} \cap B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Let $\Gamma'_n = B_1(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap (K^p)'K'_{p,n}$. Let $\Gamma_n^{der} = \Gamma_n \cap B_1(\mathbb{Q})_+^{der}$. For any of $\Gamma_n, \Gamma'_n, \Gamma_n$, we add a subscript ad to mean their image in $G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$. We see that $(\Gamma_n^{der})^{ad} \subseteq (\Gamma'_n)^{ad} \subseteq \Gamma_n^{ad}$ are all arithmetic subgroups. Let $\Delta_n = \Gamma_n^{ad}/(\Gamma_n^{der})^{ad}$. We see that $\Delta_n \to \Delta_{n-1}$ is injective and therefore $\Delta = \lim_n \Delta_n$ is a finite group. We observe that $\bigcap_n K_{p,n}^{der} = \operatorname{Ker}(B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p))$ is a finite group. Let us fix a compact open subgroup $L_p \subseteq B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ such that $L_p \cap \operatorname{Ker}(B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p)) = \{1\}$. We let $\Gamma_n^{der,'} = \Gamma_n^{der} \cap L_p$. The morphism $\lim_n \Gamma_n^{der,'} \setminus X^+ \to \lim_n \Gamma_n \setminus X^+$ is finite étale and Galois. Since this map factors the map $\lim_{K'_p \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)} S^0(B_1, X_{B_1})_{(K')^p K'_p}(\mathbb{C}) \to \lim_{K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p)} S^0(G, X)_{K^p K_p}(\mathbb{C})$, we conclude.

In this paper, we will be able to reduce a number of statements (and in particular vanishing theorems) on abelian type Shimura varieties to the Hodge type case using the following principle:

- Principle 4.4.44. (1) We can extend a construction (eg. of a torsor) from the Shimura variety for (G_1, X_1) to the Shimura variety for (B_1, X_{B_1}) by performing a (trivial) construction on the Shimura variety attached to T and using the identity $M_{\mu_{B_1}}^c = M_{\mu_{G_1}}^c \times_{M_{\mu_{G_1}}^{ab,c}} T^c$.
 - (2) The torsors we construct on a connected component of a Shimura variety for (G, X) is obtained from a torsor on a connected component of the Shimura variety for (B_1, X_{B_1}) by pushing out along the map $B_1^c \to G^c$ and taking the quotient by a finite group.

We work until the end of this paragraph over the algebraically closed field $\mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{C}_p$ (this means that all Shimura varieties are base changed to \mathbb{C}_p). This simplifies our treatment of connected components of Shimura varieties. We also recall that the rationality questions with respect to the reflex field are irrelevant for us.

The principle 4.4.44 is based on the following theorem:

Theorem 4.4.45. There is a commutative diagram



where $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})$, $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(G_1, X_1)$, and $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(G, X)$ are perfectoid spaces representing (in the category of diamonds) $\lim_K \mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_K$, $\lim_K \mathcal{S}^{\star}(G_1, X_{G_1})_K$, and $\lim_K \mathcal{S}^{\star}(G, X)_K$. The maps are equivariant for the respective actions of $B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$, $G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$, and $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. The three maps to the flag variety $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = \mathcal{FL}_{G_1,\mu_{G_1}} = \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$ are Hodge-Tate period maps, and the composite map $\mathcal{S}^{tor,\Diamond}(G, X)_{\Sigma} = \lim_K \mathcal{S}^{tor,\Diamond}(G, X)_{K,\Sigma} \to \mathcal{S}^{\star}(G, X) \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is the map π_{HT}^{tor} of theorem 4.4.40.

Remark 4.4.46. In the course of the proof, we also introduce spaces $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^*(G, X) = \lim_K \mathcal{S}^*(G, X)_{\overline{K}}$ which depend on the embedding of (G_1, X_1) in a Siegel datum. We have finite maps $\mathcal{S}^*(G, X)_K \to \mathcal{S}^*(G, X)_{\overline{K}}$ which are isomorphisms away from the boundary. We prove that $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^*(G, X) \sim \lim_K \mathcal{S}^*(G, X)_{\overline{K}}$ and that the map π_{HT} factors through an affinoid map $\pi_{HT} : \overline{\mathcal{S}}^*(G, X) \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. See proposition 4.4.53.

Remark 4.4.47. Perfectoid (minimal compactifications of) abelian type Shimura varieties have been constructed for the first time in [HJ20]. Since we also need to construct the Hodge-Tate period map and prove several compatibilities, we give a complete argument. The argument is very similar to [HJ20] in the sense that this is a reduction to the Hodge type case.

4.4.48. Proof of theorem 4.4.45. We first briefly recall how to reconstruct a Shimura variety from its connected Shimura variety following [Del79], section 2.1. Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum. The center Z(G) of G is simply denoted by Z unless some confusion may arise.

The inverse system $S(G, X) = \lim_K S(G, X)_K$ has a right action of the group $\mathcal{A}(G) = G(\mathbb{A}_f)/\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} *_{G(\mathbb{Q})_+} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$. Here $\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$ is the closure of $Z(\mathbb{Q})$ in $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

Remark 4.4.49. If $Z_s = \{1\}$, then $\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} = Z(\mathbb{Q})$. If the morphism $G(\mathbb{Q}) \to G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})$ is surjective (for example, if Z(G) is a split torus), then $\mathcal{A}(G) = G(\mathbb{A}_f)/\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$.

There is a canonical bijection $\pi_0(S(G,X)) \to \overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+} \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ of right $\mathcal{A}(G)$ profinite sets where $\overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+}$ is the closure of $G(\mathbb{Q})_+$ in $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. This is also the
completion of $G(\mathbb{Q})_+$ for the topology where a basis of open neighborhoods of the
identity is given by the congruence subgroups of $G(\mathbb{Q})_+$.

Let us pick $1 \in \overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+} \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ and let $S^0(G, X) \hookrightarrow S(G, X)$ be the connected component corresponding to 1. This is the tower of connected Shimura varieties. The stabilizer of $S^0(G, X)$ for the action of $\mathcal{A}(G)$ is $\mathcal{A}^0(G) = \overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+} / \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} *_{G(\mathbb{Q})_+} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ and we have the formula:

$$S(G,X) = [S^0(G,X) \times \mathcal{A}(G)]/\mathcal{A}^0(G)$$

for the action $(s,g).h = (sh, h^{-1}g)$. One important observation is that $S^0(G, X)$ depends only on the connected Shimura datum (G^{der}, X^+) and the group $\mathcal{A}^0(G)$ depends also only on G^{der} . More precisely, we have that $\mathcal{A}^0(G) = \overline{G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+} *_{G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$, and $\mathcal{A}^0(G)$ is therefore the completion of $G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ with respect to the topology where a basis of open neighborhoods of 1 is the images of congruence subgroups of $G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$. We have that $S^0(G, X) = \lim_K S^0(G, X)/K$ where the limit runs over the compact open subgroups of $\overline{G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+}$, and $(S^0(G, X)/K)(\mathbb{C}) = \Gamma_K \setminus X^+$ where $\Gamma_K = G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K$.

Of course, there is also a simpler formula: $S(G, X) = [S^0(G, X) \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)]/\overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+}$, but the disadvantage of this formula is that $\overline{G(\mathbb{Q})_+}$ depends on G!

All of this extends to the minimal compactification since a Shimura variety and its minimal compactification have the same connected components, and group actions extend by normality of minimal compactifications.

We now go back to our Hodge type datum (G_1, X_1) , and we fix an embedding in a Siegel datum (\tilde{G}, \tilde{X}) . Attached to this fixed embedding, for any compact open K we have the minimal compactification $S^*(G_1, X_1)_K$ together with a finite surjective map to $S^*(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{K}}$, where $S^*(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{K}}$ is the schematic image of $S^*(G_1, X_1)_K \to S^*(\tilde{G}, \tilde{X})_{\tilde{K}}$ for all small enough \tilde{K} with $\tilde{K} \cap G(\mathbb{A}_f) = K$. Let us denote $\overline{S}^*(G_1, X_1) = \lim_K S^*(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{K}}$. For the Siegel datum (\tilde{G}, \tilde{X}) , we have that $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{G}) = \tilde{G}(\mathbb{A}_f)/Z(\tilde{G})(\mathbb{Q})$. We deduce that the closed subgroup $\mathcal{A}(G_1)$ of $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{G})$ acts on $\overline{S}^*(G_1, X_1)$ and $S^*(G_1, X_1)$ in a compatible way. We also deduce that the Hodge-Tate period map $\mathcal{S}^*(G_1, X_1) \to \overline{\mathcal{S}}^*(G_1, X_1) \to \mathcal{FL}_{G_1,\mu_{G_1}}$ is $\mathcal{A}(G_1)$ equivariant (by reduction to the Siegel case). We remark that the $\mathcal{A}(G_1)$ -action on $\mathcal{FL}_{G_1,\mu_{G_1}}$ factors through the map $\mathcal{A}(G_1) \to G_1^{ad}(\mathbb{A}_f) \to G_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$.

We are now ready to extend things to (B_1, X_{B_1}) . First, we have that $S^*(B_1, X_{B_1}) = [S^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1) \times \mathcal{A}(B_1)]/\mathcal{A}^0(B_1)$. We may also define $\overline{S}^*(B_1, X_{B_1}) = [\overline{S}^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1) \times \mathcal{A}(B_1)]/\mathcal{A}^0(B_1)$. By taking K-invariants, we define $S^*(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K}} = \overline{S}^*(B_1, X_{B_1})/K$. Our first lemma is:

Lemma 4.4.50. There is a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} \sim \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^pK_p}}$ and a perfectoid space $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^p} = \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star,\Diamond}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^pK_p}$.

Proof. We prove the first statement. Fix a compact open subgroup $K_p \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. It acts on the scheme $S^*(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}}$, and it acts on the connected components with finitely many orbits. We choose representatives for the orbits, which are all of

the form $S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}}$ for suitable elements $k_i \in B_1(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$. Let $S(k_i)$ be the stabilizer of the connected component $S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}}$ in K_p . This is a closed subgroup of K_p . We deduce that $S^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} = \prod_i [S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})]_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}} \times K_p]/S(k_i)$.

By theorem 4.4.43 (2), we can find compact open subgroups $(K_i^p)' \subseteq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$ such that we have finite morphisms $S^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{(K_i^p)'}} \to S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}}$, identifying $S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}}$ as the quotient of $S^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{(K_i^p)'}}$ by a finite group.

Now we pass to analytic geometry. It follows from lemma 4.4.6 and the results of 4.4.27 that the $\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1)_{\overline{(K_i^p)'}}$ are perfected. We deduce from lemma 4.4.7 that the $\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}}$ are perfected spaces.

We now want to define $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} = \coprod_i [\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}} \times K_p] / S(k_i)$. The product $\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{k_i K^p k_i^{-1}}} \times (K_p / S(k_i))$ is a perfectoid space, being the product of a perfectoid space with a profinite set. Checking that $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} \sim \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p K_p}}$ is now an easy exercise, again using 4.4.27. We deduce that $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^p} = \lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star,\Diamond}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^p K_p}$ by [BS19], thm. 1.16.

We can now construct the Hodge-Tate period map.

Lemma 4.4.51. We have a Hodge-Tate period map

 $\pi_{HT}: \mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K^p} \to \mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{B_1, \mu_{B_1}}$

which agrees on connected components with Hodge-Tate period map for G_1 . The Hodge-Tate period map is $B_1(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant and Hecke equivariant away from p. The map $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{B_1, \mu_{B_1}}$ is affinoid in the sense that $\mathcal{FL}_{B_1, \mu_{B_1}}$ has a cover by affinoid opens whose preimages in $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{\overline{K^p}}$ are good affinoid perfectoid opens.

Proof. We may pass to the limit over K^p and consider the map $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1}) = [\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1) \times \mathcal{A}(B_1)]/\mathcal{A}^0(B_1) \to \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$ sending $(x, a) \in \overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1) \times \mathcal{A}(B_1)$ to $a.\pi_{HT}(x)$ where $\pi_{HT}(x) \in \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}} = \mathcal{FL}_{G_1,\mu_{G_1}}$ and $\mathcal{A}(B_1)$ acts via its quotient $B_1^{ad}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ on $\mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$. Since the map $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star,0}(G_1, X_1) \to \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$ is $\mathcal{A}^0(G_1)$ -equivariant, we deduce that we have a well-defined $\mathcal{A}(B_1)$ -equivariant map $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star}(B_1, X_{B_1}) \to \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$. The affine property follows from the Hodge case. \Box

We now consider the descent from (B_1, X_{B_1}) to (G, X). We have a map $f : B_1 \to G$ inducing an isogeny $B_1^{der} \to G^{der}$.

Lemma 4.4.52. (1) We have a continuous surjective map $\mathcal{A}^0(B_1) \to \mathcal{A}^0(G)$ with kernel a pro-finite group Δ .

(2) We have a pro-finite étale morphism $S^0(B_1, X_{B_1}) \to S^0(G, X)$ which is Galois with group Δ .

Proof. Let $Cong(B_1)$ be the set of congruence subgroups of $B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$, and let Cong(G) be the set of congruence subgroups of $G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$. We claim that the map $f: B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \to G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$ induces a map $f^{-1}: Cong(G) \to Cong(B_1)$. Indeed, let $K \subseteq G^{der}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup, then $f^{-1}(K)$ is compact open in $B_1^{der}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ and $f^{-1}(G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K) = B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap f^{-1}(K)$. If $\Gamma \in Cong(B_1)$,

then $f(\Gamma)$ is an arithmetic subgroup of $G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+$ but not necessarily a congruence subgroup!

We consider the index set I of compact open subgroups $(K, K') \in B_1^{der}(\mathbb{A}_f) \times G^{der}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that $f(K) \subseteq K'$.

Let $\Gamma_K = B_1^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap \overline{K}$ and $\Gamma_{K'} = G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \cap K'$. Let $\Delta(K, K') = \Gamma_K \setminus \Gamma_{K'}$.

We observe that for any sufficiently small $\Gamma \in Cong(B_1)$ or $\Gamma \in Cong(G)$, the map $f \circ g : \Gamma \to G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ or $f : \Gamma \to G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ is injective. Indeed, remark that the kernel of $G^{der}(\mathbb{Q})_+ \to G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ is a finite group.

The groups $g \circ f(Cong(B_1))$ and f(Cong(G)) are the basis of open neighborhoods of 1 for two topologies $\tau(B_1)$ and $\tau(G)$ on $G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$. We know that $\mathcal{A}^0(B_1)$ and $\mathcal{A}^0(G)$ are the completion of $G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+$ for the topologies $\tau(B_1)$ and $\tau(G)$ respectively. Therefore, $\mathcal{A}^0(B_1) = \lim_{\Gamma \in Cong(B_1)} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+/\Gamma$ and $\mathcal{A}^0(G) = \lim_{\Gamma \in Cong(G)} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+/\Gamma$. By the Mittag-Leffler criterion the sequence

$$1 \to \lim_{(K,K')\in I} \Delta(K,K') \to \lim_{I} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+ / (\Gamma_K) \to \lim_{I} G^{ad}(\mathbb{Q})^+ / \Gamma_{K'} \to 1$$

is exact and equals $1 \to \Delta \to \mathcal{A}^0(B_1) \to \mathcal{A}^0(G) \to 1$.

We are now ready to descend everything from (B_1, X_{B_1}) to (G, X). First, we have that $S^{\star,0}(G, X) = S^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})/\Delta$ and we may also define $\overline{S}^{\star,0}(G, X) = \overline{S}^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})/\Delta$. We have $S^{\star}(G, X) = [S^{\star,0}(G, X) \times \mathcal{A}(G)]/\mathcal{A}^0(G)$. We may also define $\overline{S}^{\star}(G, X) = [\overline{S}^{\star,0}(G, X) \times \mathcal{A}(G)]/\mathcal{A}^0(G)$. By taking K-invariants, we define $\overline{S}^{\star}(G, X)/K = S^{\star}(G, X)_{\overline{K}}$.

Proposition 4.4.53. Let (G, X) be an abelian type Shimura datum as above.

- There is a perfectoid space S^{*}(G, X)_{K^p} ~ lim_{K_p} S^{*}(G, X)_{K^pK_p} and a perfectoid space S^{*}(G, X)_{K^p} = lim_{K_p} S^{*,◊}(G, X)_{K^pK_p}.
 We have a Hodge-Tate period map π_{HT} : S^{*}(G, X)_{K^p} → S^{*}(G, X)_{K^p} →
- (2) We have a Hodge-Tate period map $\pi_{HT} : S^*(G, X)_{K^p} \to S^*(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ which is $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -equivariant and Hecke equivariant. The map $S^*(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is affinoid in the sense that $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ has a cover by affinoid opens whose preimages in $S^*(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}}$ are good affinoid perfectoid opens.

Proof. For the first point, we observe that the group Δ acts trivially on the flag variety. Since π_{HT} was affinoid for (B_1, X_{B_1}) , we can use theorem 4.4.43 (6), and apply lemma 4.4.6 and lemma 4.4.7 to deduce that $\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}}$ is perfected. We may now extend the result from $\mathcal{S}^{\star,0}(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}}$ to $\mathcal{S}^{\star}(G, X)_{\overline{K^p}}$ as in the proof of lemma 4.4.50.

Passing to the limit over K^p , we have a Hodge-Tate period map $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})/\Delta = \overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star,0}(G, X) \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = \mathcal{FL}_{B_1,\mu_{B_1}}$ which is $\mathcal{A}^0(G)$ -equivariant. We deduce that there is a $\mathcal{A}(G)$ -equivariant Hodge-Tate period map $\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\star}(G, X) \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. The representability of $\lim_{K_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star,\Diamond}(G, X)_{K^pK_p}$ follows from [BS19], thm. 1.16.

4.5. The truncated Hodge-Tate period map. In most of this paper, we work on finite level Shimura varieties rather than perfectoid Shimura varieties. For this reason we introduce some truncated Hodge-Tate period map.

Let (G, X) be an abelian type Shimura datum. Let $K = K^p K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup. The group K_p acts on $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. We form the quotient space $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$, equipped with the quotient topology from the surjective map

 $\pi_{K_p} : \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$. We merely view $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ as a topological space. We adopt some definitions. We say that an open $U \subseteq \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ is affinoid if $\pi_{K_p}^{-1}(U)$ is affinoid. If $V \subseteq U \subseteq \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ are open we say that V is a rational subset of U if $\pi_{K_p}^{-1}(V)$ is a rational subset of $\pi_{K_p}^{-1}(U)$. We let the residue field of a point $x \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ be the residue field of any lift of this point to $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. To illustrate all these definitions, we have the following lemma:

Lemma 4.5.1. Any point $x \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ with finite residue field over \mathbb{Q}_p (i.e. a classical point in the sense of rigid analytic geometry) has a basis of neighborhoods consisting of affinoids $\{U_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ with the property that $U_{n+1} \subseteq U_n$ is a rational subset.

Proof. The group \mathcal{G} admits a filtration by open affinoid normal subgroups \mathcal{G}_n which form a basis of neighborhoods of the identity (take \mathcal{G}_n the subgroup of elements which reduce to 1 modulo p^n). Let $y \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ be a lift of x. Then $y\mathcal{G}_n \hookrightarrow \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is an affinoid for any $n \geq 1$ (this is a closed tube centered at the point y, this is also where we use that x has finite residue field over \mathbb{Q}_p). We now consider the group $\mathcal{G}_n K_p \subset \mathcal{G}$. The connected component of the identity of this group is \mathcal{G}_n , and the quotient $\mathcal{G}_n K_p/\mathcal{G}_n$ is a finite group. Then we find that $y\mathcal{G}_n K_p = \prod_{i \in I} yk_i\mathcal{G}_n$ for a finite set I and elements $k_i \in K_p$, and is therefore an affinoid which is K_p invariant. The $\{y\mathcal{G}_n K_p/K_p\}_{n\geq 1}$ form a basis of open neighborhoods of x. Moreover, $y\mathcal{G}_n K_p \subseteq y\mathcal{G}_{n-1}K_p$ is a rational subset because $yk_i\mathcal{G}_n \subseteq yk_i\mathcal{G}_{n-1}$ is a rational subset. \Box

The main result of this section is the following:

Theorem 4.5.2. There is a continuous map:

$$\pi_{HT,K_p}: \mathcal{S}_K^\star \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$$

which is equivariant for the action of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(K \setminus G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/K, \mathbb{Z})$ by correspondences.

Moreover, any point $x \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ with finite residue field over \mathbb{Q}_p (i.e. a classical point in the sense of rigid analytic geometry) has an affinoid neighborhood U such that for any rational subset $V \subseteq U$, $(\pi_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(V)$ is affinoid.

By proposition 4.4.53 there is a map $\pi_{HT} : \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^p}}^{\star} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ which is equivariant for the action of the $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. For any point $x \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$, there is an affinoid neighborhood U of x such that $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(U)$ is affinoid, and moreover, $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(U) = \lim_{K_p} \pi_{HT}^{-1}(U)_{K_p}$ where for K_p small enough, $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(U)_{K_p} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^pK_p}}^{\star}$ is affinoid. We call an open affinoid in $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ with these properties a *very good affinoid*. Clearly, a rational subset of a very good affinoid is a very good affinoid.

We can define truncated Hodge-Tate period maps:

 $\pi_{HT,K_p}: \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star} \to \mathcal{S}_{\overline{K^pK_p}}^{\star} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p.$

Lemma 4.5.3. The map π_{HT,K_p} is continuous.

Proof. We have a continuous map (of topological spaces) $\lim_{K'_p} \mathcal{S}^{\star}_{K^p K'_p} \to \mathcal{S}^{\star}_{\overline{K^p}} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. For all normal subgroup $K'_p \subseteq K_p$, the map $\mathcal{S}^{\star}_{K^p K'_p} \to \mathcal{S}^{\star}_{K^p K_p}$ is surjective and the target carries the quotient topology ([Han19], theorem 1.1). The continuity of the map of the lemma follows.

Lemma 4.5.4. Let $V \subseteq \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ be a very good affinoid invariant under a compact open subgroup K_p . Let \overline{V} be its image in $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$. Then $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{-1}(\overline{V}) \subseteq \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ is affinoid.

Proof. It is part of the definition that $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(V)$ is the pullback of an affinoid $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(V)_{K'_p} \subset S^{\star}_{\overline{K^p}K'_p}$ for some $K'_p \subseteq K_p$, a normal compact open subgroup. We can further pull back $\pi_{HT}^{-1}(V)_{K'_p}$ to an affinoid $\tilde{U} \subseteq S^{\star}_{K^pK'_p}$. The space $S^{\star}_{K^pK_p}$ is the categorical quotient of $S^{\star}_{K^pK'_p}$ by K_p/K'_p , and the image of \tilde{U} in $S^{\star}_{K^pK_n}$ is indeed affinoid. \Box

Proof of Theorem 4.5.2. The continuity of the map is lemma 4.5.3. Let $x \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ with finite residue field over \mathbb{Q}_p . Let y be a lift of x in $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. For n large enough, $x\mathcal{G}_n \hookrightarrow \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is a very good affinoid (where \mathcal{G}_n is the subgroup of elements which reduce to 1 modulo p^n as in lemma 4.5.1). We form the group $\mathcal{G}_n K_p$. Then $y\mathcal{G}_n K_p = \prod_{i \in I} xk_i\mathcal{G}_n$ for a finite set I and elements $k_i \in K_p$. Moreover, $yk_i\mathcal{G}_n = y\mathcal{G}_nk_i$ is a very good affinoid (because the property of being a very good affinoid is preserved under $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -action). A finite disjoint union of very good affinoids is a very good affinoid. We can apply lemma 4.5.4, to $y\mathcal{G}_nK_p$. The image of $y\mathcal{G}_nK_p$ in $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p$ provides the open neighborhood U of x as in the theorem. Finally, since any rational subset of a very good affinoid is again a very good affinoid, a second application of lemma 4.5.4 proves the last point.

We also adopt the notation $\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor}: \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star} \stackrel{\pi_{HT,K_p}}{\to} \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}/K_p.$

4.6. Reductions of the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} . The group G of the Shimura datum is defined over \mathbb{Q} . We recall that we have fixed a finite extension F of \mathbb{Q}_p which splits G. We have also fixed a representative of the cocharacter μ over F and let P_{μ} and M_{μ} be the corresponding parabolic and Levi subgroups of G. We will soon assume that G is quasi-split over \mathbb{Q}_p . When this is the case we assume that P_{μ} contains a Borel B defined over \mathbb{Q}_p . We take a reductive model for G_F defined over Spec \mathcal{O}_F . By abuse of notation, we also denote this model by G. We also then have models for P_{μ} and M_{μ} over Spec \mathcal{O}_F . On the analytic side, we have the (nonquasi-compact) groups \mathcal{G}^{an} , \mathcal{P}_{μ}^{an} , and \mathcal{M}_{μ}^{an} , all considered over Spa (F, \mathcal{O}_F) , and there is an embedding $G(\mathbb{Q}_p) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}^{an}$. Because we have fixed an integral model for G, we also have the quasi-compact groups $\mathcal{G} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}^{an}$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}$, and $\mathcal{M}_{\mu} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an}$.

The goal of this section is to use the Hodge-Tate period morphism to produce some finer structure on the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} . These result generalize those obtained in [AIP15], prop. 4.3.1 for example. These refined structure will allow us to *p*-adically interpolate automorphic vector bundles.

4.6.1. *Preparations.* We start by giving a detailed description of the torsor pulled back from the map $\pi_{HT}^{tor}: \mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$.

If (G, X) is Hodge type Shimura datum, and Σ is a perfect cone decomposition, then $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ is a perfectoid space. In the general abelian case, it is only known to be a diamond.

Let $S \to \mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ be a map from a perfectoid space S. By composing with π_{HT}^{tor} , we get a map $S \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ which can be described as follows. Over S, we have a map $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \to \mathcal{G}^{c,an} \times S$, from the $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{c,an}$ -torsor \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} to the trivial $\mathcal{G}^{c,an}$ -torsor, which is equivariant for the natural morphism of groups $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{c,an} \to \mathcal{G}^{c,an}$. There is an étale cover $\tilde{S} \to S$ such that the torsor $\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \times_S \tilde{S}$ becomes trivial and aquires a section $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{G}^{c,an}(\tilde{S})$, unique up to left multiplication by elements of $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{c,an}(\tilde{S})$, so that we get a commutative diagram of torsors:



Over $\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}$, there is a section $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{P}^{c,an}_{\mu}(\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S})$ such that $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}} \cdot p_1^* g_{\tilde{S}} = p_2^* g_{\tilde{S}}$. The section $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}}$ is a 1-cocycle which describes the original torsor \mathcal{P}^{an}_{HT} . Changing $g_{\tilde{S}}$ by left multiplication by an element of $\mathcal{P}^{c,an}_{\mu}(\tilde{S})$ will change $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}}$ by a coboundary.

The image of $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}(\tilde{S})$ descends to give a point in $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}(S)$: the morphism $S \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ we started with.

The group \mathcal{G}^{an} acts on the right on $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. Concretely this action sends $g_{\tilde{S}}$ to $g_{\tilde{S}}.g$. This action does not affect the construction of the torsor \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} which is indeed \mathcal{G}^{an} -equivariant.

4.6.2. Integral structure. Recall that \mathcal{M}^{c}_{μ} is a (quasi-compact) open subgroup of $\mathcal{M}^{c,an}_{\mu}$. The following proposition can be interpreted as the existence of an integral structure on the torsors \mathcal{M}^{an}_{dR} or \mathcal{M}^{an}_{HT} .

Proposition 4.6.3. Let $K_p \subset G(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap G(\mathcal{O}_F)$. The étale torsor $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} = \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}$ over $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_n,\Sigma}^{tor}$ has a reduction of structure group to an étale \mathcal{M}_{μ}^c -torsor $\mathcal{M}_{dR} = \mathcal{M}_{HT}$.

Remark 4.6.4. In the Siegel case, the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} is (ignoring the center) the torsor of trivializations of the vector bundle ω_A , the conormal sheaf of the universal semiabelian scheme over $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ (well defined up to prime to *p*-isogeny by our choice of level structure). A possible integral structure is obtained by declaring that an invariant differential form is integral if it extends to an invariant differential form on an integral model of the universal semi-abelian scheme. However, the integral structure we consider here is different. Namely, we declare that a differential form is integral if it is in the span of the image of the integral Tate module for the Hodge-Tate period map. By [Far11], Theorem 2, section 5.3.2. we can explicitly bound the difference between both integral structures.

Proof. We work over $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$. Let $S \to \mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ be a map from a perfectoid space. We first explain how to define the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT} over S (in a functorial way).

The map $S \to \mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$ is described by an element $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{G}^{c,an}(\tilde{S})$ for some étale cover $\tilde{S} \to S$. We are free to change $g_{\tilde{S}}$ by left multiplication by an element of $\mathcal{P}^{c,an}_{\mu}(\tilde{S})$. Thus, up to passing to some further cover of \tilde{S} , we may actually assume that $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{G}^c(\tilde{S})$ (because $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu} = \mathcal{P}^c_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{G}^c = \mathcal{P}^{c,an}_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{G}^{c,an}$), and this new element is well defined up to multiplication by an element of $\mathcal{P}^c_{\mu}(\tilde{S})$. The torsor \mathcal{P}^{an}_{HT} is defined by the cocycle $h_{\tilde{S}\times_S\tilde{S}} = p_2^*g_{\tilde{S}} \cdot (p_1^*g_{\tilde{S}})^{-1} \in \mathcal{P}^c_{\mu}(\tilde{S}\times_S\tilde{S}) \subset \mathcal{P}^{c,an}_{\mu}(\tilde{S}\times_S\tilde{S})$. We therefore have produced a reduction of the torsor \mathcal{P}^{an}_{HT} to a torsor \mathcal{P}_{HT} under the group \mathcal{P}^c_{μ} . We can take the pushout under the map $\mathcal{P}^c_{\mu} \to \mathcal{M}^c_{\mu}$ (which amounts to projecting $h_{\tilde{S}\times_S\tilde{S}}$ in $\mathcal{M}^c_{\mu}(\tilde{S}\times_S\tilde{S})$) to get the desired torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT} . We now proceed to descend from $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ to $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$. We have an étale torsor $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$, and we have defined an open subset $\mathcal{M}_{HT} \subset \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}}$. $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$. We claim that this open descends to an open subset of \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} . The map $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}$ identifies the topological space $|\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}|$ with the quotient of $|\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}|$ by the action of K_{p} . We have an identification between K_{p} -invariant open subsets of $\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ and open subsets of \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} . The only thing to check is therefore that \mathcal{M}_{HT} is indeed invariant under the action of K_{p} . We go back to considering a map $S \to \mathcal{S}_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$, described by an element $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{G}^{c}(\tilde{S})$ (it is crucial here that $k \in K_{p} \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_{F})$) and the corresponding reduction of the torsor described by the element $p_{2}^{*}g_{\tilde{S}}k.(p_{1}^{*}g_{\tilde{S}}.k)^{-1} = p_{2}^{*}g_{\tilde{S}}.(p_{1}^{*}g_{\tilde{S}})^{-1}$ doesn't depend on k.

We need to prove that the action map $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \to \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}$ (which is an isomorphism), induces an isomorphism $\mathcal{M}_{\mu} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT} \to \mathcal{M}_{HT} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT}$. In other words, we need to prove that the two open subsets $\mathcal{M}_{\mu} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{HT} \times \mathcal{M}_{HT}$ identify via the action map. This can be checked after pull back to $S_{K^{p},\Sigma}^{tor}$ and this is true. Finally, the morphism $\mathcal{M}_{HT} \to \mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ is smooth, and surjective on geometric points. Therefore, there are sections étale-locally and \mathcal{M}_{HT} is an étale torsor. \Box

Remark 4.6.5. The above argument uses crucially that we know that \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} descends from $\mathcal{S}_{K^p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ to $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$, because pro-étale descent is not effective in general.

Remark 4.6.6. We briefly explain how the construction in the abelian case connects with the construction in the Hodge case, in order to illustrate principle 4.4.44. We consider a diagram of Shimura datum with (G, X) of abelian type and (G_1, X_1) of Hodge type as in section 4.4.41:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (B_1, X_{B_1}) \longrightarrow (B, X_B) \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ (G_1, X_1) & (G, X) \end{array}$$

We may assume that the various morphisms between the groups G_1, B_1, B, G over \mathbb{Q} extend to morphisms over \mathcal{O}_F . We assume that we have a diagram for suitable compacts K', K_1, K_2, K_3 with $K'_p \subseteq B_1(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $K_{1,p} \subseteq G_1(\mathcal{O}_F)$, and cone decomposition for G_1 :

$$\begin{array}{cccc} S^{tor}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K', \Sigma} & \xrightarrow{\pi_1} & S^{tor}(G_1, X_1)_{K_1, \Sigma} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & S(T, X_T)_{K_2} & \longrightarrow & S(G_1^{ab}, X_{G_1^{ab}})_{K_3} \end{array}$$

We have the first formula:

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT}(B_1, X_{B_1}) = \pi_1^* \mathcal{M}_{HT}(G_1, X_1) \times_{\pi^* \mathcal{M}_{HT}(G_1^{ab}, X_{G_1^{ab}})} \pi_2^* \mathcal{M}_{HT}(T, X_T)$$

Secondly, we have a finite map: $S^{tor,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K',\Sigma} \to S^{tor,0}(G, X)_{K,\Sigma}$, generically finite étale with group $\Delta(K, K')$ (possibly after refining Σ). and the second

formula

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT}(B_1, X_{B_1}) \times^{\mathcal{M}^c_{\mu_{B_1}}} \mathcal{M}^c_{\mu_G}) / \Delta(K, K') = \mathcal{M}_{HT}(G, X_G)$$

(valid for the restrictions of the torsor to the connected component).

For $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$, the sheaf \mathcal{V}_{κ} is modeled on the representation V_{κ} of \mathcal{M}^{an}_{μ} defined over F. Recall that V_{κ} is defined as the module of sections $f(m) \in$ $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{M}^{an}_{\mu}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{M}^{an}_{\mu}})$ such that $f(mb) = -w_{0,M}\kappa(b)f(m)$ for $b \in \mathcal{B}^{an} \cap \mathcal{M}^{an}_{\mu}$. Using that

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an}/(\mathcal{B}^{an}\cap\mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an})=\mathcal{M}_{\mu}/(\mathcal{B}\cap\mathcal{M}_{\mu})$$

we find that this is also the module of sections $f(m) \in \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{M}_\mu, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{M}_\mu})$ such that $f(mb) = -w_{0,M}\kappa(b)f(m)$ for $b \in \mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{M}_\mu$.

We can define an \mathcal{O}_F -submodule $V_{\kappa}^+ \subset V_{\kappa}$ by considering sections $f(m) \in H^0(\mathcal{M}_{\mu}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}_{\mu}}^+)$ such that $f(mb) = -w_{0,M_{\mu}}\kappa(b)f(m)$. Since $H^0(\mathcal{M}_{\mu}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}_{\mu}}^+)$ is open and bounded in $H^0(\mathcal{M}_{\mu}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}_{\mu}})$, we deduce that V_{κ}^+ is a lattice in V_{κ} , stable under the action of \mathcal{M}_{μ} .

Corollary 4.6.7. Assume that $K_p \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$. For all $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$, the locally free sheaf \mathcal{V}_{κ} over $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ has an integral structure \mathcal{V}_{κ}^+ in the sense of definition 2.6.1.

Proof. We consider the map $g : \mathcal{M}_{dR} \to \mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. We let \mathcal{V}_{κ}^+ be the subsheaf of $g_{\star} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{M}_{dR}}^+$ of sections f(m) which satisfy $f(mb) = -w_{0,M}\kappa(b)f(m)$.

4.6.8. Further reductions of the group structure. We assume that $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ for $m' \geq b' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and m' > 0 (see section 3.5.1). This is a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ with an Iwahori decomposition. For any $w \in {}^M W$, we let $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ be the projection of $wK_pw^{-1} \cap \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$ to \mathcal{M}_{μ} .

We will describe this group. We can define $N_{p,w,M_{\mu}} = K_{p,w,M_{\mu}} \cap U_{M_{\mu}}$ and $\overline{N}_{p,w,M_{\mu}} = K_{p,w,M_{\mu}} \cap \overline{U}_{M_{\mu}}$, where we let $B_{M_{\mu}}$ be the Borel subgroup of M_{μ} which is the image of B in M_{μ} , $\overline{B}_{M_{\mu}}$ the opposite Borel, and $U_{M_{\mu}}$ (resp. $\overline{U}_{M_{\mu}}$) be the unipotent radical of $B_{M_{\mu}}$ (resp. $\overline{B}_{M_{\mu}}$). We also recall that $T_{b'} = \text{Ker}(T(\mathcal{O}_F) \to T(\mathcal{O}_F/p^{b'})) \cap T(\mathbb{Q}_p) = T \cap K_p$.

Proposition 4.6.9. For any $w \in {}^{M}W$, the group $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ is a subgroup of the Iwahori subgroup of $M_{\mu}(\mathcal{O}_{F})$. Moreover, it admits an Iwahori decomposition. Namely, the product map:

$$N_{p,w,M_{\mu}} \times wT_{b'}w^{-1} \times \overline{N}_{p,w,M_{\mu}} \to K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$$

is an isomorphism.

When G is unramified, M_{μ} is defined over \mathbb{Q}_p , w is $\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -invariant, and $K_p = K_{p,1,0}$ is the Iwahori subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, then $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ is the Iwahori subgroup of $M_{\mu}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

Proof. Let U and \overline{U} be respectively the unipotent radicals of B and \overline{B} . We have the Iwahori decomposition $K_p = \overline{N}_p \times T_{b'}(\mathbb{Z}_p) \times N_p$ where $N_p = K_p \cap U$ is $U(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap U(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $\overline{N}_p = K_p \cap \overline{U} \subseteq \overline{U}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ is the subgroup of elements reducing to 1 modulo $p^{m'}$. It is useful to give a more precise version of this decomposition. We let Φ be the set of roots (defined over F). We have $\Phi = \Phi_M^+ \coprod \Phi_M^- \coprod \Phi^{+,M} \coprod \Phi^{-,M}$, where $\Phi_M = \Phi_M^+ \coprod \Phi_M^-$ is the set of roots in M. We also let $\Phi_0 = \Phi/\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and have $\Phi_0 = \Phi_0^+ \coprod \Phi_0^-$ (because G is quasi-split).

For all $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0$, we let $U_{\alpha_0} \hookrightarrow G$ be the corresponding unipotent group. For all $\alpha \in \Phi$ we also denote by $U_{\alpha} \hookrightarrow G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ the one parameter subgroup. We have $U_{\alpha_0} \times_{\operatorname{Spec}} \mathbb{Q}_p$ Spec $F = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi, \alpha \mapsto \alpha_0} U_{\alpha} \times_{\operatorname{Spec}} \mathbb{O}_F$ Spec F. We consider the product map (in any order of the factors):

$$\prod_{\alpha_0} U_{\alpha_0}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \times T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to G(\mathbb{Q}_p).$$

This maps induces a bijection between K_p and the set of elements $((n_{\alpha_0})_{\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0}, t)$ which satisfy: $n_{\alpha_0}, t \in G(\mathcal{O}_F), n_{\alpha_0} = 1 \mod p^{m'}$ if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^-$, and $t = 1 \mod p^{b'}$. We get that $wK_pw^{-1} \cap P_{\mu}$ identifies (via the product map) with the set of elements $((wn_{\alpha_0}w^{-1})_{\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0} \in wU_{\alpha_0}(\mathbb{Q}_p)w^{-1}, wtw^{-1} \in wT(\mathbb{Q}_p)w^{-1})$ such that:

- $n_{\alpha_0}, t \in G(\mathcal{O}_F),$
- $n_{\alpha_0} = 1 \mod p^{m'}$ if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^-$,
- $t = 1 \mod p^{b'}$,
- $n_{\alpha_0} \in U'_{\alpha_0} = \operatorname{Ker} (U_{\alpha_0}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \cap G(\mathcal{O}_F) \to \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}, \alpha \mapsto \alpha_0} U_{\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_F)).$

We let $U''_{\alpha_0} = \operatorname{Im}(U'_{\alpha_0} \to \prod_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi_M, \alpha \mapsto \alpha_0} U_{\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_F))$. We deduce that $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ is in bijection (via the product map) with the elements $((wn_{\alpha_0}w^{-1})_{\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0} \in wU''_{\alpha_0}w^{-1}, wtw^{-1} \in wT_{b'}w^{-1})$ such that $n_{\alpha_0} = 1 \mod p^{m'}$ if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^-$. The fact that any element of $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ can be written in this way follows from the previous discussion. The injectivity of the product map is a general fact.

We now observe that $w \in {}^{M}W$ and therefore $\Phi_{M}^{+} \subset w(\Phi^{+})$ and $\Phi_{M}^{-} \subset w(\Phi^{-})$. We deduce that $w^{-1}\Phi_{M} \cap \Phi^{-} = w^{-1}\Phi_{M}^{-}$ and $w^{-1}\Phi_{M} \cap \Phi^{+} = w^{-1}\Phi_{M}^{+}$.

It follows that if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^+$, $wU_{\alpha_0}''w^{-1} \subset U_{M_\mu}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^-, wU_{\alpha_0}''w^{-1} \subset \overline{U}_{M_\mu}(\mathcal{O}_F)$. Therefore, we deduce that $K_{p,w,M_\mu} = N_{p,w,M_\mu} \times wT_{b'}w^{-1} \times \overline{N}_{p,w,M_\mu}$. By the condition that $n_{\alpha_0} = 1 \mod p^{m'}$ if $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_0^-$, we deduce that K_{p,w,M_μ} is a subgroup of the Iwahori of $M_\mu(\mathcal{O}_F)$.

Finally, if G is unramified, and M_{μ} is defined over \mathbb{Q}_p , the partition $\Phi = \Phi_M^+ \coprod \Phi_M^- \coprod \Phi_M^- \coprod \Phi_{0,M}^- \coprod \Phi_{0,M}^-$. If w is rational, then it acts on Φ_0 . Assume that $K_p = K_{p,1,0}$. The description of $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ simplifies and we find that $U_{\alpha_0}'' = \{1\}$ if $\alpha_0 \notin w^{-1}\Phi_{0,M}, U_{\alpha_0}'' = U_{\alpha_0}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ if $\alpha_0 \in w^{-1}\Phi_{0,M}$. It follows that $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ is the Iwahori of $M_{\mu}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

Example 4.6.10. The group $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ may be a little strange. Let us consider the following example. We assume that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{Q}_p 2}/\mathbb{Q}_p \operatorname{GL}_2$, with standard diagonal torus $T_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ and upper triangular borel $B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$. We let $K_p = K_{p,1,0}$. We identify $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{p^2}} = \operatorname{GL}_2 \times \operatorname{GL}_2$. We assume that μ is defined over \mathbb{Q}_{p^2} and is given by the cocharacter $t \mapsto \operatorname{diag}(t,1) \times \operatorname{diag}(1,1)$ of $T_{\mathbb{Q}_{p^2}}$. We deduce that P_{μ} is $B_{\mathbb{Q}_{p^2}} \times \operatorname{GL}_2$, and that M_{μ} is $T_{\mathbb{Q}_{p^2}} \times GL_2$. We finally observe that $K_p \cap P_{\mu}$ is $B(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ and therefore $K_{p,1,\mu}$ is the image of $B(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ in $T(\mathbb{Q}_{p^2}) \times GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_{p^2})$.

For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$, we let $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1$ be the subgroup of \mathcal{G} of elements which reduce to \mathcal{U} modulo $p^{m+\epsilon}$ for all $\epsilon > 0$ and to $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ modulo p^n (see section 3.3.10). We let $\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^1 \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$ be the group of elements which reduce to $\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{M}_{\mu}}$ modulo $p^{m+\epsilon}$ for all $\epsilon > 0$ and to $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathcal{M}_{\mu}}$ modulo p^n . **Lemma 4.6.11.** Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ with $m' \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $b' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Let $m, n \geq 0$ and assume that $0 \leq m - n \leq m' - 1$. Then $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}$ normalizes $\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,m,n}$.

Proof. Observe that $K_p \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{m-n,0}$. By lemma 3.3.15, K_p normalizes $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1$. Moreover, $\operatorname{Im}(w\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1} \cap \mathcal{P}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}) = \mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^1$.

It follows from this lemma that $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,m,n}$ is a subgroup of \mathcal{M}_{μ} .

Proposition 4.6.12. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ with $m' \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $m' \geq b'$. Let $m, n \geq 0$ and assume that $0 \leq m-n \leq m'-1$. Over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p) \subseteq S_{K^pK_{p,\Sigma}}^{tor}$, the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT} has a reduction to an étale torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p} under the group $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^{1,c}$.

Proof. The proof is very similar to the proof of proposition 4.6.3. We observe that $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p = \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} \setminus \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} w \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 K_p$. Since K_p normalizes $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1$, $\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 K_p = K_p \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1$ is a group. It follows that

$$|C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p = (\mathcal{P}^{an}_{\mu} \cap wK_p\mathcal{G}^1_{m,n}w^{-1}) \setminus wK_p\mathcal{G}^1_{m,n}w^{-1}.w$$

Observe that we have the following K_p -equivariant $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^{1,c}$ -torsor:

$$(\mathcal{U}^{an,c}_{\mu}\cap wK^{c}_{p}\mathcal{G}^{1,c}_{m,n}w^{-1})\backslash wK^{c}_{p}\mathcal{G}^{1,c}_{m,n}w^{-1}.w \to (\mathcal{P}^{an}_{\mu}\cap wK_{p}\mathcal{G}^{1}_{m,n}w^{-1})\backslash wK_{p}\mathcal{G}^{1}_{m,n}w^{-1}.w$$

and we proceed to pull back and descend this torsor.

We first construct the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p} as an open subset of

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT} \times_{S_{K\Sigma}^{tor}} (\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p),$$

and prove it is K_p -invariant to descend it to an open subset of

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT} \times_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p).$$

Let $S \to (\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)$ be a map from a perfectoid space S. The torsor \mathcal{P}_{HT} is described as follows: there is a cover $\tilde{S} \to S$ and an element $g_{\tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{G}(\tilde{S})$ such that $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}} = p_2^* g_{\tilde{S}} \cdot (p_1^* g_{\tilde{S}})^{-1} \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}(\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S})$ is a 1-cocycle describing the torsor. By assumption, we may assume $g_{\tilde{S}} \in w\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 K_p$, so that $h_{\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}} \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}(\tilde{S} \times_S \tilde{S}) \cap w\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 K_p w^{-1}$ and its image in \mathcal{M}_{μ} describes a reduction \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p} of $\mathcal{M}_{HT} \times_{S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}} (\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)$ to a $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^1$ -torsor. One checks easily that this torsor is K_p -invariant and therefore descends to a torsor over $(\pi_{T,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)$.

Remark 4.6.13. The connection between the abelian case and Hodge case can be described similarly as in remark 4.6.6. We may use section 3.5.5 to make sure that the subset $]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p]$ of the flag variety doesn't change when we consider the different groups G_1, B_1, G .

Proposition 4.6.14. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ with $m' \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $m' \geq b'$. Let $K'_p = K_{p,m'',b''}$ with $m'' \geq m'$ and $m'' \geq b'' \geq b'$. Let $m, n \geq 0$

and assume that $0 \le m - n \le m' - 1$. Let $r, s \ge 0$ with $r \ge m$, $s \ge m$ and $0 \le r - s \le m'' - 1$. There is a commutative diagram:

The top horizontal map is equivariant for the map $K'_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,r,s} \to K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,m,n}$.

Proof. This follows from the construction of the torsors.

We have a map $\mathcal{M}_{\mu,n,n}^1 \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}$ where $\mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}$ is the sub-group of \mathcal{M}_{μ} of elements reducing to 1 modulo p^n . Let $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ with m' > 0, $m' \ge b'$ and let $m, n \ge 0$ be such that $0 \le m - n \le m' - 1$. Over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$, we define the pushout:

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} = \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,n,K_p} \times^{K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n,n}^{1,c}} K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^c.$$

It is sometimes more convenient to work with this torsor because the group $\mathcal{M}^c_{\mu,n}$ is affinoid.

Proposition 4.6.15. Assume that (G, X) is a Hodge-type Shimura datum and Σ a perfect cone decomposition. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$. For any affinoid open $\operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+) \to (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ which we assume to be pregood (see definition 4.4.3), there exists $K'_p \subseteq K_p$ such that over $\operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+) \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^pK'_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} is trivial.

Remark 4.6.16. It will be important for certain vanishing theorems that we are able to prove the triviality of the torsor after a finite flat cover for pregood affinoid opens.

Proof. Let us consider a decreasing sequence of compacts $K_{p,k}$ with $K_{p,0} = K_p$ and $\cap_k K_{p,k} = \{1\}$. Let $\operatorname{Spa}(R_k, R_k^+) = \operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+) \times_{\mathcal{S}_{K^p K_p, \Sigma}^{tor}} \mathcal{S}_{K^p K_{p,k}, \Sigma}^{tor}$. Let $\operatorname{Spa}(R_{\infty}, R_{\infty}^+) = \lim \operatorname{Spa}(R_k, R_k^+)$ be an affinoid open of $\mathcal{S}_{K^p, \Sigma}^{tor}$. We first observe that the torsor $\mathcal{M}_{aT}^{HT}|_{\operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+)}$ is a Stein space, which can be written as an increasing union of quasi-compact affinoid subsets:

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}|_{\mathrm{Spa}(R,R^+)} = \cup_{i \ge 0} (\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an})_i.$$

Over $\text{Spa}(R_{\infty}, R_{\infty}^+)$ we observe that the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} is trivial. Indeed, this torsor is pulled back from the following torsor (over the flag variety):

$$(U_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} \cap wK_{p}\mathcal{G}_{n}w^{-1}) \backslash wK_{p}\mathcal{G}_{n}w^{-1} \to (\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \cap wK_{p}\mathcal{G}_{n}w^{-1}) \backslash wK_{p}\mathcal{G}_{n}w^{-1}$$

which is trivial because of the Iwahori decomposition of the group $wK_p\mathcal{G}_nw^{-1}$. It follows that $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_{\infty}, R_{\infty}^+)$ is affinoid, and is a rational open subset of $(\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an})_i \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_{\infty}, R_{\infty}^+)$ for *i* large enough.

We deduce that $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_k, R_k^+)$ is a rational subset of $(\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an})_i \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_k, R_k^+)$ for k large enough (by approximating the equations defining $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_{\infty}, R_{\infty}^+)$). Therefore, $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(R_k, R_k^+) = \operatorname{Spa}(T, T^+)$ where (T, T^+) is an (R_k, R_k^+) algebra topologically of finite type. Moreover, there is a section

 \Box

 $T^+ \hat{\otimes}_{R_k^+} R_\infty^+ \to R_\infty^+$. We now prove that this section can be approximated to a section $T^+ \hat{\otimes}_{R_k^+} R_{k'}^+ \to R_{k'}^+$ for k' large enough. By [Elk73], theorem 7, there is a finite type R_k^+ -algebra A, such that A[1/p] is smooth over $R_k^+[1/p]$, and whose p-adic completion is isomorphic to T^+ . By [Elk73], theorem 2, there exists integers $n_0, r \ge 0$ with the property that for any $n \ge n_0$, for any map of R_k^+ -algebras $f: A \to R_{k'}^+/p^n$ there is a map $\tilde{f}: A \to R_{k'}^+$ with the property that $f \mod p^{n-r} = \tilde{f} \mod p^{n-r}$ (the ideal denoted H_B of the reference contains p^h for a large enough integer h, because A[1/p] is smooth over $R_k^+[1/p]$). Let $n = n_0 + r$. We consider the section $s: A \to R_{\infty}^+$. Its reduction mod p^n factors through $s \mod p^n : A \to R_{k'}^+/p^n$ for k' large enough and therefore we find a lift to a section $\tilde{s}: A \to R_{k'}^+$.

Remark 4.6.17. We ask the following question: let S be an affinoid adic space and let \mathcal{H} be an affinoid group over S. Let $\mathcal{T} \to S$ be a \mathcal{H} -torsor for the étale topology. Is \mathcal{T} affinoid over S? It follows from proposition 4.6.15 that the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} is affinoid over any pregood affinoid open.

4.6.18. Maps between torsors. We consider for the moment the following abstract situation. We assume that we have two analytic groups $\mathcal{K} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}$. For $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we let \mathcal{K}_i be \mathcal{K} -torsors over an adic space \mathcal{X} . We let \mathcal{G}_i be their push-out via the map $\mathcal{K} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}$. Let $\alpha : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ be a map of \mathcal{G} -torsors over \mathcal{X} . Over any cover $\mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}$ which trivializes both \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 , we can represent the map α by an element $g \in \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U})$, well defined up to right and left multiplication by $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})$. We shall say that the map α is locally represented (over \mathcal{U}) by $\mathcal{K}g\mathcal{K}$. When \mathcal{K} is clear from the context, we also say for simplicity that the map is locally represented by g.

Let (G, X) be an abelian Shimura datum. Let $t \in G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Let $K^p K_p \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup. For suitable choices of polyhedral cone decomposition, we have a correspondence:



We get an associated map of pro-Kummer-étale right torsors:

which by definition is locally represented by t. We also deduce a map of étale right torsors:



Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $K_p = K_{p,m',b'}$ with m' > 0 and $b' \ge 0$. Let $m, n \ge 0$ and assume that $0 \le m - n \le m' - 1$. Over $p_2^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)) \cap p_1^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p))$, we have a map of étale right torsors:



Proposition 4.6.19. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$. Let $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. The map $p_1^{\star}\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} \to p_2^{\star}\mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an}$ restricted to

$$p_2^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)) \cap p_1^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p))$$

is locally represented by

$$K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^{1,c}wtw^{-1}K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^{1,c}$$

Proof. By definition of the Hecke correspondence, the map $p_1^*\mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an} \to p_2^*\mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an}$ is locally represented by t. This means that locally for the pro-Kummer-étale topology we have sections $x_2 \in p_2^*\mathcal{G}_{pet}$ and $x_1 \in p_1^*\mathcal{G}_{pet}$ and there is an isomorphism



where the bottom map is $x_1g \mapsto x_2g = x_1tg$. We now get by pushforward to \mathcal{G}^{an} a diagram:



The torsors $p_1^* \mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an}$ and $p_2^* \mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an}$ arise by pushforward from torsors $p_1^* \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}$ and $p_2^* \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}$ and we have a diagram:

$$p_{1}^{\star}\mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an} \longrightarrow p_{2}^{\star}\mathcal{G}_{pet}^{an}$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow$$

$$p_{1}^{\star}\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an} \longrightarrow p_{2}^{\star}\mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}$$

We pick $w \in {}^{M}W$ and we work locally over

$$p_2^{-1}\big((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)\big) \cap p_1^{-1}\big((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)\big) \subseteq S_{K^p(K_p\cap tK_pt^{-1}),\Sigma''}^{tor}$$

Concretely, this means that we can find trivializations x'_1 and x'_2 of $p_1^* \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}$ and $p_2^* \mathcal{P}_{HT}^{an}$ of the form $x_2 = x'_2 w h_2$ and $x_1 = x'_1 w h_1$ for $h_i \in \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^{1,c} K_p^c$.

We deduce that

$$x_2' = x_1' w h_1 t h_2^{-1} w^{-1}$$

This forces $wh_1th_2^{-1}w^{-1} \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an,c}$. By pushforward to \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} we get:

where x'_2 and x'_1 are now viewed as sections of $p_2^* \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p}$ and $p_1^* \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p}$ and the bottom map is given by

$$x_2'm = x_1'\overline{(wh_1th_2^{-1}w^{-1})}m$$

where $\overline{(wh_1th_2^{-1}w^{-1})}$ is the image of $(wh_1th_2^{-1}w^{-1})$ via the map $\mathcal{P}^{an}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{M}^{an}_{\mu}$. By lemma 4.6.20, $\overline{(wh_1th_2^{-1}w^{-1})} \in K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}^{1,c}_{\mu,m,n} wtw^{-1}K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}^{1,c}_{\mu,m,n}.$

Lemma 4.6.20. For any $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, we have that

 $\operatorname{Im}(wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1tK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1}\cap\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}\to\mathcal{M}_{\mu}^{an})=K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^1wtw^{-1}K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^1$ *Proof.* We will prove that $(wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1tK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1})\cap \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an} =$

 $((wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1})\cap\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an})wtw^{-1}((wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1})\cap\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}).$

Any element in $k \in w K_p \mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1 w^{-1}$ writes uniquely $\prod_{\alpha \in \Phi} k_\alpha$ (for any fixed ordering of the roots). Let

$$kwtw^{-1}k' \in (wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1}wtw^{-1}wK_p\mathcal{G}_{m,n}^1w^{-1}) \cap \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}$$

with $k = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \cup \Phi_M^-} k_\alpha \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^-, M} k_\alpha$ and $k' = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^-, M} k'_\alpha \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \cup \Phi_M^-} k'_\alpha$. A necessary and sufficient condition that $kwtw^{-1}k' \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}$ is that $k''wtw^{-1}k''' \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{an}$ where $k'' = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi_M^-} k_\alpha$ and $k''' = \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi_M^-} k'''_\alpha$. But $k''wtw^{-1}k''' \in \mathcal{U}_{\overline{P}_{\mu}^{an}} \rtimes \mathcal{T}^{an}$ and necessarily, k'' = k''' = 1.

5. Overconvergent cohomologies and the spectral sequence

Our goal in this section is to introduce a spectral sequence which computes classical finite slope cohomology in terms of the finite slope parts of certain overconvergent cohomologies indexed by $w \in {}^{M}W$. Moreover we will prove a classicality theorem comparing the small slope part of classical cohomology in regular weight with the small slope part of a single overconvergent cohomology for a w determined by the weight. We will also prove a vanishing theorem for the classical cohomology in all weights, including non regular ones.

5.1. The finite slope part. We briefly recall the spectral theory of compact operators over a non-archimedean field.

5.1.1. Slope decomposition. Let F be a non archimedean field extension of \mathbb{Q}_p . The valuation v on F is normalized by v(p) = 1. A polynomial $Q \in F[X]$ has a Newton polygon. The slopes of the newton polygon are the inverse of the valuations of the roots of Q (in an algebraic closure of F). We let $Q^* = X^{\deg Q}Q(1/X)$ be the reciprocal polynomial. Let $h \in \mathbb{Q}$. A polynomial Q is said to have slope $\leq h$ if the slopes of its Newton polygon are $\leq h$ (equivalently, the roots of $Q^*(X)$ have valuation less or equal to h). Let M be a vector space over F and let T be an endomorphism of the vector space M. Let $h \in \mathbb{Q}$. Following [AS08], def. 4.6.3, an h-slope decomposition of M with respect to T is a direct sum decomposition of F-vector spaces $M = M^{\leq h} \oplus M^{>h}$ such that:

- (1) $M^{\leq h}$ and $M^{>h}$ are stable under the action of T.
- (2) $M^{\leq h}$ is finite dimensional over F.
- (3) All the eigenvalues (in an algebraic closure of F) of T acting on $M^{\leq h}$ are of valuation less or equal to h.
- (4) For any polynomial Q with slope $\leq h$, the restriction of $Q^*(T)$ to $M^{>h}$ is an invertible endomorphism.

By [Urb11], coro. 2.3.3, if such a slope decomposition exists, it is unique. If M has an h-slope decomposition for all $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, we simply say that M has slope decomposition. In this situation we can obviously define submodules $M^{=h}$ and $M^{\leq h}$ of M for all $h \in \mathbb{Q}$. We let $M^{fs} = \lim_{h \to \infty} M^{\leq h}$ be the projective limit of all the slope $\leq h$ factors of M and we call it the finite slope part of M with respect to T. There is a projection $M \to M^{fs}$. The kernel of this projection is the space $M^{\infty s}$ of infinite slope vectors.

Lemma 5.1.2. Let $u: M \to N$ be a map of F-vector spaces. Let T_M and T_N be endomorphisms of M and N respectively, such that $T_N \circ u = u \circ T_M$. Assume that M and N have h-slope decompositions for T_M and T_N . Then $u(M^{\leq h}) \subseteq N^{\leq h}$ and $u(M^{>h}) \subseteq N^{>h}$. Moreover, ker(u), Im(u) and coker(u) have h-slope decompositions.

Proof. The inclusions $u(M^{\leq h}) \subseteq N^{\leq h}$ and $u(M^{>h}) \subseteq N^{>h}$ are evident from the property that u is equivariant. It follows that $\ker(u) = \ker(u) \cap M^{\leq h} \oplus \ker(u) \cap M^{>h}$ and this is an h-slope decomposition. The remaining points are left to the reader.

5.1.3. Compact operators. Let F be a non-archimedean field extension of \mathbb{Q}_p . Let $M \in Ob(\mathbf{Ban}(F))$, and let T be a compact endomorphism of M. Then by [Ser62], M has a slope decomposition with respect to T. We can generalize this slightly.

Proposition 5.1.4. Let $M^{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}(F)$ and let $T \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{D}(F)}(M^{\bullet})$ be a compact operator (in the sense of definition 2.4.12). Then for any $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, we have a direct sum decomposition in $\mathcal{D}(F)$, $M^{\bullet} = M^{\bullet, \leq h} \oplus M^{\bullet, > h}$ characterized by the property that the cohomology groups $\operatorname{H}^{i}(M^{\bullet})$ have h-slope decompositions for T, and $\operatorname{H}^{i}(M^{\bullet})^{\leq h} = \operatorname{H}^{i}(M^{\bullet, \leq h})$.

Proof. We first check that if we have such a decomposition, then it is unique. Indeed, let $M^{\bullet} = M^{\bullet, \leq h} \oplus M^{\bullet, >h} = N^{\bullet, \leq h} \oplus N^{\bullet, >h}$ be two decompositions. Then we see that the map $M^{\bullet, \leq h} \to N^{\bullet, \leq h}$ obtained by composing the inclusion into M^{\bullet} and the projection orthogonal to $N^{\bullet, >h}$ induces a quasi-isomorphism. We deduce similarly that the map $M^{\bullet, >h} \to N^{\bullet, >h}$ is a quasi-isomorphism. On the other hand, the map $M^{\bullet,\leq h} \to N^{\bullet,>h}$ and $M^{\bullet,>h} \to N^{\bullet,\leq h}$ are the zero map on cohomology, and they are therefore the zero map (since F is a field).

Now check the existence. First assume that T is represented by a compact morphism in $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F))$. Then, by applying the spectral theory to each term of the complex, we get a direct sum decomposition $M^{\bullet} = M^{\bullet, \leq h} \oplus M^{\bullet, >h}$, where for each $i, M^i = M^{i, \leq h} \oplus M^{i, >h}$ is the *h*-slope decomposition of M^i . Moreover, one deduces from lemma 5.1.2 that $\mathrm{H}^i(M^{\bullet})$ has an *h*-slope decomposition with $\mathrm{H}^i(M^{\bullet})^{\leq h} = \mathrm{H}^i(M^{\bullet, \leq h}), \mathrm{H}^i(M^{\bullet})^{>h} = \mathrm{H}^i(M^{\bullet, >h}).$

Now assume that M^{\bullet} is represented by " $\lim_{i} M_{i}^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))))$ and T by a compact operator of " $\lim_{i} M_{i}^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))))$. By lemma 2.4.10, T induces canonically a compact endomorphism T_{i} of M_{i}^{\bullet} for i large enough and there are factorization diagrams:



For any $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, we deduce that $M_{i+1}^{\bullet,\leq h} \to M_i^{\bullet,\leq h}$ is a quasi-isomorphism. We also deduce that $M_{i+1}^{\bullet,\leq h} \to M_i^{\bullet,>h}$ and $M_{i+1}^{\bullet,>h} \to M_i^{\bullet,\leq h}$ are the zero map on cohomology. Using that we are over a field, we deduce that these are the zero map. We therefore deduce that $\lim_i M_i^{\bullet} = \lim_i M_i^{\bullet,\leq h} \oplus \lim_i M_i^{\bullet,>h}$. By taking the limit, we deduce that there is a decomposition $M^{\bullet} = M^{\bullet,\leq h} \oplus M^{\bullet,>h}$. We now immediately check that this gives an *h*-slope decomposition on cohomology. The case where M^{\bullet} is represented by "colim_i" $M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))))$ is similar and left to the reader.

We have natural projections $M^{\bullet,\leq h'} \to M^{\bullet,\leq h}$ for any $h' > h \in \mathbb{Q}$. We let $M^{\bullet,fs} = \lim_{h\geq 0} M^{\bullet,\leq h}$ be the finite slope part of M^{\bullet} . There is a map $M^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet,fs}$.

5.1.5. Action of an algebra. Let T^+ be a commutative monoid (with neutral element) and $T^{++} \subseteq T^+$ be a sub-semigroup (possibly without neutral element), such that $T^+.T^{++} \subseteq T^{++}$. We also assume that for any $t, t' \in T^{++}$, there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}, t'' \in T^+$ such that $t^n = t't''$. Let $M \in \operatorname{Ban}(F)$. We assume that we have an algebra action $\mathbb{Z}[T^+] \to \operatorname{End}_F(M)$, such that the ideal $\mathbb{Z}[T^{++}]$ acts by potent compact operators.

Lemma 5.1.6. For any $t, t' \in T^{++}$ acting compactly on M, and any $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, there exists $h' \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that $M^{\leq_t h} \subseteq M^{\leq_{t'} h'}$, where $M^{\leq_t h}$ and $M^{\leq_{t'} h'}$ are the slope $\leq h$ part for t and $\leq h'$ part for t' respectively.

Proof. We see that $M^{\leq_t h}$ is stable under T^+ . In particular it is stable under the action of t'. Moreover, t' is invertible since there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $t'' \in T^+$ such that $t^n = t't''$. It follows that $M^{\leq_t h} \subseteq M^{\leq_{t'} h'}$ where h' is the maximum of the valuation of the eigenvalues of t' on $M^{\leq_t h}$.

Let $M^{\bullet} \in Ob(\mathcal{D}(F))$. We assume that we have an algebra action $\mathbb{Z}[T^+] \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{D}(F)}(M^{\bullet})$, such that the ideal $\mathbb{Z}[T^{++}]$ acts by potent compact operators.

Lemma 5.1.7. For any $t, t' \in T^{++}$ acting compactly on M^{\bullet} , the corresponding finite slope parts $M^{\bullet,t-fs}$ and $M^{\bullet,t'-fs}$ are quasi-isomorphic.

Proof. We deduce from lemma 5.1.6, that for any $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, the projection $M^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet, \leq_t h}$ factors through $M^{\bullet} \to M^{\bullet, \leq_{t'} h'}$ for some $h' \in \mathbb{Q}$. Passing to the limit over h and h' we deduce that we have a map $M^{\bullet, t-fs} \to M^{\bullet, t'-fs}$. This map is a quasi-isomorphism.

In view of this lemma, we use the notation $M^{\bullet,fs}$ to mean $M^{\bullet,t-fs}$ for any compact operator $t \in T^{++}$.

5.2. Correspondences and cohomology with support. We now discuss the action of a cohomological correspondence on the cohomology with support of a sheaf. Let (F, \mathcal{O}_F) be a non-archimedean local field and let \mathcal{X} be an adic space of finite type over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$. Let



be a correspondence, where C is of finite type and p_1 and p_2 are morphisms of adic spaces.

5.2.1. Action of the correspondences on subsets of \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ be the set of subsets of \mathcal{X} . Let us denote by $T : \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X}) \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ the map which takes $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ to $p_2(p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{B}))$ and $T^t : \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X}) \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ the map which takes $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ to $p_1(p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{B}))$.

Lemma 5.2.2. If p_1 is proper (see [Hub96], section 1.3), the map T^t preserves closed subsets and closed subsets with quasi-compact complements. If p_1 is flat, the map T^t preserves open subsets and quasi-compact open subsets.

Proof. Let \mathcal{Z} be a closed subset of \mathcal{X} . Then $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})$ is a closed subset of \mathcal{C} , and $T^t(\mathcal{Z})$ is closed by properness. Moreover if \mathcal{Z} has quasi-compact complement, then $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})$ has quasi-compact complement. We can find a formal model for the projection $p_1, \mathfrak{p}_1 : \mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{X}$, which is proper and with the property that the complement of $p_2^{-1}\mathcal{Z}$ is the generic fiber of an open subset of \mathfrak{C} ([L90], thm. 1.6, thm. 3.1). Therefore $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(Z_k)$ for some closed subset Z_k of the special fiber of \mathfrak{C} . Since \mathfrak{p}_1 is proper, $\mathfrak{p}_1(Z_k)$ is closed, and $T^t(\mathcal{Z}) = \operatorname{sp}^{-1}(\mathfrak{p}_1(Z_k))$ has quasi-compact complement. Let $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be an open subset. Then $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ is open in \mathcal{C} and $T^t(\mathcal{U})$ is open since flat morphisms are open ([Hub96], lemma 1.7.9). If we assume that \mathcal{U} is quasi-compact, then $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ and hence $T^t(\mathcal{U})$ are as well.

5.2.3. Action of the correspondence on cohomology. Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules. Let $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be an open subset of \mathcal{X} and let $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a closed subset. We assume that $T(\mathcal{U})$ is open and that p_1 is finite flat. We also assume that we have a map $T: p_2^*\mathscr{F} \to p_1^*\mathscr{F}$. We can define a map

$$T: \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{t}(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$$

as the following composite:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{a} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{p_{2}^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U}))}(p_{2}^{-1}(T(\mathcal{U})), p_{2}^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{b} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{p_{2}^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})\cap p_{1}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})}(p_{1}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), p_{2}^{\star}\mathscr{F})$$

$$\xrightarrow{c} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{p_{2}^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})\cap p_{1}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})}(p_{1}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), p_{1}^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{d} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{t}(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F}),$$

where:

G. BOXER AND V. PILLONI

- *a* is a pull back map along $p_2^{-1}(T(\mathcal{U})) \to T(\mathcal{U})$,
- b is a pull back map along $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \to p_2^{-1}(T(\mathcal{U}))$. Notice that $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z} \cap T(\mathcal{U})) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) = p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$,
- c is given by the map $T: p_2^*\mathscr{F} \to p_1^*\mathscr{F}$,
- d is given by the trace map of lemma 2.1.2. Notice that $p_1(p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) \cap$ $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})) \subset T^t(\mathcal{Z}) \cap \mathcal{U}.$

Remark 5.2.4. We observe that in the definition of the correspondence, the map $p_2^*\mathscr{F} \to p_1^*\mathscr{F}$ is only used in a neighborhood of

$$p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}).$$

Indeed, let \mathcal{V} be a neighborhood of $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ in $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$, then we have

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})}(p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), p_i^{\star}\mathscr{F}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})}(\mathcal{V}, p_i^{\star}\mathscr{F})$$

for i = 1, 2.

5.2.5. Representing the correspondence by a map of complexes. In this section, we prove under some mild assumptions that the map T of the last section can be represented by a morphism of complexes of Banach spaces. We assume that \mathscr{F} is a locally projective Banach sheaf.

Lemma 5.2.6. Assume that \mathcal{U} and $T(\mathcal{U})$ are quasi-compact open subsets, and that \mathcal{Z} and $T^t(\mathcal{Z})$ have quasi-compact complements. Then the map $T: \mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z} \cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}), \mathscr{F}) \to$ $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{t}(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$ is represented by a morphism in $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F))$.

Proof. We consider finite affinoid \mathscr{F} -acyclic coverings $T(\mathcal{U}) = \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$ and $\mathcal{U} =$ $\cup_{i \in I'} U'_i$. We also let $Z = \cap_{j \in J} Z_j$, $T^t(\mathcal{Z}) = \cap_{j \in J'} Z'_j$ where Z^c_j and $(Z'_j)^c$ are affinoid and \mathscr{F} -acyclic and J, J' are finite. We see that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}), \mathscr{F})$ is represented by a cone of a map of Čech complexes

$$\operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{U_i\}_{i\in I},\mathscr{F})\to\check{C}(\{U_i\cap Z_j^c\}_{(i,j)\in I\times J},\mathscr{F}))[-1],$$

and similarly $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^t(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$ is represented by

$$\operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{U'_i\}_{i\in I'},\mathscr{F})\to\check{C}(\{U'_i\cap (Z'_j)^c\}_{(i,j)\in I'\times J'},\mathscr{F}))[-1].$$

We now proceed to represent the map T. We first have a map (pullback under p_2):

$$A: \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{U_i\}_{i \in I}, \mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{U_i \cap Z_j^c\}_{(i,j) \in I \times J}, \mathscr{F}))[-1] \to$$

$$\operatorname{Cone}\bigl(\check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i)\}_{i\in I}, p_2^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i \cap Z_j^c)\}_{(i,j)\in I\times J}, p_2^{\star}\mathscr{F})\bigr)[-1]$$

We then have a restriction map, composed with the map $p_2^*\mathscr{F} \to p_1^*\mathscr{F}$:

$$B: \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i)\}_{i \in I}, p_2^*\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i \cap Z_j^c)\}_{(i,j) \in I \times J}, p_2^*\mathscr{F}))[-1] \to$$

 $\operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i)\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})\}_{i\in I}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i\cap Z_i^c)\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}\cap T^t(\mathcal{Z})^c)\}_{(i,j)\in I\times J}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}))[-1].$ We now observe that $\{p_2^{-1}(U_i) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})\}_{i \in I}$ is a covering of $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ since $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \subseteq p_2^{-1}(T(\mathcal{U}))$. We also observe that $\{p_2^{-1}(U_i \cap Z_j^c) \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U} \cap T^t(\mathcal{Z})^c)\}_{(i,j) \in I \times J}$ is a

covering of $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U} \cap T^t(\mathcal{Z})^c)$ since $p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) \subseteq p_1^{-1}(T^t(\mathcal{Z}))$. We now pick an \mathscr{F} -acyclic finite affinoid covering $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) = \bigcup_{i \in I''} U_i''$ which refines both $\{p_2^{-1}U_i \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})\}_{i \in I}$ and $\{p_1^{-1}U_i'\}_{i \in I'}$. We also let $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}) = \bigcap_{j \in J''} Z_j''$ where $(Z_j'')^c$ is affinoid and \mathscr{F} -acyclic, J'' is finite, and the covering $\bigcup_{j \in J''} (Z_j'')^c$

of $p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})^c$ refines both $\{p_1^{-1}(Z'_j)^c\}_{j\in J'}$ and $\{p_2^{-1}(Z_j)^c \cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{Z})^c\}_{j\in J}$. We deduce that there are refinement maps:

$$C: \operatorname{Cone}\bigl(\check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i)\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U})\}_{i\in I}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_2^{-1}(U_i\cap Z_j^c)\cap p_1^{-1}(\mathcal{U}\cap T^t(\mathcal{Z})^c)\}_{(i,j)\in I\times J}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F})\bigr)[-1] \to \operatorname{Cone}\bigl(\check{C}(\{U_i''\}_{i\in I''}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{U_i''\cap (Z_j'')^c\}_{(i,j)\in I''\times J''}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}))[-1]$$

and

$$D: \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{p_1^{-1}(U_i')\}_{i\in I'}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_1^{-1}(U_i'\cap (Z_j')^c)\}_{(i,j)\in I'\times J'}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}))[-1] \to \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{U_i''\}_{i\in I''}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{U_i''\cap (Z_j'')^c\}_{(i,j)\in I''\times J''}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}))[-1].$$

But since p_1 is finite, p_1^{-1} sends \mathscr{F} -acyclic affinoids to $p_1^*\mathscr{F}$ -acyclic affinoids. Hence D is actually a quasi-isomorphism, and we can pick an inverse D^{-1} for D up to homotopy by lemma 2.4.6.

We finally have a trace map:

$$E: \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{p_1^{-1}(U'_i)\}_{i\in I'}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{p_1^{-1}(U'_i \cap (Z'_j)^c)\}_{(i,j)\in I'\times J'}, p_1^{\star}\mathscr{F}))[-1] \to \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\{U'_i\}_{i\in I'}, \mathscr{F}) \to \check{C}(\{U'_i \cap (Z'_j)^c\}_{(i,j)\in I'\times J'}, \mathscr{F}))[-1]$$

Then $E \circ D^{-1} \circ C \circ B \circ A$ represents T .

Then $E \circ D^{-1} \circ C \circ B \circ A$ represents T.

Corollary 5.2.7. Assume that $\mathcal{U} = \bigcup_n \mathcal{U}_n$ is a countable union of quasi-compact open subsets. Let $\mathcal{Z} = \bigcap_n \mathcal{Z}_n$ be a countable intersection of closed subsets with quasi-compact complement. Assume that $T(\mathcal{U}_n)$ is quasi-compact and $T^t(\mathcal{Z}_n)$ is the complement of a quasi-compact space. Assume also that $\mathcal{U}, T(\mathcal{U})$ are a finite union of quasi-Stein spaces and that the complements of \mathcal{Z} and $\mathcal{T}^t(\mathcal{Z})$ are finite union of quasi-Stein spaces. Then the map $T : \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}), \mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^t(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F})$ is represented in $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F))).$

Proof. We can assume that $\mathcal{U}_n \subseteq \mathcal{U}_{n+1}$ and $\mathcal{Z}_n \subseteq \mathcal{Z}_{n-1}$. By lemma 5.2.6, the maps: $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_n \cap T(\mathcal{U}_n)}(T(\mathcal{U}_n), \mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^t(\mathcal{Z}_n) \cap \mathcal{U}_n}(\mathcal{U}_n, \mathscr{F})$ are representable by maps in $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F))$. We then pass to the limit over n. See also lemma 2.5.21. \Box

Remark 5.2.8. We note that the assumptions of lemma 5.2.6 and corollary 5.2.7 are satisfied if p_1 and p_2 are finite flat by lemma 5.2.2. In our applications to Shimura varieties, the maps of the (toroidal compactifications of the) correspondences are only finite flat for suitable choices of cone decompositions. However, we will only consider cohomology with support of certain subsets which are "well positioned" with respect to the boundary which will have the consequence that the cohomologies we consider can be defined for any choice of cone decomposition and are further independent of this choice.

5.3. A formal analytic continuation result. In this section we prove a result which will identify the finite slope part of different cohomologies. This can be seen as an (abstract) generalization of [Buz03], thm. 5.2. Let \mathcal{X} be an adic space of finite type over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$, and let $p_1, p_2 : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a correspondence. We assume that p_1 is finite flat. We also let \mathscr{F} be a locally projective Banach sheaf (see definition 2.5.2), and we assume that the map $T : p_2^* \mathscr{F} \to p_1^* \mathscr{F}$ is compact (see definition 2.5.3). We recall that when \mathscr{F} is a locally free coherent sheaf, any map $p_2^* \mathscr{F} \to p_1^* \mathscr{F}$ is compact.

5.3.1. The diamond of a correspondence. We now make the further assumption that $T^t(\mathcal{Z}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}$ and $T(\mathcal{U}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}$. We can build the following diamond shaped diagram:



where the composition of the top and lower triangle $res \circ cores$ and $cores \circ res$ are equal. We can define an endomorphism of each of the four cohomologies occurring in this diagram by suitably composing T with restriction and corestriction maps. By abuse of notation we also call these endomorphisms T. One checks immediately that all the maps in the diamond are equivariant for these endomorphisms.

Proposition 5.3.2. Assume that all the complexes appearing are objects of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$ and that the endomorphisms T are potent compact. After taking finite slope parts, all the maps in the resulting diamond



are quasi-isomorphisms.

Proof. For each map f in the diagram, there is another map g (the composition of two other arrows in the diagram) so that gf and fg are the endomorphism T on the source and target of f. As T becomes invertible on the finite slope part, so does f.

Remark 5.3.3. Under the assumptions of corollary 5.2.7, the operator T is potent compact if the map "restriction-corestriction" obtained by composing the top or bottom arrows of the diamond $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^t(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F})$ is compact (see lemma 2.5.25 for a criterium).

As a corollary, we note the following fact:

Corollary 5.3.4. Under the hypothesis of proposition 5.3.2, let \mathcal{U}' and \mathcal{Z}' be open and closed subsets, such that $T(\mathcal{U}) \cap \mathcal{Z} \subseteq \mathcal{U}' \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and $\mathcal{U} \cap T^t(\mathcal{Z}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}' \subseteq \mathcal{Z}$. Assume also that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$ is an object of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$. Then the operator T is well defined and potent compact on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$ and the finite slope part of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$ is canonically quasi-isomorphic to the finite slope part of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})$. *Proof.* Under our assumptions, we have restriction-corestriction maps:

 $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}')\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(\mathcal{U}'\cap T(\mathcal{U}))\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U})\cap\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})=\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap T(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F})$ and

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{t}(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{t}(\mathcal{Z})\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F}).$$

We can build the following diagram:



and T is therefore well defined and potent compact on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})$. We deduce that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}'\cap\mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}',\mathscr{F})^{fs}$ is quasi-isomorphic to $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{U})}(T(\mathcal{U}),\mathscr{F})^{fs}$ which is in turn quasi-isomorphic to $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathscr{F})^{fs}$.

5.3.5. The infinite diamond. It is interesting to iterate the operator T. We now work under the stronger assumption that p_1 and p_2 are finite flat. These assumptions imply that for any $n \ge 0$, the *n*-th iterate $\mathcal{C}^{(n)}$ of the correspondence \mathcal{C} comes with two finite flat projections $p_{1,n}$ and $p_{2,n}$.

Remark 5.3.6. Later we will apply this material to toroidal compactifications of Shimura varieties. We therefore have to work under slightly more general assumptions. Namely, it is not possible in general to find cone decompositions such that all the maps between compactifications of Hecke correspondences are finite flat. Nevertheless, by allowing suitable changes of the cone decompositions, we can always assume that a given map is finite flat. Moreover, the composition of compactified Hecke correspondences and their action on the cohomology has been explained in detail in section 4.2.2. Therefore, for the clarity of the exposition, we will keep the assumption that p_1 and p_2 are finite flat here.

We let $\mathcal{U}_m = T^m(\mathcal{U})$ and $\mathcal{Z}_n = (T^t)^n(\mathcal{Z})$. We assume that $T(\mathcal{U}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and $T^t(\mathcal{Z}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}$. The sequences $\{\mathcal{U}_m\}_{m\geq 0}$ and $\{\mathcal{Z}_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ are therefore decreasing. We can then construct diamonds as above for all $n, m \geq 0$:



and we can add them to get an infinite diamond diagram looking like:



We assume that all the objects of the above diagram belong to $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$. We now make the further assumption that there exists (m_0, n_0) such that one morphism "restriction-corestriction" obtained by composing the top or low arrows of a diamond $\operatorname{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}_{n_0+1}\cap\mathcal{U}_{m_0}}(\mathcal{U}_{m_0},\mathscr{F}) \to \operatorname{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}_{n_0}\cap\mathcal{U}_{m_0+1}}(\mathcal{U}_{m_0+1},\mathscr{F})$ is compact.

For any m, n with $m, n \ge 0$ and $(m, n) \ne (0, 0)$, we can define an endomorphism $T_{m,n} : \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_n \cap \mathcal{U}_m}(\mathcal{U}_m, \mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_n \cap \mathcal{U}_m}(\mathcal{U}_m, \mathscr{F})$ by composing T, res and cores in a suitable order. We abuse notation and denote this operator by T. The operator T is potent compact because some power of it will factor over the compact "restriction-corestriction" map above. In any case, we can speak of the finite slope direct factor of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_n \cap \mathcal{U}_m}(\mathcal{U}_m, \mathscr{F})$ for T.

Theorem 5.3.7. On the finite slope part, all the morphisms of the infinite diamond are quasi-isomorphisms.

Proof. This follows from proposition 5.3.2.

Corollary 5.3.8. Under the hypothesis of theorem 5.3.7, assume that there is $m, n, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that $(T^t)^{n+s}(\mathcal{Z}) \cap T^m(\mathcal{U}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}' \subseteq (T^t)^n(\mathcal{Z})$ is a closed subset and $T^{m+s}(\mathcal{U}) \cap (T^t)^n(\mathcal{Z}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}' \subseteq T^m(\mathcal{U})$. Assume moreover that $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}', \mathscr{F})$ is an object of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$. Then the operator T^s is well defined and potent compact on $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}' \cap \mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}', \mathscr{F})$ and the finite slope part of $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U}'}(\mathcal{U}', \mathscr{F})$ is canonically quasi-isomorphic to the finite slope part of $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z} \cap \mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathscr{F})$.

Proof. This follows from corollary 5.3.4.

5.4. **Overconvergent cohomologies.** Let (G, X) be an abelian type Shimura datum such that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is quasi split. Let $w \in {}^M W$. For a choice of + or - and a weight $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ we want to define finite slope overconvergent cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ and their cuspidal counterparts $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ by taking cohomologies with suitable support conditions of neighborhoods of the inverse image under the Hodge-Tate period map of $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{P}_{\mu} w K_p$, and by taking finite slope parts for a suitable Hecke operator. We will also define variants $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ where $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ is a finite order character.

5.4.1. First definition. For a level $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$ with $m' \ge b \ge 0$ and m' > 0 and a weight $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$, we define:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_p, \kappa)^{+, fs} := \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT, K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w, k}[_{0,\overline{0}})}((\pi_{HT, K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w, k}[), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{+, fs}$$

Implicit in this definition is that this cohomology is an object of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$ and that $\mathcal{H}^+_{p,m',b}$ acts on it in a way that $\mathcal{H}^{++}_{p,m',b}$ acts by potent compact operators (this will be proved below in Theorem 5.4.3).

Similarly for a weight $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$, we define:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_p, \kappa)^{-, fs} := \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT, K_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{\mathfrak{o}}, 0)}((\pi^{tor}_{HT, K_p})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-, fs}.$$

Again implicit in this definition is that this cohomology is an object of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(F)))$ and that $\mathcal{H}^{-}_{p,m',b}$ acts on it in a way that $\mathcal{H}^{--}_{p,m',b}$ acts by potent compact operators (this will also be proved below in Theorem 5.4.3).

We have similar definitions for cuspidal cohomology.

5.4.2. Existence of finite slope cohomology.

Theorem 5.4.3. Let $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$ for some $m \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0, and fix $w \in {}^M W$ and $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$.

- (1) There is an action of $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^+$ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}})}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ for which $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{++}$ acts via potent compact operators. The same statement holds for $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}})}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)).$
- (2) There is an action of $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{-}$ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ for which $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{--}$ acts via potent compact operators. The same statement holds for $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)).$

Proof. We only prove point 1 for non cuspidal cohomology. The rest of the argument is very similar and left to the reader.

Let $U = (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)$ and $Z = (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[})$. By lemma 3.3.21 we have

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{U\cap Z}(U,\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}).$$

Now if T is the Hecke operator $[K_p t K_p]$ for any $t \in T^+$, we have $T(U) \subseteq U$ and $T^t(Z) \subseteq Z$ by lemma 3.5.10 and hence there is an action of $\mathcal{H}^+_{p,m,b}$ on $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{U\cap Z}(U, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ via the construction explained at the beginning of Section 5.3. That this action defines an action of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}^+_{p,m,b}$ follows from the discussion of section 4.2.2.

Now suppose that T is associated to $t \in T^{++}$. In order to simplify notations, we choose t such that $\min(t) = \inf_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} v(\alpha(t)) \ge 1$. In order to show the action of T is potent compact, it suffices to show that the "restriction-corestriction" map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{U\cap T^t(Z)}(U,\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T(U)\cap Z}(T(U),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$$

is compact. We need to check the assumptions of lemma 2.5.25.

We will be done if we can find a quasi-compact open subset U' such that $T(U) \cap Z \subseteq U'$ and $\overline{U'} \subseteq U$, and closed subset Z_1, Z_2 , with quasi-compact complement, such that $U \cap T^t(Z) \subseteq Z_1, Z_1 \subseteq \mathring{Z}_2$ and $Z_2 \subseteq Z$. By lemma 3.5.10, we have:

$$U \cap T^t(Z) \subseteq (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{1}}K_p)$$

and

$$T(U) \cap Z \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{1,\overline{0}}K_p)$$

We first find U'. By lemma 3.3.21,

$$(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1} \left(]C_{w,k}[_{0,-\infty}K_p \right) \subseteq U.$$

We may now take U_1 a quasi-compact open of \mathcal{FL} with the property that $]C_{w,k}[_{1,\overline{0}} \subseteq U_1 \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{\frac{1}{2},-1}$ and let $U' = (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(U_1K_p)$. Observe that U_1K_p is a finite union of translates of U_1 . It follows easily from lemma 3.3.21, (1) that U' has the required property.

We now proceed to find Z_1 and Z_2 . By lemma 3.3.21,

$$(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m,b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[-\infty,0) \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m,b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[).$$

We can find $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{1}}\subseteq W_1\subseteq W_2\subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{-\infty,0}$ with W_1 , W_2 closed with quasicompact complements and $W_1\subseteq \overset{\circ}{W}_2$. We deduce that $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{1}}K_p\subseteq W_1K_p\subseteq W_2K_p\subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$ and that $W_1K_p\subseteq W_2^{\circ}K_p=\overset{\circ}{W}_2K_p$ since W_1K_p and W_2K_p are a finite union of translates of W_1 and W_2 . We let $Z_1 = (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(W_1K_p)$ and $Z_2 = (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(W_2K_p)$. We let $Z_1 = (\pi_{HT,K_p,m,b}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{\bigcup}_{s<\frac{1}{2}}]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},s}K_{p,m,b})$. We now find Z_2 . We first observe that $\overline{\bigcup}_{s<\frac{1}{2}}]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},s}\subseteq]C_k^w[\subseteq]X_k^w[$, and that $\overline{]X_k^w[} =$ $\operatorname{sp}^{-1}(X_k^w)\subseteq]Y_{w,k}[$. Since $]X_k^w[K_{p,m,b}$ is a finite union of translates of $]X_k^w[$, we can take

$$Z_2 = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m,b}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]X_k^w[}K_{p,m,b}).$$

We observe that $Z_1^c \cap (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m,0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)$ is a non-empty quasi-compact open, call it W. We can find a non-empty quasi-compact open W' with the property that $\overline{W} \subset W$. We let

 $Z' =]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},\overline{0}}$ and $Z = (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m,0}})^{-1}(Z').$

5.4.4. The finite slope cohomology and the cohomology of dagger spaces. We construct two exact triangles which give an interpretation of finite slope cohomology for a given $w \in {}^{M}W$ as being quasi-isomorphic to the cone of a map between finite slope cohomology of certain dagger spaces, or the cone of a map between cohomology with compact support of dagger spaces. This will be useful for duality and vanishing.

Proposition 5.4.5. Let $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$ for some $m \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0, and fix $w \in {}^M W$ and $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$.

(1) The Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{-}$ acts on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and the ideal $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{--}$ acts by potent compact operators. We have an exact triangle:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_p,\kappa)^{-,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs}$$
$$\to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} \stackrel{+1}{\to}$$

(2) The Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^+$ acts on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and the ideal $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{++}$ acts by potent compact operators. We have an exact triangle:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[]}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[]}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p}K_{p},\kappa)^{+,fs} \xrightarrow{+1}$$

Proof. We have an exact triangle:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0})}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$$

$$\to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \xrightarrow{+1}$$

since $]Y_{w,k}[=] \cup_{w'>w} Y_{w,k}[\coprod]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},0}$ by lemma 3.3.22. We also have an exact triangle

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[)}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[)}}(\overline{S_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}}) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \xrightarrow{+1} \end{aligned}$$

since $\overline{|Y_{w,k}|} = \overline{|\cup_{w'>w} Y_{w,k}|} [\square] C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}$ by lemma 3.3.22, and $]X_{w,k}[$ is an open neighborhood of $]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}$ in $\mathcal{FL} \setminus \overline{]\cup_{w'>w} Y_{w,k}[}$. It therefore remains to prove that the relevant Hecke algebras act in an equivariant way on the triangle and to take the finite slope part. We observe that the cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ are represented by complexes in $\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F))$. It follows from lemma 3.5.10, (2) and (7) that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',b}^{-}$ is acting and that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',b}^{--1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[)}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[)}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ are represented by complexes in $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$ and it follows form lemma 3.5.10 (2) and (7) that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',b}^{+}$ is acting and that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',b}^{+-}(\overline{\mathrm{Ban}(F)})$

Remark 5.4.6. One could also consider two other triangles: one for the – theory, using cohomology with support in the closed subsets $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]} \cup_{w' < w} X_{w',k}[)$ and $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]} X_{w,k}[)$, and one for the + theory using cohomology of the open subsets $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(] \cup_{w' < w} X_{w',k}[)$ and $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(] X_{w,k}[)$.

By remark 2.7.2, the cohomologies

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{|\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}|})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}), \text{ and } \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{|Y_{w,k}|})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$$

are the cohomologies with compact support of the dagger spaces

$$(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(] \cup_{w'>w} Y_{w',k}[)^{\dagger} \text{ and } (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)^{\dagger}.$$

Similarly,

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}), \text{ and } \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$$

are the cohomologies of the dagger spaces

$$(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(] \cup_{w'>w} Y_{w',k}[)^{\dagger} \text{ and } (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)^{\dagger}.$$

Proposition 5.4.7. The Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{-}$ acts on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}}]), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}}]), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and the ideal $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{--}$ acts by potent compact operators. Moreover, the morphisms:

 $\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) &\to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \\ & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) &\to \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \end{aligned}$

induce isomorphisms on the finite slope part:

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{|Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \operatorname{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} \\ & \operatorname{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{|\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \operatorname{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ are represented by complexes in $\mathrm{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$. The Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',b}^{-}$ acts and the operators are potent compact as a consequence of lemma 3.5.10 (2) and (7). The same lemma shows the quasi-isomorphism on the finite slope part. \Box

Corollary 5.4.8. We have an exact triangle:

$$R\Gamma_w(K^pK_p,\kappa)^{-,fs} \to R\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}}]), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs}$$
$$\to R\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}}]), \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{-,fs} \xrightarrow{+1}$$

Proof. This is a consequence of propositions 5.4.5 and 5.4.7.

5.4.9. Change of support condition. It is important to us that the cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_p,\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ can actually be realized as the finite slope part of cohomology groups with different support conditions. The following definition is motivated by Lemma 2.5.21 and the discussion of Section 5.3, especially Corollary 5.3.8. We start by fixing an element $t \in T^{++}$ such that $\min(t) \geq 1$. We let $C = \max(t)$.

Definition 5.4.10. Let $m' \ge b \ge 0$ with m' > 0. A $(+, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support is a pair $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ where:

- (1) \mathcal{U} is an open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma}^{tor}$ which is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (2) Z is a closed subset of $S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',b},\Sigma}$ whose complement is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (3) There exists $m, n, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that:

$$\begin{split} &(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n+s}}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,C\overline{n}}K_{p,m',b}), \\ &(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m+s,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n}}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{Cm,-1}K_{p,m',b}), \\ &Let\ m' \ge b \ge 0 \ with\ m' > 0. \ A\ (-,w,K_{p,m',b})-allowed\ support\ is\ a\ pair\ (\mathcal{U},\mathcal{Z}) \end{split}$$

where:

- (1) \mathcal{U} is an open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\Sigma}^{tor}$ which is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (2) Z is a closed subset of $S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',b},\Sigma}$ whose complement is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (3) There exists $m, n, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that:

 $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+s},0}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},n}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{C\overline{m},0}K_{p,m',b}),$ $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},0}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},n+s}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1} (]C_{w,k}[_{-1,Cn}K_{p,m',b}).$
Example 5.4.11. For any $m' \ge b \ge 0$ with m' > 0 and any $s \ge 0$, the pair

$$\mathcal{U} = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}), \quad \mathcal{Z} = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b})$$

is a $(+, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support (since $]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b}\subseteq]X_{w,k}[\cap]\overline{Y_{w,k}}[=]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{0}}]$. Similarly, the pair

$$\mathcal{U} = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{-1,s}K_{p,m',b}), \quad \mathcal{Z} = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s},\overline{0}}K_{p,m',b})$$

is a $(-, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support.

Theorem 5.4.12. Let $m' \ge b \ge 0$ with m' > 0, and fix $w \in {}^{M}W$ and $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$.

(1) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(+, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support condition. Then $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$ are objects of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$ and carry a canonically defined, potent compact action of T^s where $T = [K_{p,m',b}tK_{p,m',b}]$ be the corresponding Hecke operator. . Moreover there are canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m',b},\kappa)^{+,fs} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_\kappa)^{T^s-fs}$$

and

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m',b},\kappa,cusp)^{+,fs} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_\kappa(-D))^{T^s-fs}.$$

(2) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(-, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support condition. Then $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ and $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$ are objects of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$ and carry a canonically defined, potent compact action of T^{s} where $T = [K_{p,m',b}tK_{p,m',b}]$. Moreover there are canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m',b},\kappa)^{-,fs} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_\kappa)^{T^s-fs}$$

and

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m',b},\kappa,cusp)^{-,fs} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_\kappa(-D))^{T^s-fs}$$

Proof. We will only prove the first point for non cuspidal cohomology. It follows from lemma 2.5.21 that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ is an object of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(F)))$.

For the rest of the statement we will use the infinite diamond construction of section 5.3.5 and corollary 5.3.8. For $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ we let $U_m = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(T^m(]X_{w,k}[))$ and $Z_n = (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}((T^t)^n(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}))$. Since we have already checked in the proof of theorem 5.4.3 that the "restriction-corestriction" map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{U_0\cap Z_1}(U_0,\mathcal{V}_\kappa)\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{U_1\cap Z_0}(U_1,\mathcal{V}_\kappa)$$

is compact, it follows that the conclusion of corollary 5.3.8 hold.

By lemma 3.5.10 we have:

$$U_{m} \cap Z_{n+s} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n+s}}K_{p,m',b})$$
$$U_{m+s} \cap Z_{n} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m+s,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',b}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n}}K_{p,m',b})$$
$$(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{mC,-1}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq U_{m}$$
$$(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{n}C}K_{p,m',b}) \subseteq Z_{n}.$$

It follows from corollary 5.3.8 that if $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ is a $(+, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support condition, then $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ carries a canonical action of T^s and we have canonical quasi-isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{T^{s}-fs}\simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{U\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})^{T-fs}\simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p}K_{p,m',b},\kappa)^{+,fs}.$$

5.4.13. Change of level. Now we investigate how the finite slope cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_p,\kappa)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_p,\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ vary with the level K_p .

Theorem 5.4.14. (1) For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and all $m' \ge m \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0, the pullback map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m,b},\kappa)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m',b},\kappa)^{+,fs}$$

and the trace map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m',b},\kappa)^{-,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m,b},\kappa)^{-,fs}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms, compatible with the action of $\mathbb{Q}[T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T_b]$, and the same statements are true for cuspidal cohomology.

(2) For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and all $m \ge b' \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0, the pullback map

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m,b},\kappa)^{+,fs} \to (\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m,b'},\kappa)^{+,fs})^{T_b/T_{b'}}$$

and the trace map

$$(\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m,b'},\kappa)^{-,fs})^{T_b/T_{b'}} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_{p,m,b},\kappa)^{-,fs}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms, compatible with the action of $\mathbb{Q}[T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T_b]$, and the same statements are true for cuspidal cohomology.

Proof. This follows from lemma 4.2.14.

As a result of the theorem, we can let $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ denote $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m,b},\kappa)^{\pm,fs}[\chi]$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^pK_{p,m,b},\kappa,cusp)^{\pm,fs}[\chi]$ for any $m \geq b \geq \operatorname{cond}(\chi)$ with m > 0, as these spaces have been canonically identified.

5.5. The spectral sequence associated with the Bruhat stratification. Recall that there is a length function $\ell : {}^{M}W \to [0, d]$ where $d = \dim \mathcal{FL} = \dim S_{K}$ with the property that $\ell(w) = \dim C_{w}$. We let $\ell_{+}(w) = \ell(w)$ and $\ell_{-}(w) = d - \ell(w)$.

The main result of this section is the following theorem:

Theorem 5.5.1. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ be a weight and let $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. For a choice of + or -, there is a $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ -equivariant spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$ converging to classical finite slope cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$, such that

$$\mathbf{E}_1^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell_{\pm}(w) = p} \mathbf{H}_w^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}.$$

There are also spectral sequences $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$ converging to $\mathbf{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ such that

$$\mathbf{E}_{1}^{p,q}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{+}(w)=p} \mathbf{H}_{w}^{p+q}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}.$$

5.5.2. Construction of a filtration. We consider the following two stratifications of the special fiber of the flag variety FL_k , the first one is by open subsets:

$$\{FL_k^{\geq r} = \bigcup_{\ell(w) \geq r} C_{w,k}\}_{0 \leq r \leq d}$$

and the second one is by closed subsets:

$$\{FL_k^{\leq_{d-r}} = \bigcup_{\ell(w) \leq d-r} C_{w,k}\}_{0 \leq r \leq d}.$$

We then define $Z_r^+ = \overline{]FL_k^{\geq r}[}$ and $Z_r^- = \overline{]FL_k^{\leq d-r}[}$. This gives two filtrations $\mathcal{FL} = Z_0^{\pm} \supset Z_1^{\pm} \supset \cdots \supset Z_d^{\pm} \supset Z_{d+1}^{\pm} = \emptyset$

by closed subspaces invariant under the Iwahori Iw.

Now let $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$ for some $m \ge b \ge 0$ with m > 0. We can consider the pullback of these filtrations by π_{HT,K_p}^{tor} to get two filtrations $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor} = \mathcal{Z}_0^{\pm} \supset \mathcal{Z}_1^{\pm} \supset \cdots \supset \mathcal{Z}_d^{\pm} \supset \mathcal{Z}_d^{\pm} = \emptyset$ by closed subspaces.

For any weight κ , we can consider the associated spectral sequence (see section 2.3):

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{\pm}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{\pm}}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}).$$

By definition and lemma 3.3.19,

$$\mathrm{H}^{\star}_{\mathcal{Z}^{+}_{p}/\mathcal{Z}^{+}_{p+1}}(\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K^{p}K_{p}},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) =$$
$$\mathrm{H}^{\star}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p}})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{\ell(w)\geq p}C_{w}[\cap]\cup_{\ell(w)\leq p}C_{w}[)}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p}})^{-1}(]\cup_{\ell(w)\leq p}C_{w}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}).$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{\star}_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{-}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{-}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) =$$

 $\mathrm{H}^{\star}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\cup_{\ell(w)\leq d-p}C_w[\cap]\cup_{\ell(w)\geq d-p}C_w[)}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\cup_{\ell(w)\geq d-p}C_w[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}).$

We also have a cuspidal version

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{\pm}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{\pm}}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)).$$

We relate the \mathbf{E}_1 pages of these spectral sequences to the overconvergent cohomologies considered in the previous section.

Lemma 5.5.3. For all p,

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{+}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{+}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) = \\ \oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ \ell(w) = p} \operatorname{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[\cap]\overline{Y_{w,k}[})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \\ & \operatorname{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{-}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{-}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) = \\ \end{aligned}$$

 $\bigoplus_{w \in ^{M}W, \ \ell(w) = d-p} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[\cap]\overline{X_{w,k}[})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ We have similar results for cuspidal cohomology.

Proof. We have

$$\overline{]\cup_{\ell(w)\geq p} C_w[}\cap]\cup_{\ell(w)\leq p} C_w[=\cup_{w,\ell(w)=p} \overline{]Y_{w,k}[}\cap]X_{w,k}[$$

and

$$] \cup_{\ell(w) \leq d-p} C_w[\cap] \cup_{\ell(w) \geq d-p} C_w[= \cup_{w,\ell(w)=d-p}]Y_{w,k}[\cap]X_{w,k}[$$
 by lemma 3.3.20. The conclusion follows from lemma 2.1.1.

Lemma 5.5.4. For a choice of + or -, $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ acts on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{\pm}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{\pm}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$, and the spectral sequence

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{\pm}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{\pm}}(\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K,\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathcal{S}^{tor}_{K,\Sigma},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$$

is $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ -equivariant. The same result holds for cuspidal cohomology.

Proof. Easy and left to the reader.

5.5.5. *Proof of Theorem 5.5.1.* For a choice of \pm , we have constructed a spectral sequence

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{\mathcal{Z}_{p}^{\pm}/\mathcal{Z}_{p+1}^{\pm}}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}).$$

The Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ acts on this spectral sequence and it makes sense to take the finite slope part by lemma 5.5.4. Applying the finite slope projector, we obtain the spectral sequence of the theorem.

5.5.6. Cousin complexes. We now extract from the spectral sequence certain complexes that play a prominent role, in particular in view of corollaries 5.7.7 and 5.8.1. We let $Cous(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm}$ be the complex $\mathbf{E}_1^{\bullet,0}(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm}$ (w_0^M is the longest element of MW):

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}_{Id/w_{0}^{M}}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} \to \oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{\pm}(w)=1} \mathrm{H}^{1}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} \to \\ \oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{\pm}(w)=2} \mathrm{H}^{2}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} \to \cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{w^{M}/Id}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$$

and we let $\mathcal{C}ous(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$ be the complex $\mathbf{E}_1^{\bullet,0}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$:

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}_{Id/w_{0}^{M}}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to \oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{\pm}(w)=1}\mathrm{H}^{1}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to$$

$$\oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell_{\pm}(w)=2} \mathrm{H}^{2}_{w}(K^{p}, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{\pm, fs} \to \dots \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{w_{0}^{M}/Id}(K^{p}, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$$

5.6. Cohomological vanishing. The following vanishing theorem is crucial in order to study the spectral sequence.

Theorem 5.6.1. The cohomology complex $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$ has amplitude $[0, \ell_{\pm}(w)]$.

Proof. We only give the argument for the + case, as the – case follows with minor modifications. Let b be the conductor of χ . We can realize $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,cusp)^{+,fs}$ as the χ -isotypic part of the finite slope part of

$$R\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}\cap C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

for any $s \ge 0$ and $m' \ge b$, m' > 0 by example 5.4.11 and theorem 5.4.12.

We fix s large enough so that $\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1})$ is quasi-Stein in the minimal compactification. We also fix m' = s. To simplify notations, we let $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$.

We observe that under these assumptions, $]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_p\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},\overline{s}}K_p =]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_p]$ by lemma 3.3.17, and therefore the above cohomology writes

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s}K_p)}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1K_p),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)).$$

We shall prove that

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_{p}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

has cohomological amplitude $[0, \ell_+(w)]$.

Projecting via $\pi_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}: \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor} \to \mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p}^{\star}$ and using theorem 4.1.7, this cohomology is quasi-isomorphic to

 $\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_p)}((\pi_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_p),(\pi_{K^pK_p,\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \\ & \mathrm{Le}\ K'_p\ \mathrm{be\ the\ principal\ level}\ m'\ \mathrm{congruence\ subgroup\ and\ let}\ \pi_{K'_p,K_p}:\mathcal{S}^{\star}_{K^pK'_p} \to \end{aligned}$ $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}}^{\star}$. Since

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_{p}),(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) =$$

 $\mathrm{R}\Gamma\big(K_p/K'_p, \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K'_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_p)}((\pi_{HT,K'_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_p), \pi^{\star}_{K'_p,K_p}(\pi_{K^pK_p,\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))\big)$ It will suffice to prove that

$$R\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K'_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s}K_p)}((\pi_{HT,K'_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1K_p),\pi^{\star}_{K'_p,K_p}(\pi_{K^pK_p,\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

has cohomological amplitude in $[0, \ell_+(w)]$.

Since $]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_p]$ is a finite disjoint union of translates of $\{]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}k_i\}$ for elements k_1, \dots, k_n by lemma 3.3.16, we are left to prove that

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}k_{i}})}((\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}k_{i}),\pi_{K'_{p},K_{p}}^{\star}(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

for $1 \leq i \leq n$ has cohomological amplitude in $[0, \ell_+(w)]$. Also, using the action of K_p it suffices to treat the case $k_i = 1$. The cohomology fits in a distinguished triangle:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s})}((\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1),\pi^{\star}_{K'_{p},K_{p}}(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \rightarrow \\ \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1),\pi^{\star}_{K'_{p},K_{p}}(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \rightarrow \\ \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1\setminus]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s}),\pi^{\star}_{K'_{p},K_{p}}(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \xrightarrow{+1} \end{aligned}$$

Since $\pi_{HT,K'_n}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1})$ is quasi-Stein in the minimal compactification $\mathcal{S}_{K^pK'_n}^{\star}$ we have that

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K'_{p}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}),\pi^{\star}_{K'_{p},K_{p}}(\pi_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

is concentrated in degree 0.

We will now prove that $\pi_{HT,K'_{x}}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1\setminus]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s})$ admits a covering by $\ell_{+}(w)$ acyclic spaces. This will show that

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p'}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1\setminus]C_{w,k}[s,\bar{s}),\pi_{K_p',K_p}^{\star}(\pi_{K^pK_p,\Sigma})_{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

has only cohomology in degree 0 to $\ell_+(w) - 1$ and the theorem will follow. We recall from corollary 3.3.5 the isomorphism:

$$\prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{+}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \times \prod_{\alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M})\cap\Phi^{-}} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}^{o} \to]C_{w,k}[_{\mathcal{FL}}$$
$$(u_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}} \mapsto w \prod u_{\alpha}$$

Let us fix coordinates $1 + u_{\alpha}$ on each of the one parameter groups. For these coordinates, the equation of $]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1} \setminus]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}$ is:

- $\forall \alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+, |u_{\alpha}| \leq |p^{s-1}|,$ $\forall \alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^-, \exists \epsilon > 0, |u_{\alpha}| \leq |p^{s+\epsilon}|,$ $\exists \alpha \in (w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+, \exists \nu > 0, |u_{\alpha}| \geq |p^{s-\nu}|.$

Since $\sharp(w^{-1}\Phi^{-,M}) \cap \Phi^+ = \ell(w) = \ell_+(w)$, we deduce that $]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1} \setminus]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}]$ is indeed covered by $\ell(w)$ acyclic spaces and the same holds for its pre-image by π_{HT,K'_p} .

Proposition 5.6.2. For the spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$ converging to $\mathrm{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ we have $\mathbf{E}_1^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} = 0$ if q > 0. In particular $\mathbf{E}_{\infty}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} = \mathrm{Gr}^p(\mathrm{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}) = 0$ if p .

Proof. This follows from theorem 5.6.1. The picture of the first page of the spectral sequence is as follows $(w_0^M \text{ is the longest element of }^M W)$:

$$\mathbf{H}^{0}_{Id/w_{0}^{M}}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \qquad \qquad \oplus_{w\in M_{W,\ell_{\pm}}(w)=1}\mathbf{H}^{1}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \qquad \qquad \oplus_{w\in M_{W,\ell_{\pm}}(w)=2}\mathbf{H}^{2}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$$

 $\oplus_{w \in M_{W,\ell_+}(w)=1} \mathrm{H}^0_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \qquad \qquad \oplus_{w \in M_{W,\ell_+}(w)=2} \mathrm{H}^1_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$

 $\oplus_{w \in M} \underset{W,\ell_{+}(w)=2}{\overset{W}{\overset{W}}} \operatorname{H}^{0}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$

5.7. **Duality.** In this section we investigate Serre duality on overconvergent cohomologies.

Theorem 5.7.1. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$, there is a pairing:

 $\langle,\rangle:\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp,fs}\rightarrow\overline{F}$

such that for $t \in T^{\pm}$ we have $\langle t-, - \rangle = \langle -, t^{-1}- \rangle$. This pairing induces a pairing between the spectral sequences:

$$\langle,\rangle_{p,q,r}: \mathbf{E}_r^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \times \mathbf{E}_r^{d-p,-q}(K^p,-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp} \to \overline{F}$$

On the abutment of the spectral sequence the pairing $\langle , \rangle_{p,q,\infty}$ is induced by the perfect Serre duality pairing:

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-p-q}(K^p,-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp,fs}\to\overline{F}.$$

Proof. We construct the pairing

$$\langle,\rangle: \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{+,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{-,fs} \to \overline{F}.$$

Choose b so that χ is trivial on T_b . We can realize $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{+, fs}$ as the χ -isotypic part of the finite slope part of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

for any s > 0 and $m' \ge b$, m' > s. by example 5.4.11 and theorem 5.4.12.

We can realize $R\Gamma_w(K^p, -2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa, \chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$ as the χ^{-1} -isotypic part of the finite slope part of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s+1},s-1}K_{p,m',b})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{-1,s-1}K_{p,m',b}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}).$$

We have a cup-product by proposition 2.2.1:

$$\mathbf{H}_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{i})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b})}^{i}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',b}),\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))\times$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s+1,s-1}K_{p,m',b})}^{d-i}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[-1,s-1}K_{p,m',b}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}-w_{0,M}\kappa) \\ \to \mathbf{H}_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',b}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s+1,s}K_{p,m',b})}^{d-i}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1}K_{p,m',b},\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}(-D)) \end{aligned}$$

and there is a trace map (by theorem 2.7.1):

$$\mathbf{H}^{d}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s+1},\overline{s}}K_{p,m',b})}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',b}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_{p,m',b}), \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}(-D)) \to F.$$

This pairing intertwines the actions of $\mathcal{H}^+_{p,m',b}$ and $\mathcal{H}^-_{p,m',b}$. It is straightforward (but painful) to check that the induced pairing

$$\langle,\rangle:\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{+,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{-,fs}\to\overline{F}$$

is independent of choices.

The rest of the theorem follows from the functoriality of the trace map.

We now prove the following theorem:

Theorem 5.7.2. The pairing

$$\langle,\rangle:\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp,fs}\to\overline{F}$$

is non degenerate. (Equivalently it induces perfect pairings between the finite dimensional generalized eigenspaces for T^{\pm}).

Proof. We consider the pairing $\langle , \rangle : \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{+,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{-,fs} \to \overline{F}$. The other case is similar. Recall from propositions 5.4.5 and corollary 5.4.8, the exact triangles:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{R}\Gamma_w(K^p K_p, -2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa)^{-,fs} &\to \mathbf{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}), \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa})^{-,fs} \\ &\to \mathbf{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[}), \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa})^{-,fs} \xrightarrow{+1} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w',k}[)}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[)}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p}K_{p},\kappa,cusp)^{+,fs} \xrightarrow{+1}$$

Using the naturality of the duality pairing, it is sufficient to show that the pairings:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa})^{-,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))^{+,fs}\to F^{i}(\mathcal{V}_{K})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[})$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w,k}[}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa})^{-,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w,k}[})}(\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p},\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))^{+,fs}\to F^{i}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w,k}[})$$

are non degenerate. We only explain how to show that the first pairing is nondegenerate. The proof for the second pairing is identical. We take a finite affinoid covering $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[) = \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$.

We deduce that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}}]), \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa})$, which is the cohomology of the dagger space $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}])^{\dagger}$, is represented by the Čech complex:

$$M^{\bullet}:\prod_{i} \mathrm{H}^{0}(U_{i}^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}} - w_{0,M}\kappa) \to \prod_{i,j} \mathrm{H}^{0}((U_{i} \cap U_{j})^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}} - w_{0,M}\kappa) \to \cdots$$

We deduce that $\mathrm{R}_{(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]\cup_{w'>w}Y_{w,k}[)}}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ (which is the cohomology with compact support of the dagger space $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)^{\dagger}$) is represented by the Čech complex:

$$N^{\bullet}: \dots \to \prod_{i,j} \mathrm{H}^{d}_{c}((U_{i} \cap U_{j})^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \to \prod_{i} \mathrm{H}^{d}_{c}(U_{i}^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$$

Using the duality for affinoid dagger spaces (see theorem 2.7.1), we see that M^{\bullet} is a complex of inductive limit of Banach spaces, N^{\bullet} is a complex of projective limit of Banach spaces and these complexes are strict dual of each other. More precisely, the Serre pairing is induced by the perfect duality on each of the modules (which identifies each module as the strong dual of the other):

$$\mathrm{H}^{d}_{c}((U_{J})^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)) \times \mathrm{H}^{0}((U_{J})^{\dagger}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}) \to F,$$

where $J \subseteq I$ and $U_J = \bigcap_{j \in J} U_j$. In general, this does not induce a perfect duality between the cohomology of M^{\bullet} and N^{\bullet} . However, we will prove that this is the case on the finite slope part. Now, let $t \in T^{--}$ be an operator acting compactly. We claim that we can represent it by an endomorphism of M^{\bullet} . Indeed, for all *i* we can find an affinoid V_i with $\overline{U}_i \subseteq V_i$ (by [L90], thm. 5.1). Let $V = \bigcup V_i$. By shrinking the V_i 's, we may assume by lemma 3.5.10, 7), that $t(V) \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}([\overline{Y_{w,k}}]) \subseteq V$. Let us finally take an affinoid covering U'_i refining $t(V) \cap U_i$. By lemma 5.2.6, there is a map

$$t: \check{C}(\{U'_i\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}) \to \check{C}(\{V_i\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}).$$

There are restriction maps $A : \check{C}(\{U_i^{\dagger}\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}) \to \check{C}(\{U_i^{\prime}\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa})$ and $B : \check{C}(\{V_i\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa}) \to \check{C}(\{U_i^{\dagger}\}, \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa})$. We deduce that $B \circ t \circ A$ represents t acting on M^{\bullet} (and is compact since A and B are easily seen to be compact). We easily deduce that the adjoint of t represents t^{-1} acting on N^{\bullet} . Passing to the slope $\leq h$ part on both M^{\bullet} and N^{\bullet} , we obtain a perfect pairing between complexes of finite dimensional vector spaces. It induces a perfect pairing on slope $\leq h$ cohomology groups.

Using duality, we can prove vanishing theorems for non-cuspidal cohomology:

Theorem 5.7.3. The cohomology complex $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ has amplitude $[\ell_{\pm}(w),d]$.

Proof. This follows by combining theorem 5.7.2 and theorem 5.6.1.

Proposition 5.7.4. For the spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$ converging to $\mathbf{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ we have $\mathbf{E}_1^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} = 0$ if q < 0. In particular $\mathbf{E}_{\infty}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} = \mathrm{Gr}^p(\mathbf{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}) = 0$ if p > p + q.

Proof. This follows from theorem 5.7.3.

Corollary 5.7.5. If the Shimura variety is compact, $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ is concentrated in degree $\ell_{\pm}(w)$.

Proof. This is a combination of theorems 5.6.1 and 5.7.3.

Remark 5.7.6. Even if the Shimura variety is not compact, it can still happen that for certain $w \in {}^{M}W$, the locally closed on which $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ is computed does not meet the boundary D, and hence $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ is concentrated in degree $\ell_{\pm}(w)$ just as in the compact case. As a basic example, consider the Hilbert Shimura datum ($\mathrm{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathrm{GL}_{2},\mathcal{H}_{1}^{[F:\mathbb{Q}]}$) and a prime p which is

totally inert in F. Then ${}^{M}W = W = \{1, w_0\}^{[F:\mathbb{Q}]}$ and we have $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm, fs} = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$ unless $w = (1, \ldots, 1)$ or (w_0, \ldots, w_0) .

The following corollary illustrates the importance of the Cousin complex:

Corollary 5.7.7. If the Shimura variety is compact, we have a quasi-isomorphism: $Cous(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm} = R\Gamma(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$

Proof. For the spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$ converging to $\mathrm{H}^{p+q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$, we have $\mathbf{E}_1^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} = 0$ if $q \neq 0$.

5.8. **Interior cohomology.** For non compact Shimura varieties, we can introduce the interior cohomology:

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs})$$

We can also consider the interior overconvergent cohomology

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}\big(\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K_{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}\big)$$

as well as the interior Cousin complex

$$\overline{\mathcal{C}ous}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} =$$

m($\mathcal{C}ous(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \to \mathcal{C}ous(K_p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$

 $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Cous}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,\operatorname{cusp})^{\pm} \to \operatorname{Cous}(K_p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}).$ By definition, $\overline{\operatorname{Cous}}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$ is concentrated in degrees in the interval [0,d] and its degree *i* object is $\bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell_+(w)=i} \overline{\operatorname{H}}_w^i(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}.$

Corollary 5.8.1. We have the formula:

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \to \mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}).$$

Moreover, for all p, $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ is a subquotient of $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\overline{\mathcal{C}ous}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm})$.

Proof. We have a commutative diagram:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{H}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} &\longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} \\ & \downarrow & \uparrow \\ \mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} &\longrightarrow \mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} \\ & \downarrow & \uparrow \\ \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathcal{C}ous(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}) &\longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathcal{C}ous(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}) \end{split}$$

where the map $\mathrm{H}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to \mathbf{E}_{\infty}^{p,0}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$ is surjective (this last module is the last non-zero graded piece in the filtration given by the spectral sequence) and the map $\mathbf{E}_{\infty}^{p,0}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm} \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ is injective (the first module is the first non-zero graded piece in the filtration given by the spectral sequence).

We deduce that

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \to \mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}).$$

The map

$$\mathbf{E}^{p,0}_{\infty}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm} \to \mathrm{H}^p(\mathcal{C}ous(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}) = \mathbf{E}^{p,0}_2(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}$$

is injective, and the map

 $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathcal{C}ous(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm})=\mathbf{E}_{2}^{p,0}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}\rightarrow\mathbf{E}_{\infty}^{p,0}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm}$

is surjective.

We deduce that $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ is a subquotient of

$$\mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^p(\mathcal{C}ous(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm}))\to\mathrm{H}^p(\mathcal{C}ous(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm})).$$

This last group is a subquotient of $H^p(\overline{Cous}(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm})$.

5.9. Lower bounds on slopes. In this section we will write $\langle -, - \rangle$ for the usual pairing $X_*(T) \times X^*(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$. We denote by T^d the maximal \mathbb{Q}_p -split subtorus of T. We have a relative root system $\Phi_d \subset X^*(T^d)$ with a choice of positive and simple roots $\Delta_d \subset \Phi_d^+ \subset \Phi_d$. Because G/\mathbb{Q}_p is quasi-split, restriction from T to T^d defines a surjective map $r : \Phi \to \Phi_d$, which restricts to a surjective map $r : \Delta \to \Delta_d$ (the fibers of r are exactly the Galois orbits of absolute roots.)

We have on $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ a partial order \leq where $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ if and only if $\lambda' - \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\Delta$. We have on $X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ a partial order \leq where $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ if and only if $\lambda' - \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\Delta_d$. We extend the symbol \leq to the case that one or both sides are in $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$, in which case we apply the restriction map $X^*(T) \to X^*(T^d)$ (so in particular for $\lambda, \lambda' \in X^*(T), \lambda \leq \lambda'$ implies $\lambda \leq \lambda'$, but not necessarily conversely.)

Recall that we have monoids T^+ and T^- in $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. In section 3.5.1, we defined a valuation morphism $v : T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to X_*(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, whose image is a lattice, and whose kernel is the maximal compact subgroup of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ which we denoted (slightly abusively) by $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. For $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ we will abusively write $v(\lambda(t))$ for $\langle v(t), \lambda \rangle$. The partial order \leq has another characterization that we frequently use:

Lemma 5.9.1. Let $\lambda, \lambda' \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ if and only if $v(\lambda(t)) \leq v(\lambda'(t))$ for all $t \in T^+$.

Given a homomorphism $\lambda : T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$, the composition with the valuation $v : \overline{F}^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}$ factors through a morphism $v(T(\mathbb{Q}_p)) = T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{R}$. This extends by linearity to a \mathbb{R} -linear map $X_{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{R}$ and thus defines an element of $X^{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$, which we will denote by $v(\lambda)$ and call the *slope* of λ . Unravelling the definition we have $\langle v(\lambda), v(t) \rangle = v(\lambda(t))$.

If we start instead with a monoid homomorphism $T^{\pm} \to \overline{F}^{\times}$, we also define the slope $v(\lambda)$ of λ by first extending λ to a group homomorphism $T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ (recall that $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ is generated by the monoids T^{\pm}).

We now formulate a general conjectural lower bound on the slopes of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$

Conjecture 5.9.2. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$, and $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ of finite order.

- (1) For any character λ of T^+ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+, fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{+, fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \geq w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) + \rho$.
- (2) For any character λ of T^- on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{-,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{-,fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$.

Remark 5.9.3. We can spell out the meaning of these inequalities. The inequality $v(\lambda) \geq w^{-1} w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) + \rho$ means that for all $t \in T^+$ (and corresponding $v(t) \in$

 $X_{\star}(T^d)^+_{\mathbb{O}})$, we have

$$v(\lambda(t)) \ge \langle v(t), w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) + \rho \rangle.$$

The inequality $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$ means that for all $t \in T^-$ and (and corresponding $v(t) \in X_{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{O}}^-)$, we have

$$v(\lambda(t)) \ge \langle v(t), w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho \rangle.$$

Remark 5.9.4. We recall that for any $w \in W$ we have $\rho + w\rho$, $\rho - w\rho \in X^*(T)^+$ (even if ρ is not itself in $X^{\star}(T)$.) It follows that for all $t \in T^+$ we have $\langle t, \rho + w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho \rangle \in$ $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and for all $t \in T^-$ we have $-\langle t, \rho - w^{-1}\rho \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Remark 5.9.5. The bounds of Conjecture 5.9.2 are compatible with duality in the sense that they are exchanged upon replacing t by t^{-1} and κ by $-2\rho_{nc} - w_{0,M}\kappa$.

On the right hand side of the inequality of conjecture 5.9.2 we have $w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa +$ ρ) + ρ and $w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$. Each of these expressions can be separated into $(w^{-1}w_{0,M}\kappa) + (w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho + \rho)$ and $(w^{-1}\kappa) + (w^{-1}\rho - \rho)$ where the first term depends on κ and is related to the action of the Hecke correspondences on the sheaf, while the second term is independent of κ and is related to the geometry of the correspondence (and in particular to the ramification of integral models of the correspondence). The second term is the more delicate to study.

The main result of this section is a bound which is slightly weaker than the conjecture (and concerns only the first term).

Theorem 5.9.6. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$, and $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ of finite order.

- (1) For any character λ of T^+ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{+,fs}$ $we have v(\lambda) \ge w^{-1} w_{0,M} \kappa and v(\lambda) \ge w^{-1} w_{0,M} \kappa + w^{-1} 2\rho_{nc}.$ (2) For any character λ of T^- on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{-,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{-,fs}$
- we have $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}\kappa$ and $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}\kappa + w^{-1}2\rho_{nc}$.

Remark 5.9.7. Using eigenvarieties, we will be able to prove the conjecture 5.9.2 for the interior cohomology in theorem 6.10.1.

5.9.8. Proof of theorem 5.9.6. We begin with a reduction. The bounds in theorem 5.9.6 are compatible with the duality theorem 5.7.2. Actually, it will suffice to prove:

- (1) For any character λ of T^+ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{+,fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \ge w^{-1} w_{0,M} \kappa$.
- (2) For any character λ of T^- on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{-,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{-,fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}\kappa$.

and the rest will follow from duality.

Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. The definition of the sheaf \mathcal{V}_{κ} is given in 4.1.1 with the help of the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} and modeled on the highest weight representation V_{κ} . By corollary 4.6.7, the sheaf \mathcal{V}_{κ} has an integral structure \mathcal{V}_{κ}^+ (in the sense of definition 2.6.1), constructed with the help of the \mathcal{M}_{μ} -torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR} (see proposition 4.6.3) and modeled on the submodule $V_{\kappa}^+ \subseteq V_{\kappa}$.

Lemma 5.9.9. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$ for $m' \ge b \ge 0$ and m' > 0.

(1) Let $t \in T^+$. For all $n \ge 1$, the isomorphism $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \to p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}$ induces a map $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+ \to p^{\langle wv(t), w_{0,M}\kappa \rangle} p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+$ on

$$p_2^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(w\mathcal{G}_nK_p)) \cap p_1^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(w\mathcal{G}_nK_p)).$$

(2) Let $t \in T^-$. For all $n \ge 1$, the isomorphism $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \to p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}$ induces a map $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+ \to p^{\langle wv(t),\kappa \rangle} p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+$ on

$$p_2^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(w\mathcal{G}_nK_p)) \cap p_1^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(w\mathcal{G}_nK_p)).$$

Proof. We prove the first point. We have a map $t: p_2^* \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} \to p_1^* \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an}$, which is locally represented by wt by proposition 4.6.19.

Therefore, we have an isomorphism $t^* : p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \to p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}$ which is locally given by $t^* f(x'_2 m) = f(x'_1 w t m)$ for trivializations x'_1 and x'_2 of $p_1^* \mathcal{M}_{dR}$ and $p_2^* \mathcal{M}_{dR}$. The map $p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \to p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}$ of the lemma is the inverse of the map t^* .

This map is locally isomorphic to the map

$$\begin{array}{rccc}
V_{\kappa} & \to & V_{\kappa} \\
v & \mapsto & (wt)^{-1}v
\end{array}$$

which has eigenvectors of valuation $\langle (wv(t))^{-1}, \nu \rangle$ where ν ranges through the weights of V_{κ} . Since $t \in T^{d,+}$ and $w \in {}^{M}W$, it follows that $wv(t) \in X_{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}^{M_{\mu},+}$ so that $(wv(t))^{-1} \in X_{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}^{M_{\mu},-}$. The lowest weight of V_{κ} is $w_{0,M}\kappa$ and therefore, $p^{\langle (wv(t))^{-1},w_{0,M}\kappa \rangle}V_{\kappa}^{+} \subseteq (wt)^{-1}V_{\kappa}^{+}$. We deduce that $p^{\langle (wv(t))^{-1},w_{0,M}\kappa \rangle}p_{2}^{\star}V_{\kappa}^{+} \subseteq t^{\star}p_{1}^{\star}V_{\kappa}^{+}$ from which we deduce that $p_{2}^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{+} \to p^{\langle wv(t),w_{0,M}\kappa \rangle}p_{1}^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{+}$. The proof of the second point is almost identical, it is enough to observe that now $(wv(t))^{-1} \in X_{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{Q}}^{M_{\mu},+}$ and that κ is the highest weight of V_{κ} . Details are left to the reader. \Box

Lemma 5.9.10. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$.

- (1) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(+, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support condition. Assume further that \mathcal{U} is a quasi-compact open and that the complement of \mathcal{Z} is quasicompact. The image of $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}^{+}_{\kappa})$ in $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,\leq fs}$ is an open and bounded submodule.
- (2) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(-, w, K_{p,m',b})$ -allowed support condition. Assume further that \mathcal{U} is a quasi-compact open and that the complement of \mathcal{Z} is quasicompact. The image of $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}^{+}_{\kappa})$ in $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p}, \kappa)^{-,\leq fs}$ is an open and bounded submodule.

Proof. We only treat the first item since the second one follows with minor modifications. We can represent the cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ by an explicit complex of Banach modules C^{\bullet} . We choose an affinoid covering \mathfrak{U}_1 of \mathcal{U} and consider the Čech complex $\check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ which computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$. Next we take an affinoid covering \mathfrak{U}_2 of $\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}^c$ refining the covering $\mathfrak{U}_1\cap\mathcal{Z}^c$ and consider the Čech complex $\check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ which computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}^c,\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$. Finally, we represent the cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ by

$$C^{\bullet} = \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}) \to \check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_2, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}))[-1].$$

We also consider the subcomplex of open and bounded submodules of C^{\bullet} :

$$C^{+,\bullet} = \operatorname{Cone}(\check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathcal{V}^+_\kappa) \to \check{C}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathcal{V}^+_\kappa))[-1].$$

Any sufficiently regular element T of T^{++} lifts to a compact endomorphism \tilde{T} of C^{\bullet} and we can consider the direct "slope less or equal than h" factor $C^{\bullet,\leq h}$

of C^{\bullet} . This is a perfect complex of F-vector spaces, whose cohomology groups compute $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,\leq h}$. Denote the projection of $C^{+,\bullet}$ in $C^{\bullet,\leq h}$ by $C^{+,\bullet,\leq h}$. This is a perfect complex of \mathcal{O}_{F} -modules and the image of $\mathrm{H}^{i}(C^{+,\bullet,\leq h})$ in $\mathrm{H}^{i}(C^{\bullet,\leq h}) =$ $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,\leq h}$ is therefore an open and bounded submodule. Therefore, for any h, the image of $\mathrm{H}^{i}(C^{+,\bullet})$ in $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,\leq h}$ is open and bounded. Passing to the limit over h, we deduce that the image of $\mathrm{H}^{i}(C^{+,\bullet})$ in $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa)^{+,fs}$ is open and bounded. To prove the lemma, it suffices to show that the map

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(C^{+,\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}^{+}_{\kappa})$$

has kernel and cokernel of bounded torsion. Using the Čech to cohomology spectral sequence, this follows from lemma 2.6.5. $\hfill\square$

Proof of Theorem 5.9.6. We only prove the + case. The – case follows with minor modifications. We let $t \in T^+$, and let $T = [K_{p,m',b}tK_{p,m',b}]$. We take $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ as in lemma 5.9.10.We find by using lemma 5.9.9 that we have an endomorphism $p^{-\langle wv(t), w_{0,M}\kappa\rangle}T : \mathbb{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+) \to \mathbb{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{U}\cap\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^+)$. It follows from lemma 5.9.10 that $p^{-\langle wv(t), w_{0,M}\kappa\rangle}T$ preserves an open and bounded submodule in $\mathrm{H}^i_w(K^p,\kappa)^{+,fs}$ for all *i*. For any character of λ of T^+ on $\mathrm{H}^i_w(K^p,\kappa)^{+,fs}$, this implies that $v(\lambda(t)) \geq \langle wv(t), w_{0,M}\kappa\rangle$. The theorem is thus proven. \Box

5.10. Comparisons with slope bounds on classical cohomology. In this section, we make the connection between the slope bounds on overconvergent cohomology with other slope bounds on classical cohomology.

5.10.1. Some combinatorics. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. We first attach to κ certain subsets of the Weyl group. We let $W(\kappa)^+ = \{w \in W, ww_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho) = w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)\}$. We let $W(\kappa)^- = \{w \in W, w(\kappa+\rho) = \kappa+\rho\}$. We let $C(\kappa)^+ = \{w \in W, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho) \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{O}}^-\}$ and $C(\kappa)^- = \{w \in W, w^{-1}(\kappa+\rho) \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{O}}^+\}$.

Proposition 5.10.2. (1) The set $C(\kappa)^{\pm}$ is a left principal homogeneous space under $W(\kappa)^{\pm}$.

- (2) $C(\kappa)^{\pm} \subseteq {}^{M}W.$
- (3) $\kappa + \rho$ is regular if and only if $C(\kappa)^{\pm}$ is reduced to a single element.
- (4) We have $W(\kappa)^+ = w_{0,M}W(\kappa)^- w_{0,M}$ and $C(\kappa)^+ = w_{0,M}C(\kappa)^- w_0$.
- (5) We have $C(\kappa)^{\pm} = C(-w_{0,M}\kappa 2\rho_{nc})^{\mp}$.

Proof. Left multiplication defines an action of $W(\kappa)^{\pm}$ on $C(\kappa)^{\pm}$. Given a weight $\lambda \in X^{\star}(T)^{-}$, we have $w\lambda \geq \lambda$ for all $w \in W$. It follows that if $w, w' \in C(\kappa)^{\pm}, w(w')^{-1} \in W(\kappa)^{\pm}$. The elements of ^MW are characterized among W by the property that $wX^{\star}(T)^{+} \subseteq X^{\star}(T)^{M_{\mu},+}$. Since $\kappa + \rho$ is M_{μ} -dominant and regular, the second point follows. The remaining points are evident.

We now give some more explanations concerning the meaning of these sets and the connection with infinitesimal characters. The element $-w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{O}}$ is independent of $w \in C(\kappa)^+$, and we denote it by $\nu + \rho$ for $\nu \in X^*(T)$.

Proposition 5.10.3 ([Har90a], prop. 3.1.4). The character $\nu + \rho$ is the dominant representative of the infinitesimal character of the automorphic representations contributing to the cohomology of the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{κ} or $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)$ over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}(\mathbb{C})$.

Remark 5.10.4. The infinitesimal character of the automorphic representations contributing to the cohomology of the Serre dual sheaves $\mathcal{V}_{-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc}}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc}}(-D)$ is $-\nu - \rho$. Its dominant representative is therefore $-w_{0}\nu + \rho$. It is important to record the formulas that allow us to switch between the infinitesimal character and the weight:

$$\nu = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho) - \rho, \ \forall w \in C(\kappa)^+$$

$$\kappa = -w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho) - \rho, \ \forall w \in C(\kappa)^+$$

$$\nu = -w_0w^{-1}(\kappa+\rho) - \rho, \ \forall w \in C(\kappa)^-$$

$$\kappa = -ww_0(\nu+\rho) - \rho, \ \forall w \in C(\kappa)^-.$$

We also introduce the notation $\ell_{\min}(\kappa) = \min_{w \in C(\kappa)^+} \ell_+(w) = \min_{w \in C(\kappa)^-} \ell_-(w)$ and $\ell_{\max}(\kappa) = \max_{w \in C(\kappa)^+} \ell_+(w) = \max_{w \in C(\kappa)^-} \ell_-(w)$. Here the equalities follow from the fact that for $w \in {}^M W$, $\ell_+(w_{0,M}ww_0) = d - \ell_+(w) = \ell_-(w)$. Moreover $\ell_{\min}(\kappa) = \ell_{\max}(\kappa)$ if and only if $\kappa + \rho$ is regular. We note that we expect the automorphic vector bundle \mathcal{V}_{κ} to have interesting cohomology exactly in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$.

Theorem 5.10.5. Let π be an automorphic representation contributing to the cohomology of the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{κ} or $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D)$ over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}(\mathbb{C})$. Assume that π_{∞} is (essentially) tempered. Then π can only contribute to the cohomology in degree in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$.

Proof. This follows from a combination of results of Blasius-Harris-Ramakrishnan, Mirkovich, Schmid and Williams. See [Har90a], thm. 3.4 and thm. 3.5. \Box

5.10.6. Slope bounds on classical coherent cohomology. In light of the spectral sequences of section 5.5, conjecture 5.9.2 suggests the following conjectural slope bound for classical cohomology:

Conjecture 5.10.7. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and let $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. Let $\nu = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho$ for any $w \in C(\kappa)^+$. For any eigensystem $\lambda : T^{\pm} \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ occurring in the classical cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi,\operatorname{cusp})^{\pm,fs}$, we have:

- (1) In the + case, $v(\lambda) \ge -\nu$.
- (2) In the case, $v(\lambda) \leq -w_0 \nu$.

Remark 5.10.8. The + and - statements are in fact equivalent, in view of the discussion of section 4.3 and in particular the isomorphism between the Jacquet modules for U and \overline{U} given by w_0 .

Proposition 5.10.9. Conjecture 5.9.2 implies conjecture 5.10.7.

Proof. We treat the non cuspidal + case, the others are identical. By the spectral sequence of section 5.5 λ occurs in $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w'}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs}$ for some $w' \in {}^{M}W$, and hence by conjecture 5.9.2 we have

$$s(\lambda) \ge {w'}^{-1} w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) + \rho = -(w'^{-1}w) \cdot \nu \ge -\nu$$

where the last inequality follows from lemma 5.11.4 below, using that $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$.

We are not able to prove conjecture 5.10.7 completely, however we will see that it holds when $\kappa + \rho$ is regular in theorem 5.10.12 in the next section, and we will eventually use *p*-adic interpolation to prove it for interior cohomology in theorem 6.10.1, and so in particular it holds for compact Shimura varieties.

We now explain the relation of this conjecture with other known and conjectured slope bounds on classical cohomology.

5.10.10. Slope bounds on Betti cohomology. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$. Let W_{ν} be the corresponding irreducible representation of G with highest weight ν defined over F. Over $S_K(\mathbb{C})$, we can construct a local system \mathcal{W}_{ν}^{\vee} attached to W_{ν}^{\vee} and we can consider the Betti cohomology groups $\mathrm{H}^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ and $\mathrm{H}^*_c(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$.

Proposition 5.10.11. Assume that $K = K^p K_p$ with $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$. For any eigensystem $\lambda : T^{\pm} \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ for the action of $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,b}^{\pm}$ on $\mathrm{H}^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{\pm, fs}$ or $\mathrm{H}_c^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{\pm, fs}$, we have:

- (1) $v(\lambda) \ge -\nu$ in the + case,
- (2) $v(\lambda) \leq -w_0 \nu$ in the case.

Proof. This is a straightforward adaptation of [Laf11], prop. 3.1 which considers the case where K_p is hyperspecial in an unramified group G. Recall that G splits over F. The representation W_{ν}^{\vee} admits a lattice $W_{\nu}^{\vee,+}$ which is stable under the action of $G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and admits a weight decomposition with respect to the action of T. For any $t \in T^+$, we have that $t(W_{\nu}^{\vee,+}) \subseteq (-\nu)(t)W_{\nu}^{\vee,+}$ and for any $t \in T^-$, we have that $t(W_{\nu}^{+,\vee}) \subseteq (-w_0\nu)(t)W_{\nu}^{+,\vee}$, as $-\nu$ and $-w_0\nu$ are the lowest and highest weights of W_{ν}^{\vee} . The lattice $W_{\nu}^{+,\vee}$ gives an \mathcal{O}_F -local system $\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{+,\vee}$ such that $\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{+,\vee} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F = \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}$. The image of $\mathrm{H}^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{+,\vee})$ in $\mathrm{H}^*(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ (resp. of $\mathrm{H}^*_c(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{+,\vee})$ in $\mathrm{H}^*_c(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$) is a lattice L (resp. L_c) by the finiteness of Betti Cohomology. For any $t \in T^+$, we find that $[K_p t K_p](L) \subseteq (-\nu)(t)L$ and $[K_p t K_p](L_c) \subseteq (-\nu)(t)L_c$. For any $t \in T^-$, we find that $[K_p t K_p](L) \subseteq (-w_0\nu)(t)L$ and $[K_p t K_p](L_c) \subseteq (-w_0\nu)(t)L_c$.

Using this proposition, we can prove conjecture 5.10.7 when the weight is regular.

Corollary 5.10.12. Conjecture 5.10.7 holds when $\kappa + \rho$ is *G*-regular.

Proof. Since $\kappa + \rho$ is G regular, there is a unique $\nu \in X^*(T)^+$ and a unique $v \in W$ such that $-\kappa - \rho = v(\nu + \rho)$. By the definition we have $C(\kappa)^+ = \{w_{0,M}v\}$ and $C(\kappa)^- = \{vw_0\}$.

By the degeneration of Faltings's dual BGG spectral sequences (see for example [Har90a] section 4, [HZ01] Cor. 4.2.3), $\bigoplus_{w' \in ^{M}W} \mathrm{H}^{i-l(w')}(K^p, -w'w_0(\nu + \rho) - \rho, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ embeds Hecke-equivariantly in $\mathrm{H}^i(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ and $\bigoplus_{w' \in ^{M}W} \mathrm{H}^{i-l(w')}(K^p, -w'w_0(\nu + \rho) - \rho, \chi, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$ embeds Hecke-equivariantly in $\mathrm{H}^i_c(S_K(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$. The estimate follows from proposition 5.10.11.

5.10.13. Connection with [FP19]. We make a digression in order to explain the relation between conjecture 5.10.7 and conjecture 4.5 of [FP19] which concerns the action of the spherical Hecke algebra on coherent cohomology at spherical level. This conjecture is inspired by [Laf11], and is a translation of the Katz-Mazur inequality on the cohomology of algebraic varieties to the automorphic setting.

Let Γ be the Galois group of F/\mathbb{Q}_p , acting on $X^*(T)$. The restriction map $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}} \to X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ induces an isomorphism $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}^{\Gamma} \to X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$, with an inverse given by $\lambda \mapsto \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma} \sigma. \tilde{\lambda}$ where $\tilde{\lambda} \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is any lift of $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

We can therefore identify $X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ as a subspace of $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and the partial order on $X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is the one induced by the partial order on $X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$. This is the point of view adopted in [FP19].

We will assume that $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is of the form $\operatorname{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}_p} G_0$ where L is a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p and G_0 is an unramified reductive group over L. In [FP19], the group $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ was assumed to be unramified, but the same conjecture can be made in this level of generality, and is interesting for applications. We assume that $K_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p) = G_0(L)$ is a hyperspecial subgroup of $G_0(L)$ We consider the classical cohomology $R\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ or $R\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$. We let $\infty(\kappa) \in X^*(T)^+$ be the dominant representative of $-\kappa - \rho$ which is the infinitesimal character of automorphic representations contributing to $R\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ or $R\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$. Let $\mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{Q}_p), K_p)$ be the spherical Hecke algebra.

Let T_0 be a maximal torus of G_0 . We can assume that $T = \operatorname{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}_p} T_0$. Let T_0^d be the maximal split sub-torus of T_0 . Then T_0^d is naturally defined over \mathbb{Q}_p and the diagonal map $T_0^d \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Res}_{L/\mathbb{Q}_p} T_0^d \hookrightarrow T$ indentifies T_0^d and T^d . We let W_0^d be the sub-group of the (geometric) Weyl group of G_0 which stabilizes T_0^d . We fix an element $p^{\frac{1}{2}} \in F$ (this is always possible if we enlarge F). We have the Satake isomorphism:

$$\mathcal{S}: \mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{Q}_p), K_p) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F \to F[X_{\star}(T_0^d)]^{W_0^d}$$

and to any $\lambda : \mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{Q}_p), K_p) \to \overline{F}$, we can attach a semi-simple σ -conjugacy class $c \in (X^*(T_0^d) \otimes \overline{F}^{\times})/W_0^d = {}^L G_0(\overline{F})^{ss}/\sigma - \text{conj}$, where ${}^L G_0(\overline{F}) = \hat{G}_0 \rtimes \mathbb{Z}$ is the Langlands group of G_0 . This is the semi-direct product of the dual group \hat{G}_0 by the free group \mathbb{Z} generated by σ . The action of σ on G_0^D is the one induced by the Frobenius which is a generator of the Galois group of the unramified extension of L which splits G_0 . In particular, if G_0 is split, this action is trivial.

Applying the valuation to c gives the element $\operatorname{Newt}_v(c) \in X^*(T_0^d)_{\mathbb{R}}/W_0^d = X^*(T_0)_{\mathbb{R}}^{\Gamma}/W_0^d = X^*(T_0^d)_{\mathbb{R}}^+ = (X^*(T_0)_{\mathbb{R}}^+)^{\Gamma}.$

We also remark that $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = T_0(L)/T_0(\mathcal{O}_L) = X_*(T_0^d)$ via the map $\lambda \in X_*(T_0^d) \mapsto \lambda(\varpi_L)$ where ϖ_L is a uniformizing element in L. We have also defined a valuation map $v: T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to X_*(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. We therefore get a map $v: X_*(T_0^d) \to X_*(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. This map is given by multiplication by $v(\varpi_L)$ (via the identification $X_*(T_0^d) = X_*(T^d)$).

We have the following conjecture (which is [FP19], conj. 4.5 in the unramified case):

Conjecture 5.10.14. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. Let $c \in {}^LG_0(\bar{F})^{ss}/\sigma$ – conj arising via the Satake isomorphism from an eigensystem for the spherical Hecke alegbra action on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ or $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(S_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor},\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(-D))$ For any $t \in X_*(T_0^d)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$, we have

$$\langle t, \operatorname{Newt}_v(c) \rangle \leq \langle v(t), -w_0 \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma} \sigma.\infty(\kappa) \rangle.$$

Remark 5.10.15. If L is unramified, $X_{\star}(T_0^d)$ is canonically identified with $X_{\star}(T^d)$ via the valuation map v, and the above identity simply writes: Newt_v(c) $\leq -w_0 \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma} \sigma . \infty(\kappa)$ in $X_{\star}(T)$.

We can reformulate this conjecture in another way. Any element $t \in X_*(T_0^d)^+$ gives a σ -equivariant representation of \hat{G}_0 (of highest weight t) and therefore a representation of LG_0 .

Lemma 5.10.16. The conjecture 5.10.14 holds if and only if, for any $t \in X_*(T_0^d)^+$ viewed as a dominant character of the Langlands group, and with associated highest weight representation V_t , we have that for any eigenvalue x of c on V_t ,

$$v(x) \ge -\langle v(t), \infty(\kappa) \rangle.$$

Remark 5.10.17. We remark that $-\infty(\kappa)$ is the anti-dominant representative of $\kappa + \rho$.

Proof. It follows from lemma 3.6 of [FP19] that the conjecture is equivalent to the statement that $v(\operatorname{Tr}(c|V_t)) \geq \langle w_0(v(t)), -w_0\infty(\kappa) \rangle = \langle v(t), -\infty(\kappa) \rangle$. Therefore, the converse implication holds. Let us prove the direct implication. If there is a unique eigenvalue of c on V_t with minimal valuation, we deduce that for any eigenvalue x of c on V_t , $v(x) \geq v(\operatorname{Tr}(c|V_t))$. Otherwise, let x_1, \cdots, x_i be the *i*-th eigenvalues of minimal valuation. Then one considers the representation $\Lambda^i V_t$ and we find $iv(x_1) = v(\operatorname{Tr}(c \rtimes \sigma | \Lambda^i V_t)) \geq i \langle v(t), -\infty(\kappa) \rangle$.

Before we state our main compatibility, we need to recall certain relations between the spherical and Iwahori Hecke algebras. We have the spherical Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G, K_p)$ and the Iwahori Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0})$. These are algebras for the convolution product for a Haar measure normalized by $\operatorname{vol}(K_p) = 1$ (respectively $\operatorname{vol}(K_{p,1,0}) = 1$). We have also introduced a subalgebra $\mathcal{H}_{p,1,0}^+$ of $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0})$, isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}[T^+]$, and generated by the elements $[K_{p,1,0}tK_{p,1,0}]$ with $t \in T^+$.

We now consider the twisted embedding

$$F[X_{\star}(T_0^d)^+] \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F$$

which sends $t \in T^+/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = X_{\star}(T_0^d)^+$ to $q^{-\langle t, \rho_0 \rangle}[K_{p,1,0}tK_{p,1,0}]$ where q is the cardinal of \mathcal{O}_L/ϖ_L and ρ_0 is half the sum of the positive roots in G_0 . All the operators $q^{-\langle t, \rho \rangle}[K_{p,1,0}tK_{p,1,0}]$ are invertible in $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F$ and this map extends to an embedding

$$F[X_{\star}(T_0^d)] \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F.$$

Moreover, $F[X_*(T_0^d)]^{W_d}$ is the center of $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F$. Let $e_{K_p} \in \mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0})$ be the idempotent equal to characteristic function of K_p divided by the volume of K_p . The natural isomorphism:

$$\mathcal{H}(G, K_p) \otimes F \to e_{K_p}(\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \otimes F) e_{K_p}$$

induces an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(G, K_p) \otimes F \to e_{K_p} F[X_{\star}(T_0^d)]^{W_d}$$

which is the Satake isomorphism.

Corollary 5.10.18. Let π be an irreducible smooth representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ defined over \overline{F} . Assume that $\pi^{K_p} \neq 0$. Then π^{K_p} is one dimensional. Let $c \in (X^*(T_0^d) \otimes \overline{F}^{\times})/W_0^d$ be the semi-simple σ -conjugacy class corresponding to the action of $\mathcal{H}(G, K_p)$ on π^{K_p} . Any eigensystem of $F[X_*(T_0^d)]$ acting on $\pi^{K_{p,1,0}}$ is given by a lift $\tilde{c} \in X^*(T_0^d) \otimes \overline{F}^{\times}$ of c.

Remark 5.10.19. In particular for any $t \in T^+/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = X_{\star}(T_0^d)^+$, the eigenvalues of $q^{-\langle t, \rho_0 \rangle}[K_{p,1,0}tK_{p,1,0}]$ acting on $\pi^{K_{p,1,0}}$ are among the eigenvalues of c acting on the representation V_t of the Langlands dual group.

Proposition 5.10.20. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. Consider the submodule $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0})$. $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,\Sigma}}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ of $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,1,0},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ generated by the cohomology at spherical level $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,\Sigma}}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$. If conjecture 5.10.14 holds for all eigensystems in $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,\Sigma},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$ then conjecture 5.10.7 holds for all eigensystems in $\mathcal{H}(G, K_{p,1,0}) \cdot \mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_{p,\Sigma},\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{\kappa})$. Proof. Let c be the semi-simple conjugacy class arising from a spherical eigenclass. Let λ be the character of $\mathcal{H}_{p,1,0}^+$ on the span of this eigenclass at Iwahori level. For each $t_0 \in T^+/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) = X_{\star}(T_0^d)^+$, we see that $\lambda(t_0)q^{-\langle t_0,\rho_0 \rangle}$ is an eigenvalue for c acting on V_{t_0} . It follows from lemma 5.10.16 that $v(\lambda(t_0)) - v(q)\langle t_0,\rho_0 \rangle \geq \langle v(t_0), -\infty(\kappa) \rangle$. Where via the valuation map $v : X_{\star}(T_0^d) \to X_{\star}(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, t_0 maps to $v(\varpi_L)t$, where we let t be the element corresponding to t_0 via the isomorphism $X_{\star}(T_0^d) = X_{\star}(T^d)$. So this identity can be re-written:

$$v(\lambda(t))v(\varpi_L) - v(q)\langle t_0, \rho_0 \rangle \ge v(\varpi_L)\langle t, -\infty(\kappa) \rangle.$$

It remains to remark that $v(q)v(\varpi_L)^{-1} = [L : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ and that $\langle t_0, \rho_0 \rangle [L : \mathbb{Q}_p] = \langle t, \rho \rangle$.

5.11. Slopes and small slope conditions. We will now define several "small slope" conditions that will occur in this paper. The reason that there are so many conditions is explained as follows. First we consider small slope condition on the coherent cohomology in weight κ , but also conditions on the Betti cohomology in weight $-w_0\nu$. Second, the conditions needed to obtain a vanishing theorem are not exactly the same as those needed to obtain classicality theorems. For example, on a Shimura set the vanishing theorem is trivial and does not require any slope condition, but when one considers the theory of *p*-adic algebraic automorphic forms, there is a slope condition to achieve classicality. Finally, in our setting there are two types of control theorems. We have control theorems for cohomologies of classical automorphic sheaves, but also control theorems for cohomologies valued in Banach sheaves. All this explains the large variety of slope conditions we need. We begin with the small slope condition and then turn to the strongly small slope condition which we need to use because we were not able to prove conjecture 5.9.2.

5.11.1. Small slope conditions.

Definition 5.11.2. Let $\lambda \in X^{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

• Let $\nu \in X^*(T)$ satisfy $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$. - We say λ satisfies $+, ss(\nu)$ if for all $w \in W$ with $w \cdot \nu \neq \nu$,

 $\lambda \not\geq -w \cdot \nu.$

- We say λ satisfies $-, ss(\nu)$ if for all $w \in W$ with $w \cdot \nu \neq \nu$,

$$\lambda \not\leq -w \cdot (w_0 \nu).$$

- Let $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T)^{M,+}$.
 - We say λ satisfies +, $ss^M(\kappa)$ if for all $w \in {}^MW \setminus C(\kappa)^+$,

$$\lambda \geq w^{-1} w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) + \rho$$

- We say λ satisfies $-, ss^M(\kappa)$ if for all $w \in {}^MW \setminus C(\kappa)^-$,

$$\lambda \not\leq w^{-1}(\kappa + \rho) - \rho.$$

- Let $\nu \in X^*(T)^+$.
 - We say λ satisfies +, $ss_b(\nu)$ if for all $w \in {}^M W$, λ satisfies +, $ss^M(-w_{0,M}w(\nu + \rho) \rho)$.
 - We say λ satisfies -, $ss_b(\nu)$ if for all $w \in {}^M W$, λ satisfies -, $ss^M(-w_{0,M}w(\nu + \rho) \rho)$.
- Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ and let $w \in {}^M W$.

- We say λ satisfies +, $ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$ if for all $w' \in W_M$, $w' \neq 1$, $\lambda \geq w^{-1} w_0 M w'(\kappa + \rho) + \rho.$ - We say λ satisfies $-, ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$ if for all $w' \in W_M, w' \neq 1$, $\lambda \not\leq w^{-1} w'(\kappa + \rho) - \rho.$

To orient the reader, we give a brief summary of how these conditions arise:

- The condition \pm , $ss^M(\kappa)$ will appear in the "geometric" classicality theorem relating classical cohomology and overconvergent cohomology, as well as vanishing theorems for classical cohomology in section 5.12.
- The condition $\pm ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$ will arise in the second classicality theorem "at the level of the sheaf" relating overconvergent and locally analytic cohomologies in algebraic weights in section 6.8.
- The condition $\pm ss(\nu)$ is the usual small slope condition that arises in works on *p*-adic modular forms from the Betti perspective. We shall see in proposition 5.11.10 below that it is the combination of the other two conditions.
- The condition \pm , $ss_b(\nu)$ is the condition that arises in the vanishing theorems for classical Betti cohomology. We shall see in proposition 5.11.12 that it is weaker than \pm , $ss(\nu)$.

We first observe that the + and - conditions are related by two symmetries:

Proposition 5.11.3. Let $\lambda \in X^{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

- (1) Let $\nu \in X^{\star}(T)$ satisfy $\nu + \rho \in X^{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{R}}^+$. Then the following are equivalent:
 - λ satisfies $-, ss(\nu)$.
 - $w_0(\lambda)$ satisfies +, $ss(\nu)$.
 - $-\lambda$ satisfies $+, ss(-w_0\nu)$.
- (2) Let $\nu \in X^*(T)$ satisfy $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then the following are equivalent:
 - λ satisfies $-, ss_b(\nu)$.
 - $w_0(\lambda)$ satisfies +, $ss_b(\nu)$.
 - $-\lambda \text{ satisfies } +, ss_b(-w_0\nu).$
- (3) Let $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T)^{M,+}$. Then the following are equivalent:
 - λ satisfies $-, ss^M(\kappa)$.
 - $w_0(\lambda)$ satisfies +, $ss^M(\kappa)$.
- $-\lambda$ satisfies $+, ss^{M}(-w_{0,M}\kappa 2\rho_{nc})$. (4) Let $\kappa \in X^{*}(T)^{M,+}$ and let $w \in {}^{M}W$. Then the following are equivalent:
 - λ satisfies -, $ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$.

 - w₀(λ) satisfies +, ss_{M,w_{0,M}ww₀}(κ).
 −λ satisfies +, ss_{M,w}(-w_{0,M}κ − 2ρ_{nc}).

The first symmetry is related to the fact that when we have a smooth, admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, the action of w_0 exchanges the + and - finite slope parts (see section 5.12.15 below). The second symmetry is related to Poincare and Serre duality.

Now we try to further explain the meaning of these small slope conditions and make them more explicit. In view of the symmetries above we only consider the +case. For $\nu \in X^*(T)$ we introduce the notation $W_{\nu} = \{w \in W \mid w \cdot \nu = \nu\}$.

We will use the following standard lemma.

Lemma 5.11.4. Let $\nu \in X^{\star}(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}} - \rho$ and let $w, w' \in W$. If $w \leq w'$ then $w' \cdot \nu \leq w \cdot \nu$.

Proof. By the definition of the Bruhat order and induction, it suffices to treat the case that $w' = s_{\alpha} w$ with $\alpha \in \Phi^+$ with l(w') > l(w), which implies that $w^{-1} \alpha \in \Phi^+$ by [Hum90] 5.7. Then $w' \cdot \nu = w \cdot \nu - \langle \alpha^{\vee}, w(\nu + \rho) \rangle \alpha$, and $\langle \alpha^{\vee}, w(\nu + \rho) \rangle =$ $\langle (w^{-1}\alpha)^{\vee}, \nu + \rho \rangle \ge 0.$

We now give some alternative characterizations of the condition $+, ss(\nu)$.

Proposition 5.11.5. The following conditions on $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ are equivalent:

- (1) $\lambda \not\geq -w \cdot \nu$ for all $w \in W \setminus W_{\nu}$, i.e. λ satisfies $+, ss(\nu)$.
- (2) $\lambda \not\geq -s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta$ with $s_{\alpha} \notin W_{\nu}$.

Moreover if we additionally assume that $\lambda \geq -\nu$ then we have the further equivalent condition:

(3)
$$\lambda = -\nu + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_d} c_{\alpha} \alpha \text{ with}$$

$$c_{\alpha} < \min_{\beta \in r^{-1}(\alpha), s_{\beta} \notin W_{\nu}} \langle \beta^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1$$

Proof. Clearly the first condition implies the second. For the converse, given $w \in$ $W \setminus W_{\nu}$, we have $w \geq s_{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in \Delta$, $s_{\alpha} \notin W_{\nu}$ (write w as a reduced product of simple reflections, not all the factors can fix ν as w doesn't.) Then $-w \cdot \nu \ge -s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ by lemma 5.11.4 and so $\lambda \geq -s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ implies $\lambda \geq -w \cdot \nu$.

Under the hypothesis $\lambda \geq -\nu$, the equivalence of the second and third conditions is immediate from the formula $-s_{\beta} \cdot \nu = -\nu + (\langle \beta^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1)\beta$.

Now we consider the condition $+, ss^M(\kappa)$. For $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ we can write $-\kappa - \rho =$ $v(\nu + \rho)$ for a unique $\nu \in X^*(T)$ with $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$, and $v \in W$ uniquely determined up to right multiplication by W_{ν} .

Proposition 5.11.6. Let $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T)^{M,+}$. Then with ν and v as above, the following conditions on $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ are equivalent:

- (1) $\lambda \not\geq w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho$ for all $w \in {}^{M}W \setminus C(\kappa)^{+}$, i.e. λ satisfies $+, ss^{M}(\kappa)$. (2) $\lambda \not\geq -w \cdot \nu$ for all $w \in ({}^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^{+} \setminus W_{\nu}$. (3) $\lambda \not\geq -s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta$ with $s_{\alpha} \in ({}^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^{+} \setminus W_{\nu}$.

Moreover if we additionally assume that $\lambda \geq -\nu$ then we have the further equivalent condition:

(4)
$$\lambda = -\nu + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_d} c_{\alpha} \alpha$$
 with

$$c_{\alpha} < \min_{\beta \in r^{-1}(\alpha), s_{\beta} \in (^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^{+} \setminus W_{\nu}} \langle \beta^{\vee}, \nu \rangle + 1.$$

Proof. The second condition is a direct translation of the first: we have $C(\kappa)^+ =$ $w_{0,M}vW_{\nu}$, and we can write

$$w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho = (w^{-1}w_{0,M}v)v^{-1}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho = -(w^{-1}w_{0,M}v)\cdot\nu$$

and so the first condition is equivalent to $\lambda \geq -w \cdot \nu$ for $w \in ({}^{M}W)^{-1}w_{0,M}v \setminus W_{\nu}$, which is equivalent to condition 2 because $({}^{M}W)^{-1}w_{0,M}vW_{\nu} = ({}^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot W_{\nu}$.

The second condition clearly implies the third. For the converse, to argue as in the proof of proposition 5.11.5 we need to show that for all $w \in W$ with $w \in$ $({}^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^{+} \setminus W_{\nu}$, we have $w \geq s_{\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $s_{\alpha} \in ({}^{M}W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^{+} \setminus W_{\nu}$. To do this, suppose $w = (w')^{-1} \overline{w''}$ with $w' \in {}^M W, w'' \in C(\kappa)^+$, and let w = $s_1 \cdots s_n$ be a reduced expression as a product of simple reflections. Choose k such that $s_k \notin W_{\nu}$ but $s_{k+1}, \ldots, s_n \in W_{\nu}$ (such a k exists as $w \notin W_{\nu}$.) Then

$$s_k = (w's_1 \cdots s_{k-1})^{-1} (w''s_{k+1} \cdots s_n) \in ({}^M W)^{-1} \cdot C(\kappa)^+$$

using lemma 5.11.7 below to see that $w's_1 \cdots s_{k-1} \in {}^M W$. Moreover $s_k \leq w$, and $s_k \notin W_{\nu}$, so we are done.

The equivalence of the third and fourth conditions is exactly as in proposition 5.11.5.

Lemma 5.11.7. Let $w, w' \in {}^{M}W$ and let $w^{-1}w' = s_1 \cdots s_n$ be a reduced expression as a product of simple roots. Then $ws_1 \cdots s_i \in {}^M W$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$.

Proof. We begin with the following claim: if $\alpha \in \Phi^+$, $\beta \in \Delta$, and $u \in W$ are such that $l(us_{\beta}) > l(u)$ and $u^{-1}\alpha \in \Phi^{-}$, then $(us_{\beta})^{-1}\alpha \in \Phi^{-}$. Indeed, $(us_{\beta})^{-1}\alpha =$ $s_{\beta}(u^{-1}\alpha) \in \Phi^+$ would imply $u^{-1}(\alpha) = -\beta$, and hence $u\beta \in \Phi^-$, contradicting $l(us_{\beta}) > l(u).$

Applying the claim inductively we see that if $\alpha \in \Phi^+$, and $(s_1 \cdots s_i)^{-1} \alpha \in \Phi^-$, then $(s_1 \cdots s_n)^{-1} \alpha \in \Phi^-$.

Now if $ws_1 \cdots s_i \notin {}^M W$, there exists $\beta \in \Delta_M$ with $(ws_1 \cdots s_i)^{-1}\beta = (s_1 \cdots s_i)^{-1}(w^{-1}\beta) \in$ Φ^- . But $w \in {}^M W$ implies $w^{-1}\beta \in \Phi^+$, and so from the above with $\alpha = w^{-1}\beta$ we deduce $(s_1 \cdots s_n)^{-1}(w^{-1}(\beta)) = w'^{-1}(\beta) \in \Phi^-$, and hence $w' \notin {}^M W$.

Now we turn to the conditions $+, ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^+$ and let $w \in {}^M W$. We let $v = w_{0,M}w$ and we let ν be defined by the formula $v(\nu + \rho) = -\kappa - \rho$. Note that we have $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$ if and only if $w \in C(\kappa)^+$, which we have not assumed for the moment.

Proposition 5.11.8. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$ and let $w \in W$. Let ν and v be as above. The following conditions on $\lambda \in X^{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ are equivalent:

- (1) $\lambda \not\geq w^{-1}w_{0,M}w'(\kappa + \rho) + \rho$ for all $w' \in W_M$, $w' \neq 1$, i.e. λ satisfies $\begin{array}{l} +, ss_{M,w}(\kappa) \\ (2) \quad \lambda \not\geq -(v^{-1}w'v) \cdot \nu \text{ for all } w' \in W_M, \ w' \neq 1. \\ (3) \quad \lambda \not\geq -(v^{-1}s_{\alpha}v) \cdot \nu \text{ for all } \alpha \in \Delta_M. \end{array}$

Proof. The equivalence of the first and second conditions is a direct translation.

For the equivalence of the second and third points, we introduce temporarily the notation $\lambda_1 \leq_{M,w} \lambda_2$ if $\lambda_2 - \lambda_1 \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} w^{-1} \Delta_M$ for $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Since $w \in {}^M W$ we have $w^{-1}\Delta_M \subseteq \Phi^+$ and hence $\overline{\lambda_1} \preceq_{M,w} \lambda_2$ implies $\lambda_1 \preceq \lambda_2$ and hence $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2$.

Now applying lemma 5.11.4 for the group M, we see that for $\nu' \in X^{\star}(T)_{\mathbb{R}}^{-,M} - \rho_M$ and $w', w'' \in W_M$ with $w' \leq w''$ we have $w' \cdot \nu' \preceq_{M,1} w'' \cdot \nu'$, hence $(w_{0,M}w'') \cdot \nu' \preceq_{M,1} (w_{0,M}w'') \cdot \nu'$, and hence $(w^{-1}w_{0,M}w'') \cdot \nu' \preceq_{M,u} (w^{-1}w_{0,M}w') \cdot \nu'$. We apply this with $\nu' = v \cdot \nu = -\kappa - \rho \in X^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}^{-,M} - \rho_M$ to deduce that for $w' \leq w''$ we have $-(v^{-1}w''v) \cdot \nu \geq -(v^{-1}w'v) \cdot \nu$, and hence the third condition implies the second. \square

Remark 5.11.9. Note that for $w \in W_M$, $(v^{-1}wv) \cdot v = v$ implies w = 1. Indeed, then $w \cdot (-\kappa - 2\rho) = -\kappa - 2\rho$ or equivalently $w(-\kappa - \rho_M) = -\kappa - \rho_M$, and hence that w = 1, since $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$.

Note that we have now expressed all the small slope conditions as $\lambda \not\geq -w \cdot \nu$ as w ranges over a certain subset of W. We may use this to compare them.

Proposition 5.11.10. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$ and let $w \in C(\kappa)^+$. Let $v = w_{0,M}w$ and let ν be given by $v(\nu + \rho) = -\kappa - \rho$ so that $\nu + \rho \in X^{\star}(T)^{+}_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then a slope $\lambda \in$ $X^{\star}(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfies $+, ss(\nu)$ if and only if it satisfies both $+, ss^{\tilde{M}}(\kappa)$ and $+, ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$.

Proof. We apply the characterizations of propositions 5.11.5, 5.11.6, 5.11.8. Then it is clear that $+, ss(\nu)$ implies both $+, ss^M(\kappa)$ and $+, ss_{M,w}(\kappa)$. For the other direction, we need to show that for each $\alpha \in \Delta$, then either $s_{\alpha} \in ({}^{M}W)^{-1}C(\kappa)^{+}$ or $vs_{\alpha}v^{-1} \in W_{M}$.

We apply lemma 5.11.11 to $w \in {}^{M}W$ and s_{α} . If $ws_{\alpha} \in {}^{M}W$ then $s_{\alpha} = (ws_{\alpha})^{-1}w \in ({}^{M}W^{-1})w$. Otherwise there exists $\beta \in \Delta_{M}$ so that $s_{\beta}w = ws_{\alpha}$ and hence $vs_{\alpha}v^{-1} = w_{0,M}^{-1}s_{\beta}w_{0,M} \in W_{M}$.

Lemma 5.11.11. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and $\alpha \in \Delta$. Then either $ws_{\alpha} \in {}^{M}W$ or $ws_{\alpha} = s_{\beta}w$ for $\beta \in \Delta_{M}$.

Proof. If $ws_{\alpha} \notin {}^{M}W$ then there exists $\beta \in \Delta_{M}$ with $s_{\alpha}(w^{-1}(\beta)) = (ws_{\alpha})^{-1}(\beta) \in \Phi^{-}$. But $w^{-1}(\beta) \in \Phi^{+}$. Hence $w^{-1}(\beta) = \alpha$, so $w^{-1}s_{\beta}w = s_{\alpha}$, hence $ws_{\alpha} = s_{\beta}w$.

We can write $\Phi = \coprod_i \Phi_i$ where the Φ_i are simple root systems. Then $\Phi_M = \coprod_i \Phi_{M,i}$ where $\Phi_{M,i} = \Phi_M \cap \Phi_i$. We let $\Phi_b = \coprod_{i,\Phi_i \neq \Phi_{M,i}} \Phi_i$ be the union of the simple factors where M is a proper levi. Let $\Delta_b = \Phi_b \cap \Delta$.

Proposition 5.11.12. Suppose that $\nu \in X^*(T)^+$. Then the following conditions on a slope $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$ are equivalent.

- (1) λ satisfies +, $ss^M(-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$ for all $w \in {}^MW$.
- (2) $\lambda \not\geq -s_{\alpha} \cdot \nu$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_b$.

Proof. We need to show that for $\alpha \in \Delta$, we have $\alpha \in \Delta_b$ if and only if there is $w \in {}^M W$ so that $w s_{\alpha} w^{-1} \notin W_M$.

The later condition is equivalent to $w\alpha \notin \Phi_M$ for all $w \in W$ (since if we write $w = w_M w^M$ then $w\alpha \in \Phi_M$ implies $w^M \alpha \in \Phi_M$) but $w\alpha$ for $w \in W$ span $\mathbb{Q}\Phi_i$ where Φ_i is the simple factor containing α and so the only way that we will have $w\alpha \in \Phi_M$ for all $w \in W$ is if $\Phi_i = \Phi_{i,M}$.

5.11.13. The strongly small slope conditions. We now introduce some slightly stronger versions of the small slope conditions of the last section. We need these because we cannot prove the slope bounds of conjecture 5.9.2, but only the weaker bounds of theorem 5.9.6.

Definition 5.11.14. Let $\lambda \in X^*(T^d)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Let κ ∈ X*(T)^{M,+}.
We say λ satisfies +, sss^M(κ) if for all w ∈ ^MW \ C(κ)⁺, λ ≥ w⁻¹w_{0,M}κ or λ ≥ w⁻¹w_{0,M}κ + w⁻¹2ρ_{nc}.
We say λ satisfies -, sss^M(κ) if for all w ∈ ^MW \ C(κ)⁻, λ ≤ w⁻¹κ or λ ≤ w⁻¹κ + w⁻¹2ρ_{nc}.
Let κ ∈ X*(T) and let w ∈ ^MW.
We say λ satisfies +, sss_{M,w}(κ) if for all w' ∈ W_M, w' ≠ 1, λ ≥ w⁻¹w_{0,M}w'(κ) or λ ≥ w⁻¹w_{0,M}w'(κ) + 2w⁻¹w_{0,M}w'2ρ_{nc}.
We say λ satisfies -, sss_{M,w}(κ) if for all w' ∈ W_M, w' ≠ 1,

It is immediate from the definitions that λ satisfies \pm , $sss^M(\kappa)$ if and only if $w_0(\lambda)$ satisfies \mp , $sss^M(\kappa)$ and if and only if $-\lambda$ satisfies \mp , $sss^M(-w_{0,M}\kappa - 2\rho_{nc})$.

We introduce combinations of these conditions motivated by propositions 5.11.12 and 5.11.10.

- We say that λ satisfies +, $sss_w(\nu)$ if it satisfies +, $sss^M(-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$ and $+, sss_{M,w}(-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$. We say that λ satisfies $-, sss_w(\nu)$ if it satisfies $-, sss^M(-ww_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$ and $-, sss_{M,w}(-ww_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$.
- We say that λ satisfies \pm , $sss_b(\nu)$ if it satisfies \pm , $sss^M(-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho)$ for all $w \in {}^{M}W$.

5.12. Small slopes, classicality, and vanishing. We introduce a notation. Let M be a module or a complex carrying an action of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and admitting a slope decomposition. Let ? be a condition on the slope of characters of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ (for instance the condition introduced in definition 5.11.2), then $M^{?}$ means the factor of M which satisfies the condition ?.

5.12.1. Coherent cohomology. Theorem 5.9.6 and the definition of the small slope condition implies the following vanishing.

Corollary 5.12.2. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and let $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. Then

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} = 0$$

for $w \notin C(\kappa)^{\pm}$.

This implies that if we take the strongly small slope part of the spectral sequences from finite slope overconvergent cohomology to finite slope classical cohomology of Theorem 5.5.1, all the terms for $w \notin C(\kappa)^{\pm}$ vanish. We immediately deduce our first main classicality theorem.

Theorem 5.12.3. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and assume that $\kappa + \rho$ is regular so that $C(\kappa)^{\pm} = \{w_{\pm}\}$. Let $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. Then the spectral sequences of Theorem 5.5.1 induces isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w\pm}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$$
$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w\pm}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$$

Remark 5.12.4. Cases of this theorem for the degree 0 cohomology of PEL Shimura varieties were already proven. See for example [Col96], [Kas06], [Pil11], [BPS16].

We also deduce vanishing theorems for classical cohomology.

Theorem 5.12.5. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and let $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character.

- (1) $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in degree $[0,\ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$. (2) $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in degree $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa),d]$.
- (3) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in degree $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa),\ell_{\max}(\kappa)].$

Proof. The vanishing result follows from the spectral sequences of theorem 5.5.1 and the vanishing results of propositions 5.6.2 and 5.7.4, together with theorem 5.9.6. *Remark* 5.12.6. If we assume the conjecture 5.9.2, then the strongly small slope conditions in theorems 5.12.5 can be weakened to small slope condition. In theorem 6.10.2 we will actually be able to prove the theorems for the small slope condition for the interior cohomology only, using the eigenvariety.

Remark 5.12.7. In [Lan16], an analog of theorem 5.12.5 is proved without any small slope condition, but with a regularity condition on the weight κ instead.

Remark 5.12.8. The classical coherent cohomology can be computed in terms of automorphic forms for G by the result of Su [Su18]. Thus it may be possible to reprove theorem 5.12.5 with sufficient knowledge of automorphic forms on G.

The following corollary gives a situation for which the interior Cousin complex computes the classical interior cohomology.

Corollary 5.12.9. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and assume that $\kappa + \rho$ is regular. Then $\overline{Cous}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$ computes $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^*(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}$.

Proof. We have $C(\kappa)^{\pm} = \{w_{\pm}\}$. We deduce that

$$\overline{\mathcal{C}ous}(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} =$$
$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\operatorname{H}_{w}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^p,\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)} \to \operatorname{H}_{w}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K_p,\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^M(\kappa)}\right)[-\ell_{\pm}(w)]$$

which computes $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{\star}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ by theorem 5.12.3 and theorem 5.12.5.

5.12.10. Betti cohomology. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$. We let W_{ν} be the corresponding irreducible representation of G with highest weight ν and W_{ν}^{\vee} be its contragredient. We have an associated local system \mathcal{W}_{ν}^{\vee} over $S_K(\mathbb{C})$.

Using Faltings's dual BGG spectral sequence we deduce vanishing results for the small slope parts of Betti cohomology.

Theorem 5.12.11. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$.

- (1) $\operatorname{H}^{i}(S_{K}(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{\pm, sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in degree [d, 2d]. (2) $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{c}(S_{K}(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{\pm, sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in degree [0, d].
- (3) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(S_{K}(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu})^{\pm, sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in degree d.

Remark 5.12.12. If we assume the conjecture 5.9.2, then the strongly small slope conditions in 5.12.11 can be weakened to small slope condition. In theorem 6.10.2we will actually be able to prove the theorems for the small slope condition for the interior cohomology only, using the eigenvariety.

Remark 5.12.13. In [Lan16], analogs of theorem 5.12.11 are proved without any small slope condition, but with a regularity condition on the weight ν instead.

Remark 5.12.14. The classical Betti cohomology can be computed in terms of automorphic forms for G by the results of Franke [Fra98]. Thus it may be possible to reprove theorem 5.12.11 with sufficient knowledge of automorphic forms on G.

5.12.15. Small slope conditions and Jacquet modules. We now use these small slope condition to define certain direct summands of smooth admissible representations and apply this to the cohomology of the Shimura variety.

Proposition 5.12.16. Let π be a smooth admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and let $\nu \in X^*(T)$ satisfy $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (1) There exists $m \ge b \ge 0$ such that $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},+,ss(\nu)} \ne 0$.
- (2) There exists $m \ge b \ge 0$ such that $\pi^{K_{p,m,b},-,ss(\nu)} \ne 0$.
- (3) $(\pi_U)^{+,ss(\nu)} \neq 0.$
- (4) $(\pi_{\overline{U}})^{-,ss(\nu)} \neq 0.$

We have the same equivalent properties when the condition $ss(\nu)$ replaced by $ss_h(\nu), sss_h(\nu), or ss^M(\kappa), sss^M(\kappa)$ for $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$.

Proof. The equivalence of (1) with (3) and (2) with (4) is immediate from proposition 4.3.1. The equivalence of (3) and (4) follows from proposition 5.11.3 and the isomorphism between π_U and $\pi_{\overline{U}}$ given by w_0 .

Definition 5.12.17. Let π be a smooth admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, let $\nu \in X^*(T)$ satisfy $\nu + \rho \in X^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{R}}$ and let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$. We define $\pi^{ss(\nu)} \subseteq \pi$ to be the sum of all indecomposable summands of π which satisfy the equivalent conditions of proposition 5.12.16 for $ss(\nu)$. We define $\pi^{ss_b(\nu)}$, $\pi^{ss^M(\kappa)}$, $\pi^{sss_b(\nu)}$, and $\pi^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ similarly.

Remark 5.12.18. It is not necessarily true that any irreducible subquotient of $\pi^{ss(\nu)}$ satisfies the condition $ss(\nu)$ and similarly for the other conditions.

Remark 5.12.19. If π is irreducible, then $\pi^{ss(\nu)} = \pi$ means that π admits an embedding in $\iota_B^G \psi$ for a character $\psi: T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ with $v(\psi)$ satisfying $+, ss(\nu)$. A similar remark holds for the other slope conditions.

With these definition in place, we can deduce (most of) theorems 1.3.8 and 1.3.10 of the introduction (we will be able to use the small slope condition for interior cohomology after we prove theorem 6.10.2):

Theorem 5.12.20. *For any* $\kappa \in X_{\star}(T^{c})^{M_{\mu},+}$,

- (1) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa)^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa),\ell_{\max}(\kappa)],$
- (2) $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa,cusp)^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[0,\ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$,
- (3) $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p},\kappa)^{sss^{M}(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa),d]$.
- For any $\nu \in X_{\star}(T^c)^+$,
- (1) $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K_{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the middle degree d,
- (2) $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{c}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu})^{sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the range [0, d],
- (3) $\operatorname{H}^{i}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{sss_{b}(\nu)}$ is concentrated in the range [d, 2d].

Proof. This follows immediately from theorems 5.12.5 and 5.12.11.

5.13. De Rham and rigid cohomology. Let $\nu \in X^{\star}(T^c)^+$. Let $(\mathcal{W}_{\nu,dR}^{\vee}, \nabla)$ be the associated filtered vector bundle with integrable logarithmic connection over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$. Over $S_K(\mathbb{C})$, the set of horizontal sections of the corresponding holomorphic vector bundle is the local system \mathcal{W}_{ν}^{\vee} . Let $\mathrm{DR}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}) = \mathcal{W}_{\nu,dR}^{\vee} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{S_{K_{\Sigma}}^{tor}}}$ $\Omega^{\bullet}_{Stor_F/F}(\log(D))$ be the filtered de Rham complex with logarithmic poles associated to $(\mathcal{W}_{\nu,dR}^{\vee}, \nabla)$. Its cohomology will be denoted $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$. We also consider the sub-complex $\mathrm{DR}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}(-D))$ and its cohomology will be denoted $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,c}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ where the subscript c stands for compact support.

Faltings's dual BGG complex for \mathcal{W}_{ν}^{\vee} is a filtered complex $\operatorname{BGG}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ in the category of vector bundles with maps given by differential operators. See for example [LP18] or [LLZ19], sect. 6.1. We have $\operatorname{BGG}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})^{i} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell(w)=i} \mathcal{V}_{-ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho}$. We also have a subcomplex $\operatorname{BGG}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}(-D))$ with

$$BGG(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}(-D))^{i} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell(w)=i} \mathcal{V}_{-ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho}(-D).$$

We have (see for example [LLZ19], thm. 6.1.10):

Theorem 5.13.1. There is a filtered quasi-isomorphism $BGG(W_{\nu}^{\vee}) \to DR(W_{\nu}^{\vee})$ in the category of vector bundles over $S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$, with morphisms given by differential operators. The stupid filtration on $BGG(W_{\nu}^{\vee})$ induces is a spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell(w) = p} \mathrm{H}^q(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{-ww_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}_{dR}^{p+q}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$$

degenerating at E_1 . There is a quasi-isomorphism $BGG(\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}(-D)) \to DR(\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}(-D))$. The stupid filtration on $BGG(\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}(-D))$ induces a spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell(w) = p} \mathrm{H}^q(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{V}_{-ww_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho}(-D)) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{dR,c}(S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$$

degenerating at E_1 .

Remark 5.13.2. Instead of using the stupid filtration on $BGG(W_{\nu}^{\vee})$ one can use the filtration F corresponding to the Hodge filtration on $DR(W_{\nu}^{\vee})$. The associated graded of this filtration F are complexes of automorphic vector bundles (featuring those appearing as objects in $BGG(W_{\nu}^{\vee})$), with trivial differential. The spectral sequence for the F-filtration is then the Hodge-to-de Rham spectral sequence. It also degenerates at E_1 . The difference between the Hodge-to-de Rham spectral sequence and the stupid filtration spectral sequence is therefore basically a reindexing of the terms.

We now pass to *p*-adic geometry. We can consider $DR(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ and $BGG(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ as complexes of vector bundles with maps given by differential operators over the adic space $\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ and the GAGA theorem ensures that $R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{S}_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ still computes the algebraic de Rham cohomology groups. If $K = K^p K_p$ with $K_p = K_{p,m,b}$, and $\chi: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ is a finite order character, we can define $R\Gamma_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ as a direct factor of the complex of $R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$ (see section 4.2.11). We can also define $R\Gamma_{dR,c}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ as a direct factor of the complex of $R\Gamma_{dR,c}(\mathcal{S}_{K^pK_p,\Sigma}^{tor}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$

For any $w \in {}^{M}W$, we can also make sense of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,w}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ as in section 5.4. Namely, one just copies verbatim this section with the automorphic sheaf \mathcal{V}_{κ} replaced by the complex of automorphic sheaves $\mathrm{DR}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee})$. Similarly, we can define $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,c,w}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ by considering the cohomology of the complex $\mathrm{DR}(\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}(-D))$.

Remark 5.13.3. It would be interesting to study in depth the cohomologies

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,w}(K^p,\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi)^{\pm,fs}.$$

For example, are the cohomology groups finite dimensional *F*-vector spaces? In the Siegel case, the cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,w}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR,c,w}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm,fs}$

for $w \in \{Id, w_0^M\}$ are rigid cohomologies with support conditions of certain coverings of the ordinary locus in the Shimura variety. Is this a general phenomena (with the ordinary locus replaced by the Igusa variety corresponding to w)?

The following theorem is the direct analogue of theorem 5.5.1. The proof proceeds in the exact same way.

Theorem 5.13.4. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$ be a weight and let $\chi : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. For a choice of + or -, there is a $\mathcal{H}^{\pm}_{p,m,b}$ -equivariant spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}$ converging to classical finite slope de Rham cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$, such that

$$\mathbf{E}_{dR,1}^{p,q}(K^p,\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee},\chi)^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{\pm}(w)=p} \mathbf{H}_{dR,w}^{p+q}(K^p,\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee},\chi)^{\pm,fs}.$$

There are also spectral sequences $\mathbf{E}_{dR,c}^{p,q}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm}$ converging to $\mathbf{H}_{dR,c}^{p+q}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ such that

$$\mathbf{E}^{p,q}_{dR,c,1}(K^p,\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi)^{\pm} = \oplus_{w \in {}^{M}W,\ell_{\pm}(w)=p} \mathbf{H}^{p+q}_{dR,c,w}(K^p,\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi)^{\pm,fs}.$$

It follows that we have two spectral sequences converging to the classical cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ (and the compactly supported one). The first one is associated to the stupid filtration on the de Rham complex (and is basically the Hodge-to-de Rham spectral sequence). The other one is the spectral sequence of theorem 5.13.4, and it is really coming from the Bruhat stratification on the Flag variety.

By comparing both spectral sequences on the strongly small slope part, we obtain the following decomposition of the de Rham cohomology.

Theorem 5.13.5. For all $\nu \in X^*(T^c)^+$, we have that:

$$(\mathrm{H}^{n}_{dR}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{+, sss_{b}(\nu)}) = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \oplus_{w, \ell(w)=p} \mathrm{H}^{q}(K^{p}, -ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho, \chi)^{+, sss_{b}(\nu)}$$

and that

$$(\mathrm{H}^{n}_{dR}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi))^{-, sss_{b}(\nu)} = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \oplus_{w, \ell_{-}(w)=p} \mathrm{H}^{q}(K^{p}, -ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho, \chi)^{-, sss_{b}(\nu)}$$

We have similarly:

$$(\mathrm{H}^{n}_{dR,c}(K^{p},\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)}) = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \oplus_{w,\ell(w)=p} \mathrm{H}^{q}(K^{p},-ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho,\chi,cusp)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)}$$

and that

$$(\mathrm{H}^{n}_{dR,c}(K^{p},\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi))^{-,sss_{b}(\nu)} = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \oplus_{w,\ell_{-}(w)=p} \mathrm{H}^{q}(K^{p},-ww_{0}(\nu+\rho)-\rho,\chi,cusp)^{-,sss_{b}(\nu)}.$$

Proof. We only prove the first displayed equation. The idea of the proof is that the two spectral spectral sequences are in a certain sense opposite to each other on the strongly small slope part, and therefore, not only do we have degeneration at E_1 , but also the induced filtration on cohomology is split.

From theorem 5.12.3 and corollary 5.12.2, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}_{dR,w}^{p+q}(K^{p},\mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee},\chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)} &= \mathbf{H}_{w}^{p+q-\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho,\chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)} \\ &= \mathbf{H}^{p+q-\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho,\chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)} \end{aligned}$$

For the spectral sequence of theorem 5.13.4, we deduce that

$$\mathbf{E}_{dR,1}^{p,q}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell(w)=p} \mathbf{H}_{dR,w}^{p+q}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm,fs}$$

$$= \bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, \ell(w)=p} \mathbf{H}^{p+q-\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p}, -w_{0,M}w(\nu+\rho)-\rho, \chi)^{+,sss_{b}(\nu)}$$

For the spectral sequence of theorem 5.13.1, we have

$$(E_1^{p,q})^{+,sss_b(\nu)} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell(w) = p} \mathrm{H}^q(K^p, -ww_0(\nu + \rho) - \rho, \chi)^{+,sss_b(\nu)}$$

= $\mathbf{E}_{dR,1}^{p',q'}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{+,sss_b(\nu)}, \text{ for } p' = d - p, \ p' + q' = p + q.$

The spectral sequence of theorem 5.13.1 degenerates at E_1 , and we deduce that we get two opposite filtrations on the cohomology. This gives the splitting.

Remark 5.13.6. This theorem is reminiscent of complex Hodge theory, where one obtains a splitting of the Hodge filtration given by harmonic C^{∞} -differential forms. In the *p*-adic setting, the de Rham cohomology comes with additional structure (notably a Frobenius on the Hyodo-Kato cohomology [HK94]). Is the above splitting induced by these additional structure?

We conclude this section by constructing an interior Cousin bi-complex analogue to the interior Cousin complex of section 5.8.

We define $\overline{Cous}(K^p, \mathcal{W}_{\nu}^{\vee}, \chi)^{\pm}$ as the bi-complex concentrated in degrees in $[0, d] \times [0, d]$, where for all $(i, j) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$, we have:

$$(\overline{\mathcal{Cous}}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm})^{(i,j)} = \bigoplus_{w \in {}^M W, \ell_{\pm}(w)=i} \bigoplus_{w' \in {}^M W, \ell(w')=j} \overline{\mathrm{H}}^i_w(K^p, -w'w_0(\nu+\rho)-\rho, \chi)^{\pm,fs}$$

The horizontal complexes $(\mathcal{C}ous(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm})^{(\bullet, j)}$ are

$$\bigoplus_{w' \in {}^{M}W, \ell(w')=j} \overline{Cous}(K^{p}, -w'w_{0}(\nu + \rho) - \rho, \chi)^{\pm}$$

and the vertical differentials are those given by the maps in the BGG complexes. Let us define the interior de Rham cohomology by

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}_{dR}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}^{i}_{dR,c}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm} \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{dR,c}(K^{p}, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}).$$

If the Shimura variety is compact we simply write $Cous(K^p, W^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}$ instead of $\overline{Cous}(K^p, W^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}$.

We find:

Proposition 5.13.7. If the Shimura variety is compact, the complex $\operatorname{Tot}(\operatorname{Cous}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm})$ is quasi-isomorphic to $\operatorname{R}\Gamma_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}$. For a general Shimura variety, the interior cohomology $\overline{\operatorname{H}}^i_{dR}(K^p, \mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu}, \chi)^{\pm}$ is a subquotient of

$$\mathrm{I}^{i}(\mathrm{Tot}(\overline{\mathcal{C}ous}(K^{p},\mathcal{W}^{\vee}_{\nu},\chi)^{\pm})).$$

Proof. This follows from corollary 5.8.1.

5.14. Explicit formulas in the symplectic case. Let V be a Q-vector space of dimension 2g. Let Ψ be the symplectic form on V given in the canonical basis e_1, \dots, e_{2g} by $\Psi(e_i, e_j) = 1$ if $i \leq g$ and j = 2g - i + 1 and $\Psi(e_i, e_j) = 0$ if $i \leq g$ and $j \neq 2g - i + 1$. Let $G = \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}$, be the subgroup of automorphisms of V respecting Ψ up to a similitude factor ν . We pick the maximal diagonal torus T in G. A typical element $t \in T$ is labelled $(t_1, \dots, t_g; c) = \operatorname{diag}(t_1 c, \dots, t_g c, t_g^{-1} c, \dots, t_1^{-1} c)$. The character group $X^*(T)$ identifies with $\{(k_1, \dots, k_g; k) \in \mathbb{Z}^{g+1}, \sum k_i = k \mod 2\}$. The action is given by $(k_1, \dots, k_g; k)(t_1, \dots, t_g; c) = \prod t_i^{k_i} c^k$. We let P_{μ}^{std} be the stabilizer of the Lagrangian plan $\langle e_1, \dots, e_g \rangle$. We therefore let P_{μ} be the stabilizer

136

of the Lagrangian plan $\langle e_{g+1}, \cdots, e_{2g} \rangle$. We have $M_{\mu} \simeq \operatorname{GL}_g \times \mathbb{G}_m$. We choose the upper triangular Borel in M_{μ} , which fixes the positive compact roots. Recall that we choose the positive non-compact roots to be in $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p}_{\mu}^{std}$. It follows that $X^*(T)^{M_{\mu},+} =$ $\{(k_1, \cdots, k_g; k), k_1 \geq k_2 \geq \cdots \geq k_g\}$ and $X^*(T)^+ = \{(k_1, \cdots, k_g; k), 0 \geq k_1 \geq k_2 \geq$ $\cdots \geq k_g\}$. We have $\rho = (-1, -2, -3, \cdots, g; 0), 2\rho_{nc} = (-g-1, \cdots, -g-1; 0)$. The usual way to normalize the central character in the theory of Siegel modular forms is to consider weights of the form $(k_1, \cdots, k_g; -\sum k_i)$, with $k_1 \geq \cdots \geq k_g$. For example (consult [FP19], example 5.2 for the details), when $g = 1, \mathcal{V}_{(k;-k)} = \omega_E^{\otimes k}$ where $E \to S_K^*$ is the universal semi-abelian scheme and ω_E is its conormal sheaf. When $g = 2, \mathcal{V}_{(k_1,k_2;-k_1-k_2)} = \operatorname{Sym}^{k_1-k_2}\omega_A \otimes \operatorname{det}^{k_2}\omega_A$ where $A \to S_{K,\Sigma}^{tor}$ is the universal semi-abelian scheme and ω_A is its conormal sheaf.

A standard basis of Hecke operators in $\mathcal{H}_{p,1,0}^+$ is given by the classes:

- (1) $U_g = [K_{p,1,0}(-1/2, \cdots, -1/2; -1/2)(p)K_{p,1,0}],$ where $(-1/2, \cdots, -1/2; -1/2)(p) =$ diag $(p^{-1}, \cdots, p^{-1}, 1, \cdots, 1).$ (2) $U_i = [K_{p,1,0}(0, \cdots, 0, -1, \cdots, -1; -1)(p)K_{p,1,0}]$ for $1 \le i \le g-1$ with
- (2) $U_i = [K_{p,1,0}(0, \cdots, 0, -1, \cdots, -1; -1)(p)K_{p,1,0}]$ for $1 \le i \le g-1$ with i many -1 before the j. We have that $(0, \cdots, 0, -1, \cdots, -1; -1)(p) = \text{diag}(p^{-1}\text{Id}_{g-i}, p^{-2}\text{Id}_i, \text{Id}_i, p\text{Id}_{g-i})$ (2) $S = [mK_{j-1}] S^{-1}$
- (3) $S = [pK_{p,1,0}], S^{-1}.$

Remark 5.14.1. Following [FP19], remark 5.6, we justify that for g = 1, the double class $[K_{p,1,0} \operatorname{diag}(p^{-1}, 1) K_{p,1,0}]$ indeed corresponds to the standard U_p -operator! For simplicity let us assume that $K^p \subseteq \operatorname{GL}_2(\prod_{\ell \neq p} \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$. The corresponding moduli space (ignoring cusps) parametrizes two elliptic curves E_1, E_2 up to isomorphisms, with K level structures, together with a quasi isogeny $E_2 \to E_1$ giving a map $V(E_2) \to V(E_1)$ where $V(E_i) = \lim E_i[N] \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ is the adelic Tate module, and we ask that this map is represented by $K \operatorname{diag}(p^{-1}, 1)K$. Concretely this means that the quasi-isogeny $E_2 \to E_1$ comes from a degree p isogeny $E_1 \to E_2$ and that this isogeny matches K-level structures on the Tate modules. The $K_{p,1,0}$ level structure is the data of a rank p-subgroup $H_i \subseteq E_i[p]$. Because we choose the lower triangular Borel, we find that the isogeny $E_1 \to E_2$ induces and isomorphism between H_1 and H_2 .

5.14.2. GL_2/\mathbb{Q} . In this case, everything is already in [BP20]. Let $\kappa = (k; -k)$. The Cousin complex is $Cous(K^p, \kappa, \chi) : \mathrm{H}_1^0(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}_w^1(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$ where $\mathrm{H}_1(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$ is the space of finite slope overconvergent modular forms of weight k, nebentypus χ and $\mathrm{H}_w^1(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$ is the finite slope part of the cohomology with compact support of the dagger space "ordinary locus" in weight k and nebentypus χ . We have $w_{0,M} = 1$ for GL₂. For w = 1, we find that $w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho = (k-2; -k)$ and that $\langle (-1/2; -1/2), (k-2; -k) \rangle = 1$. The un-normalized U_p -operator acts on q-expansion by $\sum a_n q^n = p \sum a_{np} q^n$ and has indeed slope greater or equal to 1 on $\mathrm{H}_1^0(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$. For $w \neq 1$, we find that $w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho) + \rho = (-k; -k)$ and we get that $-\langle (-1/2; -1/2), (-k; -k) \rangle = k$. On $\mathrm{H}_w^1(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,fs}$, U_p acts like Frobenius, and this explains why it is of slope greater or equal than k. See lemma 5.3 in [BP20]. We deduce from this lemma the classicality theorem.

5.14.3. GSp_4/\mathbb{Q} . The Weyl group is generated by the following transposition: $s_0(k_1, k_2; k) = (k_2, k_1; k)$ and $s_1(k_1, k_2; k) = (-k_1, k_2; k)$. The elements of ^MW are $Id, s_1, s_1s_0, s_1s_0s_1$. We consider the weight $\kappa = (k_1, k_2; -k_1 - k_2)$ so that $-w_{0,M}\kappa = (-k_2, -k_1; k_1 + k_2)$. The following table indicates the value of the pairing

$$\langle t, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho\rangle = \langle t, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa)\rangle + \langle t, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\rho)+\rho\rangle$$

where $t = (-1/2, -1/2; -1/2)(p)$ or $(0, -1; -1)(p)$, and $w \in {}^{M}W$.

	Id	s_1	s_1s_0	$s_1 s_0 s_1$
(-1/2,-1/2;-1/2)	3	$k_2 + 1$	$k_2 + 1$	$k_1 + k_2$
(0,-1;-1)	$k_2 + 3$	$k_2 + 3$	$2k_2 + k_1$	$2k_2 + k_1$

The table below gives the value

$$\max\{\langle t, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa)\rangle, \langle t, w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa) + 2w^{-1}\rho_{nc}\rangle\}$$

which appears in the strictly small slope condition.

	Id	s_1	s_1s_0	$s_1 s_0 s_1$
(-1/2,-1/2;-1/2)	3	k_2	k_2	$k_1 + k_2$
(0,-1;-1)	$k_2 + 3$	$k_2 + 3$	$2k_2 + k_1$	$2k_2 + k_1$

The difference between these two tables illustrates the difference between conjecture 5.9.2 (first table) and theorem 5.9.6 (second table). Let us explain how to interpret this information.

Let us take a weight in the interior of the holomorphic chamber: $k_2 > 2$. We assume that U_2 has slopes $\langle k_2+1$. This is the "small slope" condition because there are conjecturally no overconvergent cohomology classes for $w \neq 1$ which satisfy this slope condition. Therefore the U_2 -slope $\langle k_2 + 1$ part of classical cohomology identifies conjecturally with the overconvergent cohomology for w = 1. Under the bounds of theorem 5.9.6, we have to use the strongly small slope condition $\langle k_2$ instead.

Let us take a weight in the interior of the "H¹ chamber": $k_2 < 2$ and $k_1 + k_2 > 3$. The small slope condition is now U_2 -slope < 3 and U_1 -slope $< k_1 + 2k_2$. The first condition kills the overconvergent cohomology for 1. The second condition kills the overconvergent cohomology for s_1s_0 and $s_1s_0s_1$. Therefore, the small slope classical cohomology identifies with the small slope overconvergent cohomology for $w = s_1$.

6. p-adic families of overconvergent cohomology

6.1. Relative spectral theory and slope decompositions.

6.1.1. Slope decomposition over Tate algebras. Let (A, A^+) be a finite type Tate (F, \mathcal{O}_F) -algebra. For any point $x \in \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$, we let k(x) be the complete residue field. It possesses a rank one valuation v which we normalize by v(p) = 1 (this valuation corresponds to the maximal generalization \tilde{x} of x).

Definition 6.1.2. A polynomial $Q \in A[X]$ whose leading coefficient is a unit is said to be of slope $\leq h$ for $h \in \mathbb{Q}$ if for all $x \in \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$, the image of Q in k(x)[X] has slope less or equal than h in the sense of section 5.1.1.

Remark 6.1.3. This definition of being of slope $\leq h$ agrees with [AS08], def. 4.3.2, in the case that A is reduced, we take the supremum norm as a norm on A, and the leading coefficient of Q is a multiplicative unit.

Definition 6.1.4. Let M be an A-module and let T be an A-linear endomorphism of M. Let $h \in \mathbb{Q}$. An h-slope decomposition of M with respect to T is a direct sum decomposition of A-modules $M = M^{\leq h} \oplus M^{>h}$ such that:

- (1) $M^{\leq h}$ and $M^{>h}$ are stable under the action of T.
- (2) $M^{\leq h}$ is a finite A-module.
- (3) There is a unitary polynomial $Q \in A[X]$ with slope $\leq h$ such that $Q^*(T)$ is zero on $M^{\leq h}$.
- (4) For any unitary polynomial $Q \in A[X]$ with slope $\leq h$, the restriction of $Q^*(T)$ to $M^{>h}$ is an invertible endomorphism.

This definition fits in the framework of [AS08], def. 4.1.1. It is easy to see that if such a slope decomposition exists, it is unique.

Now let $S = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$ and let \mathcal{M} be a sheaf of \mathscr{O}_S -modules. We let $T \in \text{End}_{\mathscr{O}_S}(\mathcal{M})$ be an endomorphism.

Definition 6.1.5. We say that \mathcal{M} has slope decomposition with respect to T if for any $x \in S$ and $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, there exists a affinoid neighborhood U of x in S, $h' \geq h$, and a T-stable direct sum decomposition of sheaves of \mathcal{O}_U -modules

$$\mathcal{M}|_U = (\mathcal{M}|_U)^{\leq h'} \oplus (\mathcal{M}|_U)^{>h'}$$

such that:

- (1) $(\mathcal{M}|_U)^{\leq h'}$ is a coherent sheaf of \mathcal{O}_U -modules.
- (2) For any affinoid open $V = \text{Spa}(B, B^+) \subseteq U$,

$$\mathcal{M}(V) = (\mathcal{M}|_U)^{\leq h'}(V) \oplus (\mathcal{M}|_U)^{>h'}(V)$$

is a h'-slope decomposition of the B-module $\mathcal{M}(V)$ in the sense of definition 6.1.4.

Remark 6.1.6. It is a subtle but important point in the definition that we only ask for a slope h' decomposition for some $h' \ge h$ and not for an h-slope decomposition for any h.

We say that a section $s \in \mathcal{M}(U)$ for an open $U \subseteq S$ has infinite slope if for any affinoid open $V \subseteq U$ and $h \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that $\mathcal{M}(V)$ admits an *h*-slope decomposition, $s|_V \in \mathcal{M}(V)^{>h}$. The infinite slope sections form a subsheaf $\mathcal{M}^{\infty s} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$. We let $\mathcal{M}^{fs} = \mathcal{M}/\mathcal{M}^{\infty s}$ and call it the finite slope part of \mathcal{M} .

- **Lemma 6.1.7.** (1) Let $f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$ be a map of sheaves of \mathcal{O}_S -modules. Let $T_{\mathcal{M}}$ and $T_{\mathcal{N}}$ be endomorphisms of \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{N} respectively, commuting with f. Assume that \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{N} have slope decompositions. Then ker(f), im(f), and coker(f) have slope decompositions.
 - (2) Let $0 \to \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N} \to 0$ be an exact sequence of sheaves of $\mathscr{O}_{S^{-}}$ modules. Let $T \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{O}_{S}}(\mathcal{M})$ be such that $T(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \mathcal{L}$. Then if two out of $\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}$ have slope decomposition with respect to T, then so does the third. Moreover, taking the infinite slope part yields an exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{L}^{\infty s} \to \mathcal{M}^{\infty s} \to \mathcal{N}^{\infty s} \to 0$ and taking the finite slope part gives an exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{L}^{fs} \to \mathcal{M}^{fs} \to \mathcal{N}^{fs} \to 0$.

Proof. We reduce easily to the case of modules where this is [AS08], prop. 4.1.2. \Box

We now explain the construction of the spectral variety $\mathcal{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_S^{1,an}$. For any affinoid open $U = \operatorname{Spa}(B, B^+)$ for which we have a slope decomposition $\mathcal{M}(U) = \mathcal{M}(U)^{\leq h} \oplus \mathcal{M}(U)^{>h}$, we define a map $B[X] \to \operatorname{End}_B(\mathcal{M}(U)^{\leq h})$ by sending X to T^{-1} (note that T is invertible on $\mathcal{M}(U)^{\leq h}$). We let I be the kernel of this map. We let $\mathcal{Z}_{U,h} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_S^{1,an}$ be $\operatorname{Spa}(B[X]/I, (B[X]/I)^+)$ where $(B[X]/I)^+$ is the integral closure of B^+ in B[X]/I. If $U' \subseteq U$, is an open affinoid, we see (using the flatness of $\mathscr{O}_S(U) \to \mathscr{O}_S(U')$) that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,h} \times_U U' = \mathcal{Z}_{U',h}$. If $h' \geq h$ and $\mathcal{M}(U)$ also has an h'slope decomposition, we see that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,h} \to \mathcal{Z}_{U,h'}$ is a union of connected components since $\mathcal{M}(U) = \mathcal{M}(U)^{\leq h} \oplus (\mathcal{M}(U)^{\leq h'} \cap \mathcal{M}(U)^{>h}) \oplus \mathcal{M}(U)^{>h'}$.

We let $\mathcal{Z} = \coprod_{U,h} \mathcal{Z}_{U,h} / \sim$ where \sim is the equivalence relation defined by the inclusions $\mathcal{Z}_{U,h} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{U,h'}$ for $h \ge h'$ and $\mathcal{Z}_{U',h} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{U,h}$ for $U' \subseteq U$. Let $\pi : \mathcal{Z} \to S$ be the projection which is locally quasi-finite, and partially proper. There is a coherent sheaf $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{Z}}^{fs} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{Z}} = \pi^* \mathcal{M}$ defined by $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{Z}}^{fs}(\mathcal{Z}_{U,h}) = \mathcal{M}(U)^{\le h}$. We see that $\pi_* \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{Z}}^{fs} = \mathcal{M}^{fs}$ is the finite slope part of \mathcal{M} .

In many applications, there is also a commutative algebra H with $T \in H$, which acts on \mathcal{M} . It is clear that H acts also on \mathcal{M}^{fs} . We can consider $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ which is the coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ -subalgebra of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Z}}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{Z}}^{fs})$ generated by H. We let \mathcal{E} be its relative adic spectrum over \mathcal{Z} . The morphism $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Z}$ is finite surjective. This is the eigenvariety attached to H acting on \mathcal{M} .

6.1.8. Finite slope decomposition for an algebra of operators. It is often the case that we want to consider the finite slope decomposition of a module or a sheaf when we have an algebra acting. We now let $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^r$ be the free monoid on r generators, generated by element T_1, \dots, T_r . We assume that we have an action of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^r$ on a sheaf \mathcal{M} . We also assume that for all the operators $T \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}^r$, the sheaf \mathcal{M} has slope decomposition.

Proposition 6.1.9. Let $T, T' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}^{r}$, and consider the finite slope projections $p_T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}^{T,fs}$ and $p_{T'} : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}^{T',fs}$. Then there is an isomorphism $\mathcal{M}^{T,fs} \to \mathcal{M}^{T',fs}$ compatible with the projections p_T and $p_{T'}$.

Proof. Let $x \in S$, let $h \in \mathbb{Q}$, and let V be a neighborhood of x such that we have h-slope decomposition with respect to T:

$$\mathcal{M}_{|V} = \mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h} \oplus \mathcal{M}_{|V}^{>_T h}.$$

We claim that $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h}$ has slope decomposition with respect to T' and that the projection $\mathcal{M}_{|V} \to \mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h}$ orthogonal to $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{>_T h}$ factors through $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{T',fs}$. This will show that the projection $p_T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}^{T,fs}$ factors $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}^{T',fs} \to \mathcal{M}^{T,fs}$. Reversing the roles of T and T' we conclude the proof of the proposition.

We observe that T is invertible on $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h}$ and therefore T' is also invertible as there is $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $u \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^r$ such that $T^n = T'u$. Note that $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h}$ is a coherent sheaf. For any $y \in V$, we claim that we can find a neighborhood W of y and a unitary polynomial Q such that Q(0) is a unit and such that $Q^*(T') = 0$ on $(\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h})_{|W}$. Indeed, consider the stalk $(\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h})_y$. This is a finite $\mathcal{O}_{S,y}$ -module. By Nakayama's lemma, we can pick a surjection $\mathcal{O}_{S,y}^m \to (\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h})_y$ and lift T' to an invertible endomorphism \tilde{T}' of $\mathcal{O}_{S,y}^m$. We let $Q = \det(\tilde{T'}^{-1} - XId)$. This is a unitary polynomial whose constant coefficient is a unit and $Q^*(T') = 0$ by Cayley-Hamilton. It follows that $\mathcal{M}_{|V}^{\leq_T h}$ has a slope decomposition with respect to T' and that it is equal to its finite slope part for T'. 6.1.10. Relative spectral theory. We recall briefly the relative spectral theory for compact operators. The original reference is [Col97]. Let (A, A^+) be a finite type complete Tate (F, \mathcal{O}_F) -algebra, and let $S = \text{Spa}(A, A^+)$. Let $M^{\bullet} \in Ob(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\text{Ban}(A)))$, and let \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} be the associated complex of Banach sheaves on S. Let $T \in \text{End}_{\mathcal{D}(\text{Ban}(A))}(M^{\bullet})$ be a compact operator. Let $H^i(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ be the *i*th cohomology sheaf.

Proposition 6.1.11. The sheaves $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ have slope decomposition for T. Moreover, there is an object $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Mod}(\mathscr{O}_{S}))$ and a morphism $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}$ (unique up to a non unique quasi-isomorphism) with the property that $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}) = \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{fs}$.

Proof. We begin by describing a construction which depends on a lift $\tilde{T} \in \text{End}_A(M^{\bullet})$ which is compact in all degrees. We let

$$\tilde{P}(X) = \prod_{k} \det(1 - X\tilde{T}|M^{k}) \in A[[X]]$$

be the (total) Fredholm determinant of \tilde{T} (see [Col97], section A 2). The series $\tilde{P}(X)$ is an entire series, and we let $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m^{an} \times \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$ be the vanishing locus of \tilde{P} . This is the spectral variety associated to \tilde{T} . The morphism $\pi : \tilde{\mathcal{Z}} \to \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$ is locally quasi-finite, flat, and partially proper (see [AIP18], thm. B1 for a short proof in the language of adic spaces). Any point $z \in \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ has a neighborhood \mathcal{U}_z such that $\overline{\{z\}} \subseteq \mathcal{U}_z$ and $\mathcal{U}_z \to \pi(\mathcal{U}_z)$ is finite flat. We can describe such a neighborhood more precisely. Let $x \in \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$ be the image of z. Then there is a neighborhood $\operatorname{Spa}(B, B^+)$ of x in $\operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$ and a factorization in $B\{\{X\}\}$ (the ring of global functions on $\mathbb{A}^{1,an}_{\operatorname{Spa}(B,B^+)}) \tilde{P}(X) = \tilde{R}(X)\tilde{Q}(X)$ where $\tilde{R}(X)$ is a Fredholm series (that is R(0) = 1), $\tilde{Q}(X) = 1 + a_1X + \cdots + a_dX^d$ is a polynomial with $a_d \in B^{\times}$, $\tilde{R}(X)$ and $\tilde{Q}(X)$ are prime to each other, and $\tilde{Q}(z) = 0$. Then $\mathcal{U}_z = V(\tilde{Q}(X)) \subseteq$ $\mathbb{A}^1 \times \operatorname{Spa}(B, B^+)$ is a neighborhood of z in $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$.

Over $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ we have a complex of coherent sheaves $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}}^{\bullet,fs}$ whose definition we briefly recall. Let $\tilde{Q}^*(X) = X^d \tilde{Q}(X^{-1})$. Over $\operatorname{Spa}(B, B^+)$ we have a unique decomposition $M^{\bullet} \hat{\otimes}_A B = M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q}) \oplus N^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$ where $\tilde{Q}^*(\tilde{T})$ is zero on $M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$ and invertible on $N^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$. Moreover, the projection on each factor is given by an entire series in \tilde{T} (see [Ser62], proposition 12).

It follows that $M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$ has a natural structure of a complex of $B[X]/\tilde{Q}(X)$ modules of finite type (with X^{-1} acting as \tilde{T}), and we let $\mathcal{M}_{\tilde{Z}}^{\bullet,fs}|_{V(\tilde{Q}(X))} = M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$. These glue to give the complex $\mathcal{M}_{\tilde{Z}}^{\bullet,fs}$ over \tilde{Z} . We observe that by construction $\mathcal{M}_{\tilde{Z}}^{\bullet,fs}$ is a perfect complex of $\pi^{-1}\mathscr{O}_{\mathrm{Spa}(A,A^+)}$ -modules. Moreover, if M^{\bullet} is concentrated in the range [a, b], so is $\mathcal{M}_{\tilde{Z}}^{\bullet,fs}$.

We can actually assume (after possibly changing the neighborhood \mathcal{U}_z) that in the factorization $\tilde{P}(X) = \tilde{R}(X)\tilde{Q}(X)$, there exists $h \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that $\tilde{Q}(X)$ has slope $\leq h$ and $\tilde{R}(X)$ has slope > h. We deduce that

$$M^{\bullet}\hat{\otimes}_{A}B = M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q}) \oplus N^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q}) = (M^{\bullet}\hat{\otimes}_{A}B)^{\leq h} \oplus (M^{\bullet}\hat{\otimes}_{A}B)^{>h}$$

is an *h*-slope decomposition of the complex. Indeed, for any unitary polynomial S(X) of slope $\leq h$, we deduce that S(X) and $\tilde{R}(X)$ are coprime to each other in $B\{\{X\}\}$ since the resultant $\operatorname{Res}(S, \tilde{R}) \in B^{\times}$. It follows from [Col97], lem A4.1 that $S^{\star}(\tilde{T})$ acts invertibly on $(M^{\bullet} \hat{\otimes}_A B)^{>h}$.

By varying z in the fiber of x, we deduce that \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} has a slope decomposition with respect to \tilde{T} . We let $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}$ be the finite slope quotient. Observe that $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs} = \pi_* \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}_{\tilde{Z}}$. The map $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}$ is given by adjunction by the map $\pi^* \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}_{\tilde{Z}}$ (which in the above notations, is locally given by the projection $M^{\bullet} \hat{\otimes} B \to M^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$, orthogonal to $N^{\bullet}(\tilde{Q})$).

It follows from lemma 6.1.7 that $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ has a slope decomposition and that $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{fs} = \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M})^{fs}$

We now discuss unicity. We have an exact triangle $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,\infty s} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs} \xrightarrow{+1}$ in $\mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Mod}(S))$. Another choice of compact lift \tilde{T}' of T gives another exact triangle $\mathcal{M}'^{,\bullet,\infty s} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}'^{,\bullet,fs} \xrightarrow{+1}$.

Let C^{\bullet} be the cone of the morphism of complexes $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,\infty s} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{',\bullet,fs}$ obtained by taking inclusion in \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} followed by projection. The diagram:

$$\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,\infty s} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}^{',\bullet,fs} \\ \downarrow_{\tilde{T}} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\tilde{T}^{'}} \\ \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,\infty s} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}^{',\bullet,fs}$$

commutes up to homotopy. We deduce that there is a morphism $\tilde{T}'': C^{\bullet} \to C^{\bullet}$ which on $C^n = \mathcal{M}^{',n,fs} \oplus \mathcal{M}^{n+1,\infty s}$ is given by $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{T}' & b_n \\ 0 & \tilde{T} \end{pmatrix}$ where b_n depends on the choice of a homotopy between \tilde{T} and \tilde{T}' (see [Sta13], TAG 014F). We deduce that the complex C^{\bullet} has slope decomposition with respect to \tilde{T}'' and we let $C^{\bullet,fs}$ be its finite slope quotient. The map $\mathcal{M}^{',\bullet,fs} \to C^{\bullet,fs}$ is a quasi-isomorphism. By the TR4 axiom on triangulated categories, we find that there is a commutative diagram

and we deduce that in the commutative diagram:

the right vertical map and the bottom horizontal line are quasi-isomorphisms.

Remark 6.1.12. The proof reveals that there is a non-canonical spectral variety $\pi: \tilde{\mathcal{Z}} \to S$ such that $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs} = \pi_* \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}}$ where $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}}$ is a complex of coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}}$ -modules, perfect as a complex of $\pi^{-1}\mathscr{O}_S$ -modules, of the same amplitude as \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} . Moreover, we have a projection $\pi^* \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \pi_* \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,fs}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}}$. This projection is locally on $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ given by an entire series in \tilde{T} with coefficients in $\pi^{-1}\mathscr{O}_S$.

6.1.13. Relative spectral theory for an algebra of operators. We now let $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^r$ be the free monoid on r generators, generated by element T_1, \dots, T_r . We assume that we

have an action of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^r$ on an object $M^{\bullet} \in Ob(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$. We also assume that the operators $T \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}^r$ are potent compact.

For any choice of $T \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}^r$ acting compactly, we have a finite slope projection $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}$ and we can consider the cohomology $\mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}) = \mathrm{H}^i(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{T,fs}$.

Lemma 6.1.14. For any T, T' acting compactly, we have a canonical isomorphism $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{T,fs} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{T',fs}$ commuting with the projections $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{T',fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{T',fs}$.

Proof. This follows from proposition 6.1.9.

Remark 6.1.15. It is not clear to us whether there is a quasi-isomorphism $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T',fs} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}$. In this paper, what we will do is choose a compact operator T once and for all. Ultimately, we are only interested in the cohomology, and the ambiguity disappears. We note that we could only prove that the object $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}$ is well defined up to a non-canonical quasi-isomorphism (in some sense, it depends on the choice of a compact lift \tilde{T} of T). It is not even clear to us that T' will act on $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}$. One can prove this locally on the spectral variety \tilde{Z}_T : the projection $\pi^*\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}_{Z_T}$

is locally given by an entire series in \tilde{T} and if we fix a lift \tilde{T}' of T' commuting up to homotopy with \tilde{T} one can prove that \tilde{T}' commutes up to homotopy with the projector, hence giving an action of T' on $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet,T,fs}_{\tilde{Z}_T}$, locally on \tilde{Z}_T .

6.1.16. The case of projective or inductive limits of complexes. We now work in a slightly more general setting than in section 6.1.10. We consider an object " $\lim_i M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ or " $\operatorname{colim}_i M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))))$ together with a compact operator T. By lemma 2.4.10, T induces a compact operator T_i of M_i^{\bullet} for i large enough.

We let \mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet} be the complex of Banach sheaves over S attached to \mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet} . By proposition 6.1.11, for all i large enough and all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have a projection $\mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs}$.

Lemma 6.1.17. (1) For " $\lim_i M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A))))$, the maps $\operatorname{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \operatorname{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs}$ are isomorphisms.

(2) For "colim_i" $M_i^{\bullet} \in Ob(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))))$, the maps $\operatorname{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \operatorname{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i+1}^{\bullet})^{fs}$ are isomorphisms.

Proof. We only prove the first item. The action of T_i factorizes as $T_i : \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs}$. We deduce that there is a bijective map $T_i : \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs}$. The action of T_{i-1} factorizes as well as $T_{i-1} : \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})$ from which we deduce that there is a bijective map $T_{i-1} : \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs} \to \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_{i-1}^{\bullet})^{fs}$. \Box

Let $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}(\text{Mod}(\mathscr{O}_S))$ be either $\lim_i \mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}$ or $\operatorname{colim}_i \mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet}$. Then we let $\mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}^{\bullet})^{fs} = \mathrm{H}^k(\mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet})^{fs}$ for any large enough *i*. We also define $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet, fs} = \mathcal{M}_i^{\bullet, fs}$ for some chosen *i* large enough. We remark that this definition depends on the choice of *i*. But the ambiguity disappears when we pass to cohomology.

6.2. Locally analytic inductions and the locally analytic BGG resolution. In this section we recall some basic facts about analytic inductions and BGG resolutions for *p*-adic groups. Standard references for this material are [Urb11], section 3 and [Jon11]. The notations for this section are as follows. We let F be a finite

extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , and we let $M \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_F$ be a split reductive group. We fix a maximal torus T and a Borel B containing T. We let $\Phi_M = \Phi_M^+ \coprod \Phi_M^-$ be the root system. We also let $\Delta_M \subset \Phi_M^+$ be the positive simple roots. We denote by W_M the Weyl group, and denote by $\ell: W_M \to \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ the length function. For all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we let $W_M^{(i)}$ be the set of elements in W_M of length i. We denote by $w_{0,M}$ the longest element of W_M . We let ρ_M be half the sum of the positive roots. The Weyl group acts on $T, X_*(T)$ and $X^*(T)$. We also have the dotted action on $X^*(T)$ given by $w \cdot \kappa = w(\kappa + \rho_M) - \rho_M$. We let $X^*(T)^{M,+}$ be the cones of dominant characters, and we let $X^*(T)^{M,++}$ be the cones of dominant regular characters. We use a - sign to denote the opposite cones. We assume that $T_F = T \times_{\operatorname{Spec}} \mathcal{O}_F$ Spec F is in fact defined over \mathbb{Q}_p . Namely, there is a torus $T_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ and an isomorphism $T_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \times \operatorname{Spec} F = T_F$. We often drop the subscripts F or \mathbb{Q}_p when the context is clear.

Remark 6.2.1. In our applications, M will be the Levi M^c_{μ} of the group G which is part of the Shimura datum. A slight warning is that the torus $T_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ will in general be the conjugate of a maximal torus of $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ by an element of the absolute Weyl group of G which is not necessarily rational.

We let $T^d \subseteq T_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ be the maximal split subtorus. We let $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \subseteq T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ be the maximal compact subgroup. There is a valuation map $v: T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to X_*(T^d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ whose image is a lattice and whose kernel is $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. We let $T^{M,+}$ be the monoid in $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ of elements t such that $v(\alpha(t)) \geq 0$ for all $\alpha \in \Phi_M^+$ and we let TM, ++ be the monoid in $T^{M,+}$ of elements t such that $v(\alpha(t)) > 0$ for all $\alpha \in \Phi_M^+$.

For any $\kappa \in X^*(T)$, we let $F(\kappa)$ be the one dimensional F vector space endowed with the action of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ via the character κ . If V is a F-vector space endowed with an action of (a submonoid of) $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, we let $V(\kappa) = V \otimes F(\kappa)$.

We let \mathcal{M} be the quasi-compact adic space over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ attached to M and we denote by \mathcal{M}_n the subgroup of \mathcal{M} of elements reducing to 1 modulo p^n . We define in a similar fashion \mathcal{T} , the quasi-compact torus over $\operatorname{Spa}(F, \mathcal{O}_F)$ attached to T and \mathcal{T}_n the subgroup of \mathcal{T} of elements reducing to 1 modulo p^n .

We let $M_1 \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F)$ be a closed subgroup possessing an Iwahori decomposition, in the sense that the product map

$$\overline{N}_1 \times T_1 \times N_1 \to M_1$$

is an isomorphism, where $N_1 = M_1 \cap U$, $T_1 = M_1 \cap T$, $\overline{N}_1 = M_1 \cap \overline{U}$ (for U and \overline{U} the unipotent radical of B and the opposite Borel \overline{B} respectively). We also assume that $T_1 = T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, and that $T^{M,-}$ normalizes \overline{N}_1 .

6.2.2. Algebraic inductions. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$. We have the algebraic representation V_{κ} of M with highest weight κ . It can be realized as an algebraic induction:

$$V_{\kappa} = \operatorname{Ind}_{B}^{M}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$$

= {f: M \rightarrow A¹ | f(mb) = (w_{0,M}\kappa)(b^{-1})f(m), \forall (m,b) \in M \times B}

We have a left action of M given by $hf(m) = f(h^{-1}m)$ for any $h \in M$.

6.2.3. Analytic weights. Let (A, A^+) be a complete Tate algebra over (F, \mathcal{O}_F) and let κ_A be a continuous morphism $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. We say that κ_A is *n*-analytic if the map κ_A can be extended to a pairing:

$$T(\mathbb{Z}_p)\mathcal{T}_n \times \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+) \to \mathbb{G}_m^{an}$$
where $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)\mathcal{T}_n$ is the subgroup of \mathcal{T} generated by $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ and \mathcal{T}_n (this is a finite union of translates of \mathcal{T}_n). We recall that any continuous character κ_A is *n*-analytic for some *n* (see [Urb11], lemma 3.2.5. for example).

6.2.4. Analytic inductions. Let (A, A^+) be a complete Tate algebra over (F, \mathcal{O}_F) and let $S = \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$. We assume that A is uniform (i.e A^0 is bounded) and equip A with the supremum norm. Let $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ be an integer. We now fix a character $\kappa_A : w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \to A^{\times}$ which is n_0 -analytic, or equivalently a character $w_{0,M}\kappa_A : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ which is n_0 -analytic.

Remark 6.2.5. The notation $w_{0,M}\kappa_A$ may seem strange so let us explain it to orient the reader. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$ be an algebraic character of T. Then for any $w \in W_M$, we have $\langle w\kappa, t \rangle = \langle \kappa, w^{-1}t \rangle$ so that $w\kappa(t) = \kappa(w^{-1}tw)$.

Let \mathcal{B} be the quasi-compact adic space attached to B. For all $n \geq n_0$ we can define

$$V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} = \operatorname{an} - \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathcal{B} \cap (M_1 \mathcal{M}_n)}^{M_1 \mathcal{M}_n}(w_{0,M} \kappa_A) =$$

 $\{f: (M_1\mathcal{M}_n)_S \to \mathbb{A}_S^{1,an} \mid f(mb) = (w_{0,M}\kappa_A)(b^{-1})f(m), \ \forall \ (m,b) \in (M_1\mathcal{M}_n)_S \times (\mathcal{B} \cap (M_1\mathcal{M}_n))_S \}.$ This is a Banach A-module for the supremum norm. We let $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+}$ be the

module of elements with supremum norm less or equal than one. The space $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ carries the following actions of the group $(M_1\mathcal{M}_n)_S$ and of the monoid $T^{M,+}$:

- $hf(m) = f(h^{-1}m)$ for $h, m \in (M_1\mathcal{M}_n)_S$,
- $tf(m) = f(t^{-1}\overline{n}_m t_m t)$ for $t \in T^{M,+}$, $m \in (M_1 \mathcal{M}_n)_S$, and $m = \overline{n}_m t_m n_m$ the Iwahori decomposition of m.

These actions respect the submodule $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+}$.

We record the following lemma for later use. Let M_1^p be the quotient of M_1 by its maximal normal pro-*p* subgroup.

Lemma 6.2.6. The representation $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+} \otimes_{A^+} A^+/A^{++}$ of $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$ is a countable inductive limit of finite projective A^+/A^{++} -submodules V_i stable under the action of $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$, and with the property that the action on V_{i+1}/V_i factors through an action of M_1^p .

Proof. The character $\kappa_A \mod A^{++}$ factors through a finite character and therefore it is locally constant on the reduced ring A^+/A^{++} . We may assume it is constant. We are then reduced to the case that A is a finite field extension of F and A^+/A^{++} is a finite field. The stabilizer of any vector $v \in V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+} \otimes_{A^+} A^+/A^{++}$ is open in $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$ and we deduce that $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+} \otimes_{A^+} A^+/A^{++}$ is a countable inductive limit of finite dimensional representations. Since pro-p groups have non-zero fixed vectors on non-trivial finite dimensional representations in characteristic p, the claim follows.

We also let $V_{\kappa_A}^{lan} = \operatorname{colim}_n V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ be the locally analytic induction.

Lemma 6.2.7. The operators $t \in T^{M,++}$ are compact on $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$. Moreover, if A is a field, the maps $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{n+1-an}$ induce isomorphisms on the finite slope part, and the slopes of $t \in T^{M,+}$ on $V_{\kappa_A}^{lan,fs}$ are ≥ 0 .

Proof. If $t \in T^{M,++}$, one sees easily that the map $t: V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ improves analyticity. In particular, if $\min_{\alpha \in \Delta_M} v(\alpha(t)) \ge 1$, one has a factorization

$$V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{n+1-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$$

where the first inclusion is compact. Moreover, we deduce from the definition of the action that if $t \in T^{M,+}$, then t preserves the open and bounded submodule $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+}$.

The space $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ embeds in $\mathrm{H}^0(M_1\mathcal{M}_n, \mathscr{O}_{M_1\mathcal{M}_n})$ and similarly $V_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$ embeds in

 $\operatorname{colim}_{n} \operatorname{H}^{0}(M_{1}\mathcal{M}_{n}, \mathscr{O}_{M_{1}\mathcal{M}_{n}}).$

We have a left action of $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$ on $\mathrm{H}^0(M_1\mathcal{M}_n, \mathscr{O}_{M_1\mathcal{M}_n})$ given by h*f(m) = f(mh). Passing to the limit over n and differentiating, we get an action of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{m} of M on $\operatorname{colim}_n\mathrm{H}^0(M_1\mathcal{M}_n, \mathscr{O}_{M_1\mathcal{M}_n})$ which can be extended to an action of the enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{m})$.

Remark 6.2.8. We are not requiring that $M_1 \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is an open subgroup, and M_1 will not always be Zariski dense in M. In our definition of the locally analytic induction, we consider analytic functions on neighborhoods of M_1 in \mathcal{M} . These functions are not necessarily determined by their restrictions to M_1 .

6.2.9. Twist by a finite order character. We fix a character $\kappa_A : w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \to A^{\times}$ which is *n*-analytic. Let $w_{0,M}\chi : M_1 \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character which we assume is trivial on $M_1 \cap \mathcal{M}_n$. We also denote by $w_{0,M}\chi$ its restriction to $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ and by χ the corresponding character of $w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M}$, which is trivial on $w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \cap \mathcal{T}_n$ and hence *n*-analytic. We also denote by $w_{0,M}\chi$ the corresponding 1-dimensional representation of M_1 . We endow it with the trivial action of $T^{M,+}$. We have the following lemma:

Lemma 6.2.10. There is a canonical map $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \otimes_F w_{0,M}\chi \to V_{\kappa_A \otimes \chi}^{n-an}$ which is an isomorphism of $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ -modules.

Proof. The map is defined by sending a function $a \otimes 1 \in V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ to the function $aw_{0,M}\chi^{-1}$ on $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$. The rest of the lemma follows easily and is left to the reader.

6.2.11. Locally algebraic induction. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$. From κ we obtain a character $\kappa : w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \to F^{\times}$ as the composition of the inclusion $w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \subset T(F)$ and $\kappa : T(F) \to F^{\times}$. From the definitions, restriction induces a natural inclusion $\iota : V_{\kappa} \hookrightarrow V_{\kappa}^{lan}$. There is an action of M on V_{κ} , and therefore actions of M_1 and $T^{M,+}$. The map ι is M_1 -equivariant, but not $T^{M,+}$ -equivariant. More precisely, we have the following formula:

$$\iota(tv) = (w_{0,M}\kappa)(t)t\iota(v)$$

from which we deduce that the twisted map $\iota: V_{\kappa} \to V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$ is $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ equivariant. We can define the subspace V_{κ}^{lalg} of V_{κ}^{lan} , consisting of elements arising
from functions on $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$ for some n which on each component of $M_1\mathcal{M}_n$ are the
restriction of a polynomial function on M. This is a $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ -subrepresentation.
This space contains the space $V_{\kappa}(-w_{0,M}\kappa)$ of algebraic functions. Let

$$V_{\mathbf{1}}^{sm} = \operatorname{sm} - \operatorname{Ind}_{B \cap M_1}^{M_1} \mathbf{1} =$$

 $\{f: M_1 \to F \mid f(mb) = f(m) \forall (m, b) \in M_1 \times B \cap M_1, f \text{ is locally constant}\}.$ The map $V_{\kappa} \otimes V_1^{sm} \to V_{\kappa}^{lalg}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$ is an isomorphism of (M_1, T_1^+) -representations. 6.2.12. The BGG complex. For all $\alpha \in \Delta_M$, we fix a generator X_{α} of the root space $\mathfrak{u}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathfrak{m}$ and we have the corresponding generator $X_{-\alpha}$ of $\mathfrak{u}_{-\alpha}$. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)$.

Lemma 6.2.13. For all $\alpha \in \Delta_M$ such that $\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle \geq -1$, we have maps:

$$\Theta_{\alpha} : V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa) \quad \to \quad V_{s_{\alpha}\cdot\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(s_{\alpha}\cdot\kappa))$$

$$f \quad \mapsto \quad X_{w_{0,M}\alpha}^{\langle\kappa,\check{\alpha}\rangle+1} * f$$

equivariant for the action of $(M_1, T^{M,+})$.

Proof. These maps are constructed in [Urb11], proposition 3.2.11, remark 3.3.11, proposition 3.3.12, as well as [Jon11], section 5, see also the remark below theorem 13.

Remark 6.2.14. The normalization of [Urb11] and [Jon11] is slightly different from the one we use here. They realize the highest weight κ representation V_{κ} as the following induction: $V'_{\kappa} = \{f : M \to \mathbb{A}^1 \mid f(\overline{b}m) = \kappa(\overline{b})f(m), \forall (m, \overline{b}) \in M \times B\}$. To translate to our setting, one simply applies the involution $m \mapsto w_{0,M}m^{-1}w_{0,M}$. We therefore get an isomorphism $V_{\kappa} \to V'_{\kappa}$ which sends f to f' defined by $f'(m) = f(w_{0,M}m^{-1}w_{0,M})$. There is an action of M on V'_{κ} induced from the right translation action of M on itself. We find that $mf' = ((w_{0,M}mw_{0,M}^{-1})f)'$. This explains the twist by $w_{0,M}$ appearing in lemma 6.2.13 compared to *loc. cit*.

Remark 6.2.15. We have

$$w_{0,M}(s_{\alpha} \cdot \kappa - \kappa) = -(\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1)w_{0,M}\alpha.$$

In particular, for any $t \in T^{M,+}$, $(\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1) \langle -w_{0,M} \alpha, v(t) \rangle \geq 0$. This means that Θ_{α} increases the slopes.

Theorem 6.2.16 ([Jon11], thm. 26, [Urb11], sect. 3.3.9). There is an exact sequence of $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ -representations

$$0 \to V_{\kappa} \otimes V_{\mathbf{1}}^{sm} \to V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa) \to \bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(1)}} V_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa)) \to \dots \to$$
$$\bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(n)}} V_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa)) \to \dots \to V_{w_{0,M} \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w_{0,M} \cdot \kappa)) \to 0$$

where the first map $V_{\kappa} \otimes V_{\mathbf{1}}^{sm} \to V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$ is the natural inclusion, the second map $V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa) \to \bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(1)}} V_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa))$ is a linear combination of the maps Θ_{α} for $\alpha \in \Delta_{M}$, and more generally the differentials $\bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(i)}} V_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa))$ $\to \bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(i+1)}} V_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa))$ are linear combinations of maps of the form $X * \cdot$ for suitable elements $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{m})$.

Definition 6.2.17. Let $\kappa \in X_{\star}(T)^{M,+}$. We say that a $T^{M,+}$ - eigensystem λ in V_{κ}^{lan} is of M-small slope (abbreviated +, ss_M) if

$$v(\lambda) < -(\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1) w_{0,M} \alpha$$

for some $\alpha \in \Delta_M$.

We say that a $T^{M,+}$ - eigensystem λ in V_{κ} is of M-small slope (abbreviated $+, ss_M$) if

$$w(\lambda) < w_{0,M}\kappa - (\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1)w_{0,M}\alpha$$

for some $\alpha \in \Delta_M$.

Corollary 6.2.18. The map $V_{\kappa}^{+,ss_M} \to V_{\kappa}^{lan,+,ss_M}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$ is an isomorphism of $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ -modules.

Proof. It follows from theorem 6.2.16 and lemma 6.2.7, that the map $V_{\kappa} \otimes V_{\mathbf{1}}^{sm} \to V_{\kappa}^{lan}(w_{0,M}\kappa)$ is an isomorphism on the small slope part. On the other hand, the map $V_{\kappa} \to V_{\kappa} \otimes V_{\mathbf{1}}$ is an isomorphism on the finite slope part.

Example 6.2.19. Let $M = \operatorname{SL}_2/\mathbb{Q}_p$, with diagonal torus T and upper triangular Borel B. Then $X^*(T) = \mathbb{Z}$, and there is a unique simple root $\alpha = 2$. For any $k \in X^*(T)^{M,+} = \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have $V_k = \operatorname{Sym}^k(\operatorname{St})$. The valuation of the eigenvalues of $t = \operatorname{diag}(p, p^{-1})$ on V_k are $-k, -k+2, \cdots, k$. The M-ss condition on V_k translates into the condition that the eigenvalues of t have valuation $\langle -k+2(k+1) = k+2$. This condition is always satisfied (in the case of SL_2) and we have $V_k = V_k^{M-ss}$. The space V_k^{lan} identifies with the space of locally analytic functions on $p\mathbb{Z}_p$ and the action of t is given by $f(z) \mapsto f(p^2 z)$. A basis of finite slope vectors in V_k^{lan} is given by the monomial functions $z \mapsto z^n$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. The slopes of t on this basis are $0, 2, \cdots, 2n, \cdots$. The inclusion $V_k \hookrightarrow V_k^{lan}$ identifies V_k with the polynomial functions of degree $\leq k$, which is indeed the space defined by the slope condition M - ss.

6.2.20. Distributions. Let $\kappa_A : w_{0,M}^{-1}T(\mathbb{Z}_p)w_{0,M} \to A^{\times}$ be n_0 -analytic. For all $n \geq n_0$, we now consider $(V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an})^{\vee}$ the continuous A-dual. This is a Banach A-module. However it is not a projective Banach A-module in general (it is so if A is

a field). In order to remedy this, we introduce another related space. Let \mathcal{M}_n be the open subset of \mathcal{M}_n of elements $m \in \mathcal{M}_n$ such that $m = 1 \mod p^{n+\epsilon}$ for some $\epsilon > 0$ (this is an "open polydisc"). Let

$$V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an} =$$

$$\{ f: (M_1 \overset{\circ}{\mathcal{M}}_n)_S \to \mathbb{A}_S^{1,an} \quad , \quad f(mb) = (w_{0,M} \kappa_A)(b^{-1})f(m), \ \forall \ (m,b) \in (M_1 \mathcal{M}_n)_S \times (\mathcal{B} \cap (M_1 \mathcal{M}_n))_S$$

$$f \text{ is bounded} \}$$

Let $V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an,+} \subseteq V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an}$ be the subset of functions which are bounded by 1. The space $V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an,+}$ is a projective limit of finite free A^+ -module, which defines a topology on it, and this determines a topology on $V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an}$ (with this topology $V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an}$ is not a Banach module).

is not a Banach module). We have a map $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an}$ with dense image. We let $D_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} = (V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an})^{\vee}$ be the continuous A-dual, equipped with the strong topology. This is a projective Banach A-module and we have a map $D_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to (V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an})^{\vee}$ with dense image. We let $D_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+}$ be the continuous A^+ -dual of $V_{\kappa_A}^{\circ,n-an,+}$. It is an open and bounded submodule of $D_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$. We let $D_{\kappa_A}^{lan} = \lim_n D_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} = \lim_n (V_{\kappa_A}^{lan})^{\vee}$. This is a compact projective limit of Banach A-modules (the distributions of weight κ_A). There is a perfect pairing:

$$\langle -, - \rangle : V_{\kappa_A}^{lan} \times D_{\kappa_A}^{lan} \to A.$$

The space $D_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$ carries a right action of $(M_1, T^{M,+})$ defined by $\langle mf, \mu \rangle = \langle f, \mu m \rangle$, $\langle tf, \mu \rangle = \langle f, \mu t \rangle$ for $(t, m, f, \mu) \in T^{M,+} \times M_1 \times V_{\kappa_A}^{lan} \times D_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$. The space $D_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$ therefore carries a left action of $(M_1, T^{M,-})$ defined by $\langle m^{-1}f, \mu \rangle = \langle f, m\mu \rangle$, $\langle t^{-1}f, \mu \rangle = \langle f, t\mu \rangle$ for $(t, m, f, \mu) \in T^{M,-} \times M_1 \times V_{\kappa_A}^{lan} \times D_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$. The action of $T^{M,--}$ is by compact operators on $D_{\kappa_A}^{lan}$. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T)^+$. By dualizing the exact sequence of theorem 6.2.16, we get the following complex of $(M_1, T^{M,-})$ -representations:

$$0 \to D^{lan}_{w_{0,M}.\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w_{0,M}\cdot\kappa)) \to \dots \to \bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(i)}} D^{lan}_{w\cdot\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w\cdot\kappa))$$
$$\to \dots \to \bigoplus_{w \in W_{M}^{(1)}} D^{lan}_{w\cdot\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w\cdot\kappa)) \to D^{lan}_{\kappa}(-w_{0,M}\kappa) \to 0$$

This complex is exact except in the last degree. The cokernel of $\bigoplus_{w \in W_M^{(1)}} D_{w \cdot \kappa}^{lan}(-w_{0,M}(w \cdot \kappa)) \rightarrow D_{\kappa}^{lan}(-w_{0,M}\kappa)$ maps to V_{κ}^{\vee} . Passing to the finite slope part gives an exact sequence:

$$0 \to D^{lan}_{w_{0,M},\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w_{0,M}\cdot\kappa))^{fs} \to \dots \to \bigoplus_{w \in W^{(i)}_M} D^{lan}_{w\cdot\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w\cdot\kappa))^{fs}$$
$$\to \dots \to \bigoplus_{w \in W^{(1)}_M} D^{lan}_{w\cdot\kappa}(-w_{0,M}(w\cdot\kappa))^{fs} \to D^{lan}_{\kappa}(-w_{0,M}\kappa)^{fs} \to V^{\vee}_{\kappa} \to 0$$

Definition 6.2.21. Let $\kappa \in X_{\star}(T)^{M,+}$. We say that a $T^{M,-}$ - eigensystem λ in D_{κ}^{lan} is of M-small slope (abbreviated $-, ss_M$) if

$$v(\lambda) > (\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1) w_{0,M} \alpha$$

for some $\alpha \in \Delta_M$.

We say that a $T^{M,-}$ - eigensystem λ in V_{κ}^{\vee} is of M-small slope (abbreviated $-, ss_M$) if

$$v(\lambda) > -w_{0,M}\kappa + (\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + 1)w_{0,M}\alpha$$

for some $\alpha \in \Delta_M$.

We have the following control theorem:

Corollary 6.2.22. The map $(D_{\kappa}^{lan})^{-,ss_M}(-w_{0,M}\kappa) \to (V_{\kappa}^{\vee})^{-,ss_M}$ is an isomorphism of $(M_1, T^{M,-})$ -modules.

Proof. This is the dual of corollary 6.2.18.

6.3. *p*-adic families of sheaves.

6.3.1. Definition of the sheaves. We let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$ with m' > 0. Let $w \in {}^M W$. By the results of section 4.6.8, for any $n \ge 0$, over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ the torsor \mathcal{M}_{dR}^{an} has a reduction to a torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} under the group $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^{c}$.

The group $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}$ has an Iwahori decomposition by proposition 4.6.9. Moreover, $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c} \cap T^{c} = wT^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p})w^{-1}$.

Let (A, A^+) be a Tate algebra over (F, \mathcal{O}_F) . Let $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ be an *n*-analytic character. Let $\kappa_A : w_{0,M} w T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) (w_{0,M} w)^{-1} \to A^{\times}$ be given by $\kappa_A = -w_{0,M} w \nu_A - (w_{0,M} w \rho + \rho)$.

We can construct a sheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$, modeled on $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$. Namely consider the torsor $\pi : \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \to (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ and $\pi \times 1 : \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(A,A^+) \to (\pi_{HT}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p) \times \operatorname{Spa}(A,A^+)$. We let $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ be the subsheaf of $(\pi \times 1)_* \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} \times \operatorname{Spa}(A,A^+)}$ of sections which satisfy $f(mb) = (w_{0,M}\kappa_A)(b^{-1})f(m)$ for all $b \in \mathcal{B}^c \cap (K_{p,w,M_\mu}^c \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^c)$. We also have $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \subseteq (\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}} = (\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A-2w^{-1}\rho_{nc}}^{n-an})^{\vee}$, a sheaf locally modeled on $D_{\kappa_A+2\rho_{nc}}^{n-an}$. 6.3.2. *First properties.* We prove that the interpolation sheaves are locally projective Banach sheaves.

Proposition 6.3.3. The sheaves $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ are locally projective Banach sheaves over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$. More precisely, for any affinoid $\mathcal{U} = \operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+) \hookrightarrow (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p), \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U}) \text{ and } \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U}) \text{ are projective Banach } \hat{R} \otimes_F A \text{-modules and the maps } \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U}) \otimes_R \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{U}} \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}|_{\mathcal{U}} \text{ and } \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U}) \otimes_R \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{U}} \to \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}|_{\mathcal{U}} \text{ are isomorphisms.}$

Proof. It follows from proposition 4.6.15, that there is a finite flat morphism $f: \mathcal{U}' = \operatorname{Spa}(R', (R')^+) \to \mathcal{U}$, a finite group H acting on \mathcal{U}' such that $\mathcal{U}'/H = \mathcal{U}$, such that the torsor $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p}|_{\mathcal{U}'}$ is trivial. It follows that $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U}) = (V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \otimes R')^H$ (where H acts semi-linearly) is a direct factor of the projective $A \otimes_F R$ -module $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \otimes R'$. Similarly,

$$\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}|_{\mathcal{U}} = (V_{\kappa_{A}}^{n-an} \otimes_{F} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{U}'})^{H} = (V_{\kappa_{A}}^{n-an} \otimes_{F} R' \otimes_{R} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{U}})^{H} = \mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(\mathcal{U})\hat{\otimes}_{R} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{U}}.$$

The case of the distribution sheaf is similar and left to the reader.

Corollary 6.3.4. Let $U \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ be an open subset which is a finite union of quasi-Stein opens. Then

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{et}(U,\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{an}(U,\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}), \quad and \quad \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{et}(U,\mathcal{D}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{an}(U,\mathcal{D}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})$$

and they are both representable by objects of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$.

Proof. This follows from proposition 6.3.3 and lemma 2.5.21 (or a slight elaboration of it). \Box

6.3.5. Interpolation sheaves and locally algebraic weights. Let $\nu \in X^*(T^c)$ and let $\kappa = -w_{0,M}w\nu - (w_{0,M}w\rho + \rho)$ be algebraic characters of T. By restriction they also define characters $\nu : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to F^{\times}, \ \kappa : w_{0,M}wT^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)(w_{0,M}w)^{-1} \to F^{\times}.$

Proposition 6.3.6. Suppose $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',b}$ for $m' \ge b \ge 0$, m' > 0. Over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ we have dual morphisms $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa} \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu}^{n-an}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\nu}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{\kappa+2\rho_{nc}}^{\vee} = \mathcal{V}_{-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc}}$.

Proof. This follows from the construction. Compare with section 6.2.11. \Box

We would like to have a similar formula for locally algebraic dominant weights. We introduce some notation. Let $m' \geq b \geq 0$. We let $K'_p = K_{p,m',b}Z_s(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Then the map $S^{tor}_{K^pK'_p,\Sigma} \to S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',0},\Sigma}$ is an étale cover with group $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T_b^c$. For any character $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T_b^c \to F^{\times}$, we get an invertible sheaf $\mathscr{O}_{S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',0},\Sigma}}(\chi)$. For any sheaf of $\mathscr{O}_{S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',0},\Sigma}}$ -modules \mathscr{F} , we let $\mathscr{F}(\chi)$ denote $\mathscr{F} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',0},\Sigma}}}(\chi)$.

Proposition 6.3.7. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$ with m' > 0. Let $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T_b^c \to F^{\times}$ be a character with $b \leq m', n$. Let $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ be an n-analytic character. Over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ we have $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A\chi}^{n-an} = \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(\chi)$.

Proof. The map $(\pi_{HT,K'_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K'_p) \to (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ is an étale cover of group $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T^c_b$ since $]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K'_p] =]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p$. We also have a map

of torsors $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,n,K'_p} \to \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,n,K_p}$ equivariant for the map: $K'_{p,w,M_\mu} \mathcal{M}^1_{\mu,n,n} \to K_{p,w,M_\mu} \mathcal{M}^1_{\mu,n,n}$. We form the quotient:

$$K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,m,n}/K'_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{\mu,m,n} = wT(\mathbb{Z}_{p})w^{-1}/wT_{b}w^{-1}$$

By taking the pushout of the map $\mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K'_p} \to \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_p}$ via $K_{p,w,M_\mu}\mathcal{M}^1_{\mu,m,n} \to wT(\mathbb{Z}_p)w^{-1}/wT_bw^{-1}$, we get a map:

$$(\pi_{HT,K_{p}'}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_{p}') \to \mathcal{M}_{HT,m,n,K_{p}} \times_{K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,m,n}^{1}} (wT(\mathbb{Z}_{p})w^{-1}/wT_{b}w^{-1})$$

This map is necessarily an isomorphism, because the left hand side is an étale cover of $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)$ of group $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T_b$ and the right hand side is an étale cover of group $wT(\mathbb{Z}_p)w^{-1}/wT_bw^{-1}$. Moreover, the map is equivariant under the isomorphism $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)/T_b \to wT(\mathbb{Z}_p)w^{-1}/wT_bw^{-1}$ given by conjugation by w. It follows that the étale cover $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p') \to (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,n}K_p)$ can be realized as a pushout of the torsor \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} . We deduce from lemma 6.2.10 that $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \otimes w\chi = V_{\kappa_A \otimes (w_{0,M}w\chi^{-1})}$. The lemma follows.

Corollary 6.3.8. Let $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ be a locally algebraic character of $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, with $\nu_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)$ algebraic and $\chi: T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ a finite order character of conductor $b \leq n$. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$ for $m' \geq b$, m' > 0. If $\kappa_{alg} = -w_{0,M}w\nu_{alg} + (w_{0,M}w\rho - \rho)$ is *M*-dominant, then over $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$ we have maps of sheaves

$$\mathcal{V}_{\kappa_{alg}}(\chi) \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu}^{n-an} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{D}_{\nu}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}-\kappa_{alg}}(-\chi).$$

Proof. This is a combination of propositions 6.3.6 and 6.3.7.

6.3.9. Definition of the Hecke action. Let $t \in T^+$. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$. We consider the Hecke correspondence:



Over $p_2^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)) \cap p_1^{-1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p))$ we have a map



which is represented by $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^{c}wt^{-1}w^{-1}K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}\mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^{c}$ by proposition 4.6.19. So far, all this discussion depends only on the double coset $K_{p}tK_{p}$ and therefore only on the image of t in $T^{+}/T(\mathbb{Z}_{p})$. In particular, if $t \in T(\mathbb{Z}_{p})$, all the maps are the identity.

We now consider the following map:

$$[t^{-1}]: p_1^{\star} \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} / \mathcal{U}^{an} \to p_2^{\star} \mathcal{M}_{HT}^{an} / \mathcal{U}^{an}$$

which is given by $x\mathcal{U}^{an} \mapsto [t^{-1}]xwtw^{-1}\mathcal{U}^{an}$. This map depends on t and not only on its class in $T^+/T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

(1) The map $[t^{-1}]$ restricts to a map Lemma 6.3.10. p_1'

$$\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p}/\mathcal{U}_n \to p_2^*\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p}/\mathcal{U}_n.$$

(2) If $t \in T^{++}$ and $n \ge 1$, this map factors

$$p_1^* \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} / \mathcal{U}_n \hookrightarrow p_1^* \mathcal{M}_{HT,n-1,K_p} / \mathcal{U}_{n-1} \to p_2^* \mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_p} / \mathcal{U}_n.$$

(3) Let ν_A be an n-analytic weight. Then $[t^{-1}]$ induces a morphism

$$t^{-1}]: p_2^* \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to p_1^* \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-a}$$

which is locally modeled on the morphism $wtw^{-1}: V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an} \to V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an}$ defined in section 6.2.4. If $t \in T^{++}$ then this is a compact morphism (in the sense of definition 2.5.3).

Proof. Easy and left to the reader. Observe that $wtw^{-1} \in T^{M_{\mu},+}$.

Now for ν_A an *n*-analytic weight, we can now define a map

$$t: \mathbf{R}(p_1)_{\star} p_2^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$$

as the composite of $[\widetilde{t^{-1}}]$: $\mathbf{R}(p_1)_{\star} p_2^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to \mathbf{R}(p_1)_{\star} p_1^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ and $(-w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho + \rho)(t) \operatorname{Tr}_{p_1}: \mathbf{R}(p_1)_{\star} p_1^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$.

Lemma 6.3.11. If $t \in T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, then

$$: \mathbf{R}(p_1)_{\star} p_2^{\star} \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} = \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$$

acts via scalar multiplication by $\nu_A(t)$.

Proof. This follows from the identity $\nu_A = w^{-1} w_{0,M} \kappa_A - w^{-1} w_{0,M} \rho + \rho$. The scalar multiplication by $w^{-1}w_{0,M}\kappa_A(t)$ comes from the map $[t^{-1}]$ and the multiplication by $(-w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho + \rho)(t)$ comes from the normalization of the trace map.

By duality we also obtain a morphism: $p_2^* \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to p_1^* \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ which is locally modeled on $(wtw^{-1})^{-1}: D_{\kappa_A+2\rho_{nc}}^{n-an} \to D_{\kappa_A+2\rho_{nc}}^{n-an}$.

6.4. Locally analytic overconvergent cohomology. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$. For a choice of + or - and a weight $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ we want to define a finite slope, overconvergent, locally analytic cohomology $R\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A)^{\pm,fs}$ and the cuspidal counterpart $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ by taking cohomologies of the analytic sheaves $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ or $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ (for *n* large enough), with suitable support conditions of neighborhoods on the inverse image of $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \backslash \mathcal{P}_{\mu} w K_p$ by the Hodge-Tate period map, and passing to finite slope parts for a suitable Hecke operator.

6.4.1. First definition. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$ with m' > n and let $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to$ A^{\times} be an *n*-analytic weight. We fix $t \in T^{++}$ and we assume that $\min(t) =$ $\inf_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} v(\alpha(t)) \geq 1$ in order to simplify notations. We let T be the associated Hecke operator.

We have that

$$T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)) \cap (T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]Y_{w,k}[})) \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n+1,\overline{n+1}}K_p)$$
$$\subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$$

by lemma 3.5.10, and hence the sheaves $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ are defined over a neighborhood of $T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)) \cap (T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[})).$

We also have that

$$T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]X_{w,k}}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[))\subseteq(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{n+1},n+1}K_p)$$
$$\subseteq(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)$$
and therefore, the sheaves \mathcal{V}_{m}^{n-an} and \mathcal{D}_{m}^{n-an} are defined over a neighborhood of

and therefore, the sheaves $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ are defined over a neighborhood of $T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{X_{w,k}}]) \cap (T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}])$ as well.

We define:

$$\mathbf{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{+,fs} :=$$

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[)})}(T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{+,fs}. \\ & \text{Implicit in this definition is that it makes sense to take the finite slope part: namely the cohomology is an object of <math>\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$$
 and that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^+$ acts on it in a way that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{++}$ acts by potent compact operators. This is proved in Theorem 6.4.3 below. Note that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{+,fs}$ is an object of the derived category of sheaves of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathrm{Spa}(A,A^+)}$ -modules, which possibly depends on several choices (see sections 6.1.10, 6.1.13, 6.1.16), but the cohomologies $H_{w,n-an}^k(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{+,fs}$ are well defined.

Similarly, we define:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{-,fs} :=$$

 $\operatorname{R}_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{|X_{w,k}[)})\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[))}((T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)), \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{-,fs}.$ Again implicit in this definition is that it makes sense to take the finite slope part: namely the cohomology is an object of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))$ and that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{-}$ acts on it in a way that $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{--}$ acts by potent compact operators. This is also proved in Theorem 6.4.3 below.

We have similar definitions for cuspidal cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A,cusp)^{+,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A,cusp)^{-,fs}$

6.4.2. *Existence of finite slope cohomology.* We now justify that the cohomologies introduced in the previous section are well defined.

Theorem 6.4.3. Let $K_p = K_{p,m',0}$ for some m' > n, $w \in {}^M W$, and $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ an *n*-analytic character.

(1) The cohomologies

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}))}(T^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}),$$

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]X_{w,k}}])\cap(T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[))}((T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{D}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}) \\ & are \ objects \ of \ \mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A))). \end{split}$$

(2) There is an action of $\mathcal{H}_{n \ m' \ 0}^+$ on

 $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}))}(T^{n+1}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_A})$

for which $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{++}$ acts via compact operators.

(3) There is an action of $\mathcal{H}^{-}_{p,m',0}$ on

$$\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(\overline{]X_{w,k}}[))\cap(T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[))}((T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]Y_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{D}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})$$

for which $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{--}$ acts via compact operators.

(4) All the analogous statements hold for cuspidal cohomology.

Proof. The property that the objects at hand are objects of $\operatorname{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\operatorname{Ban}(A)))$ is corollary 6.3.4. The rest of the argument follows almost verbatim the proof of theorem 5.4.3, now using lemmas 2.5.26 and 6.3.10 to see that the operators in $\mathcal{H}_{p,m',0}^{\pm\pm}$ are potent compact. The details are left to the reader.

6.4.4. Change of analyticity radius.

Theorem 6.4.5. Let m' > n + 1. Let ν_A be an n-analytic character. The maps $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,n+1-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^i_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{+,fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{-,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^i_{w,n+1-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{-,fs}$ are quasi-isomorphisms. The same results hold for cuspidal cohomologies.

Proof. Let $T = [K_{p,m',0}tK_{p,m',0}]$ for $t \in T^{++}$ satisfying $\min(t) \ge 1$. The endomorphism T of

$$R\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[)})}(T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})$$

factors into

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^t)^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[)})}(T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})$$

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[}))}(T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n+1-an}) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}$$

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[))\cap(T^{t})^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]\overline{Y_{w,k}[)})}(T^{n+1}((\pi_{HT,K_{p}}^{tor})^{-1}(]X_{w,k}[)),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}).$$

The – case follows similarly. \Box

6.4.6. Change of support condition. It is important to us that the cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{\pm,fs}$ can actually be realized as the finite slope part of cohomology groups with different support conditions. The following definition is similar to definition 5.4.10. We start by fixing an element $t \in T^{++}$ such that $\min(t) \geq 1$ and we set $C = \max(t)$.

Definition 6.4.7. Let m' > n. A $(+, w, K_{p,m',0}, n - an)$ -allowed support is a pair $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ where:

- (1) \mathcal{U} is an open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\Sigma}^{tor}$ which is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (2) Z is a closed subset of $S^{tor}_{K^pK_{p,m',0},\Sigma}$ whose complement is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (3) There exists $m, l, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that:

$$\begin{aligned} (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{l+s}}K_{p,m',0}) &\subseteq \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{0,C\overline{l}}K_{p,m',0}), \\ (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{m+s,\overline{0}}K_{p,m',0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{0,\overline{l}}K_{p,m',0}) &\subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{Cm,-1}K_{p,m',0}), \\ \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_{p,m',0}). \end{aligned}$$

Let m' > n. A $(-, w, K_{p,m',0}, n - an)$ -allowed support is a pair $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ where:

- (1) \mathcal{U} is an open subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\Sigma}^{tor}$ which is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.
- (2) \mathcal{Z} is a closed subset of $\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\Sigma}^{tor}$ whose complement is a finite union of quasi-Stein open subsets.

(3) There exists $m, l, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that:

$$\begin{aligned} (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m+s},0}K_{p,m',0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},n}K_{p,m',0}) &\subseteq \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{C\overline{m},0}K_{p,m',0}), \\ (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{m},0}K_{p,m',0}\cap]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{0},l+s}K_{p,m',0}) &\subseteq \mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{-1,Cl}K_{p,m',0}), \\ \mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U} \subseteq (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_{p,m',0}). \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 6.4.8. Let m' > n, $w \in {}^{M}W$, and ν_{A} an *n*-analytic character.

(1) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(+, w, K_{p,m',0}, n - an)$ -allowed support condition. Then $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})$ and $\mathrm{RF}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D))$ are objects of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$ and carry a compact action of T^{s} for sufficiently large s. Moreover there are canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A})^{+,fs} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{T^{s}-fs}$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A},cusp)^{+,fs} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}}(-D))^{T^{s}-fs}.$$

(2) Let $(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Z})$ be a $(-, w, K_{p,m',0}, n - an)$ -allowed support condition. Then $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ are objects of $\mathrm{Pro}_{\mathbb{N}}(\mathcal{K}^{proj}(\mathbf{Ban}(A)))$ and carry a compact action of T^s for sufficiently large s. Moreover there are canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A})^{-,fs}\simeq\mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{D}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{T^{s}-fs}$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A},cusp)^{-,fs} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}_{\mathcal{Z}\cap\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{D}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}}(-D))^{T^{s}-fs}$$

Proof. This is very similar to the proof of theorem 5.4.12, and left to the reader. \Box

6.4.9. Change of level. Now we investigate how the finite slope cohomologies $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A)^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_p,\nu_A,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ vary with the level K_p .

Theorem 6.4.10. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and all $m'' \ge m' > n$, the pullback map

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A})^{+,fs} \to \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,n-an}(K^{p}K_{p,m'',0},\nu_{A})^{+,fs}$$

and the trace map

$$\mathbf{H}_{w,n-an}^{i}(K^{p}K_{p,m'',0},\nu_{A})^{-,fs}\to\mathbf{H}_{w,n-an}^{i}(K^{p}K_{p,m',0},\nu_{A})^{-,fs}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms, compatible with the action of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, and the same statements are true for cuspidal cohomology.

Proof. This is very similar to the proof of theorem 5.4.14. Details are left to the reader. $\hfill \Box$

As a result of the theorems 6.4.5 and 6.4.10, we can let

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A)^{\pm,fs}$$
 and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$

denote respectively

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_{p,m',0},\nu_A)^{\pm,fs}$$
 and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,n-an}(K^pK_{p,m',0},\nu_A,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$

for some choice of n and m' > n. Although the cohomology complexes depend on a number of choices, the cohomology groups are independent of any choice.

6.5. **Two spectral sequences.** We consider two spectral sequences. The first spectral sequence is a Tor spectral sequence for specialization in the weight space. The second spectral sequence comes from the locally analytic BGG resolution and relates locally analytic overconvergent and overconvergent cohomology in classical weights.

6.5.1. The Tor spectral sequence.

Theorem 6.5.2. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$, let ν_A be a weight, and let $x \in \text{Spa}(A, A^+) = S$. Let ν_x be the corresponding weight. We have spectral sequences:

$$E_2^{p,q} = \operatorname{Tor}_{-p}^{\mathscr{O}_S}(\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^q(K^p,\nu_A)^{\pm,fs},k(x)) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{p+q}(K_p,\nu_x)^{\pm,fs}$$

and similarly for cuspidal cohomology.

Remark 6.5.3. Concretely, if we are interested in computing the slope $\leq h$ part of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K_p,\nu_x)^{\pm,fs}$ for a given compact operator $t \in T^{\pm}$, we first can find h' > h and $\mathrm{Spa}(B, B^+) \hookrightarrow S$ an affinoid open containing x such that $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K_p,\nu_x)^{\pm,fs}|_{\mathrm{Spa}(B,B^+)}$ have slope $\leq h'$ decomposition (actually, we can suppose that x is a maximal point and we can take h = h'). We can thus consider the finite B-module $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K_p,\nu_x)^{\pm,\leq h'}(\mathrm{Spa}(B,B^+))$. The spectral sequence specializes to

$$\operatorname{Tor}_{-p}^{B}(\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{q}(K^{p},\nu_{A})^{\pm,\leq h'}(\operatorname{Spa}(B,B^{+})),k(x)) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{p+q}(K_{p},\nu_{x})^{\pm,\leq h'}.$$

Proof. Following the above remark, it suffices to show that for any h, there exists B and h' and a spectral sequence

$$\operatorname{For}_{-p}^{B}(\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{q}(K^{p},\nu_{A})^{\pm,\leq h'}(\operatorname{Spa}(B,B^{+})),k(x)) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{p+q}(K_{p},\nu_{x})^{\pm,\leq h}$$

But by construction (see remark 6.1.12), we can find a complex M^{\bullet} of *B*-modules which computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_B)^{\pm,\leq h'}$ and such that $M^{\bullet}\otimes_B k(x)$ computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_x)^{\pm,\leq h'}$. We can therefore apply [Sta13], example TAG 061Z.

6.5.4. The spectral sequence from locally analytic overconvergent to overconvergent cohomology. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi : T^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to F^{\times}$ be a locally algebraic weight so that $\kappa_{alg} = -w_{0,M}w\nu_{alg} - (w_{0,M}w\rho + \rho)$ is *M*-dominant.

By corollary 6.3.8, we have morphisms:

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^{+,fs}\to\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs}$$

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,-w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg}-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$$

and similarly for cuspidal cohomology. We remark that these morphisms are not Hecke equivariant. Namely, on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs}$ we have an action of T^+ with the property that $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ acts via ν and on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs}$, we have an action of T^- such that $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ acts by $-\nu$ (see lemma 6.3.11). We deduce (compare with section 6.2.11) that there is a T^+ -equivariant map: $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^{+,fs} \rightarrow$ $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs}(-\nu_{alg})$ and a T^- -equivariant map: $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs}(\nu_{alg}) \rightarrow$ $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,-w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg}-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$

We can study these maps with the help of the locally analytic BGG resolution.

Theorem 6.5.5. In the setting above, there is a $\mathcal{H}^+_{p,m,0}$ -equivariant spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}_w(K^p,\kappa,\chi)^+$ converging to finite slope overconvergent cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_w(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^{+,fs}$, such that

$$\mathbf{E}_{w,1}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^+ =$$

 $\oplus_{v \in W_M, \ell(v) = p} \mathrm{H}^q_{w,an} \big(K^p, (((w_{0,M}w)^{-1}vw_{0,M}w) \cdot \nu_{alg})\chi \big)^{+,fs} \big(-(((w_{0,M}w)^{-1}vw_{0,M}w) \cdot \nu_{alg}) \big).$

There is a $\mathcal{H}^{-}_{p,m,0}$ -equivariant spectral sequence $\mathbf{E}^{p,q}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{-}$ converging to finite slope overconvergent cohomology $\mathbf{H}^{p+q}_{w}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg}-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$, such that

 $\mathbf{E}_{w,1}^{p,q}(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^- =$

 $\oplus_{v \in W_M, \ell(v) = -p} \mathcal{H}^q_{w,an} \big(K^p, (((w_{0,M}w)^{-1}vw_{0,M}w) \cdot \nu_{alg})\chi \big)^{-,fs} \big((((w_{0,M}w)^{-1}vw_{0,M}w) \cdot \nu_{alg}) \big).$

Proof. This is the spectral sequence associated to the BGG sequence of theorem 6.2.16, as well as its variant for distribution sheaves. We use the following identities: $\nu_{alg} + \rho = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho)$ and $-w^{-1}w_{0,M}(v. \cdot \kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho =$ $((w_{0,M}w)^{-1}vw_{0,M}w) \cdot \nu_{alg}$.

6.6. Cohomological vanishing. The following is the analogue of theorem 5.6.1.

Theorem 6.6.1. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and weights ν_A , the cohomology $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p, \nu_A, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$ is concentrated in degree $[0, \ell_{\pm}(w)]$.

Proof. This is exactly the same as the proof of theorem 5.6.1, granting lemmas 6.6.2 and 6.6.4 below.

The key lemma to prove the theorem is the following (this lemma and its proof are inspired by [AIP15]):

Lemma 6.6.2. Assume that (G, X) is a Hodge type Shimura datum. Suppose the weight ν_A is n-analytic, and let $K_p \subseteq K_{p,m',0}$ for some m' > n. For all affinoid opens $\mathcal{U} \subseteq]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p, \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ are concentrated in degree 0.

Proof. We only consider the case of the sheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D)$, the other case is identical. For any compact open $K'_p \subseteq K_p$, let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p,\Sigma}^{tor}$ be an integral toroidal compactification, and let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p}^{\star}$ be an integral minimal compactification (whose existence is given by the main results of [MP19], see also section 4.4.31). Let \mathfrak{U} be a formal model for \mathcal{U} , realized as an open subset of the normalization of a blow-up of $\mathfrak{FL}_{G,\mu}$. By theorem 4.4.36, for $K'_p \subseteq K_p$ small enough, we have normal formal models $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,\mathfrak{mod}} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p}^{\star}$ for the map $\pi_{HT,K'_p}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{S}_{K^pK'_p,\Sigma}^{\star}$ and $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,\mathfrak{mod}} \to \mathfrak{S}_{K^pK'_p,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,\mathfrak{mod}}$.

We may actually assume that K'_p is a subgroup of the pro p-group $K_{p,m',1}$.

By proposition 4.6.15 for $K_p'' \subseteq K_p'$ small enough, the torsor $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_{p,m',1}}$ is trivial on the generic fiber of a Zariski cover of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p'',\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$.

We can construct a formal model for the Banach sheaf $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$ that we denote $\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an,+}$ over $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK''_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$. Indeed let $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK''_p,\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod} = \bigcup_i \mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i}$ be a Zariski covering with the property that the torsor $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_{p,m',1}}$ is trivial over the generic fiber $\mathcal{V}_{K''_p,i}$ of $\mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i}$. We fix such a trivialization. We can construct the associated 1-cocycle: over each intersection $\mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i,j} = \mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i} \cap \mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,j}$ we have an element $m_{i,j} \in K^c_{p,m',1,w,M_{\mu}} \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^c$ describing the change of trivialization of the torsor $\mathcal{M}_{HT,n,K_{p,m',1}}$. Over $\mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i}$ we let $\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an,+} = V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{V}_{K''_p,i}}$ and we glue these sheaves using multiplication by $m_{i,j}$ on each intersection. The sheaf $\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an,+}$ is a flat formal Banach sheaf (see section 2.5.5). We claim that it is also small (see

again section 2.5.5). Indeed, it follows from lemma 6.2.6 that the representation $V_{\kappa_A}^{n-an,+} \otimes_{A^+} A^+ / A^{++}$ of $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^c$ is an inductive limit of finite free A^+ / A^{++} submodules $\operatorname{colim}_i V_i$, stable under $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^c \mathcal{M}_{\mu,n}^c$, and such that over V_i/V_{i-1} the submodules $\operatorname{colim}_i V_i$, stable under $\operatorname{K}_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{r,w}\mathcal{W}_{\mu,n}$, and such that $\operatorname{Col}_{i,i}\mathcal{W}_{i,i+1}^{r,i+1}$ action factors over the quotient $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c,p}$ of $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c}$ by its maximal normal pro-psubgroup. We find that $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c,p} = wT^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)w^{-1}/wT_1^cw^{-1}$ is a finite abelian group. Moreover, the elements $m_{i,j}$ map trivially to $K_{p,w,M_{\mu}}^{c,p}$. It follows that the sheaf $\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-a,n,+} \otimes_{A^+} A^+/A^{++} = \operatorname{colim}_i \mathscr{F}_i$ is an inductive limit of locally free sheaves of $A^+/A^{++} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_p'',\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}}$ -modules with the property that

 $\mathscr{F}_i/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}$ is the trivial sheaf. We now fix \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle over $\mathfrak{S}_{K^pK_{\nu}',\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}$

(this last formal scheme is quasi-projective, so \mathcal{L} exists). We claim that there exists $m \ge 0$ such that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}^{\prime\prime},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}, f_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m}\otimes\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+}(-D_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}}))$ (where $-D_{K''_{n}}$ is the boundary divisor at level K''_{p}) is concentrated in degree 0. The cohomology is represented by a complex of A^+ -modules which are completions of free A^+ -modules (take the Cech complex associated with the covering $\cup \mathfrak{V}_{K''_n,i}$). It follows from lemma 6.6.3 below that it suffices to prove that there exists $m \ge 0$ such that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K^{\nu}_{p},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}, f_{K^{\nu}_{p}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m} \otimes \mathfrak{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+}/A^{++}(-D_{K_{p}}))$ is concentrated in degree 0. We are therefore reduced to prove that there exists m such that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K''_{p},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}, f_{K''_{p}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m} \otimes \mathscr{F}_{i}/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K''_{p}}))$ is concentrated in degree 0. By the projection formula,

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K''_{p},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}, f_{K''_{p}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m}\otimes\mathscr{F}_{i}/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K''_{p}})) = \mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K''_{p},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod}, \mathcal{L}^{m}\otimes\mathrm{R}(f_{K''_{p}})_{\star}\mathscr{F}_{i}/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K''_{p}})).$$

We first observe that $R(f_{K''_p})_{\star}\mathscr{F}_i/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K''_p})$ is a sheaf concentrated in degree 0 by theorem 4.4.37. Since \mathcal{L} is very ample on $\mathfrak{S}_{K^p K_p'', \Sigma, \mathfrak{U}}^{\star, mod}$ and $(f_{K_p''})_{\star} \mathscr{F}_i / \mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K_p''})$ is a coherent sheaf independant of i, it follows that there exists m such that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}^{tor,mod}_{K^{p}K'_{p},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}},f_{K''_{p}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m}\otimes\mathscr{F}_{i}/\mathscr{F}_{i-1}(-D_{K''_{p}})) \text{ is concentrated in degree } 0 \text{ for all } i.$

Let $L = \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K''_{p},\mathfrak{U}}^{\star,mod},\mathcal{L}[1/p])$. This is a rank 1 projective $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{K^{p}K''_{p}}^{\star}}((\pi_{HT,K''_{p}})^{-1}(\mathcal{U}))$ module. We observe that

$$f_{K_{p}''}^{\star} \mathcal{L}^{m} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{S}_{p}^{tor,mod}_{K_{p}'K_{p}'',\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}}} \mathfrak{Y}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+} (-D_{K_{p}''})[1/p] = L^{m} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\pi_{HT,K_{p}''}^{-1}}} \mathfrak{Y}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+} (-D_{K_{p}''})[1/p].$$

We deduce that

$$\operatorname{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}^{tor,mod}_{K^{p}K_{p}^{\prime\prime},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}},f_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}}^{\star}\mathcal{L}^{m}\otimes\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+}(-D_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}})[1/p]) = L^{m}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\pi_{HT,K_{p}^{\prime\prime}}^{-1}}}\operatorname{R}\Gamma(\pi_{HT,K_{p}^{\prime\prime}}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}),\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+}(-D_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}})[1/p])$$

and therefore $\mathrm{R}\Gamma(\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}^{\prime\prime},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod},\mathfrak{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an,+}(-D_{K_{p}^{\prime\prime}})[1/p])$ is concentrated in degree 0. Taking a Zariski covering of $\mathfrak{S}_{K^{p}K_{p}^{\prime\prime},\Sigma,\mathfrak{U}}^{tor,mod}$, we deduce that the associated augmented Cech complex on the generic fiber is exact. By theorem 2.5.9, affinoids are acyclic for Banach sheaves arisings as generic fibers of flat small formal Banach sheaves. We deduce from the Čech to cohomology spectral sequence that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K''_n}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an,+}(-D_{K''_p}))$ is concentrated in degree 0. The lemma follows by taking the invariants under K_p/K_p'' .

Lemma 6.6.3. Let A^+ be a ring, A^+ + be an ideal of A^+ . Assume that A^+ is A^+ +adically complete and separated, Let $M_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} M_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} M_2$ be a complex of complete, separated, and torsion free A^+ -modules. Assume that

$$M_0 \otimes_{A^+} A^+ / A^{++} \to M_1 \otimes_{A^+} A^+ / A^{++} \to M_2 \otimes_{A^+} A^+ / A^{++}$$

is exact. Then the complex $M_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} M_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} M_2$ is exact.

Proof. It follows from the assumptions that $\operatorname{Im}(f_0) + (A^{++}M_1 \cap \operatorname{Ker}(f_1)) = \operatorname{Ker}(f_1)$. Since M_2 is torsion free, we deduce that $(A^{++}M_1 \cap \operatorname{Ker}(f_1)) = A^{++}\operatorname{Ker}(f_1)$. Let $m \in \operatorname{Ker}(f_1)$. By successive approximation, we can construct a sequence of elements $m_n \in M_0$ for $n \ge 0$, with $m_n - m_{n+1} \in (A^{++})^n M_0$ and $f_0(m_n) - m \in (A^{++})^{n+1}M_1$. The sequence m_n converges to m_∞ and $f_0(m_\infty) = m$.

Lemma 6.6.4. Lemma 6.6.2 holds without assuming that (G, X) is an Hodge type Shimura datum.

Proof. We consider a diagram of Shimura datum with (G, X) of abelian type and (G_1, X_1) of Hodge type as in section 4.4.41:

We may assume that the various morphisms between the groups G_1, B_1, B, G over \mathbb{Q} extend to morphisms over \mathcal{O}_F . We will prove that lemma 6.6.2 holds first for B_1 and second for G. We add decorations H or (H, X_H) to objects depending on the Shimura datum (H, X_H) in order to make the distinction between the Shimura data. Let $\nu_A : T(B_1)(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ be a continuous, *n*-analytic character. It induces a character $\nu'_A : T(G_1)(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$. We consider the morphism of compact open subgroups $K_p = K_{p,m',0}(B_1) \to K'_p = K_{p,m',0}(G_1)$ and we deduce a finite morphism of Shimura varieties:

$$f: \mathcal{S}^{tor}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K,\Sigma} \to \mathcal{S}^{tor}(G_1, X_{G_1})_{K',\Sigma}$$

with $K = K^p K_p$ and $K' = (K')^p K'_p$ and by restriction (see theorem 4.4.45, lemma 3.5.6) we have a finite morphism:

$$f: (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p) \to (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p')$$

We claim that there is an isomorphism

$$f^{\star}\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A'}^{n-an} = \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}.$$

This follows from remark 4.6.6 and remark 4.6.13, observing that the torsor comming from the Shimura variety (T, X_T) is trivial. We insist that the above formula does not describe the Hecke action at the level of B_1 , but this is irrelevant for us now. We can the find another compact $K'' \subseteq K'$ such that there is a finite, generically finite étale morphism $f : S^{tor,0}(G_1, X_{G_1})_{K'',\Sigma} \to S^{tor,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K,\Sigma}$ with group Δ . We now deduce that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})^0, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ is the direct factor of invariants under Δ of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})^0, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$. We wrote $(\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})^0$ for $S^{tor,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K,\Sigma} \cap (\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$ and similarly for G_1 . The lemma is thus proven for B_1 . We observe that the lemma holds for any refinement of the cone decomposition Σ by the projection formula. We now deduce the lemma for G. We reset the notations. Let $\nu_A : T(G)(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ be a continuous, *n*-analytic character. It induces a character $\nu'_A : T(B_1)(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$. Let $K = K^p K_p$ be a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. We can find a compact open subgroup $K' \subseteq B_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that there is a finite, generically finite étale morphism $f : S^{tor,0}(B_1, X_{B_1})_{K',\Sigma} \to S^{tor,0}(G, X_G)_{K,\Sigma}$ with group $\Delta(K, K')$. This map induces a finite map : $f : (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K'_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K'_p)^0 \to (\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_p})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{n,n}K_p)^0$. We find that

$$\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} = (f_\star \mathcal{V}_{\nu'_A}^{n-an})^{\Delta(K,K')}.$$

We deduce that $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})^0, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ is the direct factor of invariants under $\Delta(K,K')$ of $\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K'_p}^{tor})^{-1}(\mathcal{U})^0, \mathcal{V}_{\nu'_A}^{n-an}(-D))$. The lemma is thus proven for G.

6.7. Cup products and Serre duality. We now consider cup-products on locally analytic overconvergent cohomology.

Theorem 6.7.1. For all $w \in {}^{M}W$ and weights ν_A there is a pairing:

$$\langle , \rangle : \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{\pm,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A})^{\mp,fs} \to A^{i}$$

For any $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ we have $\langle t-,-\rangle = \langle -,t^{-1}-\rangle$. Let $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ be a locally algebraic weight so that $\kappa_{alg} = -w_{0,M}w\nu_{alg} - (w_{0,M}w\rho + \rho)$ is *M*-dominant. The above pairing induces a pairing between the spectral sequences:

$$\langle,\rangle_{p,q,r}:\mathbf{E}^{p,q}_{w,r}(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi,cusp)^{\pm}\times\mathbf{E}^{-p,d-q}_{w,r}(K^p,\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp}\to F$$

On the abutment of the spectral sequence the pairing $\langle , \rangle_{p,q,\infty}$ is induced by the pairing of theorem 5.7.1:

$$\mathrm{H}^{p+q}_{w}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi,cusp)^{\pm,fs}\times\mathrm{H}^{d-p-q}_{w}(K^{p},-2\rho_{nc}-w_{0,M}\kappa,\chi^{-1})^{\mp,fs}\to F.$$

Proof. We construct the pairing

$$\langle,\rangle: \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{+,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A})^{-,fs} \to F.$$

We can realize $R\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p, \nu_A, cusp)^{+, fs}$ as the finite slope part of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D))$$

for s >> 0 and m' >> s by definition 6.4.7 and theorem 6.4.8. Similarly we can realize $R\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p, \nu_A)^{-,fs}$ as the finite slope part of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s+1,s-1}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[-1,s-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{D}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}).$$

Moreover, by construction we have a pairing $\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D) \times \mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \to \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}(-D) \otimes A$. We have a cup-product by proposition 2.2.1:

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{H}^{i}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}}(-D)) \times \\ & \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s+1},s-1}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{-1,s-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{D}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}}) \\ & \to \mathrm{H}^{d}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s+1},\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,s-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}(-D)\otimes A) \\ & \text{and there is a trace map (by theorem 2.7.1):} \end{split}$$

$$\mathbf{H}^{d}_{(\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s+1,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,s-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}(-D)\otimes A) \to A$$

This pairing intertwines the actions of $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,0}^+$ and $\mathcal{H}_{p,m,0}^-$. It is straightforward (and painful) to check that the induced pairing

$$\langle,\rangle: \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{+,fs} \times \mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A})^{-,fs} \to A$$

is independent of choices.

The rest of the theorem follows from the functoriality of the trace map.

Theorem 6.7.2. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$, let A be a field and fix a weight ν_{A} . The pairing $\langle,\rangle: \operatorname{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{\pm,fs} \times \operatorname{H}^{d-i}_{w,an}(K_{p},\nu_{A})^{\mp,fs} \to A$ is non-degenerate.

Proof. We follow closely the proof of theorem 5.7.2. Our strategy is to express the cohomologies as cones of cohomologies (possibly with compact support) of dagger spaces and to use the duality for affinoid dagger spaces to produce dual complexes whose finite slope part computes the cohomology. We can realize $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A,cusp)^{+,fs}$ as the the finite slope part of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{s,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D))$$

for s >> 0 and m' >> s by definition 6.4.7 and theorem 6.4.8

We now introduce the following closed subspaces of $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$:

$$]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s-1}',\overline{s}}=\cap_{\epsilon>0}]C_{w,k}[_{s-1-\epsilon,\overline{s}}, \text{ and }]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{[s-1,s]}',\overline{s}}=]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s-1}',\overline{s}}\setminus]C_{w,k}[_{s,\overline{s}}.$$

Both are the closure of quasi-compact open subspaces of $\mathcal{FL}_{G,\mu}$. We have an exact triangle:

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{[s-1,s]}',\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \to \\ & \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \stackrel{+1}{\to} \\ & \mathrm{We \ observe \ that \ \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{[s-1,s]'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \stackrel{+1}{\to} \\ & \mathrm{We \ observe \ that \ \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{[s-1,s]'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{[s-1,s]'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{[s-1,s]'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s}],\overline{s}K_{p,m',0}})((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s}],\overline{s}K_{p,m',0}})((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s}],\overline{s}K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s}],\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\mu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0})}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\mu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)) \\ & \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K_{p,m',0})}^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-2,-1}K$$

and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1',\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s-2,-1K_{p,m',0}), \mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D))$ are the cohomology with compact support of the dagger spaces $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s}]',\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})$ and $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})$ respectively.

For the – theory, we see that for any $\epsilon > 0$, the cohomology

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\bar{s},s-\epsilon K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{-1,s-\epsilon}K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})$$

is quasi-isomorphic to the cone of

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s'},s-\epsilon K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1] \rightarrow \\ & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s'},s-\epsilon K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1] \end{aligned}$$

We point out that in this argument, in order to apply duality theorems, we prefer to use as coefficients $(\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}$ rather than $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}$. There is a map $\mathcal{D}_{\nu_A}^{n-an} \rightarrow (\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}$. When we pass to the inverse limit on n, these maps induce an isomorphism. Since A is a field, $(\mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an})^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}}$ is a projective Banach sheaf.

Passing to the limit over ϵ , we deduce easily that the finite slope part of the cone of

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1]\to$$

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{[s-1,s]}',\overline{s}}K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1]$$

computes $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu_A)^{-,fs}$.

We can consider a finite covering $\cup_i U_i^{\dagger}$ of $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})$ by affinoid dagger spaces (or equivalently by closed spaces which are the closure of quasi-compact open spaces) and we let $\cup_j V_j^{\dagger}$ be a covering of $(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})$ by affinoid dagger spaces, refining $\cup_i (U_i^{\dagger} \cap (\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[\overline{s-1,s'},\overline{s}K_{p,m',0}))$.

We let $A^{\bullet} = \check{C}_c(\{U_i^{\dagger}\}, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ and $B^{\bullet} = \check{C}_c(\{V_i^{\dagger}\}, \mathcal{V}_{\nu_A}^{n-an}(-D))$ be the Čhech cohomology complex with compact support. There is a natural map $B^{\bullet} \to A^{\bullet}$ and we let C^{\bullet} be the cone of this map which represents

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{(\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,\overline{s}K_{p,m',0})}((\pi_{HT,K_{p,m',0}}^{tor})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[s,-1K_{p,m',0}),\mathcal{V}_{\nu_{A}}^{n-an}(-D)).$$

Let $t\in T^{++}.$ As explained in lemma 5.2.6 , we can lift t to a compact endomorphism of $C^{\bullet}.$

We let D^{\bullet} be the complex which is the strict dual of C^{\bullet} . By the duality for affinoid spaces, this complex computes the cone of

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{s'},s-\epsilon}K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1] \rightarrow \\ & \mathrm{R}\Gamma((\pi^{tor}_{HT,K_{p,m',0}})^{-1}(]C_{w,k}[_{\overline{[s-1,s]}',s-\epsilon}K_{p,m',0}),(\mathcal{V}^{n-an}_{\nu_{A}})^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{-2\rho_{nc}})[-1]. \end{aligned}$$

For any slope h, taking the slope $\leq h$ part yields a perfect pairing between $C^{\bullet,\leq h}$ and $D^{\bullet,\leq h}$ and passing to cohomology gives the theorem.

Using duality we can deduce an improved vanishing theorem.

Theorem 6.7.3. Let $w \in {}^{M}W$ and let ν_{A} be a weight. The cohomology $\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{i}(K^{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ is concentrated in degree $[0,\ell_{\pm}(w)]$ and the cohomology $\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{i}(K^{p},\nu_{A})^{\pm,fs}$ is concentrated in degree $[\ell_{\pm}(w),d]$. Moreover, if A is a domain, $\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu_{A})^{\pm,fs}$ is a torsion free sheaf of $\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa}(A,A^{+})}$ -modules.

Proof. The case of $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu_{A},cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ is theorem 6.6.1. The case of $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu_{A})^{\pm,fs}$ when A is a field follows from the duality theorem 6.7.2. The case of general coefficients can be deduced as follows. First observe that we can suppose that A is reduced as the universal weight space is reduced. Let us fix a compact operator $t \in T^{\pm}$. For any point $x \in \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^{+})$ and any slope h, we can find a slope $h' \geq h$ and an open $\operatorname{Spa}(B, B^{+}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^{+})$ such that $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu_{A})|_{\operatorname{Spa}(B,B)^{+}}$ has slope h' decomposition for t, and $\operatorname{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu_{A})(\operatorname{Spa}(B, B)^{+})^{\pm,\leq h'}$ is computed by a perfect complex C^{\bullet} of B-modules. Since we know that for any $x \in \operatorname{Spa}(B, B^{+})$, $C^{\bullet} \otimes_{B} k(x)$ has cohomology concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\pm}(w), d]$, we deduce that C^{\bullet} is quasi-isomorphic to $\tau_{\geq \ell_{\pm}(w)}C^{\bullet}$, and this truncated complex is a perfect complex (by an application of [Mum08], lemma 2 on p. 49). It follows that its cohomology in degree $\ell_{\pm}(w)$ is torsion free if A is a domain. \Box

6.8. **Slope estimates and control theorem.** We now formulate a conjecture regarding the slopes of the locally analytic overconvergent cohomologies. This is of course consistent with conjecture 5.9.2.

Conjecture 6.8.1. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, and let $\nu : T^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \mathbb{C}_{p}^{\times}$ be a continuous character.

HIGHER COLEMAN THEORY

- (1) For any character λ of T^+ on $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs}$ or $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu,cusp)^{+,fs}$, we have $v(\lambda) > 0$.
- (2) For any character λ of T^- on $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs}$ or $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu,cusp)^{-,fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \leq 0$.

Remark 6.8.2. The inequalities in conjecture 6.8.1 are compatible with those of conjecture 5.9.2 due to the way we have renormalized the Hecke operators acting on locally analytic cohomology. Similarly the slightly weaker bounds we prove in theorem 6.8.3 are compatible with those of theorem 5.9.6.

We can prove a bound which is slightly weaker than the conjecture.

Theorem 6.8.3. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, and let $\nu : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{C}_p^{\times}$ be a continuous character.

- (1) For any character λ of T^+ on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu,cusp)^{+,fs}$, we have $v(\lambda) \geq -w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho \rho$ and $v(\lambda) \geq -w^{-1}w_{0,M}\rho \rho + w^{-1}2\rho_{nc}$ (2) For any character λ of T^- on $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs}$ and $\mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu,cusp)^{-,fs}$,
- we have $v(\lambda) \leq -w^{-1}\rho + \rho$ and $v(\lambda) \leq -w^{-1}\rho + w^{-1}2\rho_{nc}$.

Proof. This is similar to the proof of theorem 5.9.6 and left to the reader. \square

Corollary 6.8.4. Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, and let $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ be a locally algebraic character. Let $\kappa_{alg} = -w_{0,M}w\nu_{alg} - (w_{0,M}w\rho + \rho)$ and suppose $\kappa_{alg} \in X^*(T)^{M,+}$. Then the morphisms

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma_w(K^p,\kappa_{alg},\chi)^{+,sss_{M,w}(\kappa_{alg})} \to \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{w,an}(K^p,\nu)(-\nu_{alg})^{+,sss_{M,w}(\kappa_{alg})}$$

 $R\Gamma_{w.an}(K^{p},\nu)(\nu_{alg})^{-,sss_{M,w}(-w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg}-2\rho_{nc})} \to R\Gamma_{w}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,sss_{M,w}(-w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg}-2\rho_{nc})}$ and the corresponding morphisms for cuspidal cohomology are all quasi-isomorphisms.

Proof. This follows from the spectral sequence of theorem 6.5.5, together with the slope bounds of theorem 6.8.3. \square

Remark 6.8.5. If we assume conjectures 5.9.2 and 6.8.1, we can replace the $sss_{M,w}$ condition by the $ss_{M,w}$ condition in the above corollary.

6.9. Eigenvarieties. Consider the Iwasawa algebra $\mathbb{Z}_p[[T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)]]$ and the weight space

$$\mathcal{W} = \operatorname{Spa}(\mathbb{Z}_p[[T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)]], \mathbb{Z}_p[[T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)]]) \times_{\operatorname{Spa}(\mathbb{Z}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p)} \operatorname{Spa}(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p).$$

For a (A, A^+) a complete Tate (F, \mathcal{O}_F) -algebra,

Hom(Spa(A, A⁺), \mathcal{W}) = {Continuous characters $\nu_A : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ }.

Also let \widehat{T} be the analytic adic space of characters of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, whose restriction to $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ factor through $T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. If we fix a splitting ξ for the map $T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to$ $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, and we fix an isomorphism $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^r$ (for $r = \operatorname{rank}(X^*(T^d)))$), then we have an isomorphism $\widehat{T} \simeq \mathcal{W} \times (\mathbb{G}_m^{an})^r$, where the map sends a character λ to $(\lambda|_{T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)}, \lambda(\xi(e_1)), \cdots, \lambda(\xi(e_r)))$ (for the canonical basis e_1, \cdots, e_r of \mathbb{Z}^r). We also observe that there is a natural map $T \to \mathscr{O}_{\widehat{T}}$.

Let $\operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+) \subset \mathcal{W}$ be an affinoid open and let $\nu_A^{un} : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to A^{\times}$ be the universal character.

For each $w \in {}^{M}W$ we have sheaves over $\text{Spa}(A, A^{+}): \oplus_{i} \text{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un}_{A})^{\pm, fs}$ and $\oplus_i \mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p, \nu^{un}_A, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$. Gluing these sheaves for an affinoid covering of \mathcal{W} we deduce that there are sheaves of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}$ -modules $\oplus_{i=\ell_{\pm}(w)}^{d} \mathrm{H}_{w,an}^{i}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})^{\pm, fs}$ and $\oplus_{i=0}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)} \mathrm{H}^{i}_{w an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un}, cusp)^{\pm, fs}$, admitting slope decomposition.

Remark 6.9.1. Our weight variable ν is morally a translate of the infinitesimal character. We recall how to switch between the weight of our coherent cohomologies and the infinitesimal character. Let $\nu = \nu^{alg}\chi$ be a locally algebraic weight. Then $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{+,fs} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}} k(\nu)$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)^{+,fs} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}} k(\nu)$ are related to classical or overconvergent cohomology in weight κ_{alg} where $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$. On the other hand, $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{-,fs} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}} k(\nu)$ and $\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)^{-,fs} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}} k(\nu)$ are related to classical or overconvergent cohomology in weight $\kappa_{alg} = -w_{0,M}\kappa_{alg} - 2\rho_{nc}$ and $\nu_{alg} = w^{-1}(\kappa_{alg}^{\vee} + \rho) - \rho$.

We also have cup-products:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}\otimes\mathrm{H}^{d-i}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cup)^{\mp,fs}\to\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}.$$

We modify the action of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ on $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{-,fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{-,fs}$, by composing it with the inverse map $t \mapsto t^{-1}$. With this modification, the operators $t \in T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ are self adjoint for the pairing. The action of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ on the various sheaves $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}$ and $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ over \mathcal{W} produces a spectral variety, which is a Zariski closed subset $\mathcal{Z} \hookrightarrow \widehat{T}$ (see section 6.1). We have coherent sheaves $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ and $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ of $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{T}}$ -modules supported on \mathcal{Z} and $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ acts faithfully on the direct sum of all these sheaves. Moreover, if $\pi:\widehat{T} \to \mathcal{W}$ is the projection to the weight space, $\pi_*\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}} =$ $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}$ and $\pi_*\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}} = \mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}$.

We assume that $K^p = \prod K_\ell$ and we let S' be the set of primes $\ell \neq p$ such that K_ℓ is not hyperspecial. We let $S = S' \cup \{p\}$. Let $\mathcal{H}^S = \mathcal{C}^\infty_c(G(\mathbb{A}^S_f)//K^S, \mathbb{Q})$ be the spherical Hecke algebra at places away from S. We let \mathcal{E} be the finite adic space over \mathcal{Z} whose algebra is the coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ -algebra gebra add by the operators $h \in \mathcal{H}^S$ acting on the sum of the sheaves $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ and $\mathrm{H}^i_{w,an}(K^p,\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, all $w \in {}^M W$, and all choices of + or -.

A (classical rigid analytic) point of \mathcal{Z} corresponds to a character $\lambda_p : T(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathbb{C}_p^{\times}$. We can attach to λ_p the weight $\nu = \lambda_p|_{T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p)} : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{C}_p^{\times}$. When the weight $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ is locally algebraic, then we let $\lambda_p^{sm} = \lambda_p\nu_{alg}^{-1}$ with ν_{alg} viewed as a character of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)$. Then λ_p^{sm} factors through a character of $T(\mathbb{Q}_p)/T_b$ where b is the conductor of χ .

Remark 6.9.2. The superscript sm stands for smooth, because the character λ_p^{sm} is the smooth character attached to λ_p . Remark that the Hecke action on classical cohomology produces smooth characters. This is visible in point (1) of theorem 6.9.3 below.

A point of \mathcal{E} corresponds to a pair (λ_p, λ^S) where $\lambda^S : \mathcal{H}^S \to \mathbb{C}_p$ is a character.

Theorem 6.9.3. The eigenvariety $\pi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{W}$ is locally quasi-finite and partially proper. It carries graded coherent sheaves

$$\bigoplus_{w \in {}^{M}W, k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{+,fs} \oplus \mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{-,fs})$$
$$\oplus \mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un}, cusp)_{\mathcal{Z}}^{+,fs} \oplus \mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un}, cusp)_{\mathcal{Z}}^{-,fs})$$

and they satisfy the following properties:

(1) (Any classical, finite slope eigenclass gives a point of the eigenvariety) For any $\kappa_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$, finite order character $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$, and any system of Hecke eigenvalues $(\lambda_p^{sm}, \lambda^S)$ occurring in $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+,fs}$ (resp. $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}^{\vee}, \chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$, $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}, \chi, cusp)^{+,fs}$, or $\mathrm{H}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}^{\vee}, \chi^{-1}, cusp)^{-,fs}$) there is a $w = w_M w^M \in W$, so that if $\nu = \nu_{alg} \chi$ with $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1} w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$, then $(\lambda_p^{sm} \nu_{alg}, \lambda^S)$ is a point of the eigenvariety \mathcal{E} which lies in the support of $\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathrm{H}^k_{w^M,an}(K^p, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$ (resp. $\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathrm{H}^k_{w^M,an}(K^p, \nu^{un}, cusp)^{+,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}$).

- (2) (Small slope points of the eigenvariety in regular, locally algebraic weights are classical) Conversely if ν = ν_{alg}χ is a locally algebraic weight with ν_{alg} ∈ X^{*}(T)⁺, and (λ_p, λ^S) is a point of £ in the support of ⊕_{k∈Z}H^k_{w,an}(K^p, ν^{un})^{+,fs}/_Z (resp. ⊕_{k∈Z}H^k_{w,an}(K^p, ν^{un})^{-,fs}/_Z, ⊕_{k∈Z}H^k_{w,an}(K^p, ν^{un}, cusp)^{+,fs}/_Z, or ⊕_{k∈Z}H^k_{w,an}(K^p, ν^{un}, cusp)^{-,fs}/_Z) for some w ∈ ^MW, and if λsm_p = λ_pν⁻¹_{alg} satisfies +, sss_w(ν) then (λsm_p, λ^S) occurs in Hⁱ(K^p, κ_{alg}, χ)^{+,fs} (resp. Hⁱ(K^p, κ[∨]_{alg}, χ⁻¹)^{-,fs}, Hⁱ(K^p, κ_{alg}, χ, cusp)^{+,fs}, or Hⁱ(K^p, κ[∨]_{alg}, χ⁻¹, cusp)^{-,fs}) for κ_{alg} = -w_{0,M}w(ν_{alg} + ρ) ρ.
- (3) (Serre duality interpolates over the eigenvariety) We have pairings:

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}\otimes\mathrm{H}^{d-k}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)^{\mp,fs}_{\mathcal{Z}}\to\pi^{-1}\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{E}}.$$

and these pairings are compatible with Serre duality under the classicality theorem.

Proof. We only prove the first point for $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+,fs}$. The other cases are similar. There is a succession of three spectral sequences, having as input the sheaves $\mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}$ (for varying k and w) and finally converging to the classical cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{i}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+,fs}$. The first spectral sequence is the Tor spectral sequence of theorem 6.5.2, from the cohomology sheaf over \mathcal{W} to the locally analytic overconvergent cohomology in a given weight. The second spectral sequence is the BGG spectral sequence of theorem 6.5.5, from locally analytic overconvergent cohomology. The third spectral sequence is the spectral sequence of theorem 5.5.1, from overconvergent to classical cohomology. Therefore, starting from a classical class, we can lift it successively to the E_1 terms of the last two spectral sequences (for suitable choices of w_M and w^M) and then to a class in a suitable $\mathrm{Tor}_{-p}^{\mathscr{O}_{W}}(\mathrm{H}^{q}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{+,fs},k(\nu))$ for $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$. Therefore, $(\lambda_{p}^{sm}\nu_{alg},\lambda^{S})$ is in the support of $\mathrm{H}^{q}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{+,fs}$.

We now prove point (2). Let (λ_p, λ^S) be a point in the support of $\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H^k_{w,an}(K^p, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}$ over a weight ν . Then one sees that there is a corresponding class in $\bigoplus_k H^k_{w,an}(K^p, \nu)^{+,fs}$. Indeed, take k maximal such that (λ_p, λ^S) is in the support of $\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H^k_{w,an}(K^p, \nu^{un})^{+,fs}$. The Tor spectral sequence implies that (λ_p, λ^S) is in the support of $H^k_{w,an}(K^p, \nu)^{+,fs}$. Then we conclude by the control theorems (corollary 6.8.4 and theorem 5.12.3):

$$\oplus_{k} \mathrm{H}^{k}_{w,an}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,sss_{w}(\nu)} = \oplus_{k} \mathrm{H}^{k}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}w(\nu_{alg}+\rho)-\rho,\chi)^{+,sss_{w}(\nu)}.$$

The last point follows from the functoriality of the pairing.

We now define certain components of the eigenvariety of maximal dimension and show that they contain all finite slope interior cohomology classes. We first define sheaves:

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs} = \mathrm{Im}(\mathrm{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs} \to \mathrm{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}).$$

Proposition 6.9.4. (1) The sheaves $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^p,\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs}$ are torsion free sheaves of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}$ -modules.

- (2) For any $\nu : T^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \mathbb{C}_{p}^{\times}$, the map $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{\pm,fs} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}} k(\nu) \to \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu)^{\pm,fs}$ is surjective.
- (3) For any $\kappa_{alg} \in X^{\star}(T^c)^{M_{\mu},+}$ and $\chi: T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ a finite order character, let $\nu = \nu^{alg} \chi$ with $\nu^{alg} = -w^{-1} w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$. Then the map

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs} \to \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,fs}$$

is injective and the map

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},\nu)^{-,fs} \to \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$$

is surjective.

(4) There is a pairing

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{+,fs} \times \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un})^{-,fs} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}$$

compatible with the preceding maps and the pairings

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_+(w)}(K^p,\nu)^{+,fs} \times \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_-(w)}(K^p,\nu)^{-,fs} \to k(\nu)$$

and

$$\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs} \times \overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1})^{-,fs} \to F.$$

Proof. The first point follows from theorem 6.7.3. The vanishing theorem and Tor spectral sequence imply that $\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu^{un},cusp)^{\pm,fs}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{W}}}k(\nu) \to \operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\nu,cusp)^{\pm,fs}$ is an isomorphism, which gives the second point. The vanishing theorems and the BGG spectral sequence imply that $\operatorname{H}_{w}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{+,fs} \to \operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p},\nu)^{+,fs}$ is injective and $\operatorname{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},\nu,cusp)^{-,fs} \to \overline{\operatorname{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p},-w_{0,M}\kappa-2\rho_{nc},\chi^{-1},cusp)^{-,fs}$ is surjective, which gives the third point follows. The last point is clear. \Box

Remark 6.9.5. There is an asymmetry between the - and + theories in point (3). This asymmetry results from our choice to develop the + theory using locally analytic induction sheaves and the - theory using their dual distribution sheaves.

We let $\mathcal{Z}_{w}^{!}, \mathcal{E}_{w}^{!}$ be the supports of $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}$ and $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p}, \nu^{un})_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\pm,fs}$. We let $\mathcal{Z}^{!}$ and $\mathcal{E}^{!}$ be the union of the $\mathcal{Z}_{w}^{!}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{w}^{!}$.

Theorem 6.9.6. The following holds:

- (1) The eigenvariety $\mathcal{E}^!$ and the spectral variety $\mathcal{Z}^!$ are either empty or equidimensional of dimension dim \mathcal{W} . The same is true of the $\mathcal{E}^!_w$ and $\mathcal{Z}^!_w$ for each $w \in {}^M W$.
- (2) For all $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa_{alg} \in X^{*}(T^{c})^{M,+}$, and $\chi : T^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ a finite order character, let $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$. Any eigenclass in $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{-}(w)}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}^{\vee}, \chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$ or $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{+}(w)}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+,fs}$ gives a point of $\mathcal{E}_{w}^{!}$ of weight $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$.
- (3) Let $\kappa_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ and $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. For any eigenclass c in $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+,fs}$ or $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p, \kappa_{alg}^{\vee}, \chi^{-1})^{-,fs}$ there is $a \ w \in {}^M W$ with $\ell_{\pm}(w) = i$ so that c gives a point of \mathcal{E}^l_w of weight $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ where $\nu_{alg} = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa_{alg} + \rho) - \rho$.

Proof. This first two points follow from proposition 6.9.4. The third point follows from the second point and corollary 5.8.1.

This theorem in particular implies that any finite slope system of Hecke eigenvalues in classical or overconvergent interior cohomology admits an analytic deformation of maximum dimension.

In light of point (3) of the theorem, it is natural to ask: given an eigenclass c occurring in $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+, fs}$, what is the set ${}^{M}W(c)$ of $w \in {}^{M}W$ with $\ell_{+}(w) = i$ for which c occurs in $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}_{w}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)$? It is natural to compare ${}^{M}W(c)$ to the set $C(\kappa_{alg})^{+}$, i.e. the set of $w \in {}^{M}W$ for which $\nu_{alg} + \rho \in X^{*}(T^{c})^{+}$.

Proposition 6.9.7. Assume that the eigenclass c satisfies $+, ss^M(\kappa_{alg})$. Then ${}^MW(c) \subseteq C(\kappa)^+$.

Proof. By theorem 6.10.1 (2) below, $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^{i}_{w}(K^{p}, \kappa_{alg}, \chi)^{+, ss^{M}(\kappa)} = 0$ unless $w \in C(\kappa)^{+}$.

In particular if $C(\kappa)^+$ has only one element of length *i* (for example if $\kappa + \rho$ is regular) then ${}^{M}W(c)$ is determined under this small slope hypothesis.

Example 6.9.8. We give a basic counter-example to the proposition if we drop the small slope hypothesis. We assume the Shimura variety is compact, so that the constant function $1 \in H^0(S_K, \mathscr{O})$ defines a finite slope interior cohomology class. Then ${}^M W(1) = \{Id\}$, and the corresponding point of the eigenvariety \mathcal{E} is in weight $\nu_{alg} = -w_{0,M}\rho - \rho = -2\rho_{nc}$, and so in particular $\nu_{alg} + \rho$ is not dominant. On the other hand we have $C(0)^+ = \{w_0^M\}$.

Remark 6.9.9. If c is a cohomology class represented by an automorphic representation π which is tempered at ∞ and contributes to coherent cohomology in weight κ , then π_{∞} is a limit of discrete series which is described by the pair consisting of its infinitesimal character $-\kappa - \rho$ and a chamber $wX^*(T)^+_{\mathbb{Q}} \subseteq X^*(T)^{M,+}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ for $w \in C(\kappa)^+$ (see [Har90a], sect. 3.3). We can ask if this class lifts to a point in $\mathcal{E}^!_w$.

6.10. Improved slope bounds for interior cohomology and applications. Using the interior eigenvariety we are able to prove that the conjectured slopes bounds 6.8.1, 5.9.2, and 5.10.7 hold for interior cohomology. The idea is that classical points in regular weight satisfy the correct slope bound by corollary 5.10.12, and these points are dense in the interior eigenvariety.

Theorem 6.10.1. (1) Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$ and a locally algebraic weight $\nu = \nu_{alg}\chi$ for $\nu_{alg} \in X^{\star}(T^c)$ and $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ a finite order character. For any character λ of T^{\pm} on $\overline{H}_{w,an}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^p, \nu)^{\pm, fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \ge 0$ in the + case and $v(\lambda) \le 0$ in the - case. (2) Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa \in X^{\star}(T^c)^{M,+}$, and a finite order character $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to$

- (2) Fix $w \in {}^{M}W$, $\kappa \in X^{*}(T^{c})^{M,+}$, and a finite order character $\chi : T^{c}(\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to F^{\times}$. For any character λ of T^{\pm} on $\overline{\mathrm{H}}_{w}^{\ell_{\pm}(w)}(K^{p},\kappa,\chi)^{\pm,fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \geq w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa+\rho)+\rho$ in the + case and $v(\lambda) \leq w^{-1}(\kappa+\rho)-\rho$ in the case.
- (3) Fix $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ and a finite order character $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$. Let $\nu = -w^{-1}w_{0,M}(\kappa + \rho) \rho$ for any $w \in C(\kappa)^+$. Then for any character λ of T^{\pm} on $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm, fs}$ we have $v(\lambda) \geq -\nu$ in the + case and $v(\lambda) \leq -w_0\nu$ in the case.

Proof. In the - case, the first point implies the second point by theorem 6.9.6 (3). In the + case, one repeats the constructions of this section, exchanging the roles of the sheaves of locally analytic functions and distributions. The second point implies the third point as in the proof of proposition 5.10.9 using corollary 5.8.1.

We now prove the first point. The eigensystem λ gives a point $(\nu, \lambda_p, \lambda^S)$ of $\mathcal{E}^!$ (where $\lambda_p = \lambda$ in the + case and λ^t in the - case.) We can find another point $(\nu', \lambda'_p, \lambda'^S)$ which satisfies $v(\lambda'_p) = v(\lambda_p)$ and $\nu' = \nu'_{alg}\chi$ is locally algebraic, and $\nu'_{alg} \in X^*(T^c)^+$ is sufficiently large so that $v(\lambda'_p)$ satisfies +, $sss(\nu)$. Then this point is classical by theorem 6.9.3 (2), and so the slope bound is satisfied by corollary 5.10.12.

As a consequence we deduce a vanishing theorem for interior cohomology which improves on theorem 5.12.5.

Theorem 6.10.2. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ and let $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. We have that $\overline{\mathrm{H}}^i(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{ss^M(\kappa)}$ is supported in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$

Proof. Theorem 6.10.1 (2) implies that the complex $\overline{Cous}(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{\pm, ss^M(\kappa)}$ is concentrated in the range $[\ell_{\min}(\kappa), \ell_{\max}(\kappa)]$, which implies the theorem by corollary 5.8.1

As another application we are able to improve our classicality theorem for overconvergent cuspforms.

Theorem 6.10.3. Let $\kappa \in X^*(T^c)^{M,+}$ satisfy $C(\kappa)^+ = \{1\}$, and let $\chi : T^c(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \overline{F}^{\times}$ be a finite order character. Then $\mathrm{H}^0_{Id}(K^p, \kappa, \chi, cusp)^{+,ss^M(\kappa)} \to \mathrm{H}^0_{Id}(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,ss^M(\kappa)}$ factors through $\mathrm{H}^0(K^p, \kappa, \chi)^{+,ss^M(\kappa)}$.

Proof. We have a commutative diagram

where the bottom row is exact by proposition 5.7.4. After passing to the $+, ss^{M}(\kappa)$ part of this diagram, the right vertical arrow is 0 by theorem 6.10.2.

Remark 6.10.4. Theorem 6.10.3 says that a small slope overconvergent cuspform comes from a classical eigenform. Although we have not proved it, this eigenform should also be cuspidal (for instance this would follow from conjeture 5.9.2). We note that it is possible for an overconvergent cuspform which does not have small slope to come from a non cuspidal eigenform. A basic example is the non-ordinary p-stabilization of an Eisenstein series for GL₂.

6.11. Application: construction of Galois representations and local-global compatibility p. Let L be a totally real or CM number field. The class of regular, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representations for GL_n/L have been studied intensively. In particular, one can attach to them compatible systems of Galois representations which satisfy many of the expected properties (see, e.g., [CH13], [BLGGT14]):

Theorem 6.11.1 (Bellaiche, Caraiani, Chenevier, Clozel, Harris, Kottwitz, Labesse, Shin, Taylor, ...). Let π be a regular, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representation of GL_n/L with $\pi^c = \pi^{\vee} \otimes \chi$ and infinitesimal character $\lambda = ((\lambda_{1,\tau}, \ldots, \lambda_{n,\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(L,\mathbb{C})})$ with $\lambda_{1,\tau} > \cdots > \lambda_{n,\tau}$. Then for each isomorphism ι : $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \simeq \mathbb{C}$ there is a continuous Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,\iota}: G_L \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ such that:

- (1) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}^c \simeq \rho_{\pi,\iota}^{\vee} \otimes \epsilon_p^{1-n} \otimes \chi_\iota$ where χ_ι is the p-adic realization of χ and ϵ_p is the cyclotomic character.
- (2) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is pure.
- (3) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is de Rham at all places dividing p, with $\iota^{-1} \circ \tau$ -Hodge-Tate weights: (4) For all finite place v one has

$$\iota \mathrm{WD}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}})^{F-ss} = \mathrm{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-n}{2}}).$$

The Galois representations of this theorem are usually found in the étale cohomology of unitary Shimura varieties, while in the remaining cases they are constructed by *p*-adic interpolation.

In [FP19], section 9, we defined a certain class of cuspidal automorphic representations for the group GL_n/L which (when L is CM) realize in the coherent cohomology of unitary Shimura varieties, by weakening the condition of regular to weakly regular and odd. To these weakly regular, odd, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representations, one can still attach compatible system of Galois representations ([Box15], [GK19], [PS16]), but at present many of their expected properties are not known. The techniques of this paper allows for a new construction of the Galois representation via analytic families. The advantage of this construction is that we can prove some instances of local-global compatibility at p, using results of Kisin [Kis03] on the interpolation of crystalline periods in analytic families, as in the work of Jorza and Mok [Jor12], [Mok14].

Theorem 6.11.2. Let π be a weakly regular, odd, algebraic, essentially (conjugate) self dual, cuspidal automorphic representation of GL_n/L with $\pi^c = \pi^{\vee} \otimes \chi$ and infinitesimal character $\lambda = ((\lambda_{1,\tau}, \ldots, \lambda_{n,\tau})_{\tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(L,\mathbb{C})})$ with $\lambda_{1,\tau} \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_{n,\tau}$. Then for each isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \simeq \mathbb{C}$ there is a continuous Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,\iota}: G_L \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \text{ such that:}$

- (1) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}^c \simeq \rho^{\vee} \otimes \epsilon_p^{1-n} \otimes \chi_{\iota}$ where χ_{ι} is the p-adic realization of χ . (2) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is unramified at all finite places $v \nmid p$ for which π_v is unramified and one has

$$\iota WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_v}})^{F-ss} = \operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-n}{2}}).$$

- (3) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ has generalized $\iota^{-1} \circ \tau$ -Hodge-Tate weights $(-\lambda_{n,\tau} + \frac{n-1}{2}, \cdots, -\lambda_{1,\tau} + \frac{n-1}{2})$ $\frac{n-1}{2}).$
- (4) Let $v \mid p$ be a place of L and assume that π_v is a regular principal series (i.e. the Jacquet module $(\pi_v)_U$ is a direct sum of n! distinct characters of $T(L_v)$). Then $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_v}}$ is potentially crystalline and

$$\iota WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{L_v}})^{F-ss} = \operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\det|_v^{\frac{1-v}{2}}).$$

Proof. The existence of a Galois representation satisfying points (1) and (2) is already known (see [FP19], theorem 9.10). In order to prove points (3) and (4), by

base change we may assume that L is CM with maximal totally real subfield F, all the primes above p in F split in L, and for all primes $v \mid p$ of L, π_v is a constituent of a principal series representation (and so has finite slope in the sense of section 4.3).

Let $\operatorname{GU}(n)/F$ be the quasi-split unitary similitude group in n variables, and let $G \subset \operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ be the subgroup where the similitude factor lands in $\mathbb{G}_m \subseteq \operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. The group G admits a PEL Shimura datum (G, X), so that π realizes in the interior coherent cohomology of the corresponding Shimura variety, as explained in the proof of theorem 9.11 of [FP19] (we note that this is conditional on the main results of [Mok15]).

The result now follows from theorems 6.9.6 and 6.11.1, using the results of [Kis03] as explained in proof of theorem 4.1 of [Jor12]. \Box

References

- [AIP15] Fabrizio Andreatta, Adrian Iovita, and Vincent Pilloni, p-adic families of Siegel modular cuspforms, Ann. of Math. (2) 181 (2015), no. 2, 623–697.
- [AIP18] _____, Le halo spectral, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 51 (2018), no. 3, 603–655.
- [AIS14] Fabrizio Andreatta, Adrian Iovita, and Glenn Stevens, Overconvergent modular sheaves and modular forms for $\mathbf{GL}_{2/F}$, Israel J. Math. **201** (2014), no. 1, 299–359.
- [AIS15] _____, Overconvergent Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 14 (2015), no. 2, 221–274.
- [AL03] H. H. Andersen and N. Lauritzen, Twisted Verma modules, Studies in memory of Issai Schur (Chevaleret/Rehovot, 2000), Progr. Math., vol. 210, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2003, pp. 1–26.
- [Art13] James Arthur, The endoscopic classification of representations, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 61, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2013, Orthogonal and symplectic groups.
- [AS08] Avner Ash and Glenn Stevens, *p*-adic deformations of arithmetic cohomology, preprint, 2008.
- [Bar78] Wolfgang Bartenwerfer, Die erste "metrische" Kohomologiegruppe glatter affinoider Räume, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 40 (1978), no. 1, 1–14.
- [BCGP18] George Boxer, Frank Calegari, Toby Gee, and Vincent Pilloni, Abelian surfaces over totally real fields are potentially modular, preprint, 2018.
- [Ber91] Pierre Berthelot, Cohomologie rigide et cohomologie rigide à supports propres, 1991.
- [Bey97] Peter Beyer, On Serre-duality for coherent sheaves on rigid-analytic spaces, Manuscripta Math. 93 (1997), no. 2, 219–245.
- [BG98] Siegfried Bosch and Ulrich Görtz, Coherent modules and their descent on relative rigid spaces, J. Reine Angew. Math. 495 (1998), 119–134.
- [BHR94] Don Blasius, Michael Harris, and Dinakar Ramakrishnan, Coherent cohomology, limits of discrete series, and Galois conjugation, Duke Math. J. 73 (1994), no. 3, 647– 685.
- [BHW20] Christopher Birkbeck, Ben Heuer, and Chris Williams, Overconvergent hilbert modular forms via perfectoid modular varieties, 2020.
- [Bij17] Stéphane Bijakowski, Formes modulaires surconvergentes, ramification et classicité, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 67 (2017), no. 6, 2463–2518.
- [BL03] M. Brion and V. Lakshmibai, A geometric approach to standard monomial theory, Represent. Theory 7 (2003), 651–680.
- [Bla94] Don Blasius, A p-adic property of Hodge classes on abelian varieties, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 55, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 293–308.
- [BLGGT14] Thomas Barnet-Lamb, Toby Gee, David Geraghty, and Richard Taylor, *Potential automorphy and change of weight*, Ann. of Math. (2) **179** (2014), no. 2, 501–609.
- [Box15] George Boxer, Torsion in the Coherent Cohomology of Shimura Varieties and Galois Representations, preprint, July 2015.

- [BP20] George Boxer and Vincent Pilloni, *Higher hida and coleman theories on the modular curves*, preprint, 2020.
- [BPS16] Stéphane Bijakowski, Vincent Pilloni, and Benoît Stroh, Classicité de formes modulaires surconvergentes, Ann. of Math. (2) 183 (2016), no. 3, 975–1014.
- [Bra16] Riccardo Brasca, Eigenvarieties for cuspforms over PEL type Shimura varieties with dense ordinary locus, Canad. J. Math. 68 (2016), no. 6, 1227–1256.
- [Bra20] Riccardo Brasca, *p-adic families of modular forms for hodge type shimura varieties* with non-empty ordinary locus, 2020.
- [BS19] Bhargav Bhatt and Peter Scholze, Prisms and prismatic cohomology, 2019.
- [Buz03] Kevin Buzzard, Analytic continuation of overconvergent eigenforms, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), no. 1, 29–55.
- [Buz07] _____, Eigenvarieties, L-functions and Galois representations, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 320, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007, pp. 59–120.
- [Cas] William Casselman, Introduction to admissible representations of p-adic groups, Available at https://www.math.ubc.ca/~cass/research/publications.html.
- [CH13] Gaëtan Chenevier and Michael Harris, Construction of automorphic Galois representations, II, Camb. J. Math. 1 (2013), no. 1, 53–73.
- [Che04] Gaëtan Chenevier, Familles p-adiques de formes automorphes pour GL_n , J. Reine Angew. Math. **570** (2004), 143–217.
- [CHJ17] Przemysł aw Chojecki, D. Hansen, and C. Johansson, Overconvergent modular forms and perfectoid Shimura curves, Doc. Math. 22 (2017), 191–262.
- [CLS11] David A. Cox, John B. Little, and Henry K. Schenck, *Toric varieties*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 124, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2011.
- [CM98] R. Coleman and B. Mazur, *The eigencurve*, Galois representations in arithmetic algebraic geometry (Durham, 1996), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 254, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1998, pp. 1–113.
- [Col96] Robert F. Coleman, Classical and overconvergent modular forms, Invent. Math. 124 (1996), no. 1-3, 215–241.
- [Col97] _____, P -adic Banach spaces and families of modular forms, Inventiones Mathematicae 127 (1997), 417–479.
- [Con99] Brian Conrad, Irreducible components of rigid spaces, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 49 (1999), no. 2, 473–541.
- [CS17] Ana Caraiani and Peter Scholze, On the generic part of the cohomology of compact unitary Shimura varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 186 (2017), no. 3, 649–766.
- [CS19] Ana Caraiani and Peter Scholze, On the generic part of the cohomology of noncompact unitary shimura varieties, 2019.
- [Del79] Pierre Deligne, Variétés de Shimura: interprétation modulaire, et techniques de construction de modèles canoniques, Automorphic forms, representations and Lfunctions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 247–289.
- [DLLZ19] Hansheng Diao, Kai-Wen Lan, Ruochuan Liu, and Xinwen Zhu, Logarithmic riemann-hilbert correspondences for rigid varieties, 2019.
- [EH19] Hélène Esnault and Michel Harris, Chern classes of automorphic vector bundles, II, Épijournal de Géométrie Algébrique Volume 3 (2019).
- [Elk73] Renée Elkik, Solutions d'équations à coefficients dans un anneau hensélien, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 6 (1973), 553–603 (1974).
- [Eme06] Matthew Emerton, On the interpolation of systems of eigenvalues attached to automorphic Hecke eigenforms, Invent. Math. 164 (2006), no. 1, 1–84.
- [Far10] Laurent Fargues, La filtration de Harder-Narasimhan des schémas en groupes finis et plats, J. Reine Angew. Math. 645 (2010), 1–39.
- [Far11] _____, La filtration canonique des points de torsion des groupes p-divisibles, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 44 (2011), no. 6, 905–961, With collaboration of Yichao Tian.
- [FC90] Gerd Faltings and Ching-Li Chai, Degeneration of abelian varieties, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 22, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990, With an appendix by David Mumford.

- [FP19] Najmuddin Fakhruddin and Vincent Pilloni, Hecke operators and the coherent cohomology of shimura varieties, 2019.
- [Fra98] Jens Franke, Harmonic analysis in weighted L₂-spaces, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.
 (4) 31 (1998), no. 2, 181–279.
- [GK00] Elmar Grosse-Klönne, Rigid analytic spaces with overconvergent structure sheaf, J. Reine Angew. Math. 519 (2000), 73–95.
- [GK19] Wushi Goldring and Jean-Stefan Koskivirta, Strata Hasse invariants, Hecke algebras and Galois representations, Invent. Math. 217 (2019), no. 3, 887–984.
- [Gro05] Alexander Grothendieck, Cohomologie locale des faisceaux cohérents et théorèmes de Lefschetz locaux et globaux (SGA 2), Documents Mathématiques (Paris) [Mathematical Documents (Paris)], vol. 4, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2005, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie, 1962, Augmenté d'un exposé de Michèle Raynaud. [With an exposé by Michèle Raynaud], With a preface and edited by Yves Laszlo, Revised reprint of the 1968 French original.
- [Han17] David Hansen, Universal eigenvarieties, trianguline Galois representations, and padic Langlands functoriality, J. Reine Angew. Math. 730 (2017), 1–64, With an appendix by James Newton.
- [Han19] _____, Quotients of adic spaces by finite groups, 2019.
- [Har66] Robin Hartshorne, Residues and duality, Lecture notes of a seminar on the work of A. Grothendieck, given at Harvard 1963/64. With an appendix by P. Deligne. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 20, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1966.
- [Har89] Michael Harris, Functorial properties of toroidal compactifications of locally symmetric varieties, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 59 (1989), no. 1, 1–22.
- [Har90a] _____, Automorphic forms and the cohomology of vector bundles on Shimura varieties, Automorphic forms, Shimura varieties, and L-functions, Vol. II (Ann Arbor, MI, 1988), Perspect. Math., vol. 11, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 41–91.
- [Har90b] _____, Automorphic forms of $\overline{\partial}$ -cohomology type as coherent cohomology classes, J. Differential Geom. **32** (1990), no. 1, 1–63.
- [Her19] Valentin Hernandez, Families of Picard modular forms and an application to the Bloch-Kato conjecture, Compos. Math. 155 (2019), no. 7, 1327–1401.
- [HJ20] David Hansen and Christian Johansson, Perfectoid Shimura varieties and the Calegari-Emerton conjecture, 2020.
- [HK94] Osamu Hyodo and Kazuya Kato, Semi-stable reduction and crystalline cohomology with logarithmic poles, no. 223, 1994, Périodes p-adiques (Bures-sur-Yvette, 1988), pp. 221–268.
- [Hub93] R. Huber, Continuous valuations, Math. Z. 212 (1993), no. 3, 455–477.
- [Hub94] _____, A generalization of formal schemes and rigid analytic varieties, Math. Z. 217 (1994), no. 4, 513–551.
- [Hub96] Roland Huber, étale cohomology of rigid analytic varieties and adic spaces, Aspects of Mathematics, E30, Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1996.
- [Hum90] James E. Humphreys, Reflection groups and Coxeter groups, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 29, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [Hum08] _____, Representations of semisimple Lie algebras in the BGG category ∅, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 94, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008.
- [HZ01] Michael Harris and Steven Zucker, Boundary cohomology of Shimura varieties. III. Coherent cohomology on higher-rank boundary strata and applications to Hodge theory, Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.) (2001), no. 85, vi+116.
- [Jan03] Jens Carsten Jantzen, Representations of algebraic groups, second ed., Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 107, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [Jon11] Owen T.R. Jones, An analogue of the bgg resolution for locally analytic principal series, Journal of Number Theory **131** (2011), no. 9, 1616 1640.
- [Jor12] Andrei Jorza, p-adic families and Galois representations for GS_p(4) and GL(2), Math. Res. Lett. 19 (2012), no. 5, 987–996.
- [Kas06] Payman L. Kassaei, A gluing lemma and overconvergent modular forms, Duke Math. J. 132 (2006), no. 3, 509–529.

[Kem78] George Kempf, The Grothendieck-Cousin complex of an induced representation, Adv. in Math. 29 (1978), no. 3, 310-396. [Kie67] Reinhardt Kiehl, Theorem A und Theorem B in der nichtarchimedischen Funktionentheorie, Invent. Math. 2 (1967), 256-273. [Kis03] Mark Kisin, Overconvergent modular forms and the Fontaine-Mazur conjecture, Invent. Math. 153 (2003), no. 2, 373-454. [KL05] Mark Kisin and King Fai Lai, Overconvergent Hilbert modular forms, Amer. J. Math. 127 (2005), no. 4, 735-783. [L90] Werner Lütkebohmert, Formal-algebraic and rigid-analytic geometry, Math. Ann. 286 (1990), no. 1-3, 341-371. [Laf11] Vincent Lafforgue, Estimées pour les valuations p-adiques des valeurs propres des opérateurs de Hecke, Bull. Soc. Math. France 139 (2011), no. 4, 455-477. [Lan16] Kai-Wen Lan, Vanishing theorems for coherent automorphic cohomology, Res. Math. Sci. 3 (2016), Paper No. 39, 43. , Integral models of toroidal compactifications with projective cone decompo-[Lan17] sitions, International Mathematics Research Notices 11 (2017), 3237–3280. [Lan20] _, Closed immersions of toroidal compactifications of shimura varieties, preprint, 2020. [LLZ19] Kai-Wen Lan, Ruochuan Liu, and Xinwen Zhu, De rham comparison and poincaré duality for rigid varieties, 2019. David Loeffler, Overconvergent algebraic automorphic forms, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. [Loe11] (3) **102** (2011), no. 2, 193–228. [Lov17] Tom Lovering, Integral canonical models for automorphic vector bundles of abelian type, Algebra Number Theory 11 (2017), no. 8, 1837–1890. Kai-Wen Lan and Patrick Polo, Dual BGG complexes for automorphic bundles, [LP18] Math. Res. Lett. 25 (2018), no. 1, 85-141. [LPSZ19] David Loeffler, Vincent Pilloni, Christopher Skinner, and Sarah Livia Zerbes, Higher hida theory and p-adic l-functions for gsp(4), 2019. [LS18] Kai-Wen Lan and Benoît Stroh, Compactifications of subschemes of integral models of Shimura varieties, Forum Math. Sigma 6 (2018), Paper No. e18, 105. [Mil90] J. S. Milne, Canonical models of (mixed) Shimura varieties and automorphic vector bundles, Automorphic forms, Shimura varieties, and L-functions, Vol. I (Ann Arbor, MI, 1988), Perspect. Math., vol. 10, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 283–414. [Mil05] , Introduction to Shimura varieties, Harmonic analysis, the trace formula, and Shimura varieties, Clay Math. Proc., vol. 4, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005, pp. 265-378. [Mok14] Chung Pang Mok, Galois representations attached to automorphic forms on GL₂ over CM fields, Compos. Math. 150 (2014), no. 4, 523–567. , Endoscopic classification of representations of quasi-split unitary groups, [Mok15] Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 235 (2015), no. 1108, vi+248. [MP19] Keerthi Madapusi Pera, Toroidal compactifications of integral models of Shimura varieties of Hodge type, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 52 (2019), no. 2, 393–514. [Mum08] David Mumford, Abelian varieties, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Mathematics, vol. 5, Published for the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay; by Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2008, With appendices by C. P. Ramanujam and Yuri Manin, Corrected reprint of the second (1974) edition. [Pil11] Vincent Pilloni, Prolongement analytique sur les variétés de Siegel, Duke Math. J. 157 (2011), no. 1, 167-222. [Pil13] , Overconvergent modular forms, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 63 (2013), no. 1, 219-239. [Pil20] V. Pilloni, Higher coherent cohomology and p-adic modular forms of singular weights, Duke Math. J. 169 (2020), no. 9, 1647-1807. [Pin90] Richard Pink, Arithmetical compactification of mixed Shimura varieties, Bonner Mathematische Schriften [Bonn Mathematical Publications], vol. 209, Universität Bonn, Mathematisches Institut, Bonn, 1990, Dissertation, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn, 1989. [Pro00] Fabienne Prosmans, Derived categories for functional analysis, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 36 (2000), no. 1, 19-83.

[PS16] Vincent Pilloni and Benoît Stroh, Cohomologie cohérente et représentations Galoisiennes, Ann. Math. Qué. 40 (2016), no. 1, 167-202. [Ren10] David Renard, Représentations des groupes réductifs p-adiques, Cours Spécialisés [Specialized Courses], vol. 17, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2010. [RG71] Michel Raynaud and Laurent Gruson, Critères de platitude et de projectivité. Techniques de "platification" d'un module, Invent. Math. 13 (1971), 1–89. [Sch99] Jean-Pierre Schneiders, Quasi-abelian categories and sheaves, Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.) (1999), no. 76, vi+134. [Sch13a] Peter Scholze, p-adic Hodge theory for rigid-analytic varieties, Forum Math. Pi 1 (2013), e1, 77. [Sch13b] -, Perfectoid spaces: a survey, Current developments in mathematics 2012, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2013, pp. 193-227. [Sch15] , On torsion in the cohomology of locally symmetric varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) **182** (2015), no. 3, 945–1066. [Sch17] Peter Scholze, Etale cohomology of diamonds, 2017. [Ser62] Jean-Pierre Serre, Endomorphismes complètement continus des espaces de Banach p-adiques, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1962), no. 12, 69-85. [Sta13] The Stacks Project Authors, Stacks Project, http://stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2013.[Ste16] Robert Steinberg, Lectures on Chevalley groups, University Lecture Series, vol. 66, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2016, Notes prepared by John Faulkner and Robert Wilson, Revised and corrected edition of the 1968 original [MR0466335], With a foreword by Robert R. Snapp. [Su18] Jun Su, Coherent cohomology of shimura varieties and automorphic forms, 2018. [SW13] Peter Scholze and Jared Weinstein, Moduli of p-divisible groups, Camb. J. Math. 1 (2013), no. 2, 145-237. [Tit79] J. Tits, Reductive groups over local fields, Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 1, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 29-69. [TX16] Yichao Tian and Liang Xiao, p-adic cohomology and classicality of overconvergent Hilbert modular forms, Astérisque (2016), no. 382, 73-162. [Urb11] Éric Urban, $Eigenvarieties \ for \ reductive \ groups, Ann. of Math. (2) <math display="inline">{\bf 174}$ (2011), no. 3, 1685 - 1784.[Vig05] Marie-France Vignéras, Pro-p-Iwahori Hecke ring and supersingular $\overline{\mathbf{F}}_{p}$ representations, Math. Ann. 331 (2005), no. 3, 523-556. E-mail address: george.boxer@universite-paris-saclay.fr

Institut de mathématique d'Orsay, Université Paris-Saclay, Bâtiment 307, rue Michel Magat, F-91405 Orsay Cedex, France

E-mail address: vincent.pilloni@universite-paris-saclay.fr

Institut de mathématique d'Orsay, Université Paris-Saclay, Bâtiment 307, rue Michel Magat, F-91405 Orsay Cedex, France